





REPORT

2022 POWER RATES STUDY FINAL REPORT

MAY 11, 2022



Prepared for: San Francisco Public Utilities Commission 525 Golden Gate Avenue San Francisco, California 94102

© 2022 NEWGEN STRATEGIES AND SOLUTIONS, LLC

Table of Contents

List of Appendices	Executive Summary	
List of Tables	List of Appendices	iv
List of Figures	List of Tables	iv
Section 1 Introduction 1-1 Glossary of Terms 1-1 Background 1-2 Hetch Hetchy Water and Power 1-3 CleanPowerSF 1-5 Study Schedule/Background 1-7 Study Objectives 1-10 Cost of Service Process 1-13 Types of Electric Utility Costs 1-14 SFPUC COS Considerations 1-16 Section 2 System Characteristics 2-1 Introduction 2-1 Introduction 2-1 Introduction 2-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics 2-1 Introduction 2-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics 2-1 Introduction 2-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization and Classification 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service	List of Figures	vii
Glossary of Terms 1-1 Background 1-2 Hetch Hetchy Water and Power 1-3 CleanPowerSF 1-5 Study Schedule/Background 1-7 Study Objectives 1-10 Cost of Service Process 1-13 Types of Electric Utility Costs 1-14 SFPUC COS Considerations 1-16 Section 2 System Characteristics 2-1 Introduction 2-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics 2-1 Introduction 2-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics 2-7 Section 3 Cost of Service for Hetch Hetchy Power 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization and Classification 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction/Data Sources 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction Factors – Hetch Hetchy Power 3-10 General 3-10 Demand Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation and Assignm	Section 1 Introduction	1-1
Background. 1-2 Hetch Hetchy Water and Power 1-3 CleanPowerSF 1-5 Study Objectives. 1-10 Cost of Service Process 1-13 Steps in the COS Process. 1-13 Types of Electric Utility Costs. 1-14 SFPUC COS considerations. 1-16 Section 2 System Characteristics. 2-1 Introduction 2-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics 2-1 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization and Classification. 3-4 Customer Class Allocation Factors 3-10 Demand Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-13 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15	Glossary of Terms	1-1
Hetch Hetchy Water and Power 1-3 CleanPowerSF 1-5 Study Objectives 1-7 Study Objectives 1-10 Cost of Service Process 1-13 Steps in the COS Process 1-13 Types of Electric Utility Costs 1-14 SFPUC COS Considerations 1-16 Section 2 System Characteristics 2-1 Introduction 2-11 Introduction 2-11 Introduction 2-11 Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics 2-11 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-11 Introduction 2-12 Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics 2-12 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-17 Section 3 Cost of Service for Hetch Hetchy Power 3-11 Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization and Classification 3-4 Customer Class Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15	Background	1-2
CleanPowerSF 1-5 Study Schedule/Background 1-7 Study Objectives 1-10 Cost of Service Process 1-13 Types of Electric Utility Costs 1-14 SFPUC COS Considerations 1-16 Section 2 System Characteristics 2-1 Introduction 2-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics 2-1 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-1 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-1 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-7 Section 3 Cost of Service for Hetch Hetchy Power 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction/Data Sources 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization and Classification 3-4 Customer Class Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power	Hetch Hetchy Water and Power	1-3
Study Schedule/Background 1-7 Study Objectives 1-10 Cost of Service Process 1-13 Types of Electric Utility Costs 1-14 SFPUC COS Considerations 1-16 Section 2 System Characteristics 2-1 Introduction 2-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics 2-1 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-1 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-7 Section 3 Cost of Service for Hetch Hetchy Power 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction/Data Sources 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization and Classification 3-4 Customer Class Allocation Factors 3-10 Demand Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Price Differenti	CleanPowerSF	1-5
Study Objectives. 1-10 Cost of Service Process 1-13 Steps in the COS Process. 1-13 Types of Electric Utility Costs 1-14 SFPUC COS Considerations. 1-16 Section 2 System Characteristics. 2-1 Introduction 2-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics 2-1 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-1 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-7 Section 3 Cost of Service for Hetch Hetchy Power 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction/Data Sources 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization and Classification 3-4 Customer Class Allocation Factors – Hetch Hetchy Power 3-10 General 3-10 Demand Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Section 4 Cost of Service Results for Hetch Hetchy Power 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power - TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3	Study Schedule/Background	1-7
Cost of Service Process 1-13 Steps in the COS Process 1-13 Types of Electric Utility Costs 1-14 SFPUC COS Considerations 1-16 Section 2 System Characteristics 2-1 Introduction 2-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics 2-1 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-7 Section 3 Cost of Service for Hetch Hetchy Power 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction/Data Sources 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction/Data Sources 3-2 Functionalization and Classification 3-4 Customer Class Allocation Factors – Hetch Hetchy Power 3-10 Demand Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Section 4 Cost of Service Results for Hetch Hetchy Power 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU	Study Objectives	1-10
Steps in the COS Process. 1-13 Types of Electric Utility Costs 1-14 SFPUC COS Considerations. 1-16 Section 2 System Characteristics. 2-1 Introduction 2-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics 2-1 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-1 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-7 Section 3 Cost of Service for Hetch Hetchy Power 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction/Data Sources 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization and Classification 3-4 Customer Class Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-14 Customer Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Section 4 Cost of Service Results for Hetch Hetchy Power 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power - TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy An	Cost of Service Process	1-13
Types of Electric Utility Costs 1-14 SFPUC COS Considerations 1-16 Section 2 System Characteristics 2-1 Introduction 2-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics 2-1 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-7 Section 3 Cost of Service for Hetch Hetchy Power 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction/Data Sources 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization and Classification 3-4 Customer Class Allocation Factors – Hetch Hetchy Power 3-10 General 3-10 Demand Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis 4-3 Retail COS Results Review 4-5 Retail COS Results Review 4-5	Steps in the COS Process	1-13
SFPUC COS Considerations. 1-16 Section 2 System Characteristics. 2-1 Introduction. 2-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics 2-1 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-7 Section 3 Cost of Service for Hetch Hetchy Power 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction/Data Sources 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization and Classification. 3-4 Customer Class Allocation Factors – Hetch Hetchy Power 3-10 General. 3-10 Demand Allocation Factors. 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors. 3-14 Customer Allocation Factors. 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors. 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors. 3-15 Adjustment of Cost of Service. 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service. 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service. 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis. 4-3 Retail COS Results Review 4-5 Residential 4-5 <td>Types of Electric Utility Costs</td> <td>1-14</td>	Types of Electric Utility Costs	1-14
Section 2 System Characteristics 2-1 Introduction 2-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics 2-1 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-7 Section 3 Cost of Service for Hetch Hetchy Power 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction/Data Sources 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization and Classification 3-4 Customer Class Allocation Factors – Hetch Hetchy Power 3-10 General 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-14 Customer Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Section 4 Cost of Service Results for Hetch Hetchy Power 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis 4-3 Residential 4-5	SFPUC COS Considerations	1-16
Introduction 2-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics 2-1 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-7 Section 3 Cost of Service for Hetch Hetchy Power 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction/Data Sources 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization and Classification 3-4 Customer Class Allocation Factors – Hetch Hetchy Power 3-10 General 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Section 4 Cost of Service Results for Hetch Hetchy Power 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power - TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis 4-3 Retail COS Results Review 4-5 Residential 4-5	Section 2 System Characteristics	2-1
Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics 2-1 CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-7 Section 3 Cost of Service for Hetch Hetchy Power 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction/Data Sources 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization and Classification 3-4 Customer Class Allocation Factors – Hetch Hetchy Power 3-10 General 3-10 Demand Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-14 Customer Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Section 4 Cost of Service Results for Hetch Hetchy Power 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and TOU Periods 4-2 Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis 4-3 Retail COS Results Review 4-5 Retail COS Results Review 4-5	Introduction	2-1
CleanPowerSF Characteristics 2-7 Section 3 Cost of Service for Hetch Hetchy Power 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction/Data Sources 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization and Classification 3-4 Customer Class Allocation Factors – Hetch Hetchy Power 3-10 General 3-10 Demand Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-14 Customer Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Section 4 Cost of Service Results for Hetch Hetchy Power 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis 4-3 Retail COS Results Review 4-5 Retail COS Results Review 4-5	Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics	2-1
Section 3 Cost of Service for Hetch Hetchy Power 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction/Data Sources 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization and Classification 3-4 Customer Class Allocation Factors – Hetch Hetchy Power 3-10 General 3-10 Demand Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-14 Customer Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Seasonal and TOU Periods 4-2 Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis 4-3 Retail COS Results Review 4-5 Retail COS Results Review 4-5	CleanPowerSF Characteristics	2-7
Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction/Data Sources 3-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization and Classification 3-4 Customer Class Allocation Factors – Hetch Hetchy Power 3-10 General 3-10 Demand Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-14 Customer Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Seasonal and TOU Periods 4-2 Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis 4-3 Retail COS Results Review 4-5 Retail COS Results Review 4-5	Section 3 Cost of Service for Hetch Hetchy Power	3-1
Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis 3-2 Functionalization and Classification 3-4 Customer Class Allocation Factors – Hetch Hetchy Power 3-10 General 3-10 Demand Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-14 Customer Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Section 4 Cost of Service Results for Hetch Hetchy Power 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power - TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis 4-3 Retail COS Results Review 4-5 Retail COS Results Review 4-5	Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction/Data Sources	3-1
Functionalization and Classification 3-4 Customer Class Allocation Factors – Hetch Hetchy Power 3-10 General 3-10 Demand Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-14 Customer Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Section 4 Cost of Service Results for Hetch Hetchy Power 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power - TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis 4-3 Retail COS Results Review 4-5 Retail COS Results Review 4-5	Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis	3-2
Customer Class Allocation Factors – Hetch Hetchy Power 3-10 General 3-10 Demand Allocation Factors 3-11 Energy Allocation Factors 3-14 Customer Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Section 4 Cost of Service Results for Hetch Hetchy Power 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Seasonal and TOU Periods 4-2 Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis 4-3 Retail COS Results Review 4-5 Residential 4-5	Functionalization and Classification	3-4
General3-10Demand Allocation Factors3-11Energy Allocation Factors3-14Customer Allocation Factors3-15Adjustments to Allocation Factors3-15Section 4 Cost of Service Results for Hetch Hetchy Power4-1Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service4-1Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service4-1Hetch Hetchy Power Seasonal and TOU Periods4-2Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation4-3Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis4-3Retail COS Results Review4-5Residential4-5	Customer Class Allocation Factors – Hetch Hetchy Power	
Demand Allocation Factors3-11Energy Allocation Factors3-14Customer Allocation Factors3-15Adjustments to Allocation Factors3-15Section 4 Cost of Service Results for Hetch Hetchy Power4-1Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service4-1Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service4-1Hetch Hetchy Power Seasonal and TOU Periods4-2Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation4-3Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis4-3Retail COS Results Review4-5Residential4-5	General	
Energy Allocation Factors 3-14 Customer Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Section 4 Cost of Service Results for Hetch Hetchy Power 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Seasonal and TOU Periods 4-2 Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis 4-3 Retail COS Results Review 4-5 Residential 4-5	Demand Allocation Factors	3-11
Customer Allocation Factors 3-15 Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Section 4 Cost of Service Results for Hetch Hetchy Power 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Seasonal and TOU Periods 4-2 Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis 4-3 Retail COS Results Review 4-5 Residential 4-5	Energy Allocation Factors	3-14
Adjustments to Allocation Factors 3-15 Section 4 Cost of Service Results for Hetch Hetchy Power 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Seasonal and TOU Periods 4-2 Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis 4-3 Retail COS Results Review 4-5 Residential 4-5	Customer Allocation Factors	3-15
Section 4 Cost of Service Results for Hetch Hetchy Power 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Seasonal and TOU Periods 4-2 Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis 4-3 Retail COS Results Review 4-5 Residential 4-5	Adjustments to Allocation Factors	3-15
Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service 4-1 Hetch Hetchy Power Seasonal and TOU Periods 4-2 Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation 4-3 Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis 4-3 Retail COS Results Review 4-5 Residential 4-5	Section 4 Cost of Service Results for Hetch Hetchy Power	4-1
Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service	Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service	4-1
Hetch Hetchy Power Seasonal and TOU Periods	Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service	4-1
Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation	Hetch Hetchy Power Seasonal and TOU Periods	4-2
Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis	Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation	4-3
Retail COS Results Review4-5 Residential4-5	Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis	4-3
Residential4-5	Retail COS Results Review	4-5
	Residential	4-5



Residential Cost Curve	4-8
Small Commercial	4-9
Small Commercial COS Results	4-10
Small Commercial Cost Curve	4-12
Medium Commercial	4-13
Medium Commercial COS Results	4-13
Medium Commercial Cost Curve	4-15
Large Commercial	4-16
Large Commercial COS Results	4-16
Large Commercial Cost Curve	4-18
Industrial Customers	4-19
Industrial COS Results	4-19
Industrial Cost Curve	4-22
Section 5 Rate Recommendations for Hetch Hetchy Power	
Hetch Hetchy Power – Rate Recommendations	5-1
Consolidation of Retail, Municipal Enterprise, and Municipal General (GUSE)	- 4
Rates	
Seasonal and Time of Use Rates	
Demand Rates	5-3
Analysis of Residential Tiers	5-4
Discounting Rates for Energy Received at Higher Voltages	5-6
Recommended Rate Design	
Residential Rates	
Distribution of Bill Impacts – Residential Customers (R-1G)	
Small Commercial Rates	5-14
Distribution of Bill Impacts – Small Commercial	
Medium Commercial Rates	
Distribution of Bill Impacts – Medium Commercial	
Large Commercial	
Distribution of Bill Impacts – Large Commercial	5-24
Industrial Rates	5-28
Distribution of Bill Impacts – Industrial Customers	5-34
Other Rates	5-35
Traffic Lights/Street Lights	5-35
Individually Metered EV Charging Pilot Rate (EV-1)	5-36
Projected Revenue from Recommended Rates	5-37
Section 6 Cost of Service for CleanPowerSF	6-1
CleanPowerSF Reserve Policy	6-2
Functionalization and Classification	6-2
Functionalization of Test Year Expenditures	6-3
Classification – Power Supply	6-3
Classification – Customer Service/Customer Programs	6-5
Customer Class Allocation Factors – CleanPowerSF	6-6
General	6-6
Green and SuperGreen Cost Allocation	6-7
Demand Allocation Factors	6-7

Energy Allocation Factors	6-8
Customer Allocation Factors	6-9
Cost of Service Results	6-11
Section 7 Existing and Recommended Rate Design for CleanPowerSF	7-1
Retail Rate Review	7-1
Legacy Rates & PG&E Rates	7-1
CleanPowerSF – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation	7-1
CleanPowerSF – Seasonal and TOU Energy Periods	7-2
CleanPowerSF Rate Strategy	7-3
Residential	7-3
Е-ТОИ-В	7-4
E-TOU-C	7-4
E-TOU-D	7-5
E-1 and E-6	7-5
Other CleanPowerSF Residential Rates	7-6
Small General Service	7-6
Small General Service (B-1)	7-7
Small General Service (B-6)	7-7
Small General Service (A-6)	7-8
Small General Service (A-1-A)	7-8
Small General Service (A-1-B)	7-9
Other CleanPowerSF Small General Service Rates	7-9
Medium General Service – Low Demand Rates	
Medium General Service Low Demand (B-10)	
Medium General Service Low Demand (A-10-A)	
Medium General Service Low Demand (A-10-B)	
Medium General Service High Demand	
Medium General Service High Demand (B-19)	7-13
Medium General Service High Demand (5-19)	7-14
Large General Service	7-15
Large General Service (B-20)	7-16
Large General Service (E-20)	7-17
Δgricultural Rates	7-18
Outdoor Lighting and Traffic Control	7-18
Other Rates	7-18
SuperGreen Energy Premium	7-19
Super Green Energy Fremium	
Section 8 Projected Revenue/Rate Impacts CleanPowerSF	8-1
Projected Revenue from Recommended Rates	
Bill Impact Analysis	8-2
Year 1 Average Bill Impacts	8-2
Residential	8-2
Small General Service	
Medium General Service Low Demand	
Medium General Service High Demand	
Large General Service	
Year 2 Average Bill Impacts	

Residential	8-8
Small General Service	
Medium General Service Low Demand	
Medium General Service High Demand	
Large General Service	
Section 9 Conclusion/Future Rate Changes/Recommendatons	9-1
Conclusion	
Future Rate Changes	
Recommendations	9-3

List of Appendices

- A Proposed Hetch Hetchy Power Rates
- B Proposed CleanPowerSF Rates
- C Technical Appendix

List of Tables

Table 1-1 Summary of Project Deliverables	1-8
Table 1-2 Study Goals and Objectives	1-11
Table 2-1 Projection of Load and Customer Numbers by Customer Class – Hetch Hetchy Power	2-3
Table 3-1 5-Year Summary Projection of Hetch Hetchy Power Revenue Requirement (\$000)	3-3
Table 3-2 Hetch Hetchy Power – Functionalization of Costs (\$000)	3-5
Table 3-3 Hetch Hetchy Power – Power Supply (\$000)	3-6
Table 3-4 Hetch Hetchy Power – Transmission (\$000)	3-7
Table 3-5 Hetch Hetchy Power – Distribution (\$000)	3-8
Table 3-6 Hetch Hetchy Power – Customer Service/Customer Programs (\$000)	3-10
Table 3-7 12 CP Cost Allocation	3-12
Table 3-8 Modified 12 NCP Allocation Methods	3-14
Table 3-9 Energy Cost Allocation	3-14
Table 3-10 Customer Cost Allocation	3-15
Table 4-1 Cost of Service – Hetch Hetchy Power (\$000)	4-1
Table 4-2 Existing Test Year Rate Revenues vs. Test Year Revenue Requirements – Hetch	
Hetchy Power (\$000)	4-2
Table 4-3 Seasonal and TOU Periods for Hetch Hetchy Power	4-3
Table 4-4 Hetch Hetchy Power TOU Energy Price Differential Analysis	4-4
Table 4-5 Residential Cost of Service	4-5
Table 4-6 Existing Residential Rates (R-1)	4-6
Table 4-7 Existing Enterprise Residential Rates (E1TB)	4-7
Table 4-8 Enterprise Master Meter Residential Rate (EM1TB)	4-8
Table 4-9 Small Commercial Cost of Service	4-10
Table 4-10 Existing Small Commercial Rates (C-1)	4-11
Table 4-11 Existing Enterprise Small Commercial Rates (A1S and A1P)	4-11
Table 4-12 Enterprise Small Commercial Rates (A1US and A1UP)	4-12
Table 4-13 Medium Commercial Rates Cost of Service	4-13

Table 4-14 Existing Medium Commercial Rates (C-2S)	4-14
Table 4-15 Existing Enterprise Medium Commercial Rates (A10S)	4-14
Table 4-16 Existing Enterprise Medium Commercial Rates (A10-US and A10-UP)	4-15
Table 4-17 Large Commercial Rates Cost of Service	4-16
Table 4-18 Existing Large Commercial Rates (C-3S, C-3P)	4-17
Table 4-19 Existing Enterprise Large Commercial Rates (E-19S and E-19P)	4-18
Table 4-20 Industrial Rates (I-IS) Cost of Service	4-20
Table 4-21 Existing Industrial Rates (I-IS and I-1P)	4-21
Table 4-22 Existing Enterprise Industrial Rates (E-20S and E-20P)	4-22
Table 5-1 Cost Under Recovery by Test Year (\$000)	5-3
Table 5-2 Existing and Recommended Tiers – R-1 Gas and Electric and All Electric	5-6
Table 5-3 Service Voltage Discounts	
Table 5-4 Hetch Hetchy Power Residential Rate Schedules and Customers	
Table 5-5 Residential Rates (R-1G) (Existing and Recommended)	5-10
Table 5-6 Residential Rates (R-1E) (Existing R-1 and Recommended R-1E)	5-12
Table 5-7 Enterprise Residential Rates (F1TR) (Existing and Recommended)	5-13
Table 5-8 Enterprise Master Meter Residential Pates (EM1TR – Natural Gas and Electric)	
(Existing and Recommended)	5-11
Table 5-9 Hetch Hetchy Power Small Commercial Pate Schedules and Customers	5_1/
Table 5-9 Netch Netchy Power Shall Commercial (Ate Schedules and Customers	5 15
Table 5-10 Shiai Commercial C-1) (Existing and Recommended)	
Patec)	F 17
Table 5 12 Interprise Small Commercial Dates (A15 and A10) (Evicting and Decommonded	
Table 5-12 Enterprise Small Commercial Rates (A15 and A1P) (Existing and Recommended	F 17
Rales)	5-17
Table 5-13 Enterprise Small Commercial Rates (A1-US and A1-UP) (Existing and Recommended	F 10
Rates)	5-18
Table 5-14 Hetch Hetchy Power Medium Commercial Rate Schedules and Customers	5-18
Table 5-15 Medium Commercial Rates (C2-S) (Existing and Recommended Rates)	5-19
Table 5-16 GUSE Medium Commercial Rates (GC-2S) (Existing and Recommended Rates)	5-21
Table 5-17 Enterprise Medium Rates (A10S) (Existing and Recommended Rates)	5-21
Table 5-18 Enterprise Medium Commercial Rates (A10-US) (Existing and Recommended Rates)	5-22
Table 5-19 Hetch Hetchy Power Large Commercial Rate Schedules and Customers	5-22
Table 5-20 Large Commercial Rates (C-3S) (Existing and Recommended Rates)	5-23
Table 5-21 Large Commercial Rates (C-3P) (Existing and Recommended Rates)	5-24
Table 5-22 Large Commercial GUSE Rates (GC-3S) (Existing and Recommended Rates)	5-26
Table 5-23 Enterprise Large Commercial Rates (E-19S) (Existing and Recommended Rates)	5-27
Table 5-24 Enterprise Large Commercial Rates (E-19P) (Existing and Recommended Rates)	5-28
Table 5-25 Hetch Hetchy Power Industrial Rate Schedules and Customers	5-29
Table 5-26 Industrial Rates (I3-P) (Existing and Recommended Rates)	5-30
Table 5-27 Industrial GUSE Rates (CG4-S) (Existing and Recommended Rates)	5-31
Table 5-28 Enterprise Industrial Rates (E20-S) (Existing and Recommended Rates)	5-32
Table 5-29 Enterprise Industrial (E-20P) (Existing and Recommended Rates)	5-33
Table 5-30 Enterprise Industrial Rates (E-20T) (Existing and Recommended Rates)	
Table 5-31 Traffic Lights/Streetlights (TC-1/LS-3/SLG) (Existing and Recommended Rate)	5-34
	5-34
Table 5-32 Commercial EV Charging Rate (C-EV) (Recommended Pilot Rate)	5-34 5-36 5-37
Table 5-32 Commercial EV Charging Rate (C-EV) (Recommended Pilot Rate)Table 5-33 Revenue Requirement and Year 1 Projected Revenue by Customer Class (\$000)	5-34 5-36 5-37 5-37
Table 5-32 Commercial EV Charging Rate (C-EV) (Recommended Pilot Rate)Table 5-33 Revenue Requirement and Year 1 Projected Revenue by Customer Class (\$000)Table 5-34 Revenue Requirement and Year 2 Projected Revenue by Customer Class (\$000)	5-34 5-36 5-37 5-37 5-38
Table 5-32 Commercial EV Charging Rate (C-EV) (Recommended Pilot Rate)Table 5-33 Revenue Requirement and Year 1 Projected Revenue by Customer Class (\$000)Table 5-34 Revenue Requirement and Year 2 Projected Revenue by Customer Class (\$000)Table 6-1 5-Year Projection of Revenue Requirement by Summary (\$000)	5-34 5-36 5-37 5-37 5-38 6-1

Table 6-2 CleanPowerSF Metrics	6-2
Table 6-3 Revenue Requirement by Function – CleanPowerSF (\$000)	6-3
Table 6-4 Power Supply – CleanPowerSF (\$000)	6-5
Table 6-5 Customer Service/Customer Programs – CleanPowerSF (\$000)	6-6
Table 6-6 12 CP Cost Allocation for Green Energy	6-8
Table 6-7 Energy Cost Allocation Methods	6-9
Table 6-8 Allocation of Customer Service/Customer Programs (%)	6-10
Table 6-9 CleanPowerSF Cost of Service Results – Green Power Revenue Requirement by Class	
(\$000)	6-12
Table 6-10 CleanPowerSF Cost of Service Results – SuperGreen Power Total Revenue	
Requirement (\$000)	6-13
Table 6-11 Analysis of Green and SuperGreen COS Results for CleanPowerSF	6-14
Table 6-12 Average COS Rate. Rate Component by Rate Class	6-15
Table 7-1 TOU Energy Price Differential Analysis – CleanPowerSF	
Table 7-2 Residential Rate Codes for CleanPowerSE	
Table 7-3 CleanPowerSE Residential Rates (F-TOU B) (Existing and Recommended)	7-4
Table 7-4 CleanPowerSE Residential Rates (E-TOU C) (Existing and Recommended)	7-5
Table 7-5 CleanPowerSE Residential Rates (E-TOU D) (Existing and Recommended)	7-5
Table 7-6 CleanPowerSE Residential Rates (E-1 and E-6) (Existing and Recommended)	7-6
Table 7-7 Small General Service Rate Codes for Clean PowerSE	
Table 7-8 Clean DowerSE Small Coneral Service (R-1) (Existing and Recommended)	
Table 7-8 Clean PowerSE Small Conoral Service (B-1) (Existing and Recommended)	····· /-/ 7 0
Table 7-9 Clean PowerSF Small General Service (A-6) (Existing and Recommended)	7-0 7 0
Table 7-10 CleanPowerSF Small General Service (A-6) (Existing and Recommended)	
Table 7-11 CleanPowerSF Small General Service (A-1-A) (Existing and Recommended)	
Table 7-12 CleanPowerSF Small General Service (A-1-B) (Existing and Recommended)	7-9
Table 7-13 Medium General Service Low Demand Rate Codes for CleanPowerSF	/-10
Table 7-14 CleanPowerSF Medium General Service Low Demand (B-10) Secondary Service	
(Existing and Recommended)	/-11
Table 7-15 CleanPowerSF Medium General Service Low Demand (A-10-A) Secondary Service	
(Existing and Recommended)	/-11
Table 7-16 CleanPowerSF Medium General Service Low Demand (A-10-B) Secondary Service	
(Existing and Recommended)	7-12
Table 7-17 Medium General Service High Demand Rate Codes for CleanPowerSF	7-13
Table 7-18 CleanPowerSF Medium General Service High Demand (B-19, Secondary Service)	
(Existing and Recommended Rates)	7-14
Table 7-19 CleanPowerSF Medium General Service High Demand (E-19, Secondary Service)	
(Existing and Recommended Rates)	7-15
Table 7-20 Large General Service – High Demand Rate Codes for CleanPowerSF	7-16
Table 7-21 CleanPowerSF Large General Service – High Demand (B-20, Secondary Service)	
(Existing and Recommended Rates)	7-17
Table 7-22 CleanPowerSF Large General Service (E-20, Secondary Service) (Existing and	
Recommended Rates)	7-18
Table 7-23 CleanPowerSF SuperGreen Energy Premium (Existing and Recommended Rates)	7-19
Table 8-1 Revenue Requirement and Year 1 Projected Revenue by Customer Class (\$000)	8-1
Table 8-2 Revenue Requirement and Year 2 Projected Revenue by Customer Class (\$000)	8-2
Table 8-3 Monthly Bill Impact Analysis: Residential E-1 (FYE 2023)	8-3
Table 8-4 Monthly Bill Impact Analysis: Residential TOU C (FYE 2023)	8-3
Table 8-5 Monthly Bill Impact Analysis: Small General Service B-1 (FYE 2023)	8-4

Table 8-6 Monthly Bill Impact Analysis: Small General Service – A-1B (FYE 2023)	8-4
Table 8-7 Bill Impact Analysis: Medium General Service Low Demand (B-10) FYE 2023	8-5
Table 8-8 Bill Impact Analysis: Medium General Service Low Demand (A-10-B) FYE 2023	8-5
Table 8-9 Bill Impact Analysis: Medium General Service High Demand (B-19) FYE 2023	8-6
Table 8-10 Bill Impact Analysis: Medium General Service High Demand (E-19) FYE 2023	8-6
Table 8-11 Bill Impact Analysis: Large General Service (B-20) FYE 2023	8-7
Table 8-12 Bill Impact Analysis: Large General Service (E-20) FYE 2023	8-7
Table 8-13 Monthly Bill Impact Analysis: Residential E-1 (FYE 2024)	8-8
Table 8-14 Monthly Bill Impact Analysis: Residential TOU C (FYE 2024)	8-8
Table 8-15 Monthly Bill Impact Analysis: Small General Service B-1 (FYE 2024)	
Table 8-16 Monthly Bill Impact Analysis: Small General Service – A-1B (FYE 2024)	8-9
Table 8-17 Bill Impact Analysis: Medium General Service Low Demand (B-10) FYE 2024	
Table 8-18 Bill Impact Analysis: Medium General Service Low Demand (A-10-B) FYE 2024	
Table 8-19 Bill Impact Analysis: Medium General Service High Demand (B-19) FYE 2024	
Table 8-20 Bill Impact Analysis: Medium General Service High Demand (E-19) FYE 2023	8-11
Table 8-21 Bill Impact Analysis: Large General Service (B-20) FYE 2024	8-12
Table 8-22 Bill Impact Analysis: Large General Service (E-20) FYE 2023	8-12

List of Figures

Figure 1-1. Schematic Estimate of Electric Service Territory	1-3
Figure 1-2. Cost of Service Process	1-13
Figure 2-1. Hetch Hetchy Project Power Generation and Transmission Assets – Exhibit	
Overview Map	2-1
Figure 2-2. Hetch Hetchy Power Customers by Class by Type (Legacy vs. Proposed)	2-2
Figure 2-3. Hetch Hetchy Power Load by Customer Class for the Test Year Period (FY 2023–	
2024)	2-2
Figure 2-4. Hetch Hetchy Power Supply by Resource for Test Year (FY 2023–2024)	2-4
Figure 2-5. Hetch Hetchy Power Energy Sales by Month by Class for Test Year (MWh)	2-5
Figure 2-6. Hetch Hetchy Power Energy Sales by Month for Residential for Test Year (MWh)	2-5
Figure 2-7. Hetch Hetchy Power Average Daily Residential Energy Usage for Summer and	
Winter (kWh)	2-6
Figure 2-8. Hetch Hetchy Power Average Daily Commercial and Industrial Energy Usage for	
Summer and Winter (kWh)	2-6
Figure 2-9. CleanPowerSF Customer Account by Percentage for Test Year	2-8
Figure 2-10. CleanPowerSF Power Supply by Category	2-9
Figure 2-11. CleanPowerSF MWh Sales by Month	2-9
Figure 2-12. CleanPowerSF Average Daily Load Profile for System	
Figure 2-13. CleanPowerSF Average Daily Load Profile for Residential and Medium General	
Service – Low Demand	2-10
Figure 3-1. Hetch Hetchy Power 12 CP Demand Cost Allocation	
Figure 4-1. Cost Curve and Rate Curve for Residential R-1 Rate	4-9
Figure 4-2. Hetch Hetchy Power Cost Curve and Rate Curves for Small Commercial Rates	4-12
Figure 4-3. Hetch Hetchy Power Cost Curve and Rate Curves for Medium Commercial Rates	4-15
Figure 4-4. Hetch Hetchy Power Cost Curve and Rate Curves for Large Commercial Rates	4-19
Figure 4-5. Hetch Hetchy Power Cost Curve and Rate Curves for Industrial Rates	4-23

Figure 5-1. Distribution Analysis of Customer Usage for Summer	5-4
Figure 5-2. Distribution Analysis of Customer Usage for Winter	5-5
Figure 5-3. Distribution of Recommended Hetch Hetchy Power Residential Monthly Customers	
Bill Impacts	5-11
Figure 5-4. Distribution of Small Commercial Customers Monthly Bill Impact (\$) for FY 2022–	
2023	5-16
Figure 5-5. Distribution of Medium Commercial Customers Monthly Bill Impact (\$) for FY	
2022–2023	5-20
Figure 5-6. Distribution of Large Commercial Customers Monthly Bill Impact (\$) for FY 2022–	
2023	5-25
Figure 5-7. Distribution of Average Monthly Bill Impacts Industrial Commercial Customers	5-35

© 2022 NEWGEN STRATEGIES AND SOLUTIONS, LLC

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The San Francisco Public Utilities Commission (SFPUC) supplies high quality water, power, and wastewater services in the City and County of San Francisco (referred to as the City). Within the SFPUC, the Power Enterprise meets the electricity needs of San Francisco's municipal, business, residential, and wholesale customers. To accomplish that, Power Enterprise operates two retail electricity programs, Hetch Hetchy Power, San Francisco's publicly owned utility (POU), and CleanPowerSF, San Francisco's community choice aggregation program. Hetch Hetchy Power generates, schedules, purchases, sells, transmits, distributes, meters and bills electricity to retail and wholesale customers, responds to outages, and owns, operates, and maintains the majority of the City's streetlight system. Hetch Hetchy Power customers include City and County agencies and a growing number of commercial and residential customers including those associated with the build out of redevelopment communities (like Treasure and Yerba Buena Islands, Candlestick/Hunter's Point, and Mission Rock). CleanPowerSF schedules, purchases, and sells electricity to residential and commercial customers located exclusively in the City. Through these two programs, the Power Enterprise serves over 70% of the electricity consumed in San Francisco. The vitality of San Francisco communities depends on the safe, reliable, sustainable, innovative electric service Power Enterprise staff provide every day. This Study was designed to evaluate the cost of service (COS) and to recommend appropriate rate structures for both Hetch Hetchy Power and CleanPowerSF.

The Power Enterprise serves customers with a unified staff, sharing operating resources, but the two retail programs have distinct costs of service and ratepayers. The City Charter (and State law) requires that revenues from ratepayers be used to benefit those ratepayers – no comingling of revenues from the two sets of ratepayers is allowed. To reinforce the separation of ratepayer funds, the Hetch Hetchy Power program is part of the Hetch Hetchy Water and Power Enterprise Fund while the CleanPowerSF program is a separate fund, the CleanPowerSF Enterprise Fund, established in FY16-17.

Hetch Hetchy Hydroelectric Power, a byproduct of delivering water to the Bay Area, is the largest single generation component of Power Enterprise's energy supply portfolio. The portfolio also includes owned biogas, solar, storage and energy efficiency resources, as well as purchased solar, storage, wind, and geothermal resources under long term contracts. Power Enterprise plans for and manages these power supplies, manages new energy resources on behalf of its customers, and for Hetch Hetchy Power customers, also plans for and manages the related transmission and distribution infrastructure needs.

Both Hetch Hetchy Power and CleanPowerSF offer customer programs and reinvest profits back into the community. While structurally, Hetch Hetchy Power and CleanPowerSF are distinct, they share labor resources for their customer services/programs as well as the general and administrative (overhead) services provided within the Power Enterprise. Together, the programs work to reduce the City's carbon footprint, combat climate change, and create a better, brighter future for San Francisco with safe, reliable, and affordable electric services responsive to community needs and sensitive to environmental impacts. This Report provides a summary of the analysis conducted for the Study for each organization to establish their COS and to provide specific rate recommendations.

Study Objectives

The SFPUC is required to retain an independent rate consultant at least every five years to evaluate the COS of the power systems and to recommend appropriate rate structures. Costs for SFPUC operations were evaluated over a five-year period, including projections for customers and customer load growth. The analysis was developed to allow the SFPUC to utilize the tools and methodologies to set rates within



the five-year time frame. Due to the short-term growth projections and the changes included for this Study, however, the recommended rates, charges, and fees for power service are developed for a twoyear period (two-year rate plan) beginning Fiscal Year (FY) 2022–2023 and concluding Fiscal Year 2023– 2024. The first phase of rates is designed to be in effect July 1, 2022, and the second phase of rates is designed to be in effect July 1, 2023. It is anticipated that rates for July 1, 2024 – June 30, 2027, will be adopted in 2023 informed by this Study and then-current market conditions. This Study is designed to establish a foundational methodology for financial planning and fair rate-setting for SFPUC It provides an opportunity to reassess the SFPUC's existing financial policies and priorities and to develop rates that better achieve its goals. Rates and charges are designed such that the total revenue needed for the system will be recovered in an equitable manner and consistently with the SFPUC policies.

For Hetch Hetchy Power, those policies include transitioning rates away from historic Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) structures and current rate levels towards those consistent with the COS identified in the Study. This includes updating and modernizing the customer classes used by Hetch Hetchy Power, as well as developing new rates for residential electric heating customers, maintaining low-income rates, while transitioning municipal customers towards COS.

For CleanPowerSF, policies include establishing rates that are not dependent on changes to PG&E rates. For this Study, this means transitioning to class COS rates over the rate plan period while maintaining the ability to offer unique products and services within a range of rates that are comparable to PG&E for generation services. An additional objective for CleanPowerSF is to increase its financial reserves to allow for increased liquidity to be able to respond to potential changes in energy market conditions. Further, CleanPowerSF is dedicated to continuing to offer its SuperGreen 100% renewable energy rate at a premium that is affordable, equitable and supports development of local renewable resources.

Specific Study objectives include the following:

- Review the SFPUC's financial policies applied to cost of service and rate design
- Incorporate industry best practices for power rates and fees
- Develop forecasts of revenue requirements for financial planning and forecasting
- Properly functionalize/allocate costs for equitable, financially sustainable, and legal rates
- Allocate shared Power Enterprise costs (finance, admin, etc.) between Hetch Hetchy Power and CleanPowerSF
- Develop framework for sharing costs between new and existing Hetch Hetchy Power customers, and develop appropriate permit review, line extension, capacity, and/or connection fees to allocate costs fairly
- Create a plan and timeline to normalize Hetch Power rate structure, decouple from PG&E rates, and transition to cost of service rates for all customers
- Set rates to support the operations, maintenance, programmatic, and capital needs of the SFPUC Power Enterprise
- Design rates that provide a financial incentive for customers to implement environmentally friendly practices
- Evaluate affordability of rates for low-income customers and recommend rates or programs that address disproportionate burdens
- Address concerns regarding market price volatility and uncertainty in future costs

This Study utilizes industry accepted methodology to assign utility costs to the various functions, or business units, of the organization. These functionalized costs are classified based on their underlying cost causation and are allocated to the various customer classes served by the utility. This Study utilized historic and projected load and expense data provided by SFPUC to create a future Test Year (TY) period for which rates were designed. For this Study, the Test Year is the average for FY 2022–2023 and FY 2023–2024. However, the transitioning nature of the recommended rates results in specific rates for each year of the rate plan period.

There were operational challenges encountered during the development of this Study, particularly regarding the development of accurate billing data and estimates for projected load by class for the Hetch Hetchy Power customers. Hetch Hetchy Power has a relatively small customer base and is projecting significant growth over the next few years. However, these growth forecasts do not contain sufficient detail needed to calculate revenue and rate estimates (e.g., counts of customers by rate class, usage during time-of-use periods and demand billing forecasts). As a result, Hetch Hetchy bill and revenue forecasts rely on a combination of usage patterns of existing customers and staff expertise regarding expected changes in new, future loads.

Pre-coronavirus (COVID-19) billing data from FY 2018–2019 was utilized as the base year under the assumption that customer usage would return to "normal" during the period of this Study. Advanced meter data from 2018-19 was analyzed to determine customer load profiles; however, AMI data was not available for all customers for an annual billing cycle. Where necessary, customer load profiles were supplemented with industry standard assumptions, or based on similar Hetch Hetchy customers. Additionally, the SFPUC recently implemented a new billing system, which made comparison to historic values difficult. The assumptions regarding changes in customers and customer load are critical to the underlying analysis developed for this Study and the projection of revenues from the recommended rates. To the extent that load and customer numbers are different than the anticipated values, the revenue (and expenses) will be impacted accordingly.

Hetch Hetchy Power

The projected Test Year revenue requirement for Hetch Hetchy Power is projected to be approximately \$171.7 million, which includes costs for operations and maintenance (O&M), power purchases, transmission and distribution, debt service, and rate-funded capital improvements. This value reflects offsets to Hetch Hetchy Power net retail costs from wholesale sales, recovery of programmatic costs, and other revenue sources. Additionally, this value includes contributions to reserves from retail rates of approximately \$5 million per year (average of the two-year Test Year).

The revenue requirement was functionalized, classified (or sub-functionalized), and allocated to the customer classes served by Hetch Hetchy Power, which include residential, small commercial, medium commercial, large commercial, and industrial. Individual customer class characteristics were utilized to develop allocation methods, including those related to demand (peak demand for the system and for each class), energy (total sales, as well as total energy required for load), customers (including customer numbers in each class), and others. Allocations by labor costs for various personnel groups provided by the SFPUC were also utilized in the functionalization, classification, and allocation processes. The San Francisco International Airport (SFO) is a very large customer for Hetch Hetchy Power. For the purposes of rate design, the majority of the costs to serve the SFO load are recovered through the recommended industrial rate. Historic rate classes served by Hetch Hetchy Power include Municipal Enterprise departments of the City, such as SFO; "General Use Municipal" " (or "GUSE") departments of the City; and retail non-municipal customers, which include residential and commercial customers.

The rates for these historic rate classes differ widely in both their level and structure, and the rate at which a customer pays is largely a function of Hetch Hetchy Power history. One objective of this Study is to transition these rates and rate structures from their historic rate classes to industry standard rates and rate structures defined by customer class, rather than City department.

It should also be noted that Hetch Hetchy Power owns and maintains a significant number of streetlights in the City which provide a benefit for all of its residents and businesses, not just those that are power customers. While Hetch Hetchy Power provides power to streetlights, in the future these facilities may be serviced by PG&E, as it may become cost prohibitive for Hetch Hetchy Power to do so due to regulatory requirements. This Study assumes that streetlights will no longer continue to provide revenues for Hetch Hetchy Power, however, the associated maintenance costs for City-owned streetlights will be borne by the program. The costs for the streetlight systems are collected from all customer classes based on an allocation of energy sales by class.

Rate recommendations for individual customer classes and rate codes are presented herein. For residential rates, the recommended rates are designed to limit the rate impact for the class on average to approximately 10% for each year of the rate plan. The rate change for individual customers will depend on their usage and current rate schedules. The recommended rate changes for the residential class include increasing the customer service charge and increasing the energy rates incrementally for each year of the rate plan. Due to the limit on annual rate increases, residential rates will not be at their COS at the end of the two-year Test Year but will be significantly closer than they are today.

Other changes to the residential customer class include a new rate offering for residents with electric heating (R-1E), consistent with the City's policies for increasing beneficial electrification applications. Additionally, changes to the recommended rate structures for residential customers include redefining the existing tiers based on analysis of usage patterns and seasonal PG&E rate structures (between customers with natural gas and electric service, and those with electric heating service). The recommended tiers include an expansion of the amount of energy within the second tier of usage for gas and electric customers for the summer and winter periods, and a significant increase in the amount of energy in the second tier for electric heating customers during the winter periods. Hetch Hetchy Power proposes to continue its low-income discount programs for its residential customers, which is equivalent to a 30% decrease for each rate component, as well as continued investment in its other residential energy rate programs.

Commercial rate changes include shifting retail customers with less than 75 kilowatt (kW) per month demand into the small commercial class (from the medium commercial class), increasing the customer service charges to collect a defined percent of the total revenue requirement by class, and adjusting the pricing differential between existing time of use (TOU) periods. Rates for commercial customers served under the current GUSE rates will be increased by a total effective rate of \$0.03/kWh per year until such time as they achieve their COS rate. Because the GUSE rate for some customer classes is significantly under their COS, and annual increases are capped, many GUSE rates will not be at their COS at the end of the two-year Test Year, but will be significantly closer than they are today. While the GUSE rate is being phased out, this implementation policy will continue to require a subsidy over the near term, which is recovered from all Hetch Hetchy Power customers except those in the residential class. The GUSE customer rate structures are recommended to change from an energy only rate to a rate structure consistent with the retail rate offerings currently in place for the respective customer class. Further, an objective of this Study is to transition the existing Enterprise customers and retail customers to similar rates by the end of FY 2023-2024. Other adjustments to commercial customer classes include development of voltage level discounts based on cost of service for customers taking service at primary and transmission level.

The Test Year revenue requirements for Hetch Hetchy Power was determined to be approximately \$171.8 million. Table ES-1 provides a summary of the Hetch Hetchy Power revenue requirement by class, the projected revenue from current rates, and the projected revenue from the recommended rates provided herein.

			. ,		
Class	TY Revenue Requirement	TY Projected Revenue Current Rates	TY Projected Revenue Recommended Rates	\$ Change from Current Rates	% Change from Current Rates
Residential	\$12,884	\$7,102	\$6,072	(\$1,030)	(14%)
Small Commercial	\$16,606	\$12,002	\$13,463	\$1,461	12%
Medium Commercial	\$29,078	\$19,645	\$24,082	\$4,437	23%
Large Commercial	\$19,553	\$14,550	\$17,467	\$2,918	20%
Industrial	\$93,636	\$115,166	\$110,671	(\$4,495)	(4%)
Total Revenue Requirement (2)	\$171,756	\$168,464	\$171,756		

Table ES-1 Hetch Hetchy Power – Revenue Requirement, Projected Revenue by Customer Class for Test Year (\$000)

(1) Cost of Service (COS.)

(2) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

For Hetch Hetchy Power, the projected Test Year revenue requirement is approximately \$171.8 million. The projected revenue at current rates, which incorporates the estimated load growth over the Test Year period, is estimated to be approximately \$168.5 million. The projected revenue at recommended rates provided herein is designed to recover revenue requirement (\$171.8 million).

Table ES-2 provides a similar summary of the CleanPowerSF projected test year revenue requirement, the projected test year revenue at current rates, the projected revenue from recommended rates, the projected change from current rates (in dollars), and the percent change from current rates.

CleanPowerSF

The CleanPowerSF revenue requirement for the Test Year is estimated to be approximately \$302.5 million. Costs include purchases of renewable energy, shaped energy, capacity, energy open positions, CAISO costs, contingency, and operating and other costs. Renewable energy costs include long-term renewable energy power purchase agreements (PPAs), short-term renewable energy credits (RECs), and greenhouse gas-free (GHG-free) attribute contracts and open position costs. Shaped energy includes bi-lateral non-renewable energy contracts. Capacity cost includes resource adequacy (RA) costs, which include storage costs from long-term renewable energy PPAs. Energy open positions include costs for firming and shaping the energy purchased from renewable resources, which is primarily related to purchases from the CAISO market. CAISO charges are charges from the market for ancillary services. Contingency costs are included in the budgetary process to allow for unexpected changes in power supply costs. Operating and other costs include labor, operational costs, and capital plans. Anticipated contributions to internal reserves (margin) are also included in the operating and other costs category.

As a CCA, CleanPowerSF does not offer delivery service; therefore, the majority of these costs are assigned to the Power Supply function. However, a portion of its costs are related to the customer service function, which includes billing as well as energy programs offered for its customers.

Recommended rate changes to CleanPowerSF include a transition to the cost of service by customer class. This transition is recommended to occur at even increments, such that approximately half of the recommended rate change is anticipated to be implemented on July 1, 2022, and the remainder of the recommended rate change is to be implemented July 1, 2023. CleanPowerSF customer classes include residential, small general service, medium general service low demand (which are less than 499 kW), medium general service high demand, large general service, and outdoor lighting. The default product offered by CleanPowerSF is the "Green" energy rate, which is certified as containing a minimum of 50% renewable energy.

CleanPowerSF also offers a "SuperGreen" product that is 100% renewable energy as a premium product. The SuperGreen is sold as a voluntary rate rider that is in addition to the standard energy product. An analysis of the SuperGreen costs was conducted for this Study which indicated that the current pricing for the SuperGreen products recover their costs. This analysis reflects the costs for CleanPowerSF for the contracts that have been entered into on behalf of the SuperGreen customers, as well as some of the benefits provided to the system from those contracts. CleanPowerSF has decided to slightly modify the premium pricing for the SuperGreen product to continue to encourage investment in renewable resources within the City.

Class	TY Revenue Requirement ⁽¹⁾	TY Projected Revenue Current Rates	TY Projected Revenue Recommended Rates	\$ Change from Current Rates	% Change from Current Rates
Residential	\$140,020	\$157,564	\$138,982	(\$18,583)	(12%)
Small General Service	\$42,297	\$51,753	\$42,871	(\$8,882)	(17%)
Medium General Service (Low Demand)	\$34,765	\$46,993	\$36,463	(\$10,530)	(22%)
Medium General Service (High Demand)	\$63,795	\$79,440	\$65,008	(\$14,432)	(18%)
Large General Service	\$21,418	\$28,432	\$22,558	(\$5,874)	(21%)
Outdoor Lighting	\$168	\$160	\$160	(\$0.8)	(0.2%)
Total Revenue Requirement (2)	\$302,464	\$364,342	\$306,042	(\$58,300)	

Table ES-2CleanPowerSF – Revenue Requirement, Projected Revenue by
Customer Class for Test Year (\$000)

(1) COS.

(2) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

The recent dramatic increase in PG&E rates (March 1, 2022) resulted in CleanPowerSF adjusting their rates to match, in accordance with current policy. As shown in Table ES-2, the projected revenues for the two-year Test Year if no changes to retail rates were made would result in an estimated \$364.3 million in revenue. However, CleanPowerSF costs for this period are estimated to be approximately \$302.5 million (TY Revenue Requirement). The results of the recommended rate changes provided here project an

estimated \$306 million over the two-year rate plan (TY Projected Revenue Recommended Rates), which is a reduction in the revenue from current rates of approximately \$58.3 million. However, not all rate classes have the same projected revenue from recommended rates, as discussed herein, as rates are designed to recover the class COS determined from this analysis.

Future Rates/Rate Changes

Several of the ambitious plans for the Study are recommended to be implemented after July 1, 2022, and after additional analysis and internal and external communications and messaging. For Hetch Hetchy Power, these include the refinement of the existing net energy metering (NEM) rates and the premium renewable energy tariff (like the SuperGreen product offered by CleanPowerSF). Hetch Hetchy Power also anticipates introducing revisions to its line extension policy to align with its transition to cost of service-based rates. Further, Hetch Hetchy Power anticipates reviewing changes to the cost and risk sharing agreement between its water and power operations. Additionally, both Hetch Hetchy Power and CleanPowerSF anticipate a reexamination of the TOU rate periods based on analysis of usage periods and associated costs, as well as developing a peak day pricing program, along with other demand management programs. Finally, the transition to COS for all Hetch Hetchy Power customers is being phased in to prevent rate shock from significant rate increases for any specific class. As a result, not all Hetch Hetchy Power rates will have reached COS by the end of the two-year Test Year, and the phase-in will need to continue in subsequent years to finish the transition. These future rate proposals could be undertaken by SFPUC staff whenever possible.

Recommendations

Based on the conclusions and supporting analyses presented herein, the following recommendations are a result of this Study:

- The Commission should adopt rates as described and recommended in the two-year rate plan in this Report.
- The SFPUC should continue to invest in infrastructure, equipment, and personnel to ensure its ability to meet customer demand for innovation and reliable power supply.
- The SFPUC should continue to monitor and evaluate evolving technologies, systems, and operations to maximize its investments.
- The SFPUC should continue to evaluate the impact of the changes in rates, rate tiers, and rate structures developed herein in light of the projections of load growth to ensure financial stability of both Hetch Hetchy Power and CleanPowerSF.
- The SFPUC should utilize the results of this rate Study to develop future year rate proposals as necessary.

Section 1 INTRODUCTION

Glossary of Terms

CCA	Community Choice Aggregation is an opportunity for local government to provide residents and businesses in its jurisdiction alternative electricity supply services to the investor owned utility. It allows local entities in California to aggregate the buying power of individual customers within a defined jurisdiction in order to secure energy supply and meet local energy policy objectives . The investor-owned utility in each jurisdiction continues to deliver the electricity and bill customers.	
Down-country	"Down-country" refers to the Power Enterprise, the portion of Hetch Hetchy Water and Power that consists of in-City power operations and all power utility wholesale and retail transactions.	
Enterprise	Enterprise rates are standard rate schedules. Enterprise customers include the San Francisco International Airport (SFO), Enterprise departments, Port tenants, and some private customers.	
GUSE	GUSE refers to "General Use" rates, which are charged to General Fund departments, education districts, governmental agencies, and some private customers.	
Hetch Hetchy Water and Power	Throughout this report, "Hetch Hetchy Water and Power" will be used as the umbrella term to describe both Hetch Hetchy Water and Hetch Hetchy Power. Hetch Hetchy Water (also known as "Up-country") operates and maintains the Hetch Hetchy Project, which includes both Water Enterprise and Power Enterprise expenses and Hetch Hetchy Power (also known as "Down-country") is responsible for all San Francisco Public Utilities Commission (SFPUC) power utility commercial transactions and in-City power operations.	
PCIA	Power Cost Indifference Adjustment is an exit fee charge by PG&E to customers that choose another provider of electricity generation service through direct access or community choice aggregation (CCA). The fee is designed to allow PG&E to recover the above-market costs of energy resources that were already contracted on a customer's behalf by PG&E.	
Retail	Retail rates are Hetch Hetchy Power's standard rates schedules. Customers are mainly private non-municipal customers in redevelopment areas.	
Up-country	"Up-country" refers to Hetch Hetchy Water and Power Division, which maintains, and improves water and power facilities, dams and reservoirs, water transmission systems, power generation facilities, and power transmission assets all located in the up-country (Sierra Nevada mountains and foothills).	
45/55 Split	All costs associated with water operations under the Hetchy Water and Power Division are funded by the Water Enterprise, while all operations associated with power are funded by the Power Enterprise. For joint operations, the Water Enterprise is responsible for 45% of operating and capital costs, while the Power Enterprise is responsible for the remaining 55%.	



Background

The San Francisco Public Utilities Commission (SFPUC) supplies high quality water, power, and wastewater services to the City and County of San Francisco (referred to as the City). The agency also supplies wholesale water to three other Bay Area counties, drinking water and power services to certain retail customers outside the City, and wastewater services to three municipal service providers in San Mateo County. These utility services are provided through the maintenance, operations, and development of the SFPUC's three enterprises: the Water Enterprise, the Wastewater Enterprise, and the Power Enterprise.

The SFPUC has provided electricity to City departments and related entities for over 100 years, starting in 1918 and expanding to serve City facilities throughout San Francisco in 1945. The departmental entity of the Power Enterprise was created in February 2005 as part of an agency reorganization effort to separate electric utility services from the Water and Wastewater Enterprises, and now is comprised of two retail electric service programs, Hetch Hetchy Power, San Francisco's publicly owned utility (POU), and CleanPowerSF, San Francisco's community choice aggregation program.

The Hetch Hetchy Water and Power Enterprise Fund is comprised of two key components: Hetch Hetchy Water, which operates and maintains the Hetch Hetchy Project, and Hetch Hetchy Power, which is responsible for all SFPUC power utility commercial transactions and in-City power operations. The Hetch Hetchy Project provides water for distribution through the Water Enterprise and hydroelectric power to municipal and other customers through the Power Enterprise. A number of the facilities of the Hetch Hetchy Project are joint assets and are used for both water transmission and power generation and transmission, benefitting both the Water Enterprise and the Power Enterprise. All power sales revenues are allocated to power and joint activities of the Hetch Hetchy Project and to Power Enterprise.

The Hetch Hetchy Project is the primary source of power supplying the Hetch Hetchy Power retail electric service program. The Hetch Hetchy Power program serves about 4,500 retail accounts.

CleanPowerSF is the electrical power community choice aggregation program. Under CleanPowerSF, the SFPUC pools the electricity demands of many City residents and businesses that are retail electric distribution customers of PG&E for the purpose of buying electricity on behalf of such customers. CleanPowerSF, which currently serves over 380,000 accounts, gives residential and commercial electricity consumers in San Francisco a choice of having their electricity supplied from clean renewable sources, such as solar and wind, at competitive rates.

Figure 1-1 provides a simplified schematic of the "service territories" for Hetch Hetchy Power (referred to as HHP in the graphic below) and CleanPowerSF (referred to as CPSF). The schematic suggests that there are solid areas that are served by each operation; however, the dispersion of customers is much more diverse. As discussed herein, Hetch Hetchy Power serves selected customers and locations within the City and in neighboring counties (municipally owned facilities), whereas CleanPowerSF serves the majority of other customers in San Francisco. While not shown below, there are scattered Hetch Hetchy Power customers in other locations throughout California; typically adjacent to Hetchy facilities.



Figure 1-1. Schematic Estimate of Electric Service Territory

Hetch Hetchy Water and Power

Hetch Hetchy Water and Power was formed in 1913, when the Raker Act granted the City and County of San Francisco the right to build and operate the Hetch Hetchy Water and Power system on federal lands. More than 100 years later, the SFPUC still supplies the City with clean and reliable water and power services through the passing of this Act.

Hetch Hetchy Power's portfolio consists of hydroelectric generation, on-site (distributed) solar at SFPUC and other City/County facilities, and third-party purchases. These third-party purchases are typically made through month-ahead, day-ahead, and spot purchases on the California Independent System Operator (CAISO) market. All market purchases are subject to established risk management practices and guidelines, including trading limits and counterparty credit requirements. The Hetch Hetchy Power supply portfolio is managed to ensure a 100% greenhouse gas-free (GHG-free) product.

Hetch Hetchy Power is committed to the development of clean and "green" power to address environmental concerns and community objectives. This commitment results in continued efforts to evaluate and expand its existing resource base to include additional renewable generation sources, including distributed renewable generation, demand management, and energy efficiency programs. Hetch Hetchy Power's mission is to provide safe and reliable energy service at reasonable cost to customers, with an attention to the environmental effects and community concerns.

Customer Base

Municipal customers were Hetch Hetchy Power's only customers for many years, and still make up most of Hetch Hetchy Power's customer base. In Fiscal Year (FY) 2020–2021, approximately 71% of charges for service were from municipal sales. Notably, one customer, the San Francisco International Airport (SFO or Airport) accounts for over 32% of total Hetch Hetchy Power sales by volume. Because of the outsize importance of this load, SFO costs have been tracked separately; however, for purposes of rate design and cost allocation, SFO is grouped with the other Hetch Hetchy Power Industrial customer class.

Recently, Hetch Hetchy Power has grown its retail customer base, designing and constructing new transmission and distribution facilities to serve more retail customers, such as the Hunter's Point Shipyard and the Transbay Transit Center. This expansion has primarily occurred in distinct geographic regions where new development is happening, particularly neighborhoods developed by the Successor Agency to the San Francisco Redevelopment Authority. Hetch Hetchy Power's expansion was facilitated by Board of Supervisors' Ordinance No. 0247, which amended the San Francisco Administrative Code Chapter 99 to clarify the requirement for the City to provide electric service to City departments and facilities and to evaluate the feasibility of providing electric power to new developments and projects. Section D of the Ordinance states that "the City should consider the feasibility of supplying electricity to all new City developments, including, without limitation, military base reuse projects, redevelopment projects, projects occupying any portion of public land, and projects funded in whole or in part by local, State, or Federal funds and other City projects." Section E states that "in addition to the types of projects identified in (d) above, certain other private projects seeking City approvals including but not limited to new or substantial rehabilitation of more than 10 residential units or new or substantial rehabilitation of more than 10,000 square of occupiable space, present good opportunities for City electric service." These neighborhoods developed by the Successor Agency to the San Francisco Redevelopment Authority therefore meet the outlined requirements.

Other retail customers, however, may choose Hetch Hetchy Power as their power provider if SFPUC determines the service is feasible. Part of the SFPUC's long-term business plan is to own a City-wide distribution system to provide electric service to existing and future customers, so future retail growth is projected in current plans. This customer growth is anticipated to create large revenue increases. Hetch Hetchy Power's long-term goal is to increase its retail sales well above 150 megawatts (MW) by serving additional customers that are currently served by PG&E and/or by serving growing redevelopment areas in San Francisco. Growth to 300 MW or more will allow Hetch Hetchy Power to spread its current fixed costs across a larger customer base and to bring the full value of its supplies to San Francisco, while keeping rates for customers affordable and increasing net revenues available to support Power's capital investment needs.¹

In addition to these retail customers, the 1913 Raker Act obliges Hetch Hetchy Power to make wholesale power in excess of its needs available to the Modesto and Turlock Irrigation Districts. However, since 2018,

¹ The load growth included in Hetch Hetchy Power's financial plan and this report is not inclusive of load growth that would result from a successful acquisition of the PG&E grid. That City initiative is not modeled in this Study.

the Districts have declined to purchase power from Hetch Hetchy Power. Excess power supply not needed to serve Hetch Hetchy Power customers is sold to CleanPowerSF and on California energy markets, mainly via CAISO.

Infrastructure

Per the terms of the 1913 Raker Act, Hetch Hetchy Water and Power developed hydroelectric facilities, transmission facilities, and other electric utility infrastructure to serve its customer base. Subsequently, the City built certain distribution facilities to deliver power to end-use customers. A number of the facilities operated by Hetch Hetchy Project staff are joint assets used for both water storage and transmission and electric generation and transmission, benefitting both Water and Power Enterprise operations.

The Hetch Hetchy Project includes the O'Shaughnessy Dam; the Hetch Hetchy Reservoir; the Canyon and Mountain Tunnels; the Kirkwood, Moccasin, and Holm Powerhouses; Cherry Lake and its dam; Lake Eleanor and its dam; the related water storage and transportation and hydroelectric generating facilities down to and including the Moccasin Powerhouse, all located in Yosemite National Park, Stanislaus National Forest, and Tuolumne County, the rights to which were granted to the City by the Raker Act; and the related transmission facilities down to Newark. Operating and capital costs that jointly benefit both ratepayer groups—water and power—are allocated 45% to the Water Enterprise and 55% to the Power Enterprise under existing policies.

In some cases, Hetch Hetchy Power does not own transmission and distribution facilities to reach every customer. In these cases, Hetch Hetchy Power relies on the transmission system operated by the CAISO and the distribution system of Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E), the investor-owned utility operating within the City. The SFPUC must pay the CAISO for transmission access and pay PG&E for the use of its distribution system through the Wholesale Distribution Tariff (WDT). The rates for WDT are regulated by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. In recent years, the rates for these services and PG&E's restrictions on the City's use of PG&E facilities have led to ongoing disputes and litigation between the SFPUC and PG&E. This complex relationship with PG&E—as both a competitor and a partner—is a major feature in Hetch Hetchy Power's strategic operations.

Hetch Hetchy Power Rates

A major objective of this Study, as discussed herein, is to transition all customers to rates based on their customer class (i.e., residential, small commercial, industrial), and to move all rates to their cost of service. This transition is designed to support the fiscal health of Hetch Hetchy Power, improve the fairness of Hetch Hetchy Power's rates, vastly simplify billing administration, and set up the program to implement modern rate structures to support its policy goals.

CleanPowerSF

In 2004, the City and County of San Francisco established and elected to implement a Community Choice Aggregation (CCA) program, now known as CleanPowerSF. However, it was not until May 2016 that CleanPowerSF began serving customers. Under a CCA structure, the incumbent investor-owned utility (in this case PG&E) provides delivery services (transmission and distribution) and customer service (billing, metering, etc.) and the CCA provides power supply. CleanPowerSF aggregates the electricity demands of the residents and businesses it serves to buy electricity on behalf of those customers.

Customers are assigned to the CCA upon its formation but may "opt-out" of service from the CCA (and return to full bundled energy service by PG&E). CCAs allow communities to control the sources of supply

and the uses of the service revenues, reinvesting in local initiatives. In San Francisco, the CCA promotes the use of renewable energy, invests in local energy programs and supplies, and provides local control on the rates offered to customers. Specifically, CleanPowerSF allows the SFPUC to achieve several complimentary goals, including affordable and competitive electricity generation rates, a renewable and carbon-free generation resource portfolio, opportunities for local renewable generation, and high-quality customer service. As of 2022, CleanPowerSF does not own any of its own power infrastructure, and instead either enters into long-term contracts for storage or power products called "power purchase agreements" or "PPAs" or purchases power on the wholesale market to procure its supply.

CleanPowerSF gradually enrolled customers over several years, including volunteers, adding phases of customers in geographic regions of the City. CleanPowerSF completed its enrollment in 2019, and now serves approximately 60% of the City's total power load. Other than customers who have opted out of CleanPowerSF to remain with PG&E, municipal and some retail load is served by Hetch Hetchy Power (see above) and some larger commercial and industrial customers may choose "direct access" service. Direct access allows certain customers in the retail power market to source their power from third parties, while PG&E would continue to be responsible for the energy's transmission and distribution. As with Hetch Hetchy Power, the relationship between CleanPowerSF and PG&E as both partners and competitors has a direct impact on the program's strategy and operations.

CleanPowerSF Rates

CleanPowerSF offers customers within the City two primary options for its rates. Customer can choose the default "Green" product, which as of 2020 provides greater than 50% renewable power, or its "SuperGreen" product, which is certified as 100% Green-e renewable. The SuperGreen product is priced at a premium rate that varies by class and is in addition to the default Green power rate. Like all CCAs, because the incumbent utility provides the billing service, all CleanPowerSF tariff schedules must mirror those of PG&E.

In addition to paying the CleanPowerSF generation rate, CleanPowerSF customers must also pay a Power Cost Indifference Adjustment (PCIA) rate and Franchise Fees Surcharge (FFS) rate to PG&E. All customers in California (except those served by a publicly owned utility) pay a PCIA and FFS, though the exact rates vary across the state and over time. For customers of PG&E or other investor-owned utilities, the PCIA is embedded as part of their generation rate.

The PCIA is a charge to recover PG&E's costs for generation resources that are currently above market rate, and to which PG&E committed prior to a CCA customer's switch to an alternative supplier. The PCIA is intended to prevent customers remaining with PG&E from unfairly shouldering the burden of excess power supply they do not need. PCIA rates are associated with a specific year in which the customer left the bundled service from PG&E. For CleanPowerSF, the PCIA vintage used for rate analysis is 2018, the year in which the majority of the customers switched from PG&E to CleanPowerSF. The PCIA rate varies depending on the market conditions for power; generally, the higher the projected wholesale energy rate in the CAISO market, the more value is placed on the "stranded" generation resources, and the lower the PCIA. The PCIA is regulated by the CPUC through various litigated rate hearings. The FF surcharges are collected by PG&E as an agent for fees levied by the CPUC on behalf of cities and counties within PG&E's service territory for all customers.

For customers served by PG&E bundled service, the PCIA and FF surcharges are included in their generation rate. For CleanPowerSF, these costs are added to the generation rate for unbundled service. Historically, the PCIA and FFS have represented approximately 30% of the average generation cost of CleanPowerSF customers. A "competitive" rate for CleanPowerSF must not only consider the comparable PG&E generation rate, but also account for these additional PG&E fees. To maintain the same effective

generation costs for CleanPowerSF customers compared to PG&E bundled generation customers, increases in the PCIA drive reductions in CleanPowerSF's generation rates. Because of these competitive pressures and constraints, CleanPowerSF needs to consider PG&E's rates in its own rate-setting and have the ability to react quickly to changes in the market, raising or lowering its rates to cover costs or compete with PG&E.

During the rollout of the program, the policy goal of competitive rates was identified as the highest priority to prevent mass opt-outs. As a result, CleanPowerSF rates have up until this point been set to follow PG&E, after accounting for the PCIA and FFS, rather than being based on CleanPowerSF's cost of service. This is the first rate study for CleanPowerSF, and decoupling from PG&E rates to rates based on CleanPowerSF's cost of service is one of the Study's major goals. It should be noted that on March 1, 2022, PG&E updated its rate schedules, including rates for generation, and CleanPowerSF adjusted its rates to reflect those offered by PG&E at that time.

Study Schedule/Background

This Study was initiated in March 2021 and is anticipated to conclude with the implementation of the recommended rates and rate structures for Hetch Hetchy Power and CleanPowerSF on July 1, 2022 (the beginning of FY 2022–2023). This section provides a summary of the Study mandate, the deliverables developed for the Study, and the Project Teams involved in the Study.

Study Mandate

Per Section 8B.125 of the City & County of San Francisco Charter, the SFPUC is required to retain an independent rate consultant at least every five years to evaluate the cost of service of the power systems and to recommend appropriate rate structures. The last power rate study was completed in FY 2015–2016 for rates beginning FY 2016–2017. This Study is designed to recommend rates, charges, and fees for power service beginning FY 2022–2023. If required, this project will also include any implementation steps needed for the Customer Service, Finance, or the Power Enterprises to administer changes to the rate structure.

Project Team

NewGen Strategies and Solutions, LLC (NewGen) was retained by the City and County of San Francisco, through a competitive request for proposal (RFP) solicitation, to assist the SFPUC with the development of the 2022 Power Rates Study. The NewGen Team included representatives from Bell Burnett and Associates (BB&A). NewGen is a management and economic consulting firm specializing in serving the utility industry and market. Established in August 2012, NewGen primarily serves public sector utilities and provides nationally recognized expertise in utility cost of service and rate design studies, financial feasibility studies, and other economic analysis for electric, water, wastewater, solid waste, and natural gas utilities. BB&A is a management and strategic consulting firm serving the utility industry and public sector clients in the West, particularly in California. BB&A offers an independent development, review, and assessment of strategic plans and initiatives.

Summary of Deliverables

Table 1-1 provides a summary of the deliverables developed as part of this Study, including the approximate date of delivery for each deliverable, as identified in the Project Charter, which was developed from the scope of services requested from the SFPUC. Some of these deliverables were developed by SFPUC staff and some were developed by the rates consultant. The beginning and ending

dates were approximated and adjusted as the Study progressed. Outreach activities envisioned to support this Study were developed and conducted by staff.

Milestones	Deliverables	Date
Identification of Specific Rates and Fees to be Developed	 List of rates, fees, and tariffs to be developed List of key rate or policy areas that the consultant should research Short memos or whitepapers on key rate or financial policy areas for revision 	October 2020–May 2021
Customer Profiles	 Customer power usage data Model of SFPUC customers' characteristics that includes geographic, demographic, and economic information to inform affordability discussions, etc. Expected trends in customer growth/electrification that feed into financial forecasts 	November 2020–July 2021
Revenue Requirement	 Updated capital plans and budgets Revenue requirement model with documentation Chapter in Rate Study Report Presentations to Rates Steering Committee Presentations to Rate Fairness Board 	February 2021–January 2022
Cost of Service Analysis	 Cost of service model with documentation Chapter in Rate Study Report Presentations to Steering Committee Presentations to Rate Fairness Board 	November 2021–March 2022
Development of Power Rates and Charges	 Rate model with documentation Chapter in Rate Study Report Schedule of miscellaneous fees and supporting documentation Final Rate Study Report 	January 2022–April 2022
Outreach Phase 1: Ratemaking Education & Engagement (staff)	 Meetings with key customers and stakeholders Meetings with Rate Fairness Board Briefings with Commissioners and Supervisors Briefings with Mayor's Office and impacted City departments 	November 2020–July 2021
Outreach Phase 2: Rate Change Communications (staff)	 Meetings with key customers and stakeholders Briefings with Commissioners and Supervisors Briefings with Mayor's Office and impacted City departments Multiple meetings with community groups and the general public 	July 2021–June 2022
Rate Implementation	 New rates adopted 	July 1, 2022

 Table 1-1

 Summary of Project Deliverables

SFPUC Project Team

The SFPUC Project Team was led by the Rates Administrator in the SFPUC's Financial Services division. Other divisions within the SFPUC organization provided insight and additional analysis during the Study process, including staff from across the Power Enterprise (Hetch Hetchy Water, Hetch Hetchy Power, and CleanPowerSF), Customer Services, IT, and Communications. NewGen would like to express our true appreciation for the spirted cooperation and valuable assistance given through the course of this Study by each member of the SFPUC's management and staff.

Rate Steering Committee

The Rate Steering Committee is made up of executive leadership staff from across the agency, particularly External Affairs, Business Services, and the Power Enterprise. The Steering Committee provides high-level direction on the project. Responsibilities include:

- Confirm the project's goals and objectives
- Make decisions on policy direction questions
- Make decisions on escalated issues
- Assist in the resolution of roadblocks
- Keep abreast of major project activities
- Keep senior management informed as needed

Monthly presentations were developed and provided to the Rate Steering Committee throughout the process of the Study, beginning September 2020 and concluding April 6, 2022.

Rate Fairness Board

In addition to requiring the SFPUC to retain an independent rates consultant every 5 years, Section 8B.125 of the City and County of San Francisco Charter also requires the SFPUC to establish a Rate Fairness Board consisting of seven members:

- The City Administrator or his or her designee
- The Controller or his or her designee
- The Director of the Mayor's Office of Public Finance or his or her designee
- Two residential City retail customers, consisting of one appointed by the Mayor and one by the Board of Supervisors
- Two City retail business customers, consisting of a large business customer appointed by the Mayor and a small business customer appointed by the Board of Supervisors

Per City Charter, the Rate Fairness Board reviews the 5-year rate forecast, holds public hearings on annual rate recommendations before SFPUC adoption, provides a report and recommendations to the SFPUC on the rate proposal, and submits to the SFPUC rate policy recommendations for the Commission's consideration. During the process of the Study, five presentations were developed and provided to the Rate Fairness Board, beginning December 3, 2019, and concluding on April 8, 2022.

SFPUC Commission

The San Francisco Public Utilities Commission consists of five members nominated by the Mayor and approved by the Board of Supervisors. They are the approval body for all the SFPUC rates and fees. A

presentation of the recommended rates and rate structures for Hetch Hetchy Power and CleanPowerSF is anticipated to be provided to the San Francisco Public Utilities Commission in May 2022.

Study Objectives

This Study is designed to be a key foundational methodology for financial planning and fair rate-setting for the SFPUC. It provides an opportunity to reassess the SFPUC's financial policies and priorities and to develop rates that better achieve those goals. This Study culminates in a set of recommended rate designs, in which the cost recovery mechanisms (rates and charges) for each customer class and rate code are established. Rates and charges are designed such that the total revenue needed for the system will be recovered in an equitable manner that is consistent with the results of the Study. In addition, rate design considers and reflects the SFPUC's overall revenue objectives for the utility, its historical rate structures in place, and policy considerations for various programs, as well as legal requirements and other energy related policies established by the Commission.

Table 1-2 provides a list of the SFPUC's objectives, with the specific application identified for this Study.

Study Goals and Objectives	Implementation	
Review the SFPUC's financial policies applied to cost of service and rate design	Incorporated updated policies for CleanPowerSF reserves	
Industry best practices for power rates and fees	Standardized approach for cost of service analysis	
Develop forecasts of revenue requirements for financial planning and forecasting	Incorporated planning into financial model for cost of service analysis	
Properly functionalize/allocate costs for equitable, financially sustainable, and legal rates	Allocation process based on principles of cost causation	
Allocate shared Power Enterprise costs (finance, admin, etc.) between Hetch Hetchy Power and CleanPowerSF	Incorporated allocation methods provided by SFPUC staff into cost of service analysis	
Develop framework for sharing costs between new and existing Hetch Hetchy Power customers, and develop appropriate permit review, line extension, capacity, and/or connection fees to allocate costs fairly	Conducted Line Extension review and workshop with SFPUC management and staff	
Create a plan and timeline to normalize Hetch Power rate structure, decouple from PG&E rates, and transition to cost of service rates for all customers	Developed 2-year rate plan with recommendations for additional rate strategies	
Set rates to support the operations, maintenance, programmatic, and capital needs of the SFPUC Power Enterprise	Rates set to recover projected revenue requirements based on projected billing determinants by class	
Design rates that provide a financial incentive for customers to implement environmentally friendly practices	Developed time of use (TOU) and tiered rates based on underlying cost responsibility into recommended rate design	
Evaluate affordability of rates for low-income customers and recommend rates or programs that address disproportionate burdens	Incorporated low-income discounts and maintained low tier thresholds as directed by the SFPUC	
Address concerns regarding market price volatility and uncertainty in future costs	Recommend a two-year rate plan with tools for the SFPUC to update and monitor future revenues and expenses	

Table 1-2 Study Goals and Objectives

Review Financial Policies

As indicated in Table 1-2, as part of the comprehensive Study, the NewGen team reviewed the SFPUC's financial policies in areas such as debt service coverage, cash versus debt capital financing, reserves, and rates to determine recommended changes as described in this Report. This includes modifying the reserve policy for CleanPowerSF and increasing reserve levels for both CleanPowerSF and Hetch Hetchy Power to address concerns regarding market exposure and volatility in market prices.

Industry Best Practices

Another objective of this Study was to utilize industry best practices to provide clear, documented support for power rates and fees, which were incorporated into the cost of service and rate design modeling. This included properly functionalizing costs and allocating them to customer classes to ensure that power rates are equitable, financially sustainable, and meet legal requirements. This process results in recommended retail rates for SFPUC customers that support the operations and maintenance (O&M), programmatic, and capital needs of the SFPUC Power Enterprise

Forecast Revenue Requirement

As part of this modeling effort, the NewGen team reviewed and incorporated the forecasts of revenue requirement developed by SFPUC staff into the cost of service process, which will allow SFPUC staff to create analyses for financial planning and forecasting after completion of the Study. NewGen reviewed staff estimates for splitting costs and risks associated with the Hetch Hetchy Power up-country power and joint assets (operating and capital) between Water and Power Enterprises; however, additional analysis may be required due to the complexity of the arrangement. NewGen also reviewed the proposed methods developed by SFPUC staff for allocating shared Power Enterprise costs (finance, admin, etc.) between Hetch Hetchy Power and CleanPowerSF. These elements were included in the revenue requirement portions of the respective cost of service analyses for each entity.

Review Fees/Cost Sharing

SFPUC policies and fees associated with sharing costs between new and existing Hetch Hetchy Power customers were reviewed as part of this Study. This included a review of the permit review process, line extension charges, capacity, and/or connection fees currently utilized to fairly allocate costs. This process culminated in a line extension workshop facilitated by NewGen with management and staff from the SFPUC. While Hetch Hetchy Power did not make changes to the current line extension policy and practices in place, the Study provided potential recommendations and options for future consideration. SFPUC staff intend to propose changes to some existing fees based on these recommendations.

Rate Strategy

The NewGen Team worked with the SFPUC Team to create a rate strategy plan and timeline to normalize Hetch Hetchy Power rate structures, decouple both Hetch Hetchy Power and CleanPowerSF from PG&E rates, and transition to cost of service rates for all customers. Addressing how collective City energy programs are allocated equitably to rate classes is a critical element of this Study. An additional element of this strategy, which is further described below, is to transition from the "legacy" Hetch Hetchy Power customer nomenclature and classes (GUSE, Municipal Enterprise, Retail) into more traditional customer classes, such as residential, commercial, and industrial.

Currently, CleanPowerSF updates its rates with each change in PG&E's retail rates, which can lead to multiple rate changes within a single fiscal year. An objective of this Study was to develop rates that are not dependent on PG&E and that reflect the SFPUC's costs to serve their customers. This will allow for rate stability for those customers whose rates were previously tied to PG&E and will ensure that budgeted programs for both CleanPowerSF and Hetch Hetchy Power can be funded, if approved by the Commission.

This process culminated in the development of the recommended two-year retail rate plan, which recommends retail rates and rate strategies for each rate class for FY 2022–2023 and FY 2023–2024. While the Study covers five years, as required by the Charter, a two-year rate plan was chosen to address concerns regarding future market price volatility for energy (which can dramatically impact the utility's operations), as well as other uncertainties in estimating future costs and demands as usage emerges from the changes caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. As indicated, the models and methodologies developed for this Study can be used by the SFPUC at the completion of this Study for their use for future rate plans; updated models will be used to propose rates for FY 2024–2025 onward.

Innovative Rate Designs for Policy Goals

The rate recommendations developed as part of this Study include financial incentives for customers to implement environmentally friendly energy usage behaviors, such as energy conservation, decarbonization, and shifting load to times of the day with more renewable sources (time of use or TOU-based rates). Additionally, NewGen evaluated the affordability of the recommended rates for low-income customers and recommended rates or programs that address disproportionate burdens. The recommended rate plan also includes transitions to cost of service-based rates for customers whose rates are currently above or below their respective costs. Further, the rate plan is intended to send cost-based price signals for all customers served by the Power Enterprise, and to create rates that support customer growth and expansion of services and rate offerings.

Cost of Service Process

The COS process is an industry-accepted framework that assigns or allocates costs to each customer class served by a utility. This process determines the "cost to serve" each customer class within the utility. The COS process involves a series of steps to identify costs and allocate them by function, classification, and ultimately customer class. Additionally, it is recognized that electric utility costs are typically characterized as either fixed or variable; fixed costs are those that do not change with the production of electricity, whereas variable costs are directly related to the amount of electricity produced and/or purchased. These costs are typically further characterized as those that are demand based, customer based, and energy based. A summary of the steps in the COS process, as well as a description of the types of costs incurred to operate an electric utility, are described below.

Steps in the COS Process

The process of conducting a cost of service/rate design analysis generally proceeds as follows and is graphically depicted in Figure 1-2 below.



Figure 1-2. Cost of Service Process

Step 1. Establish the Revenue Requirement

The revenue requirement determines the total revenues the utility must collect over a specified period of time to serve its customers, maintain its debt service obligations, invest in its system, and provide

additional funds required by fiscal and reserve policies, as appropriate. The period of time covered by the Revenue Requirement (as well as the ensuing rates) is defined as the Test Year.

Step 2. Functional Unbundling

Functional unbundling refers to categorizing the utility's Revenue Requirement between its four major business units or functions (as appropriate), including:

- Production
- Transmission
- Distribution
- Customer Service

Step 3. Classify Costs Within Functional Area

Costs are classified based on the drivers within each functional area. Drivers of cost include system demand, energy consumption, the number of customers being serviced, or costs that are directly attributed (or allocated) to a specific class or customer. This process may include "sub-functionalizing" the cost categories to align their costs and cost causation, as further explained herein.

Step 4. Allocation of Costs across Customer Classes

After costs have been classified to a functional area (production, transmission, distribution, or customer service), costs are further categorized based on the customer usage characteristics of the system. Costs are then allocated to customer classes, allowing COS to be determined for each class.

Step 5. Design Rates

Rate design is based on a combination of analysis of the customer class Revenue Requirements (the allocated share of the system costs) and policy decisions.

Types of Electric Utility Costs

Demand-based Costs

In general, most of an electric utility's cost structure are demand-based costs. Demand-based costs are associated with fixed costs related to existing and future investments made to produce, transmit, and deliver electrical power from the generation resources to its customers. For the Power Enterprise, these costs include the debt service associated with its investments, as well as a portion of its contracts for purchased power. The labor and materials associated with the O&M and administration of these systems are also demand-based costs, as the labor costs are typically fixed in the short term (budget cycle). In the short term, fixed costs do not change and represent the ongoing costs to meet the needs of the utility.

Demand (fixed) costs are defined as those that are incurred to maintain a "readiness to serve," an electric system capable of meeting the total combined demands of all customers at all hours, including peak demand. Demand costs are those costs that are generally fixed in the short run, do not materially vary directly with the number of kilowatt hours (kWh) generated or sold, and are not defined as customer costs.

In the COS process, these costs are assigned based on the electric demand (measured in kilowatts, or kW) that a specific customer or customer class places on the system. Hetch Hetchy Power, like most utilities, has a cost structure that is highly fixed, which is typical of highly capital-intensive entities. However,

CleanPowerSF costs are primarily variable, as they relate to the costs incurred to purchase energy only on behalf of their customers.

Customer-based Costs

Customer-based costs for electric utilities are fixed costs as well, but are costs incurred in direct support of the customers served by a utility. Customer costs are defined as those directly related to the number, type, and size of customer, such as customer accounting and bill collecting, and the costs of meters and services. Also, a portion of the distribution investment and operating costs are classified to customer costs because the size and design of the distribution system is a function of both the number of customers and their load (demand).

For Hetch Hetchy Power, customer-related costs include the costs associated with the labor, equipment, and investments for customer accounting, billing, and customer assistance (call centers). For CleanPowerSF, these costs include labor and program costs, including customer assistance, as well as third-party costs for billing and data access from PG&E. For the Power Enterprise, a portion of overhead labor costs (provided by other bureaus and other departments) are allocated to the customer-related costs, as they are designed to support this function. During the COS process, these costs are allocated by the number of customers within a class and may be weighted to represent the relatively larger amount of time spent to serve larger and more complex customers.

Energy-based Costs

Energy-based costs for electric utilities are typically variable costs that change with the fluctuations in electric load. The primary example of energy-related costs for the Power Enterprise are purchased power costs. During the COS process, these are allocated to the customer classes by the amount of energy they are projected to utilize within a selected period of time (during the Test Year).

Other Types of Costs

In the COS process, there are other costs that are not defined or allocated to those categories which include demand, customer, or energy-related costs. These include those that are revenue related and those that are directly assigned to classes, as described below.

Revenue-Related Costs

Revenue-related costs are associated with the amount of revenue generated by each utility's operations. For some of the cost allocations used herein for certain programmatic expenses, for example, a total revenue requirement allocator was developed to assign costs to functions, sub-functions, classifications, or classes as described herein.

Direct Assignment Costs

There is another category of cost classification that is known as "direct assignment." The direct assignment costs may be related to demand, energy, customer, or another type of classification; however, these costs are removed from the overall revenue requirement and are allocated directly to a specific customer class or customer.

SFPUC COS Considerations

For the purposes of this Study, two separate COS/rate design analyses were developed: one for Hetch Hetchy Power and one for CleanPowerSF. This is because these two utilities operate independently of each other while sharing costs of certain overhead responsibilities.

As indicated above, the objectives of this Study were to establish a COS-based methodology for the two utility operations, Hetch Hetchy Power and CleanPowerSF. The COS methodology will be utilized to align retail rates with the service offerings to the various customer classes. Further, the COS methodology will form the basis for future rate offerings as both utilities continue to evolve and offer additional products and services in the future.

Hetch Hetchy Power currently offers services to three distinct customer groups, based generally on the type of customer that is being served (if they are a municipal or non-municipal customer). These customer groups include the General Use Municipal, which are municipal departments and other public agencies, referred to as GUSE customers; the Enterprise Municipal customers, which are municipal load customers as well but are not included in the GUSE categorization; and retail customers (non-municipal customers). These distinctions in customer classes are a result of the history of Hetch Hetchy Power that has evolved over time, as discussed above.

Retail customers include a variety of residential and commercial customers primarily located in areas that San Francisco has redeveloped. The current rates and rate structures are different for the three groups of Power Enterprise customers. Rates for the GUSE customers consist of a flat energy rate (\$/kwh). Rates for Enterprise customers are set equal to the corresponding rates offered by PG&E. Rates for the retail customers are set at an approximate 10% discount to the equivalent corresponding PG&E rate (i.e., residential, commercial, industrial, etc.).

Hetch Hetchy Power anticipates significant growth for its residential and small commercial classes due to anticipated completions of various redevelopment efforts within this City. This growth results in increased costs to serve these customers. Further, changes within the City's policies regarding future development and restrictions on the installation of new natural gas connections result in a projected increase in the number of residential customers who will be utilizing electric heating and thus increase load. The implications of this growth are described herein and should be noted accordingly.

Currently, CleanPowerSF generation rates are tied to PG&E generation rates, as well as charges for the PCIA and other charges. The current policy allows for the Power Enterprise to adjust CleanPowerSF rates concurrent with adjustments in PG&E rates. Further, CleanPowerSF rates can be higher than PG&E rates if supported by costs. Most recently, PG&E implemented a new set of rates, including generation rates and PCIA rates on March 1, 2022, and CleanPowerSF and Enterprise customer rates were updated accordingly.

The revenue requirement for this Study was developed from the SFPUC's 10-year financial model (the 10year Financial Pro Forma Model) as well as the Power Matrix model, both of which develop projections of costs for Hetch Hetchy Power and CleanPowerSF operations based on assumptions of power supply costs, load growth, investments, and other items, as necessary.

It should be noted that as part of this Study, various assumptions regarding projected expenses and revenues were developed in coordination with the SFPUC staff and management. To the extent that assumptions as stated regarding these projections are not realized, the recommended rates and rate structures as developed herein may or may not be sufficient to meet the revenue requirements for the period identified.

Section 2 SYSTEM CHARACTERISTICS

Introduction

The purpose of this section is to provide a summary of the system characteristics utilized for this Study that are unique to each SFPUC operation. System characteristics are defined for the Test Year period, which is defined for this Study to be the average of the two-year period of FY 2022–2023 and FY 2023–2024. The SFPUC's fiscal year ends June 30, so FY 2022–2023 is the period from July 1, 2022, to June 30, 2023, and similarly FY 2023–2024 is the period from July 1, 2023, to June 30, 2024. This section includes a description of the Hetch Hetchy Power operations, as well as CleanPowerSF. Figure 2-1 portrays an overview map of the Hetch Hetchy power generation and transmission assets, provided by the SFPUC for this Report.



Figure 2-1. Hetch Hetchy Project Power Generation and Transmission Assets - Exhibit Overview Map

Hetch Hetchy Power Characteristics

As indicated in Section 1, Hetch Hetchy Power consists of generation, transmission, and limited distribution assets that generate power and deliver to its customers. Additionally, it pays PG&E to deliver power to many of its customers through access to PG&E's transmission and distribution assets. Historically, Hetch Hetchy Power provided electricity to the City's municipal operations; however, as the City has expanded its public housing and redevelopment areas, it has continued to serve additional direct

retail customers. As previously indicated, one objective for this Study is to normalize the customer classes served by Hetch Hetchy Power. Therefore, the historic categories of GUSE, Municipal Enterprise, and Retail are transitioned to industry standard customer classes for the Test Year. Figure 2-2 provides a summary of the legacy rate groups (as a % of total) compared to the proposed rate customers by class. For the purposes of this report, the system characteristics are described in terms of the proposed customer classifications. However, for the purposes of rate design, several of the legacy distinctions are utilized due to rate strategy.



Figure 2-2. Hetch Hetchy Power Customers by Class by Type (Legacy vs. Proposed)

As previously indicated, growth in both load and numbers of customers in several areas of the City is assumed to occur during the Test Year, as projected by the SFPUC. Figure 2-3 provides a summary of the anticipated energy sales (by percentage) for each of the proposed customer classes utilized for this Study.





Growth in Customer Load

Hetch Hetchy Power is projecting significant changes to its customer classes over the Test Year period. This includes changes within classes as well as across classes. Retail residential customers, for example, are anticipated to increase significantly from approximately 1,680 customers in FY 2021–2022 to 2,840 in FY 2022–2023 to 5,735 in FY 2023–2024. This increase is anticipated from the redevelopment of various properties in the City, including Treasure and Yerba Buena Islands, Hunter's Point Shipyard, and affordable housing properties, which are anticipated to be primarily residential load. As a result, the total load
associated with the residential class is anticipated to increase significantly. Table 2-1 below provides a summary of the projected increases by load for each class (and total system), as well as the anticipated increase in number of customers for each rate class.

As noted previously, the assumptions regarding changes in customers and customer load are critical to the underlying analysis developed for this Study and the projection of revenues from the recommended rates. To the extent that load and customer numbers are different than the anticipated values, the revenue (and expenses) will be impacted accordingly. Because of the magnitude of this change, it is recommended that Hetch Hetchy Power continue to monitor customer growth, expenses, and revenues on a monthly basis relative to the assumptions developed herein.

Rate Class	FYE 2023 Load (MWh)	FYE 2024 Load (MWh)	% Change	FYE 2023 Customers	FYE 2024 Customers	% Change
Residential	22,696	32,969	45%	2,843	5,735	102%
Small Commercial	55,628	69,429	25%	1,902	2,366	24%
Medium Commercial	140,466	150,810	7%	307	348	14%
Large Commercial	98,552	113,391	15%	41	46	12%
Industrial	623,637	702,981	13%	45	50	12 %
Total	940,978	1,069,580	14%	5,137	8,545	66%

 Table 2-1

 Projection of Load and Customer Numbers by Customer Class – Hetch Hetchy Power

Source: SFPUC 10 Year Financial Pro Forma Model and Power Matrix. Note, numbers may not add due to rounding.

Hetch Hetchy Power Streetlights

Hetch Hetchy Power currently owns, operates, and maintains approximately 60% of the streetlights in the City; the remainder are owned and maintained by PG&E. The SFPUC provides power to both the PG&E-owned and the SFPUC-owned streetlights. However, because the City must utilize PG&E's distribution facilities to deliver power to the streetlights, it pays PG&E through its wholesale distribution access tariff (the WDT rate). This rate has increased in recent years and is projected to increase in the future; moreover, the latest WDT terms now mandate that all interconnections be metered and served at primary voltage, which would require installation of onerous, unnecessary, and expensive equipment (or be forced to convert to PG&E retail service).

These requirements are not efficient or economically feasible, and while the SFPUC is currently challenging them, it is assumed for this Study that the SFPUC will no longer be able to serve streetlights or other unmetered load throughout the City (other unmetered load includes traffic signals, the distributed antenna system, bus stop lighting, and other small facilities). Instead, PG&E will serve this load and those customers will become retail customers of PG&E, resulting in a significant loss of load for Hetch Hetchy Power beginning in summer 2022 and continuing during the projected Test Year period of this Study. However, the City will continue to own and maintain its streetlights (with some adjustments to the cost due to the new WDT terms) and will only provide electricity to a very small number of streetlights that exist on its own distribution system or which are metered. For the purposes of this Study, the future load of the streetlights is not included in the analysis; however, the costs to maintain them are included as part of the projected revenue requirement (see Section 4). For the purposes of rate design, the

streetlight rates for those that continue to be provided electricity by the City will be updated; however, because the revenue is minimal, they have not been included as a customer class in most tables and figures in this Report.

Hetch Hetchy Power – Power Supply

As noted, Hetch Hetchy Power owns generation resources, which provide most of its power supply; however, it also contracts for solar power supply under a PPA and purchases power from the wholesale power market (CAISO) as necessary. Market purchases in particular are needed during certain seasons, as hydroelectric generation is restricted to time periods when water is being released for use by the Water Enterprise. Figure 2-4 provides a summary of the power supply by percentage for the Test Year period.



Figure 2-4. Hetch Hetchy Power Supply by Resource for Test Year (FY 2023–2024)

Total energy usage by Hetch Hetchy Power customer class varies by month depending on several factors, including the weather. Figure 2-5 provides a representation of the energy sales by customer class, which includes the SFO as its own load for comparison purposes. The results suggest that generally load for Hetch Hetchy Power is consistent across all months. However, while that is true for the commercial and industrial classes (including SFO), the residential class shows more variability by month.



Figure 2-5. Hetch Hetchy Power Energy Sales by Month by Class for Test Year (MWh)

Figure 2-6 provides a representation of the residential energy sales by month for the Test Year, which is not evident in the previous graph due to scale and influence of the larger classes. The residential class load suggests higher energy usage during the winter months, generally from November to April. This is generally due to San Francisco's relatively cool summers requiring minimal air conditioning, with electricity used for heating during the cooler winter months. This usage pattern is expected to continue as the City's environmental policies encourage beneficial electrification and discourage additional natural gas usage, especially in the new residential redevelopment areas developed in coordination with the City.



Figure 2-6. Hetch Hetchy Power Energy Sales by Month for Residential for Test Year (MWh)

Further analysis of projected load suggests that Hetch Hetchy Power customer classes use electricity differently during the day. Figure 2-7 provides a summary of the electricity usage pattern for residential customers for an average winter and summer day.



Figure 2-7. Hetch Hetchy Power Average Daily Residential Energy Usage for Summer and Winter (kWh)

Figure 2-8 provides similar average daily load by season for commercial and industrial Hetch Hetchy Power loads. As shown, the analysis conducted on the average daily load indicates that the residential load is generally higher for every hour during the winter compared to summer, whereas the commercial load is higher in the summer (for most hours), and the industrial load is slightly higher during the summer months (although the difference between the seasons for industrial is relatively small). These usage patterns become important in the development of cost-based seasonal and TOU rates for Hetch Hetchy Power customers.



Figure 2-8. Hetch Hetchy Power Average Daily Commercial and Industrial Energy Usage for Summer and Winter (kWh)

Hetch Hetchy Power - Energy Programs

Hetch Hetchy Power offers an array of energy programs for its customers, which includes discounts for low-income customers, energy efficiency programs, services for municipal customers, and one-time programs as approved by the Commission. One such program was recently enacted during the) pandemic, which used funds from the State of California and the federal government to forgive a portion of outstanding debt accrued by customers.

Discount Programs

Long-standing programs include Hetch Hetchy Power's Customer Assistance Program (CAP). Eligible residential customers are those whose income is less than 200% of Federal Poverty Level and who are served by Hetch Hetchy Power. The CAP program offers a 30%-35% discount on each rate component on their bills and applies to both retail and Enterprise residential customers. Cost recovery for the CAP program discount is currently provided by general Hetch Hetchy operating revenues.

Energy Efficiency Programs

Hetch Hetchy Power offers a variety of energy efficiency programs to eligible customers. The GoSolarSF program offers eligible homeowners (based on zip codes and incomes) an opportunity to receive discounts on solar systems and save up to 90% on their electricity bills. EV Charge SF offers Hetch Hetchy Power customers an opportunity to receive financial incentives and technical support to add electric vehicle (EV) chargers and related infrastructure in new or newly constructed buildings. And finally, Energy Efficiency Incentives allow Hetch Hetchy Power commercial, industrial, or municipal customers to receive financial incentives and technical support to receive financial incentives and technical support to reduce energy in new or existing buildings.

Hetch Hetchy Power - Residential Tiered Rates

Hetch Hetchy Power provides service to residential customers under its retail and Enterprise rates. As described in detail in Section 5 of this Report, the residential energy rates are offered as an inclining block structure over three tiers that are seasonally differentiated. This means that the energy rates on a \$/kWh basis are higher in each subsequent block. The current tiers are a legacy structure from historic PG&E rate structures for the retail rates and reflect current rate structures for the Enterprise rates.

Hetch Hetchy Power – GUSE Service

Hetch Hetchy Power provides service to municipal entities through two existing rate codes, identified as GUSE and Enterprise. As noted in Section 1, GUSE rates are currently offered as a flat energy-only rate (\$/kWh). However, as part of the rate plan recommended for this Study, GUSE rates will be offered in a rate structure similar to their customer class, such that rates will either be a customer and energy rate (a two-part rate) or a customer, energy, and demand rate (three-part rate). GUSE rates are recommended to be seasonally or TOU differentiated, depending on how the comparable class of Hetch Hetchy Power retail rates are offered.

GUSE rates are recommended to increase at a maximum of \$0.03/kWh for each year of the recommended rate study (FY 2022–2023, FY 2023–2024). For the purposes of this Study, this limitation on the increase for GUSE customers is calculated on a class average basis (total dollars divided by total kWh for each group of GUSE customers). However, in general, this increase in projected revenue over the Study period is not equivalent to the COS for each class in which the GUSE customers exist. The recommended rate strategy is to eliminate this subsidy over time, and until it is completely phased out, to recover it from the non-GUSE, non-residential customers served by Hetch Hetchy Power so the total revenue requirement is met.

CleanPowerSF Characteristics

CleanPowerSF provides residents and businesses of the City with an alternative power source supplier compared to PG&E. However, as a CCA, CleanPowerSF only provides generation services to its customers; the delivery and outage response aspects of utility operations continue to be provided by PG&E. CleanPowerSF serves the majority of the City with alternative power; customers can either purchase their

"Green" product, which is at least 50% California-certified Renewable and more than 90% greenhousegas free energy, or their "SuperGreen" product, which is comprised of 100% California-certified Renewable and greenhouse gas free power.

Figure 2-9 provides a representation of the customers served by CleanPowerSF by customer class. Because CleanPowerSF must follow PG&E rate classes, this Report utilizes the term "general service" for the commercial classes served by CleanPowerSF.



Figure 2-9. CleanPowerSF Customer Account by Percentage for Test Year

As suggested in Figure 2-9, the majority of the CleanPowerSF customers are residential customers in the City (92%), followed by Small General Service (7%), Medium General Service Low Demand (demand less than 499 kW), Medium General Service High Demand (demand greater than 500 kW, but less than 1,000 kW), and Large General Service (demand greater than 1,000 kW). CleanPowerSF also serves some outdoor lighting customers as well. As noted herein, SuperGreen customers pay a premium above the existing and recommended rates and are represented by all of the customer classes.

CleanPowerSF — Power Supply

CleanPowerSF obtains its power supply from a variety of sources, the majority of which is through competitively-bid contracts with power resources (PPAs). CleanPowerSF has entered into PPAs with renewable generation providers which include solar, wind, storage, and geothermal resources. For the purposes of this report, these resources are collectively referred to as "Renewable Energy;" however, as discussed later, they do provide some capacity as well. Additionally, CleanPowerSF purchases bundled renewable energy credits (RECs) and other GHG-free attributes on an as-needed and ongoing basis to augment its power supply needs, which are also included as Renewable Energy. Renewable Energy represents over 50% of CleanPowerSF's total power supply costs.

CleanPowerSF purchases a portion of its energy from the CAISO market, which includes a mix of renewable and non-renewable sources depending on the timing of the purchase, as well as limited amounts associated with contracts in place for non-renewable energy. For the purposes of this report, these power supply resources are referred to as "Energy Open Position." Other power supply expenses include those for purchasing capacity (also referred to as Resource Adequacy, or RA, as discussed later in this report), as well as CAISO fees for services related to scheduling, dispatching, and coordinating CleanPowerSF power supply in generation (referred to here as CAISO Fees). Lastly, CleanPowerSF also budgets a certain amount of funds specifically for contingency purchases. Figure 2-10 provides a summary of the various cost categories related to CleanPowerSF's power supply expenses estimated for the Test Year period by relative percentage.



Figure 2-10. CleanPowerSF Power Supply by Category

Figure 2-11 provides a representation of the total sales by class estimated for CleanPowerSF for the Study period.



Figure 2-11. CleanPowerSF MWh Sales by Month

Total kWh sales are estimated to be approximately 2.9 million megawatt hours (MWh) for the Test Year period, the majority of which are associated with residential sales. Customer usage on a daily basis differs for the average CleanPowerSF customer from the average Hetch Hetchy Power customer. Figure 2-11 provides a representation of the hourly load profile for CleanPowerSF over a year (for 2019). Hourly peak load was approximately 455 MW during the peak in January 2019. In general, load for CleanPowerSF peaks during the winter months and decreases during the summer months.

Figure 2-12 provides a representation of the average typical daily load profile for the CleanPowerSF system during the winter and summer periods. Figure 2-13 provides similar typical daily load profiles for CleanPowerSF residential and medium general service low demand.



Figure 2-12. CleanPowerSF Average Daily Load Profile for System



Figure 2-13. CleanPowerSF Average Daily Load Profile for Residential and Medium General Service – Low Demand

CleanPowerSF — Energy Programs

CleanPowerSF also funds energy programs for its customers, including its Local Renewable Energy Program, Peak Day Pricing (PDP) Program, Low-Income Inverters Program, and Heat Pump Water Heater Program partnership with BayREN. The Local Renewable Energy Program includes funds to develop renewable energy projects on SFPUC properties to generate GHG-free power, including solar facilities on reservoirs, and battery storage facilities. Customers who opt into CleanPowerSF's SuperGreen program

receive 100% of their energy from renewable sources; revenues from these customers also fund local renewable energy investments. The PDP Program uses internally generated funds to pay commercial customers to reduce demand between 4–9 p.m. in the summer and fall. The Low-Income Inverter program is designed to provide incentives to cover the replacement of aged inverters on distributed solar facilities in the City for qualifying customers. Additionally, CleanPowerSF has partnered with BayREN to offer incentives to participating contractors that install energy-efficient electric heat pump water heaters in CleanPowerSF customers' homes. CleanPowerSF does not provide direct discounts to its generation rate, as that program is implemented by PG&E, is set at a discount to their delivery rates, and is funded by the State of California (CARE program).

Hetch Hetchy Power Introduction/Data Sources

This section provides a description of the cost of service process for Hetch Hetchy Power, which involves the development of the Test Year revenue requirement and the allocation of those costs to the various functions, classification, and ultimately to the customer classes (as provided in Figure 1-2). Supporting the cost of service process are several underlying data sources utilized to create the revenue requirement and the subsequent cost allocation methods. A summary of these data sources is provided below.

Load Data Provided by Advanced Metering Infrastructure

Hetch Hetchy Power has installed Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI) equipment at its customer locations, including "smart meters," since approximately May 2019. AMI meters provide a benefit to both customers and the utility operation by allowing for two-way communication between the meter and the utility. From an operations perspective, AMI allows the utility to manage the flow of electricity on the system in a more precise manner that benefits customers. For example, the utility operations can pinpoint outages almost instantaneously and provide solutions for rerouting power without having to send trucks and crews to the field. Additionally, AMI allows the utility and the customer to understand how power is used on an hourly basis, providing valuable information for the development of rate programs designed to reduce costs, such as TOU rates. Together with the AMI metered customers served at PG&E service point, the majority of Hetch Hetchy Power customers have AMI systems or interval data recorders; however, some of the older customers' meters have not been upgraded to these new systems as of the date of this Report. The SFPUC provided interval data for CY 2019 customer usage by class. This information was utilized to develop an understanding of how customers use power throughout the year, their contribution to the system peak, and their impacts on system costs, as described herein.

Hetch Hetchy Power Customer Billing Data

Developing accurate billing data for the Hetch Hetchy Power customers was a challenging aspect of this Study. Billing data was used for the 2019 period to capture usage patterns before the impact of COVID-19 on customer behavior, as it is assumed to be a better reflection of electricity usage by class for the Test Year period (future years of FY 2022–2023 and FY 2023–2024). However, utilizing 2019 billing data presented its own set of issues, as SFPUC subsequently implemented a new billing system, making comparisons between the old billing data and the new billing data difficult. Additionally, there have been changes to the customer mix for the Hetch Hetchy Power users since 2019, as new retail load has been added to the system, and the Master Meter residential accounts have been shifted to individual accounts, with the advent of the AMI systems discussed above. Further, several new areas of redevelopment in the City have occurred during the period between 2019 and the Test Year, as well as changes in the total load associated with both the GUSE and Enterprise customers. Efforts by the SFPUC and NewGen during this Study to reconcile the values for purposes of Test Year billing determinants were extensive. However, as indicated before, several of these efforts rely on assumptions regarding the number of customers within a class and how their energy usage may change over time. To the extent that the assumptions utilized are not realized or under- or over-represent actual usage in the future, this may have a material impact on Hetch Hetchy Power revenues and expenses and the projections developed for this Study and presented herein.

SFPUC Ten-Year Financial Plan

Budget data and cost (expense) projections were provided by the SFPUC in their Ten-Year Financial Plan, which were incorporated into the COS analysis and form the basis for the projected revenue requirement for the TY period. The Ten-Year Financial Plan incorporates the SFPUC's proposed budget for FY 2022–2023, with projections for purchased power and related costs (including costs for the WDT and TACs from PG&E) and estimates of labor costs during the five-year planning period. Projected costs also include the amortization of current debt issues for existing projects, as well as anticipated debt issues and use of revenues to fund the projects identified in the Ten-Year Capital Plan over the planning period.

The Ten-Year Plan also included load growth forecasts. This Study followed the forecasts of the Plan, though it was slightly more conservative while still expecting growth. The assumptions going into Hetch Hetchy Power load growth projections accounted for drought and economic recovery, as well as job growth, housing growth, pricing elasticity, and more. For Hetch Hetchy Power load growth specifically, forecasts assumed the San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA) load growth to grow over the projection period of FY 2022–2023 to FY 2031–2032 due to a bus electrification pilot program and central subway station project. The SFPUC projects total airport loads to grow 4.4% annually on average growth over the ten-year projection period given load growth from new terminals and associated facilities, and other projects from the airport's master plan. Most Hetch Hetchy Power customers are seeing only a slight load growth projection over the ten years of the Plan.

Hetch Hetchy Power Cost of Service Analysis

As noted in Section 1, the revenue requirement refers to the amount of rate-related revenue a utility is projected to need during the Study period. For the purposes of this Study, Hetch Hetchy Power is utilizing a Test Year that represents the average of the two-year period from FY 2022–2023 to FY 2023–2024. The Hetch Hetchy Power Net Revenue Requirement for the Test Year is projected to be approximately \$171.8 million. This value is driven by the specific "known and measurable changes" related to the investments projected in the SFPUC's 10-Year Financial Model, including offsetting revenues, as discussed herein. Because the Test Year is a multi-year representation, this value represents the average annual revenue to be collected by Hetch Hetchy Power in its retail rates. For the purposes of recommended Hetch Hetchy Power rate design, provided in Section 5 of this Report, revenues collected over the Study period will vary by year.

Detailed information regarding each component of the Hetch Hetchy Power Revenue Requirement for each year of the Study period is provided in a hyperlink in the Technical Appendix C. A summary of the Test Year Revenue is provided in Table 3-1.

Expense Line	FYE 2023	FYE 2024	FYE 2025	FYE 2026	FYE 2027	Test Year	Percent of Total
O&M Expenses	\$100,816	\$108,990	\$109,545	\$113,112	\$116,797	\$104,903	50%
Power Purchases	\$22,972	\$22,442	\$20,666	\$24,252	\$24,650	\$22,707	11%
Transmission & Distribution Charges	\$67,044	\$76,087	\$81,573	\$91,077	\$99,214	\$71,565	34%
Debt Service	\$3,905	\$3,459	\$10,484	\$16,953	\$16,923	\$3,682	2%
Non-Debt Capital Expenses	\$4,923	\$7,580	\$7,811	\$13,029	\$20,665	\$6,252	3%
Total Expenses	\$199,660	\$218,558	\$230,079	\$258,423	\$278,249	\$209,109	
(Less Other Revenues)	(\$44,012)	(\$41,931)	(\$43,667)	(\$41,647)	(\$40,561)	(\$42,971)	
Deposit to/(Use of) Reserves	\$0	\$11,237	\$11,345	\$6,637	\$7,015	\$5,618	
Total	\$155,648	\$187,864	\$197,757	\$223,412	\$244,704	\$171,756	

 Table 3-1

 5-Year Summary Projection of Hetch Hetchy Power Revenue Requirement (\$000)

Source: SFPUC 10-Year Financial Pro Forma Model and Power Matrix. Note, numbers may not add due to rounding.

O&M expenses consist of labor related to Hetch Hetchy Water (to provide power) and Hetch Hetchy Power (for other power purchases, delivery of power, and customer services and programs) both upcountry and down-country expenses (see "Glossary of Terms"), including labor, services of the SFPUC Bureaus, non-personnel services, materials and supplies, equipment, programmatic projects, and other operating expenses. Other O&M costs include programmatic expenses (related to facilities maintenance) and compliance with federal regulations (related to the Western Energy Coordinating Council [WECC] and the National Electric Reliability Council [NERC]), as well as specific maintenance for redevelopment areas and its operations within the City. Hetch Hetchy Power also purchases steam and natural gas on behalf of selected customers and includes those costs in its O&M. However, these costs are directly offset by revenues (included within the Less Other Revenues category [see below]).

As indicated, the combined O&M expenses for Hetch Hetchy Power represent approximately 50% of the total expenses (before adjustments for other revenue and reserves). In addition to generating power from its own resources as identified in Section 1, Hetch Hetchy Power also purchases renewable energy and spot market energy as well as resource adequacy (capacity) and budgets for contingency for power supply. Combined, these power purchases represent approximately 11% of the total expenses during the Test Year period.

Hetch Hetchy Power also incurs charges for power transmission (TAC) as well as charges for use of PG&E's distribution system (through the WDT). Hetch Hetchy Power characterizes certain other delivery costs (non-volumetric charges) associated with its purchased power within its total transmission and delivery costs. Hetch Hetchy Power is investing in a high voltage transmission and distribution infrastructure project, known as the Bay Corridor Transmission and Distribution (BCTD) project, which is anticipated to reduce costs for Hetch Hetchy Power during the Test Year (anticipated to be in service in FY 2023–2024) by replacing purchased transmission and distribution services for some of the areas where Hetch Hetchy Power customers are concentrated throughout the City. Including the impacts from the BCTD, total transmission and distribution costs represent approximately 34% of the non-adjusted revenue requirement for Hetch Hetchy Power during the Test Year.

Hetch Hetchy Power has issued debt in the past to finance investments in its system. These have included the 2015 Series AB revenue bonds, as well as the issuance of Qualified Energy Conservation Bonds (QECBs), Clean Renewable Energy Bonds (CREBs), and New Clean Renewable Energy Renewable Bonds (NCREBS). Additionally, SFPUC anticipates issuing additional debt to finance ongoing investments. Total debt service for the Test Year period is projected to be approximately \$3.7 million. SFPUC also anticipates funding ongoing capital projects with revenue from retail rates (non-debt capital expenditures) of approximately \$6.2 million during the Test Year.

Total expenses prior to adjustments for the Test Year are projected to be approximately \$209.1 million.

As indicated, Hetch Hetchy Power generates revenues from non-retail services that are utilized to offset or reduce the total revenue requirement to be recovered from retail rates. These represent income from wholesale sales, the delivery of natural gas and steam, and services provided to CleanPowerSF, as well as specific revenues related to several of the programmatic elements included in the revenue requirement above. Additionally, Hetch Hetchy Power generates revenue from cap and trade credits it receives for its generation and from third parties that utilize its infrastructure (collectively referred to as pole attachment fees or as distributed antenna system [DAS] fees). Combined, these revenues are anticipated to be approximately \$43 million during the Test Year period.

Other adjustments to the projected revenue requirement include a projected contribution to Hetch Hetchy Power's reserves of approximately \$5.7 million for the Test Year (anticipated to occur in FY 2023–2024 with a contribution of approximately \$11.2 million). The total of the operational expense less off-setting non-retail revenues plus contributions to reserve funds results in a net revenue requirement of approximately \$171.8 million for the Test Year period.

Significant investments to the Hetch Hetchy Power system over the planning period include the BCTD, and improvements to the SFO substations. Additionally, the Ten-Year Capital plan includes improvements for the up-country water and power projects such as the O'Shaughnessy Dam Outlet Works and local power projects such as upgrades to the Power Distribution systems.

Functionalization and Classification

Allocating cost to Hetch Hetchy Power customer classes is achieved through three major processes: 1) functionalization, 2) classification, and 3) allocation. The functionalization and classification of the Test Year Revenue Requirement are discussed in the first part of this Section. The development of the allocation factors for the Test Year Revenue Requirement is discussed in the second portion of this Section.

Functionalization

Although budgeting and accounting systems generally follow functional groups (i.e., production, etc.), certain costs, such as those associated with operating costs (labor), are generally not assigned by accounting and budgetary convention to major function. A COS study usually requires the rearrangement of certain expenditures into functional groups: 1) to be more representative of the expenditure causation, 2) to combine costs that have been incurred for a similar purpose, and 3) to facilitate the allocation of cost responsibility. Thus, the functionalization of certain costs is an industry-accepted rate-making mechanism to apportion such costs to the common utility functions.

Table 3-2 provides a categorization of the COS by function (as a result of the cost allocation process) for Hetch Hetchy Power. As indicated previously, Hetch Hetchy Power provides services that can be functionalized by all four "traditional" utility functional elements, including Power Supply, Transmission, Distribution, and Customer. Additionally, several cost items were directly assigned as explained herein.

Expense Item	Power Supply	Transmission	Distribution	Customer	Direct Assign	2-Year Test Year
O&M Expenses	\$35,143	\$21,606	\$28,317	\$13,454	\$6,383	\$104,903
Power Purchases	\$22,707	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$22,707
Transmission & Distribution Charges	\$6,362	\$30,047	\$21,632	\$0	\$13,524	\$71,565
Debt Service	\$2,728	\$267	\$0	\$688	\$0	\$3,682
Non-Debt Capital Expenses	\$2,838	\$914	\$2,358	\$142	\$0	\$6,252
Sub-Total Expenses	\$69,778	\$52,834	\$52,306	\$14,284	\$19,907	\$209,109
(Less Other Revenues)	(\$19,241)	(\$365)	(\$3,135)	(\$323)	(\$19,907)	(\$42,971)
Deposit to/(Use of) Reserves	\$1,709	\$1,774	\$1,663	\$472	\$0	\$5,618
Total	\$52,246	\$54,243	\$50,834	\$14,433	\$0	\$171,756
% Total	30%	32%	30%	8%	0%	100%

 Table 3-2

 Hetch Hetchy Power – Functionalization of Costs (\$000)

O&M expenses were functionalized based primarily on labor costs utilizing information regarding upcountry and down-country labor as assigned by the SFPUC. Labor costs were reviewed at the individual position level, with managers assigning each position (including positions budgeted but currently vacant) to the programs and functions on which that employee works. If data was available on the purpose of other O&M expenditures—such as consultant services, payments to other government agencies, and programmatic projects—these expenses were also assigned. For more general expenditures where limited data was available, such as materials and supplies, the labor allocator was used. Programmatic expenses have been assigned by labor, compliance-related costs (for the WECC/NERC-related costs), and overall revenue requirement (using the total assigned to each function as a derived allocation method). Additionally, approximately \$6.3 million of the expenses within this category were directly assigned (related to the Treasure Island Facilities Maintenance fund).

Altogether, approximately 34% of the O&M costs were allocated to the power supply function, approximately 21% to the transmission function, 21% to the distribution function, and 13% to the customer function (a small portion was directly assigned, as noted below).

Power purchases were assigned to the power supply function and approximately \$13.5 million of the power purchases costs are directly assigned, as they are incurred for the gas and steam sales that are directly passed through to customers and are fully offset by equivalent revenues. Transmission and distribution charges were primarily associated with the TAC and WDT charges and assigned to those

functions accordingly; however, approximately 9% of the total transmission and distribution charges are related to other power supply purchases and assigned accordingly.

As indicated above, debt service costs include the ongoing amortization of the 2015 Series AB (senior lien revenue bonds) as well as the QECBs, CREBs, and NCREBs (junior lien bonds). These costs are assigned to the function for which the bonds were issued, with the majority of the costs associated with power supply, and a portion associated with transmission and customer functions. Debt service costs for new debt to be issued during the Test Year were separately allocated according to the functions identified in the two-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP). The two-year CIP was also utilized to allocate costs associated with the revenue-funded capital needs.

Total revenues were then adjusted to account for revenues provided by other sources, as well as projected uses of (or contributions to) reserves. Approximately half of the other revenues were directly assigned (as offsets to the costs also directly assigned). The remainder of the other revenues were allocated based on power supply (wholesale revenues) and overall revenue requirement. Projected use of reserves was allocated based on overall revenue requirement as well.

Power Supply

Hetch Hetchy Power provides its own power supply through its hydroelectric resources located in Yosemite National Park and the surrounding mountains east of San Francisco. Additionally, it purchases energy through one renewable energy PPA, as well as spot market purchases from the CAISO. Table 3-3 provides a summary of the classification/sub-functionalization of the Hetch Hetchy Power supply costs for the Test Year.

Expense Item	Hydro	System Dispatching	Purchased Power – Demand	Purchased Power – Energy	RA Costs	Total
Up-country O&M Expenses	\$21,063	\$5,727	\$105	\$177	\$0	\$27,072
Down-country O&M Expenses	\$0	\$5,599	\$1,952	\$521	\$0	\$8,072
Power Purchases	\$0	\$0	\$6,362	\$16,239	\$6,468	\$29,069
Debt Service	\$2,728	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$2,728
Non-Debt Capital Expenses	\$2,838	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$2,838
Sub-Total Expenses	\$26,629	\$11,325	\$8,419	\$16,937	\$6,468	\$69,778
(Less Other Revenues)	(\$1,320)	(\$115)	(\$1,311)	(\$16,495)	\$0	(\$19,241)
Deposit to/(Use of) Reserves	\$981	\$435	\$276	\$17	\$0	\$1,709
Total Expenses	\$26,291	\$11,644	\$7,384	\$459	\$6,468	\$52,246
% Total	50%	22%	14%	1%	12%	100%

Table 3-3 Hetch Hetchy Power – Power Supply (\$000)

Hetch Hetchy Power supply costs are classified into demand and energy, and then further subfunctionalized into hydroelectric (hydro), system dispatching, and purchased power demand (PP- Demand), as well as purchased power energy and resource adequacy (RA) costs. The expense items include those identified for the revenue requirement; however, the O&M expenses have been further categorized into those associated with the "up-country" operations and those associated with the "down-country" operations, and include programmatic expenses related to facilities maintenance (for hydroelectric systems), as well as other programs that have been allocated based on the total expenses within each sub-function/classification. Because the up-country operations are responsible for the hydroelectric facilities, the majority (78%) of those expenses are assigned to the "hydro" sub-function; however, some of these costs are related to system dispatch and system energy.

System dispatching refers to the alignment of loads and resources and is primarily associated with the labor aspect of Hetch Hetchy Power. Purchased power demand relates to the fixed costs associated with the renewable energy and non-renewable energy other contracts Hetch Hetchy Power has to provide electricity, including requirements to provide RA, as mandated by CAISO. PP-Energy relates to the variable costs associated with electricity generation as well as purchases. The power purchases expense item is split between purchase power—demand and purchased power—energy based on the underlying nature of these costs. Debt service is assigned to the hydro facilities. The power supply portion of revenue-funded capital (non-debt capital) has been assigned to hydro as well. Other revenues are assigned based on the total within each sub-function/classification, with the exception of wholesale energy sales (offsets purchased power energy); cap and trade credit auction revenues, which are used to offset the PP-Demand costs; and the Low Carbon Fuel Standard Credits, which are used to offset the hydro demand costs for the purposes of this Study. The contribution to reserves is assigned based on the totals within each sub-function/classification.

Transmission

Hetch Hetchy Power owns limited transmission facilities that deliver power from their hydro facilities to several sub-stations located in Stanislaus and Alameda counties. Additionally, Hetch Hetchy Power incurs costs to transmit power from its renewable energy PPAs Transmission Access Charges (TAC) as well as spot market purchases from the CAISO. Table 3-4 provides a summary of the classification/sub-functionalization of the Hetch Hetchy Power transmission-related costs for the Test Year.

	,		(+•••)	
Line Item	Substation	Conductor	Transmission Access Charges	Total
Up-country O&M Expenses	\$8,913	\$10,563	\$528	\$20,004
Down-country O&M Expenses	\$728	\$874	\$0	\$1,602
Power Purchases	\$30	\$33	\$29,985	\$30,047
Debt Service	\$29	\$237	\$0	\$267
Non-Debt Capital Expenses	\$101	\$813	\$0	\$914
Sub-Total Expenses	\$9,801	\$12,520	\$30,513	\$52,834
(Less Other Revenues)	(\$68)	(\$87)	(\$211)	(\$365)
Deposit to/(Use of) Reserves	\$329	\$420	\$1,025	\$1,774
Total Expenses	\$10,062	\$12,853	\$31,327	\$54,243
% Total	19%	24%	58%	100%

Table 3-4	
Hetch Hetchy Power – Transmission (\$000))

Similar to the Power Supply cost assignments, Hetch Hetchy Power transmission has been classified/subfunctionalized into substation (transmission level), conductor (wires and associated delivery equipment), and TAC. Programmatic expenses are primarily allocated by labor; however, a small portion are allocated by total transmission expenses and are assigned to up-country and down-country based on information provided by the SFPUC. The majority of the up-country transmission O&M costs are split between the substation and conductor costs. The down-country transmission O&M costs are significantly less than the up-country transmission O&M costs, given the limited transmission assets owned by Hetch Hetchy Power within the City. Power purchases incur transmission-related costs, a portion of which are assigned by labor costs within the organization and therefore were assigned to substations and conductor sub-functions. However, most of these costs are associated with the TAC. Debt service assigned to transmission is allocated based on the projects funded by the debt issue and anticipated use of the proceeds of new debt as provided by the SFPUC. Revenue-funded capital (non-debt capital) follows the allocation for the 2-year capital budget. Other transmission-related revenues, which offset the total revenue requirement for transmission cost, are allocated based on total expenses, as are the anticipated contributions to reserves.

Distribution

Hetch Hetchy Power owns limited distribution facilities that deliver power from the transmission system to customers located in San Francisco and adjacent San Mateo County, including dedicated facilities related to SFO. Hetch Hetchy Power incurs costs to deliver power from the transmission system to its customers primarily through PG&E's WDT charges. Additionally, Hetch Hetchy Power incurs labor and expense-related costs to maintain its limited distribution facilities. More critically, Hetch Hetchy Power incurs significant costs associated with the ownership of its streetlighting facilities in the City. Table 3-5 provides a summary of the classification/sub-functionalization of the Hetch Hetchy Power distribution-related costs for the Test Year.

l ine litere	Dist.	Cand	Tuono	Service	Matar	Ctue et liebting	WDT	Total
Line item	Subs.	Cona.	Trans.	Drop	weter	Street Lighting	Charges	lotal
Down-country O&M Expenses	\$3,039	\$2,797	\$4,016	\$416	\$1,548	\$16,231	\$269	\$28,316
Power Purchases	\$0	\$341	\$489	\$50	\$0	\$0	\$20,752	\$21,632
Debt Service	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
Non-Debt Capital	\$54	\$251	\$615	\$615	\$615	\$207	\$0	\$2,357
Expenses								
Sub-Total Expenses	\$3,093	\$3,389	\$5,120	\$1,081	\$2,163	\$16,438	\$21,021	\$52,305
(Less Other Revenues)	(\$21)	(\$23)	(\$35)	(\$7)	(\$15)	(\$2,887)	(\$145)	(\$3,133)
Deposit to/(Use of) Reserves	\$103	\$114	\$172	\$36	\$73	\$458	\$706	\$1,662
Total Expenses (1)	\$3,175	\$3,480	\$5,257	\$1,110	\$2,221	\$14,009	\$21,582	\$50,834
% Total	6%	7%	10%	2%	4%	28%	42%	100%

Table 3-5Hetch Hetchy Power – Distribution (\$000)

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding

Hetch Hetchy Power distribution costs are classified and/or sub-functionalized into the various elements of the distribution system, as well as costs incurred for the WDT charges. Distribution system components include substations (distribution), conductors (wires), transformers (which step power down to usage levels commensurate with the customers), service drops (which is the equipment between the transformer and the customer's meter), and the meter. As indicated previously, Hetch Hetchy Power has installed AMI meters for most of its customers, which allows for two-way communication between the meter and the distribution management system, as well as for unique billing arrangements (such as TOU pricing structures). The up-country O&M expenses for the distribution system are minimal and consist of very limited infrastructure to serve facilities for power generation and transmission infrastructure on U.S. Forest Service land and/or in and around Yosemite National Park. Therefore, those costs have been incorporated into those other functional elements of the up-country operations.

Down-country expenses are allocated based on labor assigned to the various distribution components, with the majority of the costs associated with the streetlighting maintenance costs. Most of the power purchases are allocated to the WDT charges, although some are allocated to elements of the distribution system based on labor. Essentially zero costs for debt service are allocated to the distribution system (they are minimal); however, revenue-funded capital is allocated based on the anticipated expenses associated with the 2-Year CIP. The majority of the other revenues associated with the distribution system include revenues from DAS pole attachment fees, which are used to offset streetlighting expenses. The other elements of the offsetting revenues, as well as the use of reserve accounts, are allocated based on total expenses.

Customer Service/Customer Programs

Hetch Hetchy Power provides customer service and customer accounting (billing and data management systems), as well as significant customer programs. These customer programs include some designated for municipal customers and some for non-municipal customers. These categories provide the basis for the classification/sub-functionalization of the Hetch Hetchy Power customer-related expenses. Table 3-6 provides a summary of the classification/sub-functionalization of the Hetch Hetch Hetch Hetch Power customer-related expenses. Table 3-6 provides a summary of the classification/sub-functionalization of the Hetch Hetch Hetch Hetch Power customer-related expenses.

	Customer Service	Customer Accounting	Customer Programs – Municipal	Customer Programs – Non-Municipal	Total
Down-country O&M Expenses	\$2,160	\$10,788	\$425	\$80	\$13,454
Power Purchases	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
Debt Service	\$0	\$0	\$487	\$201	\$688
Non-Debt Capital Expenses	\$0	\$0	\$101	\$41	\$142
Total Expenses	\$2,160	\$10,788	\$1,013	\$322	\$14,284
(Less Other Revenues)	(\$40)	(\$198)	(\$62)	(\$24)	(\$323)
Deposit to/(Use of) Reserves	\$72	\$358	\$32	\$10	\$472
Total Expenses	\$2,192	\$10,949	\$983	\$309	\$14,433
% Total	15%	76%	7%	2%	100%

 Table 3-6

 Hetch Hetchy Power – Customer Service/Customer Programs (\$000)

As indicated above, the up-country operations directly serve a small handful of customers; therefore, those costs were allocated to other functions and are not included above. The down-country O&M costs are allocated based on labor and represent the majority of the Hetch Hetchy Power-related customer costs. Programmatic customer-related expenses within the O&M costs are allocated based on the total expenses, as are the other revenues and use of reserves. Debt services uses the 2-year CIP to allocate to the customer programs, as does the revenue-funded capital.

Customer Class Allocation Factors – Hetch Hetchy Power

General

The previous section developed the assignment of the operational and ongoing investment costs for Hetch Hetchy Power into the various functions or business units provided by the utility. This section discusses the development of the factors utilized to allocate those costs by their electricity usage characteristics and cost causation. As noted in Section 1, utility costs can be classified as demand related, energy related, customer related, revenue related, and direct assignment. The demand-related allocation factors are referred to as "demand" allocation factors and are described below. These factors are utilized to assign fixed costs to customer classes based on the amount of demand they put on the system at certain times. Energy-related allocation factors assign costs based on the combined energy usage of the class. Customer-related allocation factors assign costs to customer classes based on the number of customers within the class and how they utilize the various customer-related programs and services offered by the utility. Revenue-related allocation factors utilize the proportional combined costs of the other allocation factors. Directly assigned costs are allocated directly to specific customer classes.

It is important to note that Hetch Hetchy Power serves a much different mix of customers than that served by CleanPowerSF and that each group utilizes power differently, as indicated in Section 2. Additionally, the cost structure for Hetch Hetchy Power is different from that of CleanPowerSF, including its costs to provide delivery services in addition to power supply and customer-related costs. The Hetch Hetchy Power costs are therefore allocated to the customer classes according to the respective customer characteristics and unique cost allocation factors which have been developed for each class and for each type of cost. The customer classes for Hetch Hetchy Power include Residential, Small Commercial, Medium Commercial, Large Commercial, and Industrial.

Demand Allocation Factors

Demand cost allocation for Hetch Hetchy Power utilized three different methodologies to assign costs to the customer classes. These approaches incorporate the "Coincident Peak" (CP) or the "Non-Coincident Peak" (NCP) of each customer class. These include a 12 CP method (for certain generation demand and transmission-related costs), the Average and Excess Demand (AED) method (referred to as the Hydro Method) for Hetch Hetchy Power resource-related costs, and a 12 NCP method for portions of the distribution demand costs. The 12 CP is the amount of total load from all customers collectively at the same time (coincident with each other and the peak of the system) for all twelve months of the projected Test Year. The 12 NCP is the peak total load from all customers within a class (regardless, or non-coincident, with the other classes or system peak) for all 12 months of the test year. Each method is explained below.

12 Coincident Peak (CP) Method

The CP demand allocation methodology allocates costs based on the customer class contributions to the system CP for each month of the year. Typically, CP allocators are utilized to assign production demand-related costs to customer classes because production demand costs are generally driven by the utility's need to meet its system peak. A 12 CP is utilized to allocate the System Dispatching and Purchased Power Demand-related costs for Hetch Hetchy Power to the respective customer classes.

Average and Excess Demand/Hydro Method

In addition to the 12 CP method, the Hetch Hetchy Power Hydro-related demand costs (related primarily to up-country labor, as well as existing debt service) are allocated using an AED/Hydro method to allocate to customer classes. The AED/Hydro method utilizes average demand (which is energy) and excess demand (based on the 4 CP, or the four months of the system's peak) to assign fixed costs to customer classes. The theory behind using the AED/Hydro method is that for certain resources, such as hydroelectric and other generation facilities that continuously run, the facilities are designed for both meeting energy and demand needs. Therefore, the use of a "hybrid" demand cost allocator (which incorporates energy) fits better with the design and use of the generation facility than a pure demand cost allocator. The results of both the 12 CP and AED/Hydro demand cost allocation processes are provided in Table 3-7. As noted, for the purposes of the rate design and cost allocation, the characteristics of the energy usage at SFO have been included with the industrial customers.

12 GP COSt Allocation					
Customer Class	AED/Hydro Allocation % ⁽¹⁾	12 CP Allocation % ⁽¹⁾			
Residential	2.7%	2.5%			
Small Commercial	6.6%	7.0%			
Medium Commercial	14.8%	14.8%			
Large Commercial	11.0%	12.0%			
Industrial (2)	64.9%	63.7%			

Table 3-7
12 CP Cost Allocation

(1) Based on Test Year projections provided by SFPUC.

(2) Industrial includes airport (SFO).

The difference between the 12 CP and AED/Hydro demand cost allocation methods is not large; however, the AED/Hydro method tends to move more costs to customer classes with higher energy usage, as expected. This includes the industrial class (including SFO), which is allocated a proportionally higher amount of the costs utilizing the AED/Hydro methodology. Similarly, customer classes with lower energy usage, such as small commercial, medium commerical, and large commercial, are assigned proportionally less costs using the AED/Hydro methodology than the 12 CP methodology. Residential class cost allocation is also slighly higher under the AED/Hydro methodology.

Figure 3-1 provides a graphical representation of the projected contribution to the peak demand (CP) by month for each customer class served by Hetch Hetchy Power for the Test Year, based on historic usage patterns.



Figure 3-1. Hetch Hetchy Power 12 CP Demand Cost Allocation

As shown in Figure 3-1, while there are a few months of peaks (during winter months) and relatively flat load from July through October (seen primarily in the commercial classes and driven largely by the Industrial load including SFO), the monthly peak demand months for Hetch Hetchy Power appear to be relatively constant throughout the year.

12 Non-Coincident Peak (NCP) Method

The NCP demand allocation method is based on the theory that demand costs are strongly influenced by the highest demand of each customer class, regardless of when that class's peak demand occurs. NCP demand allocators are primarily used to allocate distribution-related costs because the design of these facilities is more consistent with the demand of the classes, rather than the demand of the entire system. This allocation results in the majority of the distribution demand-related costs being allocated to the larger commercial customers (medium, large, and industrial classes).

For the Hetch Hetchy Power system, two different modified 12 NCP methods were utilized to allocate distribution demand-related costs. This includes a 12 NCP for primary and secondary customers, and a 12 NCP method excluding the airport and the anticipated reduction in demand charged from PG&E from the BCTD project on industrial customers. A "pure" 12 NCP method was developed to support the modified versions utilized for this Study, but not as an allocation factor for the COS analysis.

The 12 NCP for primary and secondary customers was used to allocate costs associated with the distribution substations, conductors (wires), and transformers. The 12 NCP excluding the airport and contribution of the BCTD was used to allocate the projected WDT charges for use of the PG&E distribution system, as the excluded customers do not incur WDT costs. The difference between these two methods is a very minor reduction in cost allocation for the industrial customers of the distribution-related costs

from the WDT charges. The remainder of the distribution infrastructure-related costs are allocated utilizing customer-related costs. The modified methods exclude the NCP associated with the airport (SFO), because of the manner in which the airport takes power.

Modified 12 NCP Allocation Methods				
Customer Class	12 NCP Prim. Sec. %	12 NCP x SFO/BCTD		
Residential	3.5%	4.9%		
Small Commercial	8.4%	11.6%		
Medium Commercial	16.0%	22.1%		
Large Commercial	11.7%	16.2%		
Industrial (1)	60.5%	45.2%		

Table 3-8			
Modified 12 NCP Allocation	Methods		
12 NCP Drim	12 NCD		

(1) Industrial includes SFO for 12 NCP Primary/Secondary allocator. SFO excluded from 12NCP x SFO/BCTD (see text).

Energy Allocation Factors

Energy allocation factors are the basis for apportioning those costs or expenses classified as variable or energy related and assumed to vary directly with the level of kWh sales or generation. The costs classified herein as variable or energy related for Hetch Hetchy Power include the energy-related power purchase costs, as well as the transmission access charges (charged on an energy basis).

Net Energy for load (NEFL) is used to allocate energy-related costs; this is based on customers' consumption of energy in kWh (sales), which have been adjusted for losses. For this analysis, NEFL is used to allocate energy-related production and transmission costs (See Table 3-9). The NEFL is a direct relationship between the costs incurred and the customer classes (in this case, energy-related power purchases and transmission-related charges). As expected, the larger usage customer classes incur the majority of these costs.

Energy Cost Allocation			
Customer Class	NEFL (MWh)	Allocation (%)	
Residential	29,243,432	2.8%	
Small Commercial	65,698,306	6.4%	
Medium Commercial	152,156,332	14.8%	
Large Commercial	109,610,877	10.7%	
Industrial (1)	673,229,953	65.4%	
Total	1,029,938,901	-	

Table 3-9	
Energy Cost Allocation	

(1) Industrial class includes airport. See text.

Customer Allocation Factors

Customer costs are defined herein as those costs related to the number of customers. Included in the customer-related costs are the investment (asset) costs required to serve customers (as part of the distribution system), which include the equipment from the transformers to the customer premise (service drop and meter costs). Additionally, labor and other costs associated with customer service and accounting (billing, collecting, and other customer-related functions), as well as customer programs, are allocated using weighted number of customers. The customer allocation factors developed for this Study were based on the projected average number of customers in each class during the Test Year.

The weighted customer allocation factor is based on the number of customers in a particular class times a weighting factor. The weighting factors were developed based on the estimated costs associated with serving non-residential (commercial) customer classes, recognizing that serving these customer classes is more expensive on a per-customer basis. As indicated, Hetch Hetchy Power funds various programs, which have been defined as "municipal" and "non-municipal." Municipal program costs are allocated based on weighted number of customers in each class, excluding residential, as there are municipal customers within each of the non-residential customer classes. Non-municipal program costs are allocated based on weighted number of customers, including residential customers. Table 3-10 provides a summary of the allocation percentages for the weighted customer allocation factor and the weighted customer allocation factor excluding residential customers.

Customer Class	Weighted Customer (%)	Weighted Customer X Res. (%) ⁽¹⁾
Residential	48%	0%
Small Commercial	24%	46%
Medium Commercial	18%	35%
Large Commercial	5%	9%
Industrial (2)	5%	10%

Table 3-10 Customer Cost Allocation

(1) Excluding residential (see text).

(2) Industrial class includes airport. See text.

Adjustments to Allocation Factors

Other adjustments were made to specific customer classes recognizing their unique characteristics, either defined by their usage, contracts, or accounting. A summary of these adjustments is provided below.

High Voltage Customers

As indicated herein, some customers on the Hetch Hetchy Power system take service at a "high-voltage" level. In general, these customers either use energy at a higher voltage or own their own voltage regulating equipment. Customers may use power from the distribution system but take power at primary voltage, which is a higher voltage level than much of the remaining system. Because these customers are not utilizing the entirety of the distribution system (they are only using the "primary" system, not the

"secondary" or lower voltage system), they should not be assigned the costs associated with the entire distribution system. Therefore, the cost allocation has been adjusted (see the discussion regarding 12 NCP) for the Large Commercial and Industrial class customers to recognize this reduction in cost causation. However, not all customers within those classes take power at primary voltage. Therefore, the difference in the costs between primary and secondary (and transmission level) has been included in the rate design for these customers, as discussed in Section 5 of this Report.

Streetlighting for Hetch Hetchy Power

Other adjustment factors utilized during the cost allocation process include the use of direct assignment for streetlighting. Hetch Hetchy Power owns and maintains the streetlighting system; however, for the Study, given outstanding litigation, it is assumed energy is provided by PG&E. The cost for the streetlighting system is assigned to each customer class based on projected energy sales for the Test Year, exclusive of sales from retail customers within each class. This does not mean that the costs are not recovered from retail customers, however, just that the assignment of the costs excludes their contribution to the total class sales.

Section 4 COST OF SERVICE RESULTS FOR HETCH HETCHY POWER

Hetch Hetchy Power Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service

The allocated cost of service results for the Hetch Hetchy Power operations are provided in Table 4-1. The total revenue requirement for the Test Year period is approximately \$171.7 million, which has been functionalized, classified, and allocated to the customer classes. The majority of the costs are assigned to the industrial class, which includes SFO operations (approximately 53%), and the remainder are assigned to the residential and commercial classes (small, medium, and large).

Table 4-1 Cost of Service – Hetch Hetchy Power (\$000)						
Small Medium Large Residential Commercial Commercial Industrial Tota					Total	
Power Supply	\$1,357	\$3,552	\$7,722	\$6,009	\$33,605	\$52,246
Transmission	\$1,452	\$3,613	\$8,016	\$6,086	\$35,075	\$54,243
Distribution	\$3,650	\$5,796	\$10,547	\$6,723	\$24,119	\$50,834
Customer	\$6,425	\$3,644	\$2,792	\$734	\$837	\$14,433
Revenue Requirement	\$12,884	\$16,606	\$29,078	\$19,553	\$93,636	\$171,756

Allocation and Assignment of Cost of Service

The results of the cost allocation analysis are presented in Table 4-2, along with a comparison of the cost recovery currently projected for the Test Year.

Requirements – Hetch Hetchy Power (\$000)			
Customer Class	Test Year Existing Rate Revenue	Test Year Revenue Requirement	Difference
Residential	\$7,102	\$12,884	\$5,782
Small Commercial	\$12,002	\$16,605	\$4,603
Medium Commercial	\$19,645	\$29,078	\$9,433
Large Commercial	\$14,550	\$19,553	\$5,003
Industrial (1)	\$115,166	\$93,636	(\$21,530)
Total ⁽²⁾	\$168,464	\$171,756	\$3,292

Table 4-2
Existing Test Year Rate Revenues vs. Test Year Revenue
Requirements – Hetch Hetchy Power (\$000)

(1) Includes revenue and revenue requirement for SFO.

(2) Totals may not add due to rounding.

The difference between the Test Year existing rate revenue projections and the Test Year Revenue Requirements helps drive cost recovery by customer class in the rate design process.

Hetch Hetchy Power Seasonal and TOU Periods

Several Hetch Hetchy Power rates are offered as a seasonal TOU option based on historic PG&E rate schedules. For those rates, as indicated below, Hetch Hetchy Power utilizes a summer season of May through October (six months) and a winter season of November through April (six months), which is slightly different than the current four-month summer and eight-month winter seasons for PG&E.

Hetch Hetchy Power also utilizes historic TOU period definitions offered by PG&E for its Enterprise customers. The TOU period for the summer on-peak is 12:00 PM to 6:00 PM, part-peak is 8:30 AM to 12:00 PM and 6:00 PM to 9:30 PM, and off-peak is 9:30 PM to 8:30 AM The winter part-peak period is 8:30 AM to 9:30 PM, and off-peak is 9:30 PM to 8:30 AM. All on-peak and part-peak times are for Monday through Friday, with exception of holidays.

Table 4-3 provides a summary of the seasonal and TOU periods for Hetch Hetchy Power.

		•
Season	Hours	Days
Summer (May–October)		
On-Peak	12:00 Noon to 6:00 PM	Monday–Friday (except holidays)
Part-Peak	8:30 AM–12:00 Noon 6:00 PM to 9:30 PM	Monday–Friday (except holidays)
Off-Peak	9:30 PM to 8:30 AM	Monday–Friday (except holidays), All Day Saturday, Sunday, and Holidays
Winter (November–April)		
Part-Peak	8:30 AM to 9:30 PM	Monday–Friday (except holidays)
Off-Peak	9:30 PM to 8:30 AM	Monday–Friday (except holidays), All Day Saturday, Sunday, and Holidays

 Table 4-3

 Seasonal and TOU Periods for Hetch Hetchy Power

Hetch Hetchy Power – TOU Periods and Price Differentiation

As part of this Study, NewGen and SFPUC developed an analysis of the power supply costs differential for the Hetch Hetchy Power seasonal and TOU rates. As indicated above, some Hetch Hetchy Power rates currently have a winter and summer rate differential (for energy and demand, as appropriate).

These periods are consistent with historic PG&E seasonal and TOU periods; in recent years PG&E has shifted to different timeframes to reflect the changing nature of California energy markets. At that time, Hetch Hetchy Power elected to keep its current seasonal and TOU periods, as it was not clear whether PG&E's revised times better aligned with Hetch Hetchy Power costs than the current time periods. At this time, we are not recommending a change to the Hetch Hetchy Power seasonal or TOU time periods, as this would represent a significant change to rate schedules that requires more detailed analysis and significant customer outreach. Therefore, all analysis below follows the current periods. The data and methodologies developed in this Study can be used to consider changes to these periods going forward, as desired.

For most utility systems, only the generation function includes pricing that varies by TOU; the transmission, distribution, and customer functions do not vary by time, as they are primarily fixed costs. Therefore, the results of the analysis of the TOU price differentials would be appropriately added to the energy only rate. For energy costs, the analysis utilized the variable prices obtained from the SFPUC as part of their aggregate price per hour, which is influenced by the CAISO power market.

Seasonal & TOU Energy Analysis

The seasonal and TOU energy analysis for Hetch Hetchy Power was determined from the historic hourly load profiles for each customer class for 2019 and the corresponding hourly energy prices from the CAISO. The approach was to utilize the load as a "weighting" mechanism to determine average power supply costs during the appropriate period. For example, commercial customers, in general, peak during the day

(for example, office buildings), when CAISO market prices are generally lower than at peak times. By using a weighted average price to determine the relationship between seasonal and TOU periods, the analysis better reflects the underlying cost causation.

As indicated in Section 2, for Hetch Hetchy Power, most of the power supply costs are associated with the hydro power supply resources owned by the City. However, for any given hour during the year, Hetch Hetchy Power is either buying power from the CAISO market to meet its needs or selling excess power into the CAISO market, if available. Table 4-4 provides a summary of how the variability in the market power prices is used as a guide to develop the pricing differential for the time and seasonally differentiated energy rates developed for this Study. The on-peak period for the summer includes the on-peak and part-peak periods, as the current rates structures set these two periods equal to each other, therefore, they are grouped together for purposes of this analysis.

Table 4-4 Hetch Hetchy Power TOU Energy Price Differential Analysis					
	Residential	Small Commercial	Medium Commercial	Large Commercial	Industrial
Summer	0.82	0.82	0.82	0.82	0.82
Winter	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2
Summer					
On-Peak/Part- Peak	N/A	1.13	1.11	1.11	1.11
Off-Peak	N/A	0.88	0.89	0.89	0.89
Winter					
Part-Peak	N/A	1.05	1.05	1.05	1.05
Off-Peak	N/A	0.95	0.96	0.96	0.96

The results of this analysis suggest that the summer energy costs for Hetch Hetchy Power are generally lower than the winter energy costs. The values in the table represent the relationship to the average price, which is set at a value of 1.0. The average energy value for the total year was divided by the average energy value for the summer, which resulted in a factor of 0.82 (summer costs are 0.82 times the average energy cost). Similarly, for the winter period, the average energy value was determined to be 1.2 times the system average energy costs.

During the summer period, the on-peak/part-peak hours are generally higher cost hours than the off-peak hours for all the applicable Hetch Hetchy Power classes (residential class does not have TOU pricing). The summer pricing differentials for the commercial classes are generally the same; the on-peak costs are approximately 1.11–1.13 times the average price and the off-peak costs are approximately 0.89 times the average price.

Similarly, for the winter periods, the on-peak period is higher than the off-peak period, but less than the difference for the summer (approximately 1.05 times the average price for all commercial classes). The off-peak price for winter is approximately 0.88 times the average price.

Based on discussions with the SFPUC, it was decided to not make any changes to the seasonal price differential in the current rate structures; however, a gradual transition to the TOU rate structures is

recommended. Changes to the seasonal rate structures should be evaluated for future rate actions after implementation of this rate plan and in coordination with customer communication efforts.

Retail COS Results Review

This section provides a summary of the COS results by customer class, followed by a summary of the existing rate structures within each class, and the comparison of the COS to the rate structures.

Residential

Table 4-5 provides a summary of Hetch Hetchy Power's residential class COS results developed for this Study for the Test Year.

Residential Cost of Service		
Rate Component	COS	COS – Energy ⁽¹⁾
Customer (\$/month)	\$156.77	\$156.77
Demand (\$/kW)	\$25.73	
Energy (\$/kWh) (2)	\$0.0610	\$0.1730
(1) Assumes as Demand Charge and bundle	a damand related agets with	in the Energy Charge

Table 4-5 Decidential Cost of Conviou

Assumes no Demand Charge and bundles demand-related costs within the Energy Charge (1)

(2) The tiered rates are the same for summer/winter (S/W); however, the characteristics of the tiers change with season. See text for details.

Table 4-5 provides a summary of the rates derived from the COS analysis. This includes a customer cost rate of \$156.77/month, a demand cost rate of \$25.73/kW, and an energy cost rate of \$0.0610/kWh. The COS-based customer cost rate represents the sum of the costs of customer service and accounting, customer programs, and an allocated portion of the distribution system costs on a per customer per month basis. The COS customer cost rate is relatively high because residential customers are the largest customer class by count within Hetch Hetchy Power, but the program has a relatively low number of residential customers compared to most other utilities. As a result, the residential class is allocated a large proportion of customer-related costs, which are then divided over a small number of customers. To the extent that the full customer charge cannot be recovered in the customer rate, these remaining costs would be shifted to the energy rate, requiring a higher energy charge to meet full cost of service.

The demand cost rate represents the cost associated with the fixed costs for power supply, transmission, and the non-customer portion of the distribution system (this includes the investment cost, as well as the fixed costs for operating and maintaining these systems).

For the Residential class, it costs Hetch Hetchy Power approximately \$25.73/kW of demand-related costs to serve residential customers; however, residential customers do not incur a demand charge. Therefore, the demand-related costs are included in the existing energy rate. Additionally, to the extent that the recommended rates (Section 5) do not include the entirety of the customer service cost rate of approximately \$157/month, these costs are also recovered in the existing energy rates. Hetch Hetchy Power's pure energy cost rate is \$0.0610/kWh (not adjusted for tiered costs); however, because of a lower customer charge and no demand charge, the existing energy rate is higher than Hetch Hetchy Power's "pure" energy costs.

Therefore, Table 4-5 includes a column for the COS that shifts the demand costs to the energy rate. The "adjusted COS-based energy rate," which includes appropriate demand costs, has been calculated to be approximately \$0.1730/kWh. The recommended residential rates discussed in Section 5 recognize the existing and COS rates, as well as the specific rate proposal.

Residential Rates (Existing)

Table 4-6 provides a summary of Hetch Hetchy Power's existing Retail Residential class rates (R-1). The existing rates and rate structures are provided for each rate code to demonstrate the recommended changes in rates levels and rate structures as a result of this Study. The existing rate includes an \$4.58 per month customer service charge and a tiered energy rate. Hetch Hetchy Power's existing energy rates are tiered to encourage conservation; the more energy used by residential customer, the higher the "per unit" rate (\$/kWh).

Rate Component	Existing
Customer (\$/month)	\$4.58
Demand (\$/kW)	-
Energy (\$/kWh) (1)	
Tier 1 (0–229 S; 0–278 W)	\$0.1778
Tier 2 (229–297 S; 278–361 W)	\$0.2021
Tier 3 (>297 S; >361 W)	\$0.4137

Table 4-6		
Existing Residential Rates (R-1)		

 The tiered rates are the same for summer/winter (S/W); however, the characteristics of the tiers change with season. See text for details.

The tiered energy rate is the same for summer and winter; however, the requirements thresholds for the tier change between the seasons. The summer Tier 1 is monthly energy usage from 0–229 kWh, Tier 2 is for 229–297 kWh, and Tier 3 is for energy used over 297 kWh. The winter Tier 1 is from 0–278 kWh, Tier 2 is for 278–361 kWh, and Tier 3 is for over 361 kWh. The existing tiers reduce the bill impact for customers that use more energy during the six-month winter period (November to April). Because the rates are the same for the tiers, a customer is paying the lower tier rate for more energy (kWh) during the winter than in the summer (residential customers use more electricity in the winter than in the summer, on average).

There are several existing variations on the R-1 rate. R-2 is a low-income discounted rate. R-M provides higher tier thresholds for customers with qualified electrical medical equipment. R-EV provides lower-priced Tier 3 energy for customers with electric vehicle charging in their home. These rates follow similar structures to the R-1 rate, and generally have few customers enrolled.

Enterprise Residential Rates

As noted in Sections 1 and 2, Hetch Hetchy Power currently serves three main customer "groups," each with their own rates and rate structures (GUSE, Enterprise, and Retail). One objective of this Study is to align the Enterprise and GUSE customer rate schedules with their respective retail rates. There are no residential customers served under the GUSE rate structures; however, there are residential Enterprise customers served by Hetch Hetchy Power (under the E1TB and related rate codes). As indicated before, Enterprise customers are currently charged on the applicable PG&E rate.

The E1TB is the standard residential rate code for customers with electric and natural gas utility service. The EL1TB is a low-income rate offering, similar to the retail discount of the R-2 rate discussed above. There are also a series of rates designed for master metered accounts (where a single meter may serve multiple customers, such as at an apartment complex). It should be noted that Hetch Hetchy Power's policy on Master Meter accounts has changed, and they are now installing (and retrofitting) individual meters in place of master meters. However, these accounts are still a significant portion of the residential load served by Hetch Hetchy Power. Rate codes include the EM1TB rate (Residential Master Meter with natural gas and electric service), the EMLTB rate (Residential Master Meter with natural gas and electric service, low-income), the EM1TH rate (Residential Master Meter with all-electric service), and the EMLTH rate (Residential Master Meter with all electric service, low-income).

Table 4-7 provides a summary of the recent rates (changed March 1, 2022) applicable to the E1TB customers served by Hetch Hetchy Power.

Existing Enterprise Residential Rates (E1TB)		
Rate Component	Existing	
Customer (\$/month)	Min ⁽¹⁾	
Energy (\$/kWh) ⁽²⁾		
Tier 1 (0–6.8 S; 0–8.2 W)	\$0.3147	
Tier 2 (6.8–27.2 S; 8.2–32.8 W)	\$0.3945	
Tier 3 (> 27.2 S; > 32.8 W)	\$0.4932	
(1) The E1TB rate does not have a customer service	ce charge (\$/month) but is	

Table 4-7			
Existing Enterprise Residential Rates (I	E1TB)		

subject to a minimum bill (see text).

(2) The tiered rates are the same for summer/winter (S/W); however, the characteristics of the tiers change with season. Note: these are daily kWh values. See text for details.

As noted in Table 4-7, the tiers are utilized as a pricing signal to encourage customers to reduce energy usage in the summer and winter periods. However, because the E1TB customers are charged on the PG&E Rate schedule, the tiers are set on a daily basis and there is no customer charge. However, there is a "minimum bill provision," which is set at the daily customer charge \$0.34810 per day times the days in the month. Similar to the R-1 customers, a customer is paying the lower tier rate for more energy (kWh) during the winter than in the summer (as indicated previously, residential customers use more electricity in the winter than in the summer on an average monthly basis).

Master Meter Rates (EM1TB, EMLTB, EM1TH, EMLTH)

Table 4-8 provides a summary of the master meter rate for residential Enterprise customers served under the EM1TB rate (for electric and natural gas service). The tiers within the EM1TB rate are the same as the E1TB rate structure but have been scaled for the average number of units served. Similar to EM1TB, there is no monthly customer service charge, but there is a minimum bill that is equal to the daily customer charge times the days in the month. The low-income discount is a 30% reduction from the existing rate components and is billed under the EMLTB service. The EM1TH has a similar rate structure (for electric service only), but the tier levels are slightly higher for both the summer and winter periods.

Rate Component	Existing
Customer (\$/month)	Min ⁽¹⁾
Energy (\$/kWh)	
Summer (2)	
Tier 1 (0–3.8 kWh daily)	\$0.3147
Tier 2 (3.8–15.2 kWh daily)	\$0.3945
Tier 3 (> 15.2 kWh daily)	\$0.4932
Winter	
Tier 1 (0–4.5 kWh daily)	\$0.3147
Tier 2 (4.5–18 kWh daily)	\$0.3945
Tier 3 (> 18 kWh daily)	\$0.4932

 Table 4-8

 Enterprise Master Meter Residential Rate (EM1TB)

(1) The EM1TB rate does not have a customer service charge (\$/month) but is subject to a minimum bill (see text).

(2) The tiered rates are the same for summer/winter (S/W); however, the characteristics of the tiers change with season. Note: these are daily kWh values. See text for details.

Residential Cost Curve

Figure 4-1 provides an illustration of a "cost curve" for Hetch Hetchy Power's residential customer class. A cost curve represents the total costs to serve a customer within a specific rate class over a range of monthly energy usage (using a load factor percent, as described below). The total costs are divided by the total monthly energy usage (in kWh) to calculate an "all-in" cost (\$/kWh) to serve customers. A cost curve is a convenient tool to understand how unit costs (all-in \$/kWh) for fixed cost industries (such as electric utilities) behave. If the customer is using only very small amounts of energy in a month, the all-in costs are high because of the high fixed costs. However, if the customer is using large amounts of energy in a month, the fixed costs are spread over more energy, so the all-in costs are lower. This is why the cost curves for Hetch Hetchy Power (and generally speaking, any utility), have the characteristic shape of a high "tail" end on the left, then a rapidly decreasing shape that eventually becomes flatter towards the right end.

In the cost curves shown in this Report, the X-axis is displayed as a series of "load factors" from 10% to 100%. For each class, an average customer demand is calculated from usage data provided by the SFPUC, and the energy usage varies by load factor. A load factor is the ratio of the total energy (kWh) divided by the peak load (kW) times the number of hours (hr) in the month (720 hours in a typical month).

For a customer with one kW of demand (1 kW), a 10% load factor uses 72 kWh (72 kWh / (1 kW x 720 hours in month)). A 100% load factor customer (with 1 kW of demand) uses 720 kWh of energy during the month. Load factor is a measurement of how efficiently a customer uses power, as it is the relationship between the maximum hourly demand in any given period (a month) and the amount of energy used during that month.

If a customer's load is constant over the period, the load factor approaches a value of 100%, meaning that in every hour of the period, the customer is using the same amount of power. A high load factor represents

efficient use of the system because the utility's investment is fixed to serve the peak demand and the customer is using more energy for each unit of demand it places on the system. If a customer's load is more variable, the load factor is reduced, and the customer is said to be less efficient. Within any customer class, there will be customers with high and low load factors, especially when looking at commercial classes whose loads vary considerably between different customers.

Cost curves are useful in rate design to demonstrate how rates and rate structures compare to a utility's costs. For the example in Figure 4-1, the Existing Rate curve is a representation of Hetch Hetchy Power's existing R-1 rate (the Customer Service charge and the tiered energy charge). This rate curve has been calculated over a series of load factors, using an average demand of approximately 1.6 kW per customer and a blend of the summer and winter tiers. As indicated above, a low load factor customer uses less energy per month, whereas a high load factor customer uses more energy per month, but both customers have a demand of 1.6 kW during the month. Because of the relatively low fixed charge and the relatively high-tiered energy charges for the existing rate, the "all-in" existing rate curve is lower in the front end and slowly gets higher in the tail end, which is the inverse of the cost curve.



Figure 4-1. Cost Curve and Rate Curve for Residential R-1 Rate

Figure 4-1 suggests that customers that have a lower load factor (meaning they use less energy per unit of demand) should have a higher unit rate (\$/kWh). This reflects the relatively high customer costs derived from the COS analysis. As customers increase their load factor (and increase the amount of energy used), the COS curve is reduced as the fixed costs are spread over more energy. However, the current R-1 rate curve suggests that as customers use more energy, the unit rate increases, which is indicative of the tiered rate structure. All else being equal, the comparison of the cost curve and the rate curve suggests that hose customers with a load factor of less than approximately 60% are paying less than their costs would suggest, and those with a higher load factor are paying more (on a unit basis). Most residential customer usage is relatively homogeneous (except for those customers with solar panels or extreme loads). For Hetch Hetchy Power, an analysis of 2019 residential customer class usage data suggests an average annual load factor of approximately 23% (see red vertical line in Figure 4-1 at approximately 23% load factor).

Small Commercial

The following provides a summary of the COS analysis results for the Small Commercial customer class, a summary of the existing rates and rate structures, and a comparison of the various rate offerings across different customer usage (cost and rate curve analysis).

Small Commercial COS Results

Table 4-9 provides a summary of the Small Commercial class COS results for the Test Year.

Rate Component	COS	COS – Energy ⁽¹⁾	
Customer (\$/month)	\$174.25	\$174.25	
Demand (\$/kW)	\$37.10		
Energy (\$/kWh)			
Summer Charges	\$0.0644	\$0.1942	
Winter Charges	\$0.0644	\$0.1942	

Table 4-9Small Commercial Cost of Service

(1) Assumes no Demand Charge and bundles demand-related costs within the Energy Charge.

The COS analysis suggests a customer cost rate of \$174.25/month, a demand cost rate of \$37.10/kW, and an energy cost rate of \$0.0644/kWh. The COS-based customer cost rate represents the sum of the costs of customer service and accounting, customer programs, and an allocated portion of the distribution system costs on a per customer per month basis. Similar to the residential class, the COS customer cost rate is relatively high because there is a relatively low number of small customers. The demand cost rate represents the cost associated with the fixed costs for power supply, transmission, and the non-customer portion of the distribution system (this includes the investment cost, as well as the fixed costs for operating and maintaining these systems).

It costs Hetch Hetchy Power approximately \$37.10/kW of demand-related costs to serve small commercial customers. Hetch Hetchy Power's energy cost rate is \$0.0644/kWh (not adjusted for seasonal costs); however, as a result of the lower customer charge and no demand charge currently in effect, the existing energy rate is higher than Hetch Hetchy Power's "pure" energy costs.

Table 4-9 includes a column for the COS that shifts the demand costs to the energy rate. This data is based on the COS analysis and recognizes that small commercial customers are not charged on a demand basis (\$/kW). Like all customers, though, small commercial customers do incur demand-related costs; however, they are recovered from the energy rate (\$/kWh). Therefore, this table provides an "adjusted COS-based energy rate," which includes appropriate demand costs and has been calculated to be approximately \$0.1942/kWh (not adjusted for the seasonal differences).

The recommended rates discussed in Section 5 recognize the existing and COS rates, as well as the specific rate proposal.

GUSE Small Commercial Rate

As indicated above, there are GUSE customers within all of the commercial rate classes served by Hetch Hetchy Power. The current GUSE rate is a flat rate of \$0.0988/kWh, which is the same regardless of the commercial customer class in which the GUSE customer exists.
Existing Small Commercial Rates/Rate Structures

Table 4-10 provides a summary of Hetch Hetchy Power's existing retail Small Commercial class rates (C-1). The existing rate includes an \$8.99 per month customer service charge for single phase service, \$22.49 per month customer service charge for poly phase service, and a seasonal energy rate that is differentiated by summer and winter.

Rate Component	Existing	
Customer (\$/month) – Single Phase	\$8.99	
Customer (\$/month) – Poly Phase	\$22.49	
Energy (\$/kWh)		
Summer Charges	\$0.2562	
Winter Charges	\$0.2049	

Table 4-10
Existing Small Commercial Rates (C-1)

Table 4-11 provides a summary of the existing small commercial rate for single phase (A1S) and poly phase (A1P) Enterprise customers compared to the results of the COS analysis. The small commercial Enterprise customers have a different customer charge depending on the level of service provided: \$10.00/month for single phase and \$25.00/poly phase, and they have a seasonally differentiated energy rate. The summer energy rate is \$0.3364/kWh, and the winter energy rate is \$0.2974/kWh.

Table 4-11 Existing Enterprise Small Commercial Rates (A1S and A1P)

Rate Component	Existing	
Customer (\$/month) – Single Phase (A1S)	\$10.00	
Customer (\$/month) – Poly Phase (A1P)	\$25.00	
Energy (\$/kWh)		
Summer Charges	\$0.3364	
Winter Charges	\$0.2794	

Hetch Hetchy Power offers its current small commercial Enterprise customers a TOU option under its A1-US and A1-UP rates (the "S" and "P" designation are for single and poly phase, the "U" designation is for TOU), as summarized in Table 4-12. These rates are differentiated by single and poly phase customer service charge (identical as those for A1S and A1P). The TOU rates are differentiated by season. The current summer energy rates are \$0.3397/kWh for on-peak and part-peak periods, and \$0.03490/kWh for off-peak. The current winter energy rates are \$0.2921/kWh for part-peak, and \$0.2915 for off-peak; there is no on-peak winter period. Summer and winter periods and TOU periods are as previously defined.

Rate Component	Existing	
Customer (\$/month) – Single Phase (A1S)	\$10.00	
Customer (\$/month) – Poly Phase (A1P)	\$25.00	
Energy (\$/kWh)		
Summer Charges		
On-Peak	\$0.3397	
Part-Peak	\$0.3397	
Off-Peak	\$0.3490	
Winter Charges (1)		
Part-Peak	\$0.2921	
Off-Peak	\$0.2915	

 Table 4-12

 Enterprise Small Commercial Rates (A1US and A1UP)

(1) There is no on-peak period for the winter season for this rate (see text).

Small Commercial Cost Curve

Figure 4-2 provides an illustration of a cost curve for Hetch Hetchy Power's small commercial customer class. As indicated above, a cost curve represents the total costs (\$) to serve a customer within a specific rate class over a range of monthly energy usage. Cost curves are useful in rate design to allow a comparison of how rates and rate structures compare to a utility's costs.

Figure 4-2 provides a representation of Hetch Hetchy Power's existing C-1 rate (Retail), along with the GUSE rate (flat) and the Enterprise rate (A-1S). These rate curves have been calculated over a series of load factors assuming an average demand of approximately 10 kW per customer and an even blend of the summer and winter energy usage. The average monthly load factor for the Small Commercial class was determined from 2019 usage data to be approximately 39% (see red vertical line in Figure 4-2 at approximately 39% load factor).



Figure 4-2. Hetch Hetchy Power Cost Curve and Rate Curves for Small Commercial Rates

Figure 4-2 suggests that customers who have a lower load factor (meaning they use less energy per unit of demand) should have a higher unit rate (\$/kWh). This reflects the relatively high customer costs derived from the COS analysis. As customers increase their load factor (and increase the amount of energy used), the unit costs are reduced as the fixed costs are spread over more energy. However, the current small

commercial rates are generally flat, given the relatively low customer charge and high energy charge for the retail and enterprise customers, and the flat rate for the GUSE customers.

Medium Commercial

The following provides a summary of the COS analysis results for the Medium Commercial customer class, a summary of the existing rates and rate structures, and a comparison of the various rate offerings across different customer usage (cost and rate curve analysis).

Medium Commercial COS Results

Table 4-13 provides a summary of Hetch Hetchy Power's COS-based rates for the Medium Commercial class developed for this Study for the Test Year.

Medium Commercial Rates Cost of Service		
Rate Component CO		
Customer (\$/month)	\$863.60	
Demand (\$/kW)	\$40.37	
Energy (\$/kWh) ⁽¹⁾		
Summer Energy Charges	\$0.0675	
Winter Energy Charges	\$0.0675	

Table 4-13

Table 4-13 provides a summary of the rates derived from the COS analysis. This includes a customer cost rate of \$863.90/month, a demand cost rate of \$40.37/kW, and an energy cost rate of \$0.0675/kWh. The COS-based customer cost rate represents the sum of the costs of customer service and accounting, customer programs, and an allocated portion of the distribution system costs on a per customer per month basis. The demand cost rate represents the cost associated with the fixed costs for power supply, transmission, and the non-customer portion of the distribution system (this includes the investment cost as well as the fixed costs for operating and maintaining these systems). The energy cost rate represents those costs allocated by energy and assigned to the medium commercial class based on their weighted average price (see Section 3). Because the medium commercial rates include a demand charge, there is no need to calculate an all-in energy rate with demand costs, as was the case for the small commercial and residential classes.

Existing Medium Commercial Rates/Rate Structures

Table 4-14 provides a summary of Hetch Hetchy Power's existing retail Medium Commercial class rates. The existing secondary voltage rate includes a \$149.92 per month customer service charge, a \$14.11/kW demand charge, and a seasonal energy rate that is differentiated by summer (\$0.1387/kWh) and winter (\$0.1726/kWh).

Rate Component	Existing
Customer (\$/month)	\$149.92
Demand (\$/kW)	\$14.11
Energy (\$/kWh) (1)	
Summer Energy Charges	\$0.1387
Winter Energy Charges	\$0.1726

Table 4-14 Existing Medium Commercial Rates (C-2S)

Table 4-15 provides a summary of the current medium commercial Enterprise rate for A10S for secondary voltage service. The Enterprise Medium Commercial rate is also offered for primary service (A10P, not shown below). The Enterprise Medium Commercial Rate (A10S) has a customer charge of \$179.90/month, a demand rate of \$18.45/kW, and an energy rate that is seasonally adjusted (\$0.2337/kWh for summer, \$0.1961/kWh for winter).

Existing Enterprise Medium Commercial Rates (A10S)		
Rate Component	Existing	
Customer (\$/month)	\$179.90	
Demand (\$/kW)	\$18.45	
Energy (\$/kWh)		
Summer Energy Charges	\$0.2337	
Winter Energy Charges	\$0.1961	

Table 1-15

Table 4-16 provides a summary of the medium commercial rate (A10-US and A10-UP) for secondary and primary voltage TOU Enterprise customers. The medium commercial Enterprise rates have a different demand charge depending on the voltage of service provided and have a seasonally and TOU differentiated energy rate. For secondary voltage service, the summer energy rate for on-peak and partpeak periods is \$0.2472/kWh and for off-peak is \$0.2204/kWh. The winter energy rate for part-peak is \$0.1967/kWh and off-peak is \$0.1960/kWh (as indicated for medium commercial customers, there is no on-peak winter period).

Rate Component	A10-US	A10-UP
Customer (\$/month)	\$179.90	\$179.90
Demand (\$/kW)	\$18.45	\$18.14
Summer Energy Charges		
On-Peak	\$0.2472	\$0.2309
Part-Peak	\$0.2472	\$0.2309
Off-Peak	\$0.2204	\$0.2356
Winter Energy Charges (1)		
Part-Peak	\$0.1967	\$0.1818
Off-Peak	\$0.1960	\$0.1811

Table 4-16 Existing Enterprise Medium Commercial Rates (A10-US and A10-UP)

(1) Winter energy charges do not have an on-peak period (see text).

Medium Commercial Cost Curve

Figure 4-3 provides a representation of Hetch Hetchy Power's existing C-2S rate (Retail), along with the GUSE rate (flat) and the Enterprise rate (A10S). These rate curves have been calculated over a series of load factors, assuming an average demand of approximately 105 kW per customer and an even blend of summer and winter energy usage. The average monthly load factor for the Medium Commercial class was determined from historical (2019) usage data to be approximately 51% (see red vertical line in Figure 4-3 at approximately 51% load factor).



Figure 4-3. Hetch Hetchy Power Cost Curve and Rate Curves for Medium Commercial Rates

Figure 4-3 suggests that customers who have a lower load factor (meaning they use less energy per unit of demand) should have a higher unit rate (\$/kWh). This reflects the relatively high customer costs derived from the COS analysis. As customers increase their load factor (and increase the amount of energy used), the unit costs are reduced as the fixed costs are spread over more energy. However, the current medium commercial rates (except for GUSE) have a high customer usage charge and a demand charge, which

results in the higher unit costs for lower load factor customers and lower unit costs for high load factor customers.

Large Commercial

The following provides a summary of the COS analysis results for the Large Commercial customer class, a summary of the existing rates and rate structures, and a comparison of the existing various rate offerings across different customer usage (cost and rate curve analysis).

Large Commercial COS Results

Table 4-17 provides a summary of the rates derived from the COS analysis for the Test Year. This includes a customer cost rate of \$1,692.22/month, a demand cost rate of \$43.46/kW, and an energy cost rate of \$0.0649/kWh.

Large Commercial Rales Cost of Service		
Rate Component	COS	
Customer (\$/month)	\$1,692.22	
Demand (\$/kW)	\$43.46	
Energy (\$/kWh)	\$0.0649	

 Table 4-17

 Large Commercial Rates Cost of Service

Existing Large Commercial Rates/Rate Structures

Table 4-18 provides a summary of Hetch Hetchy Power's existing retail Large Commercial class rates (C-3S, secondary voltage service, and C-3P, primary voltage service) compared to the COS-based rates developed for this Study (for secondary voltage service). The existing rate includes a \$754.93 per month customer service charge for secondary voltage and a \$1,151.50 per month customer service charge for primary voltage service. The demand charge is differentiated by season as well as TOU, as well as by voltage level. The summer on-peak period for demand is the same as the summer on-peak period for energy for the medium commercial customers as indicated above (12:00 PM to 6:00 PM, Monday through Friday, excluding holidays). The part-peak period for summer demand is the remaining hours (there is no off-peak summer demand period). For the winter period, there is no TOU period for demand.

The secondary voltage summer on-peak demand rate is \$12.267/kW, the part-peak rate is \$10.008/kW, and the max rate is \$22.437/kW. The max rate is applied to the peak demand for either period and is in addition to the demand charges for the on- or part-peak periods. The primary voltage summer on-peak demand rate is \$10.440/kW, the part-peak rate is \$8.730/kW, and the max rate is \$18.576/kW. The winter demand rate is only subject to the max demand rate, which is \$22.44/kW for secondary voltage and \$18.58/kW for primary voltage.

The energy charges are similarly differentiated by voltage level, season, and TOU. The summer secondary voltage on-peak and part-peak energy rates are \$0.1019/kWh and \$0.0934/kWh for primary voltage, and the summer off-peak rate is \$0.0965/kWh for secondary voltage and \$0.0833/kWh for primary voltage. The winter part-peak energy charges are \$0.0942/kWh and \$0.0860/kWh (secondary and primary), and the off-peak charges are \$0.0936/kWh and \$0.0854/kWh (secondary and primary). There is no on-peak

period for winter energy charges (part-peak is 8:30 AM to 9:30 PM, Monday through Friday, except holidays, and the remainder is off-peak).

Existing Large Commercial Rates (C-3S, C-3P)		
Rate Component	C-3S	C-3P
Customer (\$/month)	\$754.93	\$1,151.50
Demand (\$/kW)		
Summer Demand Charges (1)		
On-Peak	\$12.267	\$10.440
Part-Peak	\$10.008	\$8.730
Max	\$22.437	\$18.576
Winter Demand Charges (2)		
Max	\$22.44	\$18.58
Energy (\$/kWh)		
Summer Energy Charges		
On-Peak	\$0.1019	\$0.0934
Part-Peak	\$0.1019	\$0.0934
Off-Peak	\$0.0965	\$0.0883
Winter Energy Charges (3)		
Part-Peak	\$0.0942	\$0.0860
Off-Peak	\$0.0936	\$0.0854

Table 4-18

(1) Summer demand charges are the sum of the on- and part-peak and max demand for the month.

(2) Winter demand charges are the max demand for the month, regardless of time.

(3) There is no on-peak energy period for winter months (see text).

Table 4-19 provides a summary of the current large commercial Enterprise rates. The Enterprise Large Commercial rates are differentiated by service voltage for the customer charge, demand charge, and energy charge. The secondary voltage customer charge is \$902.03/month, and the primary voltage customer charge is \$1,372.68/month. The demand charge is seasonal, and TOU is differentiated by onpeak, part-peak, and max rate for the two voltage service levels. The winter demand rate is set by the max rate, which is identical to the max demand rate for the summer period. The energy rate is differentiated by season, TOU, and voltage level. The summer on-peak and part-peak energy rates are identical and are slightly higher for primary voltage customers comparted to secondary voltage customers. The winter partand on-peak energy rates are similarly structured. As with the retail customers, there is no on-peak winter energy period.

Rate Component	E-19S	E-19P
Customer (\$/month)	\$903.76	\$1,375.29
Demand (\$/kW)		
Summer Demand Charges (1)		
On-Peak	\$16.990	\$14.460
Part-Peak	\$14.280	\$12.420
Мах	\$28.390	\$23.730
Winter Demand Charges (2)		
Мах	\$28.39	\$23.730
Summer Energy Charges		
On-Peak	\$0.1410	\$0.1281
Part-Peak	\$0.1410	\$0.1281
Off-Peak	\$0.1350	\$0.1224
Winter Energy Charges (3)		
Part-Peak	\$0.1325	\$0.1199
Off-Peak	\$0.1317	\$0.1192

Table 4-19Existing Enterprise Large Commercial Rates
(E-19S and E-19P)

(1) Summer demand charges are the sum of the on- and part-peak and max demand for the month.

(2) Winter demand charges are the max demand for the month, regardless of time.

(3) There is no on-peak energy period for winter months (see text).

Large Commercial Cost Curve

Figure 4-4 provides an illustration of a cost curve for Hetch Hetchy Power's large commercial customer class. As indicated above, a cost curve represents the total costs (\$) to serve a customer within a specific rate class over a range of monthly energy usage.

Figure 4-4 provides a representation of Hetch Hetchy Power's existing C-3S rate (retail), along with the GUSE rate (flat) and the Enterprise rate (E19-S). These rate curves have been calculated over a series of load factors, assuming an average demand of approximately 516 kW per customer and an even blend of the summer and winter energy usage. An analysis of 2019 customer usage data suggests a monthly load factor of approximately 54% for the large commercial customer class (see red vertical line in Figure 4-4 at approximately 54% load factor).



Figure 4-4. Hetch Hetchy Power Cost Curve and Rate Curves for Large Commercial Rates

Figure 4-4 indicates that the current rate structures for large commercial customers (with the exception of the GUSE customers) generally lines up with the cost curves. This is because of the relatively high customer service charges and demand charges that recover the fixed costs, and the relatively lower energy rates recovering the variable costs. This analysis assumes same demand for the on-, part- and maximum periods and that approximately 20% of energy is consumed during on-peak, 24% is consumed during part-peak, and approximately 56% is consumed during off-peak periods for the summer and winter periods, based on analysis of customer usage in this class.

The retail rate structure appears to be slightly lower than the COS analysis for all load factors, and the Enterprise rate structure (for E19-S customers) appears to be higher for all load factor customers on a unit cost basis. This suggests that for these customers the rate structures are similar to COS; however, the rate levels for each component may need to be adjusted to get to COS. For the GUSE customers, who are charged on a flat fee, the unit cost basis is lower than COS for all load factors in this example.

Industrial Customers

The following provides a summary of the COS analysis results for the Industrial customer class, a summary of the existing rates and rate structures, and a comparison of the existing various rate offerings across different customer usage (cost and rate curve analysis).

Industrial COS Results

Table 4-20 provides a summary of the rates derived from the COS analysis for the Industrial rate class (for secondary voltage service). This includes a customer cost rate of \$1,685.42/month, a demand cost rate of \$37.42/kW, and an energy cost rate of \$0.0645/kWh. The analysis for the industrial class includes the costs allocated to the airport (SFO) in Section 3 of this report. Industrial service is also offered at primary level (rate code I-1P), however, SFO is currently served under the Enterprise E-20P (primary) rate code (see below).

Table 4-20 Industrial Rates (I-IS) Cost of Service	
Rate Component	COS
Customer (\$/month) – Phase	\$1,685.42
Demand (\$/kW)	\$37.42
Energy (\$/kWh)	\$0.0645

Existing Industrial Rates/Rate Structures

Table 4-21 provides a summary of Hetch Hetchy Power's existing retail Industrial class rates at secondary (I-1S) and primary voltage (I-1P). The existing primary rate includes a \$1,367.57 per month customer service charge and a demand charge that is differentiated by season as well as TOU. The summer on-peak demand rate is \$12.384/kW, the part-peak rate is \$10.233/kW, and the max rate is \$20.106/kW (as with the large commercial customers, the demand rate during the summer is the sum of the three individual rates for each month). The winter demand rate is only subject to the max demand rate, which is \$20.11/kW. The energy charges are similarly differentiated by season and TOU. The summer on-peak and part-peak energy rate is \$0.0942/kWh, and the off-peak rate is \$0.0860/kWh. The winter part-peak rate is \$0.0868/kWh, and the off-peak rate is \$0.0861/kWh.

Rate Component	I-IS (Secondary)	I-IP (Primary)
Customer (\$/month) – Phase	\$1,370.12	\$1,367.57
Demand (\$/kW)		
Summer Demand Charges (1)		
On-Peak	\$12.44	\$12.38
Part-Peak	\$9.79	\$10.23
Мах	\$22.14	\$20.11
Winter Demand Charges (2)		
Max	\$22.14	\$20.11
Energy (\$/kWh)		
Summer Energy Charges		
On-Peak	\$0.0971	\$0.0942
Part-Peak	\$0.0971	\$0.0942
Off-Peak	\$0.0918	\$0.0890
Winter Energy Charges (3)		
Part-Peak	\$0.0895	\$0.0868
Off-Peak	\$0.0888	\$0.0861

Table 4-21Existing Industrial Rates (I-IS and I-1P)

(1) Summer demand charges are the sum of the on-peak, part-peak, and max demand for the month.

(2) Winter demand charges are the max demand for the month, regardless of time.

(3) There is no on-peak energy period for winter months (see text).

Table 4-22 provides a summary of the current large commercial Enterprise rates. The Enterprise Large Industrial rates are differentiated by service voltage for the customer charge, demand charge, and energy charge. The secondary customer charge is \$1,632.16/month and the primary customer charge is \$1,624.03/month. The demand charge is seasonally, and TOU is differentiated by on-peak, part-peak, and max rate. The winter demand rate is set by the max rate, which is identical to the max demand rate for the summer for both secondary and primary voltage customers. The energy rate is differentiated by season and TOU and by voltage. The summer on-peak and part-peak energy rates are identical and are slightly higher for primary service customers compared to secondary service customers. The winter part-peak and off-peak energy rates are slightly lower for secondary voltage level customers compared to primary voltage level customers.

	E 208	E 20D
Rate Component	(Secondary)	(Primarv)
	(00000000000000000000000000000000000000	(******))
Customer (\$/month)	\$1,632.16	\$1,624.03
Demand (\$/kW)		
Summer Demand Charges (1)		
On-Peak	\$117.06	\$17.11
Part-Peak	\$13.90	\$14.56
Max	\$28.61	\$26.15
Winter Demand Charges (2)		
Max	\$28.61	\$26.15
Summer Energy Charges		
On-Peak	\$0.1340	\$0.1293
Part-Peak	\$0.1340	\$0.1293
Off-Peak	\$0.1281	\$0.1236
Winter Energy Charges (3)		
Part-Peak	\$0.1155	\$0.1211
Off-Peak	\$0.1248	\$0.1204

Table 4-2	2
Existing Enterprise Industrial R	Rates (E-20S and E-20P)

(1) Summer demand charges are the sum of the on-peak, part-peak, and max demand for the month.

(2) Winter demand charges are the max demand for the month, regardless of time.

(3) There is no on-peak energy period for winter months (see text).

Industrial Cost Curve

Figure 4-5 provides a representation of Hetch Hetchy Power's existing I-IP rate (retail), along with the GUSE rate (flat), the Enterprise rate (E20-S), and the COS rate. These curves have been calculated over a series of load factors, assuming an average demand of approximately 1,788 kW per customer and an even blend of the summer and winter energy usage. The monthly average load factor determined from 2019 load data for the industrial class was approximately 59% (see red vertical line in Figure 4-5 at approximately 59% load factor).



Figure 4-5. Hetch Hetchy Power Cost Curve and Rate Curves for Industrial Rates

Similar to the large commercial customers, Figure 4-5 indicates that the current rate structures for industrial customers (with the exception of the GUSE customers) are generally in alignment with the costs curves. This is because of the relatively high customer service charges and demand charge that recover the fixed costs, and the relatively lower energy rates recovering the variable costs. This analysis assumes that approximately 62% of the energy usage is off-peak, 30% is part-peak, and the remainder is on-peak for the summer and winter periods, based on analysis of usage data for these customers.

The retail rate structure and the Enterprise rate structure (for E-20S customers) is higher than the COS for all load factor customers on a unit cost basis (for this level of usage). This suggests that for these customers the rate structures are similar to COS; however, the rate levels for each component may need to be adjusted to get to COS. For the GUSE customers, who are charged on a flat fee, the unit cost basis is lower than COS for all load factors in this example.

Section 5 RATE RECOMMENDATIONS FOR HETCH HETCHY POWER

Hetch Hetchy Power - Rate Recommendations

Rate design is the end result of a COS study, in which the cost recovery mechanisms (rates and charges) for each customer class are established. Rates and charges are set for each customer class to collectively meet the utility's Revenue Requirement, as well as to address specific policy goals and objectives. For the purposes of this Study, the following rate design objectives were considered during the rate design process, which are discussed in Section 1 of this Report.

Hetch Hetchy Power rates are designed to follow the subsequent principles, which following the SFPUC Ratepayer Assurance Policy:

- Achieve recovery of costs for system
- Equitably allocate costs across and within customer classes
- Encourage efficient use of electricity
- Provide rate stability
- Offer flexibility and options
- Maintain rate competitiveness with PG&E
- Be simple and easy to understand

The recovery of the projected revenue requirement is the primary objective of rate design. This means that the specific components of the rates for each customer class must be paired with their respective projected billing determinants (in the form of energy, demand, and number of customers) to collect sufficient revenues for Hetch Hetchy Power to maintain operations and fund its historic and planned capital investments.

Consolidation of Retail, Municipal Enterprise, and Municipal General (GUSE) Rates

As stated above, a major goal of this study is to consolidate the legacy retail, municipal enterprise, and municipal general (GUSE) rate schedules into more traditional rate schedules by customer class. This change is being implemented in a gradual, phased manner to prevent rate shock to any particular customer class. The recommended two-year rate period changes will move the current set of tariffs significantly closer to this goal and set up Hetch Hetchy Power to achieve this objective within the next five years.

Specifically, the following approach was developed to consolidate and transition the "legacy" rate classes into their traditional rate classes:

- 1. Assign all GUSE customers to the appropriate customer class.
 - a. Create a GUSE rate for each class with the same structure as the retail rate within that class (i.e., the same seasonal periods, energy and demand line items, customer charge, etc.).

- b. Calculate the GUSE rate as a discount from the equivalent retail rate schedule in the year, solving for an all-in average \$/kWh effective rate that increases by \$0.03/kWh annually from the current GUSE rate of \$0.0988/kWh.
- c. If the GUSE rate for a fiscal year meets or exceeds the cost of service for the customer class, eliminate the rate, and charge these customers the normal retail rate for that customer class.
- 2. For Enterprise and retail customers, maintain the current rate structures and options available, but transition to cost of service, with some adjustments.
 - a. Begin by changing from the current rate to the cost of service rate over two fiscal years. This may require an increase or a decrease to the rate, depending on its current level, but should result in the Enterprise and retail rates being the same or very close to the same in the second year of the rate plan.
 - b. Implement a rate cap to limit the all-in average \$/kWh rate increase to less than approximately 10% to prevent rate shock. However, this limit is calculated on an average class basis; within the class, rate impact may be greater or less than 10% for individual customers.
- 3. Because the phase-out of the GUSE subsidy, the continued discounts for low-income residential customers, and the cap on annual rate increases result in under collection of the revenue requirement for certain rate schedules, the resulting under collection amount is distributed to all retail and Enterprise non-residential rate classes.

Other than the steps described above, the recommended rates are generally designed to minimize significant changes to rate structures, as the recommended changes to rate levels as part of the transition to cost of service rates are significant in some instances.

GUSE, Low-Income, Rate Cap Cost Recovery

As indicated previously, there are several GUSE customers that are served by Hetch Hetchy Power within each of the commercial and industrial classes, as indicated in Table 5-1 below. Currently, these customers are served on a flat rate of \$0.0988/kWh. However, the recommended change in rates for GUSE customers is to increase their effective rate by \$0.03/kWh for FY 2022–2023 and \$0.03/kWh for FY 2023–2024, as well as to change their rate structure from a flat rate to a rate structure identical to the retail rate offerings within their class (i.e., energy and customer charge for small commercial, and energy, customer charge, and demand rate for other commercial and industrial customers).

Because GUSE customers are limited in their rate recovery to be at the same effective rate as if they were still on their flat rate (with the increases), collectively they are not recovering sufficient revenue equal to their costs. Therefore, this creates a subsidy between commercial and industrial rate classes for Hetch Hetchy Power. It is important to note that this subsidy has existed since Hetch Hetchy Power has offered these flat rates to its GUSE customers, and the recommended rate changes for this Study are intended to reduce the subsidy over the period of the Test Year. It is expected that within approximately the next five years, each rate class will be charged rates reflecting its full COS.

Additionally, the low-income discounts offered by Hetch Hetchy Power for its residential retail and Enterprise customers also create a subsidy that must be recovered by other classes (non-residential). Also, the approximate 10% cap placed on recommended rate designs for residential, as well as other customer classes, creates an under recovery (as indicted in the methodology discussion above). The GUSE, low-income, and rate cap subsidies are combined and are allocated to the non-residential retail and Enterprise customers based on total energy sales. Further, they are recovered in the applicable energy rate by customer class.

Table 5-1 below provides a summary of the projected revenue deficiency created by the GUSE and residential rate constraints. The recommended changes to energy rates for retail and Enterprise non-residential customer classes include recovery of the projected combined revenue.

Rate Constraint	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
GUSE Subsidy (1)	\$17,646	\$10,095
Residential Subsidy	\$4,408	\$9,158
Total	\$22,054	\$19,254

Table 5-1
Cost Under Recovery by Test Year (\$000)

(1) Rate increases for GUSE are projected to reduce the GUSE subsidy in FY 2023–2024 (see text).

As indicated in Table 5-1, the combined rate constraints are projected to result in an under-recovery of approximately \$22.0 million in the first year, and \$19.3 million in the second year. The low-income rate program combined with the residential rate cap is approximately \$4.4 million in the first year and \$9.2 million in the second year, as the residential class is anticipated to increase substantially at that time. The GUSE subsidy is approximately \$17.6 million during the first year of the rate plan (FY 2022–2023) but is reduced to approximately \$7.5 million in the second year (FY 2023–2024) as the rate increase moves these customers closer to their cost of service.

Customer Charges

In some cases, the COS customer charges may be significantly higher than current customer charges. To prevent large shifts in revenue collection along the cost curve, the recommended rates limit the increase in the customer charge. If this results in the customer charge being below cost of service, the remainder of the cost will be recovered through the energy charge for the class.

Seasonal and Time of Use Rates

The recommended rates do not eliminate or add customer charges, demand charges, or time of use differentiation unless that feature was already present in the current rate schedule. Existing seasonal rate differentials are designed to remain the same as the existing rate structures; however, the rate levels have been adjusted. For the TOU periods established for the on-, part-, and off-peak periods for the energy component, the TOU differentials described in Table 4-4 are incorporated into the recommended rates gradually over the two-year period.

Demand Rates

For customer classes with demand rates that are TOU differentiated (Large Commercial and Industrial classes only), the recommended rates maintain the rate differential between the on-peak, part-peak, and maximum demand rates, while moving the demand rates collectively towards their COS values. Currently, the customer pays the maximum demand rate for the peak demand during the month and in addition pays either the on-peak or part-peak demand rate if the maximum demand occurs during that period. The TOU demand rates will remain in place for the two-year period as the changes to the rates are transitioned over that time.

Analysis of Residential Tiers

For the purposes of this Study, an analysis of the residential tiers was conducted to determine if potential changes were warranted. As indicated previously, the existing tiers for the retail rate structures are based on historic tiers offered by PG&E that have not been updated since the rates were introduced. Additionally, the retail Enterprise tiers are consistent with PG&E's current rate structures, as are the rate levels.

This Study reviewed a distribution of existing retail customers' electricity usage during summer and winter periods for 2019. This analysis resulted in recommended tiers for each seasonal period based on the average user and the relative distribution of customer usage within the tiers: usage within Tier 1 represents below-average usage (i.e., the average usage is the division between Tiers 1 and 2), whereas Tier 2 represents above-average usage, and Tier 3 is high usage over two standard deviations from the average (for the purposes of this analysis, customers with usage over 1,000 kWh in a month were excluded). The results of the distribution analysis are presented in Figure 5-1 and 5-2 below.



Monthly Customer Count by Usage - Summer

Figure 5-1. Distribution Analysis of Customer Usage for Summer



Monthly Customer Count by Usage - Winter

Figure 5-2. Distribution Analysis of Customer Usage for Winter

The analysis described above was conducted for Hetch Hetchy Power customers identified as having both electric and natural gas service. As noted in Section 1, one objective of this Study is to develop recommended rates for customers with electric only heating service (and therefore, no natural gas heating systems). A review of available load information indicated that there is insufficient data to conduct a detailed analysis of current Hetch Hetchy Power customers with all-electric heating service at this time. Therefore, this Study utilized the existing relationship between the PG&E tiers for summer and winter residential users with gas and electric vs all-electric service as a proxy for the usage characteristics for Hetch Hetchy Power all-electric customers.

The results of this analysis suggest a new tiered structure for both R-1 (to become R-1G [natural gas service] and the newly recommended R-1E customers, as indicated in Table 5-2 below.

Current R-1 Tier (Monthly kWh)				
Tier	Summer	Winter		
Tier 1	0–229	0–278		
Tier 2	229–297	278–361		
Tier 3	> 297	> 361		
	Recommended Tiers – Gas and Electric (M	onthly kWh) ⁽¹⁾		
Tier	Summer	Winter		
Tier 1	0–227	0–252		
Tier 2	227–524	252–579		
Tier 3	> 524	> 579		
	Recommended Tiers – All Electric (Monthly kWh) ⁽²⁾			
Tier	Summer	Winter		
Tier 1	0–250	0–418		
Tier 2	250–578	418–960		
Tier 3	> 578	> 960		

 Table 5-2

 Existing and Recommended Tiers – R-1 Gas and Electric and All Electric

(1) R-1 with gas and electric service to be recoded as R-1G.

(2) R-1 with electric heating service to be recoded as R-1E.

For residential Enterprise customers, the daily tiers are recommended to be adjusted to be monthly tiers, consistent with the retail rate offerings. For residential master metered Enterprise customers, the tiers have been adjusted to reflect the average number of units served by the master meter (and adjusted for monthly totals).

Discounting Rates for Energy Received at Higher Voltages

Several customers take power at voltage levels above the default secondary voltage service. The rationale for offering a high voltage discount for customers taking service at primary or transmission level voltage is that these customers do not incur the costs associated with the equipment and maintenance necessary for secondary service (generally less than 4 kilovolts [kV]). It is more efficient to transmit electricity at higher voltages (which reduces the energy lost to resistance) and these customers do not require utility investment in step-down converters. To qualify for this adjustment, the customer must supply the appropriate transformation equipment to reduce the incoming voltage for their use, as appropriate.

Recommended changes to the rates for high voltage (transmission, primary) have been adjusted based on the COS, as well as rate policy. Table 5-3 provides the service voltage discounts applied to the COS results for medium commercial, large commercial, and industrial customer classes, as appropriate and included in this Study.

	Discount Compared to Secondary Service		
Rate Class	Primary	Transmission	
Medium Commercial	(13%)	N/A	
Large Commercial	(10%)	N/A	
Industrial	(29%)	(31%)	

Table 5-3 Service Voltage Discounts

Recommended Rate Design

This section of the Report provides a summary of the recommended rate design for each year of the Two-Year Rate Plan for each major customer class. Included in this summary is an analysis of the recommended rates, including rate impacts for the selected customer types. Recommended adjustments to the "other" customer classes are discussed at the end of this Section, with specific rates included in Appendix A.

It is important to understand that the recommended rates are not designed to generate the revenue requirements for the customer class due to subsidies created by the rate design options. For residential rates, this includes subsidies for low-income rates, as described above, as well as policy decisions regarding the practicality and feasibility of implementing cost-based rates.

Residential Rates

Table 5-4 provides a summary of the rate schedules and rate classes within the residential rate offerings by Hetch Hetchy Power, the number of customers in each rate code, and whether the recommended rates are included in the body of the report or in Appendix A.

Rate Code	Description	# Customers (TY)	Report/Appendix
R-1	Standard Retail (1), renamed R-1G (1)	155	Report
R-1E	Retail Electric Heating Customer (New Rate Code) (2)	620	Report
R-2	Low-Income	588	Appendix A
R-M	Medical Necessity Assistance Program	7	Appendix A
E1TB	Municipal Enterprise (Gas & Electric)	399	Report
EL1TB	Municipal Enterprise (Gas & Electric) Low Income	90	Appendix A
REV-1	Residential with Electric Vehicle	17	Appendix A
EM1TB (1)	Residential Master Meter (Gas & Electric)	13 / 547	Report
EMLTB	Residential Master Meter (Gas and Electric – Low-Income)	22 / 2,399	Appendix A
EM1TH ⁽²⁾	Residential Master Meter (Electric Heating)	0	Appendix A
EMLTH	Residential Master Meter (Electric Heating – Low Income)	1 / 51	Appendix A

 Table 5-4

 Hetch Hetchy Power Residential Rate Schedules and Customers

(1) For Master Meter accounts, the first number is the number of meters, the second number is the number of customers served by each Master Meter.

(2) No current customers are on this rate.

Residential Class Rate Offerings

As indicated in Table 5-4, the Residential class includes rate codes which represent different types of customers within the class. The "Standard Retail" is designated R-1 and represents most of the customers in this class. The R-2 rate is the Low-Income Residential service, which is set at a 30% discount to the R-1 rate. The R-M rate is a medical necessity assistance program with a similar rate structure as the R-1 rate; however, the tiers are set at a higher level (75% increase to those of the R-1 class). The R-2 and R-M recommended rate changes are provided in Appendix A.

The Municipal Enterprise (E1TB) rate is a residential rate for customers in City-owned or developed residences with natural gas and electric service, which is set at the PG&E equivalent rate for this service and has the different tier breaks and a minimum bill requirement. The Municipal Enterprise also has a low-income rate (EL1TB) which is set at a 30% discount to the PG&E rate. Currently, there are no customers served on the electric heating equivalent Municipal Enterprise rate (E1TH), and going forward any new customers will be served on the R-1E rate.

The Residential with Electric Vehicle Rate (REV-1) is a voluntary rate with a similar rate structure as the R-1 rate and is recommended to be adjusted to the tiers similar to those recommended for the R-1E (electric heating) rate. However, in addition to widening the tiers for electric heating, the recommended change

for the REV-1 rate is to include an additional 150 kWh in the first tier (and increase the top of the remaining second tier appropriately) to account for estimated average driving needs of electric car owners in the City. This increase in Tier 1 and Tier 2 is recommended to be applied to both the summer and winter rate structures.

The Municipal Enterprise has a series of master meter rates for residential service depending on the type of heating (gas and electric heat is rate code EM1TB, all electric heating is rate code EM1TH), as well as low-income rate offerings for the same (EMLTB for gas and electric heating low-income and EMLTH for all electric low-income). As indicated above, the current Municipal Enterprise rates are set to be the equivalent of the PG&E rate; however, the low-income discount is set at 30% of the otherwise applicable rate.

Recommended Changes for Residential (Summary)

The recommended changes for the residential rate class include an increase in the rates for Tier 1 and Tier 2, however, most rate codes will see a rate decrease in the Tier 3 rate, as well as a change in the existing tiered rate structure. This change includes expanding the amount of energy within the second tier (Tier 2), which increases the threshold for the Tier 3. This change is recommended for both the summer and winter periods

One recommended change to the residential rate structure is a new R-1 electric heating rate offering (R-1E) for the current retail customers. For the winter period, the recommended changes include greatly expanding the energy within the Tier 2 usage. Similarly, the daily tiering for the residential Enterprise rates will be replaced with a similarly scheduled monthly tiering to provide consistency between the rate codes. Additional detail on the specific rate levels for residential customers is provided below. The REV-1 rate tiers are recommended to increase as discussed above.

The recommended customer charge for residential customers is designed to recover approximately 5% of the total revenue requirement for customer cost by the end of FY 2023–2024. The recommended customer service charges are designed to recover half of the increase necessary to get to this value in FY 2022–2023 and the remainder in FY 2023–2024. The dollar value of the recommended customer charge depends on the starting value within each rate code, as described herein.

The low-income discount for the R-2 and Municipal Enterprise customers (EMLTB, EMLTH) creates an under-recovery of revenue relative to their total cost of service. Additionally, several of the rate codes in the residential rate class rates are not recommended to meet their projected cost of service due to the potential for significant rate impacts. Therefore, the projected revenue shortfall from these rates is recovered from other rate classes as Hetch Hetchy Power transitions to full cost of service rates.

Residential R-1 Rates and Bill Impact Analysis

Table 5-5 provides a summary of the recommended rates for the residential rate class for each year of the two-year rate plan and a comparison of the rate components to the existing rate structure.

(Existing and Recommended)					
		Recommended ⁽¹⁾			
Rate Component	Existing	New Tiers	FYE 2023	FYE 2024	
Customer Charge (\$/month)	\$4.58		\$5.91	\$7.23	
Energy Charge (\$/kWh) ⁽²⁾					
Summer					
Tier 1 (0 kWh–229 kWh)	\$0.1778	Tier 1 (0 kWh–227 kWh)	\$0.2088	\$0.2277	
Tier 2 (229 kWh–297 kWh)	\$0.2021	Tier 2 (227 kWh–524 kWh)	\$0.2506	\$0.2732	
Tier 3 (Over 297 kWh)	\$0.4137	Tier 3 (Over 524 kWh)	\$0.3758	\$0.4099	
Winter		Winter			
Tier 1 (0 kWh–278 kWh)	\$0.1778	Tier 1 (0 kWh–252 kWh)	\$0.2088	\$0.2277	
Tier 2 (278 kWh–361 kWh)	\$0.2021	Tier 2 (252 kWh–579 kWh)	\$0.2506	\$0.2732	
Tier 3 (Over 361 kWh)	\$0.4137	Tier 3 (Over 579 kWh)	\$0.3758	\$0.4099	

Table 5-5 Residential Rates (R-1G) (Existing and Recommended)

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022 (FYE 2023), and July 1, 2023 (FYE 2024). Rate increases for R-1G customers are limited to approximately 10% per year (see text).

This rate has been renamed to R-1G to reflect the fact that it is intended for customers with natural gas heating, and to distinguish it from the R-1E rate described below for customers with electric heating. As noted, the recommended tiers for both summer and winter periods have been adjusted to reflect the usage characteristics of customers in the R-1G class, including an expansion of the energy within Tier 2 (from 69 kWh to 287 kWh during the summer period), as well as the resulting increase in the Tier 3 threshold.

There are several important changes recommended for the Residential rate schedules. The COS-based rates indicate a customer charge of \$156.77 per month, as discussed in Section 4. The recommended customer charge starts at \$5.91 per month (FY 2022–2023) and is increased to \$7.23 per month for FY 2023–2024.

The recommended energy rates for the residential rate class have been adjusted to align with the policy goals of the new tiers, with the Tier 2 rates set at 120% of the Tier 1 rate, and the Tier 3 rate set at 180% of the Tier 1 rate.

Distribution of Bill Impacts - Residential Customers (R-1G)

Figure 5-3 provides an analysis of the distribution of the impact on an average monthly electricity bill for Hetch Hetchy Power's projected residential customer class for the first year of the rate plan (FY 2022–2023) as determined from customer billing data.

The bill impact will vary based on individual customer usage patterns, as provided in Figure 5-3. However, approximately 300 residential customers are expected to receive an average bill increase of approximately \$8 per month under the recommended rates. As evidenced by this graphic, some customers will see an average bill decrease, as some customers will see an average bill increase greater than \$8 per month.



Figure 5-3. Distribution of Recommended Hetch Hetchy Power Residential Monthly Customers Bill Impacts

All Electric Heating Residential Rates (R-1E)

SFPUC proposes to develop a new rate for retail residential customers who have electric heating (no natural gas service to the residence), currently proposed as the R-1E rate. The R-1E rate will have the same recommended customer charge and tiered energy charges as the R-1G rate; however, the energy in each tier will be slightly higher for the summer season and significantly higher for the winter season (See Table 5-2). The recommended changes for FY 2022–2023 and FY 2023–2024 rates for the R-1E rate class, compared to the existing R-1 rate class, are provided in Table 5-6 below.

	R-1 Recommended R-1E ⁽¹⁾				
Rate Component	Existing	New Tiers ⁽²⁾	FYE 2023	FYE 2024	
Customer Charge (\$/month)	\$4.58		\$5.91	\$7.23	
Energy Charge (\$/kWh ^{) (2)}					
Summer					
Tier 1 (0 kWh–229 kWh)	\$0.1778	Tier 1 (0 kWh–250 kWh)	\$0.2088	\$0.2277	
Tier 2 (229 kWh–297 kWh)	\$0.2021	Tier 2 (250 kWh–578 kWh)	\$0.2506	\$0.2732	
Tier 3 (Over 297 kWh)	\$0.4137	Tier 3 (Over 578 kWh)	\$0.3758	\$0.4099	
Winter					
Tier 1 (0 kWh–278 kWh)	\$0.1778	Tier 1 (0 kWh–418 kWh)	\$0.2088	\$0.2277	
Tier 2 (278 kWh–361 kWh)	\$0.2021	Tier 2 (418 kWh–960 kWh)	\$0.2506	\$0.2732	
Tier 3 (Over 361 kWh)	\$0.4137	Tier 3 (Over 960 kWh)	\$0.3758	\$0.4099	

Table 5-6Residential Rates (R-1E)(Existing R-1 and Recommended R-1E)

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022 (FYE 2023), and July 1, 2023 (FYE 2024).

(2) Recommended tiers reflect all electric usage for winter period. See text.

The intent of this new rate is to recognize the restriction of new natural gas service for new retail residential customers in the City, which is part of the overall City policy to reduce carbon emissions and increase beneficial electrification. By increasing the size of the tiers for each level of usage, the new R-1E is anticipated to decrease the relative monthly energy bills for all-electric retail customers, similar to those under the current Municipal Enterprise residential all-electric rates (E1TH).

Residential Municipal Enterprise Rates

Changes to the Residential Municipal Enterprise rates (E1TB, EM1TB, EM1TH, and their low-income associated rate codes EL1TB, EMLTB, and EMLTH) include changes to their tiered rate determination (recommended to be monthly, not daily) and to match the retail rate tiers for R-1G and R-1E (for natural gas and electric, and all-electric, respectively) as well as updates to their service charge and rate levels. Table 5-7 provides a summary of the newly recommended monthly tiers and rates for the E1TB customers.

		Recommended ⁽¹⁾		
Rate Component	Existing	New Tiers	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
Customer Charge (\$/month)	\$0.00	(Monthly Basis)	\$3.62	\$7.23
Energy Charge (\$/kWh) ⁽²⁾				
Summer				
Tier 1 (0– 6.8 kWh daily)	\$0.3147	Tier 1 (0 kWh–227 kWh)	\$0.2712	\$0.2277
Tier 2 (6.8–27.2 kWh daily)	\$0.3945	Tier 2 (227 kWh–524 kWh)	\$0.3254	\$0.2732
Tier 3 (> 27.2 kWh daily)	\$0.4932	Tier 3 (Over 524 kWh)	\$0.4881	\$0.4099
Winter				
Tier 1 (0–8.2 kWh daily)	\$0.3147	Tier 1 (0 kWh–252 kWh)	\$0.2712	\$0.2277
Tier 2 (8.2–32.8 kWh daily)	\$0.3945	Tier 2 (252 kWh–579 kWh)	\$0.3254	\$0.2732
Tier 3 (> 32.8 kWh daily)	\$0.4932	Tier 3 (Over 579 kWh)	\$0.4881	\$0.4099

Table 5-7 Enterprise Residential Rates (E1TB) (Existing and Recommended)

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022 (FYE 2023), and July 1, 2023 (FYE 2024).

(2) Tiers recommended to change in usage volume to be equal to recommended R-1G rate structure and redesigned to be calculated monthly (see text).

Table 5-8 provides a summary of the newly recommended monthly tiers and rates for the EM1TB customers (Enterprise Municipal Master Metered, Natural Gas and Electric Service).

Enterprise Master Meter Residential Rates (EM1TB – Natural Gas and Electric) (Existing and Recommended)				
		Recommended ⁽¹⁾		
Rate Component	Existing	New Tiers ⁽²⁾	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
Customer Charge (\$/month)	Min ⁽³⁾	(Monthly Basis)	\$3.62	\$7.23
Energy Charge (\$/kWh) (2)				
Summer				

Tier 1 (0 kWh-227 kWh)

Tier 3 (Over 524 kWh)

Tier 1 (0 kWh–252 kWh)

Tier 3 (Over 579 kWh)

Tier 2 (252 kWh-579 kWh)

Tier 2 (227 kWh-524 kWh)

\$0.2712

\$0.3254

\$0.4881

\$0.2712

\$0.3254

\$0.4881

\$0.2277

\$0.2732

\$0.4099

\$0.2277

\$0.2732

\$0.4099

\$0.3147

\$0.3945

\$0.4932

\$0.3147

\$0.3945

\$0.4932

Table 5-8

Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022 (FYE 2023), and July 1, 2023 (FYE 2024). (1)

Tiers recommended to change in usage volume to be equal to recommended R-1G rate structure, based on the average number of units (2) within the Master Meter complexes served by Hetch Hetchy Power and redesigned to be calculated on a monthly basis (see text).

Master Meter customers have a minimum charge which is equal to their customer charge. This is recommended to be replaced with a (3) monthly charge.

Small Commercial Rates

Tier 1 (0-3.8 kWh daily)

Tier 2 (3.8–15.2 kWh daily)

Tier 3 (> 15.2 kWh daily)

Tier 1 (0–4.5 kWh daily)

Tier 2 (4.5–18 kWh daily)

Tier 3 (> 18 kWh daily)

Winter

Table 5-9 provides a summary of the current rate schedules and rate classes within the small commercial rate offerings by Hetch Hetchy Power, and the number of customers in each rate code. All of the recommended small commercial rate changes are provided in the body of the report.

Rate Code	Description	# Customers	Report/Appendix
C-1 (S, P)	Standard Retail, Single/Polyphase, Municipal Enterprise, Municipal Enterprise TOU	1,322	Report
A1 (S, P)	Municipal Enterprise, Single/Polyphase	214	Report
A1-U (S, P)	Municipal Enterprise TOU, Single/Polyphase	183	Report
M-2 (CG-1)	Municipal General (GUSE) – To be renamed CG-1	832	Report

Table 5-9
Hetch Hetchy Power Small Commercial Rate Schedules and Customers

The Small Commercial customer class is currently defined as those customers who utilize less than 200 kW in a month and can be served by single phase (S) or poly phase (P). The rate classes within the Small Commercial class include the standard retail class (C-1), the rate for which includes a monthly service charge and a seasonal energy charge (summer and winter). The Municipal Enterprise customer rates include single or poly phase (A1S or A1P) and have the same rates as the equivalent PG&E rate for this class. The Municipal Enterprise does have a TOU rate option (A1-US or A1-UP) that includes an on-, part-, and off-peak summer rate and a part-peak and off-peak winter rate. Notably, the Municipal Enterprise rate, in line with PG&E's methodology, is defined as customers who use less than 75 kW in a month, differing from the retail and GUSE definitions. The Municipal General Use (GUSE) rate is the M-2 rate code and is a flat rate (as indicated previously).

The recommended changes to small commercial include a reduction in the maximum demand for these customers from 200 kW in a month to 75 kW in a month to be consistent with other municipal small commercial rate offerings. Those current small commercial customers that have a monthly demand of greater than 75 kW (approximately 11 customers) will be moved into the medium commercial customer class. The summer and winter energy rate differentials will be adjusted according to the analysis conducted for this Study, as will those for the Municipal Enterprise rates. The GUSE rate changes have been approved by budget and are limited to a \$0.03/kWh increase in FY 2022–2023 and FY 2023–2024 (each year). Further, the GUSE rate structure will be changed from a flat \$/kWh to a service change and an energy charge for these customers, which will be assigned a new rate code (GC-1).

The recommended customer charge for small commercial customers is designed to recover approximately 15% of the total revenue requirement for customer cost by the end of FY 2023–2024. This increase is recommended to be phased in evenly over the two-year rate plan period, similar to the residential rate class phase in.

Table 5-10 provides a summary of the recommended rate adjustments for the retail Small Commercial rate class (C-1) and a comparison of the rate components to the existing rate structure.

(Existing and Recommended)				
		Recommended ⁽¹⁾		
Rate Component Existing FYE 2023 F				
Customers Single Phase (\$/month)	\$8.99	\$11.65	\$14.31	
Customers Poly Phase (\$/month)	\$22.49	\$29.14	\$35.80	
Energy (\$/kWh)				
Summer Charges	\$0.2562	\$0.2743	\$0.2973	
Winter Charges	\$0.2049	\$0.2194	\$0.2378	

Table 5-10 Small Commercial (C-1) (Existing and Recommended)

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 22022, and July 1, 32023.

There are several important changes recommended for the Small Commercial rate schedules. The COSbased rates indicate a customer charge of \$174 per month. The recommended customer charge starts at \$11.65 per month (FY 2022–2023) and is increased to \$14.31 per month for FY 2023–2024 for single phase service. The cost basis relationship between single phase and poly phase is recommended to remain constant in the recommended rate such that the recommended customer charge for poly phase services is \$29.14 per month for FY 2022–2023 and \$35.80 per month for FY 2023–2024.

The energy charge is recommended to increase to \$0.2835/kWh for the C-1 customers in the summer \$0.2267 /kWh in the winter in the first phase.

Distribution of Bill Impacts – Small Commercial

Figure 5-4 provides a summary of the distribution of monthly bill impacts for all customers in the small commercial class for the first phase of the recommended rate changes. As indicated, approximately 550 customers will see an average bill increase of approximately \$36/month. Some customers are expected to see an average monthly bill decrease whereas some customers are expected to see an average bill increase greater than the average value, depending on usage characteristics.



Figure 5-4. Distribution of Small Commercial Customers Monthly Bill Impact (\$) for FY 2022–2023

GUSE Small Commercial (M-1, proposed GC-1)

Table 5-11 provides the current and recommended rates for the GUSE Small Commercial customers for single phase (GC-1S) and poly phase (GC-1P) service. Note that the current rate (M-1) is a flat energy rate without a monthly service charge. As noted previously, the "effective rate" (the total projected revenue divided by the total projected energy sales) is limited to an increase of \$0.03/kWh for the GUSE customers (for each phase).

Table 5-11					
GUSE Small Commercial Rates (GC-1S and GC-1P)					
(Existing and R	ecommended	Rates)			
Rate Component Existing FYE 2023 FYE 2024					
Customer (\$/month) – Single Phase	\$0.00	\$6.00	\$8.52		
Customer (\$/month) – Poly Phase	\$0.00	\$15.02	\$21.31		
Energy (\$/kWh)					
Summer Charges	\$0.0988	\$0.1410	\$0.1733		
Winter Charges	\$0.0988	\$0.1128	\$0.1386		

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Municipal Enterprise Small Commercial (A1S, A1P)

Table 5-12 provides the current and recommended rates for the Municipal Enterprise Small Commercial customers for single phase (A1S) and poly phase (A1P) service.

Table 5-12 Enterprise Small Commercial Rates (A1S and A1P) (Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾					
Rate Component Existing FYE 2023 FYE 2024					
Customer (\$/month) – Single Phase	\$10.00	\$12.15	\$14.31		
Customer (\$/month) – Poly Phase	\$25.00	\$30.38	\$35.78		
Energy (\$/kWh) (2)					
Summer Charges	\$0.3364	\$0.3271	\$0.2972		
Winter Charges	\$0.2794	\$0.2616	\$0.2377		

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

(2) Recommended rate structure includes decrease in summer and increase in winter rate for FY 2023– 2024 to reflect costs. See text.

Municipal Enterprise Small Commercial (A1-US, A1-UP)

Table 5-13 provides the current and recommended rates for the Municipal Enterprise Small Commercial customers for TOU service for single phase (A1-US) and poly phase (A1-UP) service.

(Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾			
Rate Component	Existing	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
Customer (\$/month) – Single Phase	\$10.00	\$12.15	\$14.31
Customer (\$/month) – Poly Phase	\$25.00	\$30.38	\$35.78
Summer Energy Charges			
On-Peak	\$0.3397	\$0.3290	\$0.2978
Part-Peak	\$0.3397	\$0.3290	\$0.2978
Off-Peak	\$0.3149	\$0.2832	\$0.2332
Winter Energy Charges			
Part-Peak	\$0.2921	\$0.2947	\$0.2790
Off-Peak	\$0.2915	\$0.2803	\$0.2515

Table 5-13
Enterprise Small Commercial Rates (A1-US and A1-UP)
(Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Medium Commercial Rates

Table 5-14 provides a summary of the current rate schedules and rate classes within the medium commercial rate class offerings by Hetch Hetchy Power, the number of customers in each rate code, and whether the recommended rates are included in the body of the report or in Appendix A.

 Table 5-14

 Hetch Hetchy Power Medium Commercial Rate Schedules and Customers

Rate Code	Description	# Customers	Report/Appendix
C-2 (S, P)	Standard Retail, Secondary/Primary	2	Secondary – Report Primary – Appendix A
A10 (S, P)	Municipal Enterprise, Secondary/Primary	46	Secondary – Report Primary – Appendix A
A10-U (S, P)	Municipal Enterprise TOU, Secondary/Primary	66	Secondary – Report Primary – Appendix A
M-2 (CG-2)	Municipal General (GUSE) – To be renamed CG-2	212	Report

The Medium Commercial customer class is currently defined as those customers who utilize between 200 and 500 kW demand during a month and can be served by secondary voltage (S) or primary voltage (P). The rate classes within the Medium Commercial Class include the standard retail class (C-2), which includes a monthly service charge, a seasonal energy charge, and a demand charge (which is the same for summer and winter periods). The Municipal Enterprise (A10S, A10P) rate class has the same rates as the equivalent PG&E rate class. The Municipal Enterprise TOU does have a TOU rate option (A10-US or A10-UP) that includes on-, part-, and off-peak periods in the summer and part-peak and off-peak in the winter

(and no summer or winter differential for the demand rate). The Municipal General Use rate is the same flat rate for all commercial customers.

The recommended customer charge for medium commercial customers is designed to recover approximately 29% of the total revenue requirement for customer cost by the end of FY 2023–2024. This increase is recommended to be phased in evenly over the two-year rate plan period, similar to the residential rate class phase in.

Table 5-15 provides a summary of the recommended rate adjustments for the Medium Commercial, secondary service (C2-S) rate class and a comparison of the rate components to the existing rate structure.

Table 5-15 Medium Commercial Rates (C2-S) (Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾					
Rate Component Existing FYE 2023 FYE 2024					
Customer Charge (\$/month)	\$149.92	\$202.51	\$255.11		
Demand (\$/kW)					
Summer	\$14.11	\$27.76	\$41.41		
Winter	\$14.11	\$27.76	\$41.41		
Energy Charge (\$/kWh)					
Summer	\$0.1387	\$0.1139	\$0.0932		
Winter	\$0.1726	\$0.1416	\$0.1160		

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Distribution of Bill Impacts – Medium Commercial

Figure 5-5 provides a distribution of the average monthly bill impacts to all customers in the Medium Commercial class due to the recommended changes to the rates for the first phase of the two-year rate plan. As indicated, there are approximately five customers who are projected to see a bill decrease of approximately \$1,000 or more for the month, based on their usage. There are approximately 120 customers who are expected to see a bill increase of between approximately \$500 and \$750, and there are a small number of customers who are expected to see a bill increase of greater than \$5,000. The reason for this broad distribution of estimated monthly rate impacts is due to the changes in the demand and energy rates recommended and the wide range of usage characteristics within the Medium Commercial class.



Figure 5-5. Distribution of Medium Commercial Customers Monthly Bill Impact (\$) for FY 2022–2023

GUSE Medium Commercial (M-1, proposed GC-2)

Table 5-16 provides the current and recommended rates for the GUSE Medium Commercial customers for secondary (GC-2S), see Appendix A for GC-2P. Note that the current rate (M-1) is a flat energy rate without a monthly service charge.

(Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾			
Rate Component	Existing	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
Customer (\$/month) – Secondary	\$0.00	\$132.19	\$205.54
Demand (\$/kW)			
Summer Charges	\$0.00	\$18.12	\$33.36
Winter Charges	\$0.00	\$18.12	\$33.36
Energy (\$/kWh)			
Summer Charges	\$0.0988	\$0.0683	\$0.0569
Winter Charges	\$0.0988	\$0.0850	\$0.0707

Table 5-16 **GUSE Medium Commercial Rates (GC-2S)**

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Municipal Enterprise Medium Commercial

Table 5-17 provides the current and recommended rates for the Municipal Enterprise Medium Commercial customers for secondary (A10-S) service. The recommended rate changes for the A10-P customers are provided in Appendix A.

Enterprise Medium Rates (A10S) (Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾				
Rate Component Existing FYE 2023 FYE 2024				
Customer (\$/month) – Secondary	\$179.90	\$217.50	\$255.11	
Demand Rate (\$/kW)	\$18.45	\$29.93	\$41.41	
Energy (\$/kWh)				
Summer Charges	\$0.2337	\$0.1611	\$0.0925	
Winter Charges	\$0.1961	\$0.2004	\$0.1151	

Table 5-17

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Municipal Enterprise Medium Commercial TOU

Table 5-18 provides the current and recommended rates for the Municipal Enterprise Medium Commercial customers for TOU service for secondary service (A10-US). The recommended changes in rates for the primary (A10-UP) service are provided in Appendix A.

(Existing and Recommended Rates) (1)					
Rate Component Existing FYE 2023 FYE 2024					
Customer (\$/month) – Secondary	\$179.55	\$217.50	\$255.11		
Demand Rate (\$/kW)	\$18.45	\$29.93	\$41.41		
Energy (\$/kWh)					
Summer Charges					
On-Peak	\$0.2472	\$0.1841	\$0.1255		
Part-Peak	\$0.2472	\$0.1841	\$0.1255		
Off-Peak	\$0.2204	\$0.1593	\$0.1003		
Winter Charges					
Part-Peak	\$0.1967	\$0.1541	\$0.1182		
Off-Peak	\$0.1960	\$0.1493	\$0.1077		

Table 5-18

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Large Commercial

Table 5-19 provides a summary of the current rate schedules and rate classes within the large commercial rate class offerings by Hetch Hetchy Power and the number of customers in each rate code. Recommended changes to secondary and primary rates for the large commercial class are included in the body of the report.

Hetch Hetchy Power Large Commercial Rate Schedules and Customers			
Rate Code	Description	# Customers	Report/Appendix
C-3 (S, P)	Standard Retail, Secondary/Primary	2	Report
E-19 (S, P)	Municipal Enterprise TOU, Secondary/Primary	46	Report
M-2 (CG-3)	Municipal General (GUSE) – To be renamed CG-3	26	Report

Table 5-19

The Large Commercial customer class is currently defined as those customers who utilize between 500 and 1,000 kW demand during a month and can be served by secondary voltage (S) or primary voltage (P). The rate classes within the Large Commercial Class include the standard retail class (C-3), which includes a monthly service charge, a seasonal and TOU energy charge, and a seasonal and TOU demand charge. The energy charge includes an on-peak, part-peak, and off-peak charge in summer and a part-peak and off-peak charge in the winter. The demand rate is applied to an on-peak, part-peak, and max demand during the summer period, and a max demand during the winter period. The Municipal Enterprise (E-19S, E-19P) rate class has the same rates as the current equivalent PG&E rate class. However, seasons and TOU
periods are based on historic PG&E rate structures and are the same as those in place for the retail rates (C-3). The Municipal General Use rate is the same flat rate for all commercial customers.

The recommended customer charge for large commercial customers is designed to recover approximately 29% of the total revenue requirement for customer cost by the end of FY 2023–2024. This increase is recommended to be phased in evenly over the two-year rate plan period, similar to the residential rate class phase in.

Table 5-20 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes for Large Commercial rates for secondary service (C-3S).

Table 5-20 Large Commercial Rates (C-3S) (Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾			
Rate Component	Existing	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
Customer (\$/month) – Secondary	\$754.93	\$1,207.12	\$1,659.31
Demand Rate (\$/kW)			
Summer Charges			
On-Peak	\$12.27	\$16.65	\$21.03
Part-Peak	\$10.01	\$13.58	\$17.15
Мах	\$22.44	\$30.45	\$38.46
Winter Charges			
Мах	\$22.44	\$30.45	\$38.46
Energy (\$/kWh)			
Summer Charges			
On-Peak	\$0.1019	\$0.0897	\$0.0783
Part-Peak	\$0.1019	\$0.0897	\$0.0783
Off-Peak	\$0.0965	\$0.0792	\$0.0624
Winter Charges			
Part-Peak	\$0.0942	\$0.0835	\$0.0735
Off-Peak	\$0.0936	\$0.0802	\$0.0674

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Table 5-21 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes for Large Commercial rates for primary service (C-3P).

(Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾			
Rate Component	Existing	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
Customer (\$/month) – Primary	\$1,151.50	\$1,352.55	\$1,553.60
Demand Rate (\$/kW)			
Summer Charges			
On-Peak	\$10.44	\$11.80	\$13.15
Part-Peak	\$8.73	\$9.86	\$11.00
Max	\$18.58	\$20.99	\$23.40
Winter Charges			
Max	\$18.58	\$20.99	\$23.40
Energy (\$/kWh)			
Summer Charges			
On-Peak	\$0.0934	\$0.0852	\$0.0779
Part-Peak	\$0.0934	\$0.0852	\$0.0779
Off-Peak	\$0.0883	\$0.0749	\$0.0620
Winter Charges			
Part-Peak	\$0.0860	\$0.0792	\$0.0732
Off-Peak	\$0.0854	\$0.0759	\$0.0671

Table 5-21Large Commercial Rates (C-3P)(Existing and Recommended Rates) (1)

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Distribution of Bill Impacts – Large Commercial

Figure 5-6 provides a distribution of the average monthly bill impacts to all customers in the Large Commercial class due to the recommended changes to the rates for the first phase of the two-year rate plan. As indicated, there are approximately ten customers who are projected to see a bill decrease, based on their usage. There are approximately three customers who are expected to see a bill increase of between approximately \$1 and \$2,700, and there are approximately nine customers who are expected to see a bill increase of greater than \$2,500. This is due to the recommended changes in the demand and energy rates and the range of usage characteristics within the Large Commercial class.



Figure 5-6. Distribution of Large Commercial Customers Monthly Bill Impact (\$) for FY 2022–2023

Table 5-22 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes for Large Commercial GUSE rates (currently M-1, proposed to be GC-3S, secondary).

(Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾			
Rate Component	Existing	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
Customer (\$/month) – Secondary	\$0.00	\$774.98	\$1,235.78
Demand Rate (\$/kW)			
Summer Charges			
On-Peak	\$0.00	\$10.69	\$15.66
Part-Peak	\$0.00	\$8.72	\$12.78
Max	\$0.00	\$19.55	\$28.64
Winter Charges			
Max	\$0.00	\$19.55	\$28.64
Energy (\$/kWh)			
Summer Charges	\$0.0988		
On-Peak		\$0.0572	\$0.0567
Part-Peak		\$0.0572	\$0.0567
Off-Peak		\$0.0505	\$0.0451
Winter Charges	\$0.0988		
Part-Peak		\$0.0532	\$0.0459
Off-Peak		\$0.0511	\$0.0421

Table 5-22 Large Commercial GUSE Rates (GC-3S) (Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Table 5-23 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes for Municipal Enterprise Large Commercial rates for secondary voltage (E-19S).

(Existing and Recommended Rates) (1)			
Rate Component	Existing	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
Customer (\$/month) – Secondary	\$903.76	\$1,281.54	\$1,659.31
Demand Rate (\$/kW)			
Summer Charges			
On-Peak	\$16.99	\$19.01	\$21.03
Part-Peak	\$14.28	\$15.72	\$17.15
Max	\$28.39	\$33.42	\$38.46
Winter Charges			
Max	\$28.39	\$33.42	\$38.46
Energy (\$/kWh)			
Summer Charges			
On-Peak	\$0.1410	\$0.1222	\$0.0784
Part-Peak	\$0.1410	\$0.1222	\$0.0784
Off-Peak	\$0.1350	\$0.1101	\$0.0624
Winter Charges			
Part-Peak	\$0.1325	\$0.1148	\$0.0736
Off-Peak	\$0.1317	\$0.1110	\$0.0674

Table 5-23 Enterprise Large Commercial Rates (E-19S) (Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Table 5-24 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes for Municipal Enterprise Large Commercial rates for primary voltage (E-19P).

(Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾			
Rate Component	Existing	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
Customer (\$/month) – Primary	\$1,372.68	\$1,464.45	\$1,553.60
Demand Rate (\$/kW)			
Summer Charges			
On-Peak	\$14.46	\$13.81	\$13.15
Part-Peak	\$12.42	\$11.71	\$11.00
Max	\$23.73	\$23.56	\$23.40
Winter Charges			
Max	\$23.73	\$23.56	\$23.40
Energy (\$/kWh)			
Summer Charges			
On-Peak	\$0.1281	\$0.1156	\$0.0779
Part-Peak	\$0.1281	\$0.1156	\$0.0779
Off-Peak	\$0.1224	\$0.1036	\$0.0620
Winter Charges			
Part-Peak	\$0.1199	\$0.1083	\$0.0731
Off-Peak	\$0.1192	\$0.1045	\$0.0670

Table 5-24 Enterprise Large Commercial Rates (E-19P) (Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Industrial Rates

Table 5-25 provides a summary of the current rate schedules and rate classes within the industrial commercial rate class offerings by Hetch Hetchy Power and the number of customers in each rate code. Recommended changes to the secondary and primary rates for the large commercial class are included in the body of the report, and the transmission rates are provided in Appendix A.

Rate Code	Description	# Customers	Report/Appendix
1-1 (S, P, T)	Standard Retail, Secondary/Primary/Transmission	3	Primary (Report), Secondary & Transmission (Appendix A)
E-20 (S, P, T)	Municipal Enterprise TOU, Secondary/Primary/Transmission	23	Report
M-2 (CG-4)	Municipal General (GUSE) – To be renamed CG-4	19	Secondary (Report), Primary & Transmission (Appendix A)

 Table 5-25

 Hetch Hetchy Power Industrial Rate Schedules and Customers

The Industrial Commercial customer class is currently defined as those customers who utilize greater than 1,000 kW demand during a month and can be served by secondary (S), primary (P), or transmission (T)-level voltage. The rate classes within the Industrial Class include the standard retail class (I-1), which includes a monthly service charge, a seasonal and TOU energy charge, and a seasonal and TOU demand charge. The energy charge includes an on-peak, part-peak, and off-peak charge in summer and a part-peak and off-peak charge in the winter. The demand rate is applied to an on-peak, part-peak, and max demand during the summer period, and a max demand during the winter period. The Municipal Enterprise (E-20) rate class has the same rates as the equivalent PG&E rate class; however, the structure is identical to the I-1 rate class with regard to the seasonality and time periods of the energy and demand rates. The Municipal General Use rate is the same flat rate for all commercial customers.

Table 5-26 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes for Industrial primary service rates (I-1P).

(Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾			
Rate Component	Existing	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
Customer (\$/month) – Primary	\$1,367.57	\$1,481.03	\$1,594.48
Demand Rate (\$/kW)			
Summer Charges			
On-Peak	\$12.38	\$14.51	\$16.63
Part-Peak	\$10.23	\$11.99	\$13.74
Max	\$20.11	\$23.55	\$27.00
Winter Charges			
Max	\$23.73	\$23.55	\$27.00
Energy (\$/kWh)			
Summer Charges			
On-Peak	\$0.0942	\$0.0967	\$0.1078
Part-Peak	\$0.0942	\$0.0967	\$0.1078
Off-Peak	\$0.0890	\$0.0842	\$0.0843
Winter Charges			
Part-Peak	\$0.0868	\$0.0895	\$0.1004
Off-Peak	\$0.0861	\$0.0853	\$0.0911

Table 5-26Industrial Rates (I3-P)(Existing and Recommended Rates) (1)

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Table 5-27 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes for Industrial GUSE rates (currently M-1, proposed to be CG4-S, secondary).

(Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾			
Rate Component	Existing	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
Customer (\$/month) – Secondary (2)	\$0.00	\$1,141.32	\$1,522.94
Demand Rate (\$/kW)			
Summer Charges			
On-Peak	\$0.00	\$10.86	\$15.04
Part-Peak	\$0.00	\$8.55	\$11.84
Max	\$0.00	\$19.33	\$26.77
Winter Charges			
Мах	\$0.00	\$19.33	\$26.77
Energy (\$/kWh)			
Summer Charges	\$0.0988		
On-Peak		\$0.0675	\$0.0753
Part-Peak		\$0.0675	\$0.0753
Off-Peak		\$0.0587	\$0.0589
Winter Charges	\$0.0988		
Part-Peak		\$0.0625	\$0.0701
Off-Peak		\$0.0596	\$0.0636

Table 5-27
Industrial GUSE Rates (CG4-S)
(Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

(2) Assumes GUSE Secondary Service.

Table 5-28 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes for Municipal Enterprise Industrial rates for secondary voltage (E20-S).

(Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾			
Rate Component	Existing	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
Customer (\$/month) – Secondary	\$1,632.16	\$1,646.29	\$1,660.42
Demand Rate (\$/kW)			
Summer Charges			
On-Peak	\$17.06	\$16.73	\$16.39
Part-Peak	\$13.90	\$13.40	\$12.91
Мах	\$28.61	\$28.90	\$29.18
Winter Charges			
Max	\$28.61	\$28.90	\$29.18
Energy (\$/kWh)			
Summer Charges			
On-Peak	\$0.1340	\$0.1080	\$0.1107
Part-Peak	\$0.1340	\$0.1080	\$0.1107
Off-Peak	\$0.1281	\$0.0961	\$0.0866
Winter Charges			
Part-Peak	\$0.1255	\$0.1010	\$0.1031
Off-Peak	\$0.1248	\$0.0971	\$0.0935

Table 5-28Enterprise Industrial Rates (E20-S)(Existing and Recommended Rates) (1)

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Table 5-29 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes for Municipal Enterprise Industrial rates for primary voltage (E-20P).

(Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾				
Rate Component	Existing	FYE 2023	FYE 2024	
Customer (\$/month) – Primary	\$1,624.03	\$1,609.25	\$1,594.48	
Demand Rate (\$/kW)				
Summer Charges				
On-Peak	\$17.11	\$16.87	\$16.63	
Part-Peak	\$14.56	\$14.15	\$13.74	
Мах	\$26.15	\$26.58	\$27.00	
Winter Charges				
Мах	\$26.15	\$26.58	\$27.00	
Energy (\$/kWh)				
Summer Charges				
On-Peak	\$0.1293	\$0.1083	\$0.1077	
Part-Peak	\$0.1293	\$0.1083	\$0.1077	
Off-Peak	\$0.1236	\$0.0964	\$0.0843	
Winter Charges				
Part-Peak	\$0.1211	\$0.1012	\$0.1003	
Off-Peak	\$0.1204	\$0.0973	\$0.0910	

Table 5-29Enterprise Industrial (E-20P)(Existing and Recommended Rates) (1)

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Table 5-30 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes for Municipal Enterprise Industrial rates for transmission voltage (E-20T).

(Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾				
Rate Component	Existing	FYE 2023	FYE 2024	
Customer (\$/month) – Transmission	\$1,111.18	\$1,332.39	\$1,553.60	
Demand Rate (\$/kW)				
Summer Charges				
On-Peak	\$15.02	\$17.75	\$20.48	
Part-Peak	\$15.02	\$17.75	\$20.48	
Мах	\$13.55	\$16.01	\$18.48	
Winter Charges				
Max	\$13.55	\$16.01	\$18.48	
Energy (\$/kWh)				
Summer Charges				
On-Peak	\$0.1140	\$0.1070	\$0.1076	
Part-Peak	\$0.1140	\$0.1070	\$0.1076	
Off-Peak	\$0.1083	\$0.0944	\$0.0841	
Winter Charges				
Part-Peak	\$0.1059	\$0.0995	\$0.1002	
Off-Peak	\$0.1053	\$0.0954	\$0.0909	

Table 5-30Enterprise Industrial Rates (E-20T)(Existing and Recommended Rates) (1)

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Distribution of Bill Impacts – Industrial Customers

Figure 5-7 provides a distribution of the average monthly bill impacts to all customers in the Industrial rate class due to the recommended changes to the rates for FY 2022-2023 of the two-year rate plan. As indicated, there are eight customers who are projected to see a bill decrease and approximately 32 customers who are expected to see a bill increase.



Figure 5-7. Distribution of Average Monthly Bill Impacts Industrial Commercial Customers

Other Rates

Traffic Lights/Street Lights

As indicated in Section 2, most of the unmetered customers, including most streetlighting customers, will not be served electricity by Hetch Hetchy Power in the future. However, there will continue to be a small number (less than 30) metered outdoor lighting and some unmetered customers within areas where Hetch Hetchy Power owns the distribution system. This includes traffic lights (under current rate TC-1, which is an Enterprise PG&E equivalent rate) and streetlights (LS-3 which is an Enterprise PG&E equivalent rate). The TC-1 and LS-3 rate include customer charges (PG&E's charge is a daily rate, but the SFPUC charges monthly based on a 30-day month) and an energy rate.

For these customers, the recommended rate is a flat all-in energy rate (not seasonally or TOU differentiated), based on the small commercial class average energy rate for the Test Year period (see Table 5-31 below). For GUSE rates, the recommended rate increase is limited to \$0.03/kwh per year, as described herein.

(Existing and Recommended Rate) ⁽¹⁾					
Rate Component	Current Rate	FYE 2023	FYE 2024		
TC-1					
Customer Charge (\$/month) (2)	\$14.78	\$0	\$0		
Energy (\$/kWh)	\$0.2528	\$0.2592	\$0.2656		
LS-3					
Customer Charge (\$/month) (2)	\$7.39	\$0	\$0		
Energy (\$/kWh)	\$0.2255	\$0.2456	\$0.2656		
SLG Streetlight (GUSE) \$/kWh (2)	\$0.0988	\$0.1288	\$0.1588		

Table 5-31 Traffic Lights/Streetlights (TC-1/LS-3/SLG) (Existing and Recommended Rate) ⁽¹⁾

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

(2) TC-1 and LS-3 current rate are Enterprise rates. Recommended rate is the average all-in COS energy rate for small commercial class for the Test Year. GUSE to increase at \$0.03/kWh per year

Individually Metered EV Charging Pilot Rate (EV-1)

The SFPUC is proposing to introduce an individually metered EV charging rate based on the costs associated with the small commercial rate. This rate is designed to recover costs based on a customer charge and energy rate (no demand rate component is recommended). This rate would be charged to a dedicated meter solely for EV charging for a commercial or residential customer. For the purposes of this rate plan, this rate is recommended to be offered as a "pilot" program, designed to collect usage data for analysis and refinement in future years.

The costs for the infrastructure (metering support, connection to existing service), are to be defined as part of this pilot program and are anticipated to be recovered from the customer interested in having a dedicated EV charging system at their location. SFPUC will install the meter. This program has not yet been defined by SFPUC; however, the recommended rate is based on the COS analysis developed for this Study. The recommended energy rate is provided in Table 5-32 and is to be TOU differentiated based on the SFPUC costs with a TOU period of 4–9 PM every day of the week. As this program is further defined and data is load obtained, it is recommended that the SFPUC continue to monitor usage, costs, and cost recovery for this recommended rate offering.

-	-	
Rate Component	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
	*• • • •	*• • • •
Customer Charge	\$8.03	\$8.03
Energy (\$/kWh) ⁽¹⁾		
Summer		
On-Peak (4–9 PM)	\$0.20252	\$0.20252
Off-Peak	\$0.12961	\$0.12961
Winter		
On-Peak (4–9 PM)	\$0.28768	\$0.28768
Off-Peak	\$0.21686	\$0.21686

Table 5-32 Commercial EV Charging Rate (C-EV) (Recommended Pilot Rate)

(1) No demand charge is recommended for the C-EV Pilot program; these costs are recovered in the energy rate (see text).

Projected Revenue from Recommended Rates

Hetch Hetchy Power proposes to offer the rates described herein and set for each year of the two-year Test Year period. Table 5-33 provides a summary of the projected revenue requirement by customer class for Year 1 of the Study period and the projected revenues at the recommended rates, and Table 5-34 provides a similar analysis of Year 2 of the Study period.

Revenue Requirement and Year 1 Projected Revenue by Customer Class (\$000)						
Class	Year 1 Revenue Requirement ⁽¹⁾	Year 1 Projected Revenue	\$ Difference	% Difference		
Residential	\$9,537	\$5,128	(\$4,408)	(46%)		
Small Commercial	\$14,885	\$11,255	(\$3,630)	(24%)		
Medium Commercial	\$27,595	\$21,658	(\$5,937)	(22%)		
Large Commercial	\$17,896	\$15,305	(\$2,592)	(14%)		

\$102,302

\$155,648

\$16,567

\$0

\$85,735

\$155,648

Table 5 22

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

Total Revenue Requirement

Industrial

19% 0%

	Year 2 Revenue	Year 2 Projected		
Class	Requirement (1)	Revenue	\$ Difference	% Difference
Residential	\$16,175	\$7,017	(\$9,158)	(57%)
Small Commercial	\$18,386	\$15,671	(\$2,715)	(15%)
Medium Commercial	\$30,577	\$26,507	(\$4,070)	(13%)
Large Commercial	\$21,236	\$19,630	(\$1,605)	(8%)
Industrial	\$101,490	\$119,039	\$17,549	17%
Total Revenue Requirement	\$187,864	\$187,864	\$0	0%

Table 5-34	
Revenue Requirement and Year 2 Projected Revenue by Customer Class (\$00	0)

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

The result indicates that the rates recommended herein, assuming the load growth occurs as projected, will provide sufficient revenue in Year 1 and Year 2 to cover the projected costs for the Hetch Hetchy Power system. Revenues for the residential, small, medium, and large commercial classes will continue to under-collect for the two-year rate plan, relative to their costs, primarily due to the GUSE, low-income, residential rate cap rate policies discussed herein. For both Year 1 and Year 2 of the rate plan, the industrial customer class is anticipated to over collect relative to its costs.

Section 6 COST OF SERVICE FOR CLEANPOWERSF

As indicated, the costs and operations related to CleanPowerSF are dramatically different than those associated with the Hetch Hetchy Power entities. CleanPowerSF purchases power on behalf of their customers through a combination of PPAs for renewable and non-renewable resources, such as purchases of market power from CAISO to serve load. Further, CleanPowerSF relies on a third-party vendor (Calpine) to provide billing data (Calpine provides this serve to several CCAs in California and works directly with the incumbent utility, such as PG&E). For this Study, Calpine provided billing data known as the "Item 17 data" and the "TOU Buckets" data set for CleanPowerSF customers, which includes hourly load data by class. Additionally, this Study relied on historic data from CleanPowerSF known as the "MDEF" (Meter Data Exchange Format), which is hourly data summed by customer class and is used to inform the CAISO of the total load necessary to serve customers.

Revenue requirement refers to the amount of rate-related revenue a utility is projected to need during the Study period. For the purposes of this Study, and similar to Hetch Hetchy Power, CleanPowerSF is utilizing a Test Year that represents the average of the two-year period from FY 2022–2023 to FY 2023–2024. The CleanPowerSF Revenue Requirement for the Test Year is approximately \$302.4 million. This value is driven by the specific "known and measurable changes" related to the investments projected in the SFPUC's 10-Year Financial Model. Because the Test Year is a multi-year representation, this value represents the average annual revenue to be collected by CleanPowerSF retail rates. For the purposes of CleanPowerSF rate design, provided in Section 7 of this Report, revenues collected over the Study period will vary by year. A summary of the Test Year Revenue Requirements is provided in Table 6-1.

Expense Line	FYE 2023	FYE 2024	FYE 2025	FYE 2026	FYE 2027	Test Year Value	Percent of Total
Renewable Energy	\$72,929	\$77,683	\$83,042	\$91,183	\$93,385	\$75,306	25%
Capacity	\$43,616	\$41,946	\$49,544	\$60,266	\$64,250	\$42,781	14%
Shaped Energy	\$8,597	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$4,298	1%
Energy Open Position	\$101,778	\$90,583	\$81,423	\$70,843	\$62,852	\$96,180	32%
CAISO	\$6,430	\$6,481	\$6,513	\$6,546	\$6,578	\$6,455	2%
Contingency	\$17,968	\$21,453	\$22,052	\$22,884	\$22,707	\$19,710	7%
Operating and Other Costs	\$65,923	\$49,542	\$52,750	\$51,443	\$54,908	\$57,733	19%
Total	\$317,240	\$287,688	\$295,324	\$303,164	\$304,680	\$302,464	

Table 6-1 5-Year Projection of Revenue Requirement by Summary (\$000)

Source: SFPUC 10-Year Financial Pro Forma Model. Note: numbers may not add due to rounding.

As Table 6-1 indicates, the energy open position (market purchases) is the largest expense line item for CleanPowerSF to serve its customers (32% of the Test Year total). CleanPowerSF also invests significantly in PPAs with renewable energy resources, which represent approximately 25% of its total expenses. This investment allows CleanPowerSF to offer its "Green" and "SuperGreen" rate products. Other power supply costs include costs for RA, which is essentially the capacity necessary to support its energy

purchases; other CAISO charges; and contingency reserves. Operating and other costs includes labor, program costs, and contributions to reserves (margin). As indicated, CleanPowerSF is pursuing a policy of increasing its cash reserves, which represent a significant increase in revenue requirement (approximately \$31 million in contribution in the first year of the Test Year), but which are expected to reduce to approximately \$16 million per year at the end of the five-year period. Overall, the deposit to CleanPowerSF cash reserves represents approximately 8% of the Test Year Revenue Requirement.

CleanPowerSF Reserve Policy

The San Francisco Charter Section 8B.125 requires the SFPUC to be a financial steward by establishing:

rates, fees and charges at levels sufficient to improve or maintain financial condition and bond ratings at or above levels equivalent to highly rated utilities of each enterprise under its jurisdiction, meet requirements and covenants under all bond resolutions and indentures ... and provide sufficient resources for the continued financial health (including appropriate reserves), operation, maintenance and repair of each enterprise, consistent with good utility practice.

To meet this requirement most effectively, the SFPUC has adopted financial policies, including those that govern financial reserves, to foster financial stability, support fiscal discipline, and maintain credit ratings at or above levels equivalent to highly rated utilities.

The SFPUC faces several risks to revenue stability, including multi-year rate packages, drought and weather variability, and highly volumetric rates. While CleanPowerSF operates under much of the same legal and policy framework as the SFPUC's other utility services, the program is also reliant on the power supply market and faces competitive pressures that may reduce its flexibility for rate increases. In the case of CleanPowerSF, financial reserves may need to be incrementally higher than in other Enterprises to account for the increased financial pressures and need for rate stabilization faced by power supply market volatility. Moreover, CleanPowerSF's credit impacts not only lending terms, but also third-party power supply contracts, a key tool to mitigate market exposure.

The reserve level is defined by the end of year (EOY) fund balances for CleanPowerSF. The days cash is defined as the EOY Fund Balance divided by the sum of the total supply and operating costs divided by 365 days. Table 6-2 provides the projected target EOY reserve fund balance beginning at the end of FY 2021–2022 and for each year of the Test Year, as well as the calculated days cash on hand (with the recommended rate changes).

Table 6-2 CleanPowerSF Metrics					
Metric	FYE 2022	FYE 2023	FYE 2024		
EOY Fund Balances	\$66,238	\$104,855	\$119,014		
Days of Cash on Hand 93 134 160					

Functionalization and Classification

Similar to the process for Hetch Hetchy Power, allocating cost to CleanPowerSF customer classes is achieved through three major processes: 1) functionalization, 2) classification, and 3) allocation.

Functionalization of Test Year Expenditures

Table 6-3 provides a categorization of the COS by function (as a result of the cost allocation process) for CleanPowerSF. As indicated previously, CleanPowerSF provides services that can be functionalized by Power Supply (which includes generation and delivery of power to customers), and Customer (which are defined as those services that are related to the number of customers or are an allocated portion of fixed costs, such as labor).

				% of Total	
Expense Line	2-Year Test Year	Power Supply	Customer	Power Supply	% of Total Customer
Renewable Energy (1)	\$75,306	\$75,306	\$0	27%	0%
Capacity	\$42,781	\$42,781	\$0	15%	0%
Shaped Energy	\$4,298	\$4,298	\$0	2%	0%
Energy Open Position (2)	\$96,180	\$96,180	\$0	35%	0%
CAISO	\$6,455	\$6,455	\$0	2%	0%
Contingency	\$19,710	\$19,710	\$0	7%	0%
Operating and Other Costs	\$57,733	\$33,663	\$24,070	12%	100%
Total (3)	\$302,464	\$278,394	\$24,070	100%	100%

 Table 6-3

 Revenue Requirement by Function – CleanPowerSF (\$000)

(1) Renewable energy resources include PPA's for renewable power.

(2) Energy open position includes purchases for renewable power from CAISO, as discussed in Section 2.

(3) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

As indicated by Table 6-3, the total Test Year expenses for CleanPowerSF are projected to be approximately \$302.5 million. The majority of these costs are related to the Power Supply function, driven mostly by the renewable energy, shaped energy, open energy position, contingency (for power purchases) and other power supply costs incurred by CleanPowerSF. Operating costs and other costs (including contributions to reserves) have been allocated between the Power Supply and Customer function based on the underlying nature of the individual cost item.

For example, operating costs consist primarily of labor, either directly associated with CleanPowerSF staff or allocated from other bureaus or other departments (within the SFPUC and/or City organization), as well as non-personnel services, such as professional services, data management fees charged by Calpine (which provides billing and data services), and service fees imposed by PG&E. The latter two fees are charged on a dollars/account/month basis and have been classified as customer-related costs. Further, the contribution to reserves as discussed above has been allocated to the Power Supply and Customer functions based on a revenue requirement derived allocator for this analysis. This means that the sum of the allocators for all the other expense items was used to derive the allocator applied to the contribution to reserves.

Classification – Power Supply

Often the functional costs for a utility operation are further "sub-functionalized" during the classification process. For CleanPowerSF, the Power Supply costs were further allocated based on the underlying nature

of each cost. As indicated below, CleanPowerSF purchases power supply to meet the needs of its Green and SuperGreen customers, some of which have different costs.

As shown below, most CleanPowerSF costs are split between Green and SuperGreen to develop an all-in cost of providing energy to each set of customers. For some categories, costs are shared across the two products, in which case they are allocated proportionally in the allocation step. For this Study, costs were classified into the following categories: Green and SuperGreen capacity costs, combined Green and SuperGreen fixed charges, Green and SuperGreen energy (individually), SuperGreen Firming and Shaping costs (to support SuperGreen purchases when those resources are under-generating or not available), and combined Green and SuperGreen other costs.

For the renewable energy purchases, the total costs are allocated between Green and SuperGreen energy based on an analysis of the specific contracts (PPAs), and a portion of those costs are allocated to SuperGreen capacity. Similarly, the capacity costs are also split based on an analysis of the RA costs required for each product. The shaped energy costs are allocated entirely to the Green customers. For the expense line referred to as "energy open position," costs are split between Green and SuperGreen (the energy open position costs for SuperGreen were identified as the "firming and shaping" requirements for that product). The CAISO costs are combined into the "other costs" for both products (and allocated to each as appropriate and discussed below). Contingency costs are allocated to the categories based on the total power supply related costs for each category.

Operating and other costs include labor, non-debt capital expenditures (cash-funded capital), and contribution to reserves. The labor costs are directly assigned to the Green and SuperGreen Fixed Charges (and allocated at a later step). The cash-funded capital is assigned to the SuperGreen Energy, as it is funding for programs related to its "Local Renewable Energy Program." This program is designed to develop projects on SFPUC properties to generate renewable power, including placement of solar resources on City-owned reservoirs and the installation of battery energy storage systems (BESS). The Local Renewable Energy Program is designed to support the SuperGreen product and develop additional local energy resources. Contribution to reserves uses the total revenue requirement for each of the categories to assign costs.

Table 6-4 provides a summary of the results of the sub-functionalization process for the Power Supply costs for CleanPowerSF.

Expense Line	Green Capacity	Super Green Capacity	Green & SuperGreen Fixed Charges	Green Energy	Super Green Energy	SuperGreen Firming & Shaping	Green & SuperGreen Other Energy Costs	Total
Renewable Energy ⁽¹⁾	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$63,822	\$8,075	\$0	\$0	\$71,897
Capacity	\$42,774	\$3,416	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$46,190
Shaped Energy	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$4,298	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$4,298
Energy Open Position ⁽²⁾	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$95,278	\$0	\$903	\$0	\$96,180
CAISO	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$6,455	\$6,455
Contingency	\$3,747	\$299	\$0	\$14,313	\$707	\$79	\$565	\$19,710
Operating and Other Costs	\$3,795	\$303	\$13,229	\$14,496	\$1,188	\$80	\$573	\$33,663
Total ⁽³⁾	\$50,315	\$4,018	\$13,229	\$192,207	\$9,970	\$1,062	\$7,593	\$278,394
% Total	18%	1%	5%	69%	4%	0%	3%	100%

Table 6-4Power Supply – CleanPowerSF (\$000)

(1) Renewable energy resources include PPA's for renewable power. A portion of the renewable energy is allocated to SuperGreen Capacity.

(2) Energy open position includes purchases for renewable power from CAISO, as discussed in Section 2.

(3) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

Classification – Customer Service/Customer Programs

For CleanPowerSF, the customer costs for customer service and customer programs were further allocated based on the underlying nature of each cost. These groups include the data management and service fees (payable to Calpine and PG&E for customer data and billing services), customer accounts, services and sales (traditional utility functions for customer costs), energy programs (for investments that serve customers directly), and bad debt (for customer costs that are not recoverable from customers). Specific expenses include those associated with labor and personnel costs for CleanPowerSF; other bureaus of the SFPUC and other departments of the City that provide support (allocated to the customer accounting, service, and sales group); non-personnel services, which include the Calpine and PG&E fees; and other expenses (split between the data management and service fees group, and the customer accounting, service, and sales based on the underlying costs). Uncollectable accounts were directly assigned to bad debt, whereas non-debt capital were directly assigned to energy programs (for investments in these systems). The applicable customer-related contribution to reserves (included in the Operating and Other Costs category) was directly assigned to customer accounting, service, and sales. The total customer-related (customer service/customer programs) costs for the Test Year were determined to be approximately \$24 million, as noted in Table 6-5.

Expense Line	Data Management & Service Fees	Cust. Account, Service & Sales	Energy Programs	Bad Debt	Total
Labor/Personnel	\$0	\$5,039	\$0	\$0	\$5,039
Services of Bureaus	\$0	\$3,223	\$0	\$0	\$3,223
Non-Personnel Services	\$6,549	\$1,338	\$0	\$0	\$7,887
Services of Other Departments	\$0	\$1,630	\$0	\$0	\$1,630
Uncollectible	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$3,025	\$3,025
Non-Debt Capital Expenditures	\$0	\$0	\$1,451	\$0	\$1,451
Contribution to Reserves ⁽¹⁾	\$0	\$1,815	\$0	\$0	\$1,815
Total	\$6,549	\$13,045	\$1,451	\$3,025	\$24,070
% Total	27%	54%	6%	13%	100%

Table 6-5	
Customer Service/Customer Programs – CleanPowerSF (\$0	00)

 Contribution to reserves is included in the Operating and Other Costs category in the Power Supply Costs and is allocated to customer accounting, service, and sales in the Customer Service/Customer Programs function (see text).

Customer Class Allocation Factors – CleanPowerSF

General

Similar to the process described in Section 3 for Hetch Hetchy Power, the previous section described the assignment of the operational and ongoing investment costs for CleanPowerSF into the various functions or business units provided by the utility. However, as noted in Section 1, the CleanPowerSF functions are limited to Power Supply and Customer Service/Customer Programs (PG&E delivers the power to CleanPowerSF through its PG&E-owned transmission and distribution systems). This section discusses the development of the factors utilized to allocate those costs to CleanPowerSF customers by their underlying usage characteristics and cost causation.

As noted, utility costs can be classified as demand related, energy related, customer related, revenue related, and direct assignment. Demand allocation factors are utilized to assign fixed costs to customer classes based on the amount of demand they put on the system at certain times. Energy-related allocation factors assign costs based on the combined energy usage of the class, and customer-related allocation factors assign costs based on the number of customers within the class. Revenue-related allocation factors utilize the combined costs (as a result of the other allocation factors) to assign costs. Directly assigned costs are allocated directly to the customer classes. For CleanPowerSF, the customer classes include Residential, Small Commercial, Medium General Service Low Demand, Medium General Service High Demand, Large Commercial, and Outdoor Lighting. These customer classes are the equivalent to the classes used for Hetch Hetchy Power but are named differently for CleanPowerSF to align with how PG&E describes its customer classes.

Green and SuperGreen Cost Allocation

As indicated previously, CleanPowerSF offers a voluntary SuperGreen product that offers customers the option of 100% renewable energy. This process includes purchases from dedicated renewable energy resources specially to support the SuperGreen energy needs, as well as other related costs to support the SuperGreen customers. To properly determine the costs associated with the SuperGreen program, an additional analysis was conducted, in essence a "mini cost of service" for SuperGreen only within the COS process developed for the entire CleanPowerSF. In this process, the revenue requirement for CleanPowerSF was allocated to both "Green" and "SuperGreen" utilizing the allocation methods identified below.

This process relied on estimates and projections of costs developed by SFPUC staff. This included assigning Green and SuperGreen capacity, energy and firming and shaping costs directly to the SuperGreen and Green "classes." To be clear, both the Green and SuperGreen customers include the same customer classes (residential, commercial, etc.); however, the load for SuperGreen is less than the load for Green (as the majority of the CleanPowerSF sales are associated with the Green product). In addition, this process included allocating the fixed charges, other power costs, and customer costs to Green and SuperGreen. The resulting total allocated customer class costs for Green and SuperGreen costs were divided by Green and SuperGreen energy sales to determine a comparable embedded generation cost by customer class for each product.

Demand Allocation Factors

Demand allocation refers to the basis on which capacity and other demand-related costs are distributed or assigned (allocated) among the various customer classes for the purposes of determining the revenues required from each class to recover such costs. The demand allocation factors, as developed and used herein, reflect the cost responsibility for each of the various customer classes in relation to the demandrelated costs to be allocated. The demand allocation factors were used to apportion the production capacity or demand-related costs among the various customer classes.

For the CleanPowerSF COS analysis, a 12 CP method was utilized. The peak demand is often referred to as the "Coincident Peak" because it is the amount of total load from all customers collectively at the same time (coincident with each other) for all 12 months of the projected Test Year.

12 CP Method

The CP demand allocation methodology allocates costs based on the customer class contributions to the system CP. Typically, CP allocators are utilized to assign production demand-related costs to customer classes because production demand costs are driven by the utility's need to meet its system peak. For the Green capacity costs, the 12 CP Green method was utilized for this Study to allocate those fixed production-related costs (no costs allocated to SuperGreen). For costs identified as both Green and SuperGreen (fixed costs) a 12 CP split method was utilized (which is the 12 CP Green method plus the contributions of the SuperGreen customers). After SuperGreen costs were determined from this process, they were allocated to customer classes. For the SuperGreen capacity costs, a 12 CP SuperGreen method was utilized to assign costs to customer classes based on their projected SuperGreen purchases. The results of the different 12 CP demand cost allocation methodologies (as a percent) are provided in Table 6-6.

For the 12 CP Green method, approximately 45% of the costs are assigned to the residential class and 22% to the Medium General Service High Demand class, followed by the Small General Service, Medium

General Service Low Demand, Large General Service and Outdoor Lighting. This distribution of the allocation is similar for the 12 CP – Split methodology; however, the contribution of the SuperGreen customer is approximately 7% of the total, which reduces the contribution from the other classes. For the 12 CP SuperGreen method, the results are different due to the amount of the projected SuperGreen purchases by class (the Large Commercial class is the largest percent purchaser of SuperGreen products).

Customer Class	12 CP Green (%)	12 CP – Split (%)	12 CP SuperGreen (%) ⁽¹⁾
Residential	45%	42%	12%
Sm. General Service	16%	14%	3%
Med. General Service – Low Demand	13%	12%	8%
Med. General Service – High Demand	22%	20%	24%
Large General Service	5%	4%	53%
Outdoor Lighting	0.04%	0.04%	0.03%
SuperGreen (2)	0%	7%	0%
Total System	100%	100%	100%

Table 6-6
12 CP Cost Allocation for Green Energy

(1) SuperGreen is allocated to customers after its costs are determined by the initial allocation process (see text)

(2) Based on Test Year projections provided by SFPUC.

Energy Allocation Factors

Energy allocation factors are the basis for apportioning those costs or expenses classified as variable or energy related and assumed to vary directly with the level of generation needed to serve the load. Total energy sales (NEFL) are often used to allocate energy-related costs; cost allocations are based on customers' consumption of energy in kWh and accounting for losses by customer class. The costs classified herein as variable or energy related are the Green Energy costs (energy purchases for Green only) and combined Green and SuperGreen Other Energy costs. Similar to the capacity cost allocation process, once the SuperGreen energy costs were determined, they were allocated to classes using the NEFL for projected SuperGreen purchases by class, as well as SuperGreen firming and shaping costs (derived from hourly projections by class of SuperGreen customers for purchases from the CAISO market).

For allocating energy costs, four methods were utilized for this Study: a Weighted Price Green, a NEFL Split, a NEFL SuperGreen, and a SuperGreen Firming and Shaping (the latter two applied to SuperGreen costs only). The Weighted Price Green method was utilized to recognize the differences in the hourly costs for purchases from the market, relative to the load profile of the customer classes. For example, because the residential class uses more energy during the peak periods (generally in the evening hours) when market prices are more expensive, the Weighted Price method assigns more costs to that class than a non-weighted method. The second non-weighted method was utilized to allocate the Other Energy costs, which are related to CAISO charges on a per kWh basis but are not subject to fluctuations in market prices. The second method is referred to as the NEFL Split method as it includes projected NEFL from SuperGreen customers.

The SuperGreen energy allocators are similar to the Green allocators. The NEFL SuperGreen recognizes the SuperGreen energy purchases by customer class. The SuperGreen Firming and Shaping recognizes the

costs for each customer class by hour for market purchases to support the SuperGreen product during times when insufficient generation is available from the renewable contract PPA and CleanPowerSF must make purchases from the market.

Table 6-7 provides the summary of the energy methodologies utilized for this Study. As indicated, there is a slight difference between the customer classes between the methods. The Weighted Price places slightly more cost responsibility on the residential class, whereas the non-weighted price method places more cost responsibility on the commercial classes. The outdoor lighting class is not significantly impacted by the weighting methodology, given its relatively low load. For the SuperGreen cost allocators, the NEFL SuperGreen method resulted in the majority of costs going to the Large Commercial class (given its relatively large purchases of SuperGreen product). The SuperGreen Firming and Shaping allocation method has a similar result.

Table 6-7

Energy Cost Allocation Methods						
Customer Class	Weighted Price Green Allocation (%)	NEFL Split Allocation (%)	NEFL SuperGreen (%) ⁽¹⁾	SuperGreen Firming and Shaping (%) ⁽²⁾		
Residential	45.0%	41.2%	12.0%	8.2%		
Small General Service	15.1%	14.2%	2.6%	2.0%		
Medium General Service – Low Demand	12.4%	11.7%	7.9%	6.2%		
Medium General Service – High Demand	22.7%	21.1%	24.7%	15.4%		
Large General Service	4.7%	4.5%	52.8%	68.1%		
Outdoor Lighting	0.1%	<0.1%	<0.1%	<0.1%		
SuperGreen Customers	0.0%	7.4%	0.0%	0.0%		

(1) Net Energy for Load (NEFL) applies SuperGreen costs to customers based on usage adjusted for losses.

(2) SuperGreen Firming and Shaping applies costs to customers based on energy sales.

Customer Allocation Factors

Customer costs are defined herein as those costs related to the number of customers and how customers utilize various programs and services offered by CleanPowerSF. As indicted above, included in the customer-related costs are the costs associated with data management and services fees (related to metering and billing customers, which is a service provided by PG&E), customer accounting, service, and sales functions, as well as energy programs and bad debt. The customer allocation factors developed for this Study were based on the projected average number of customers in each customer class during the Test Year.

In allocating customer-related costs to the various customer classes, customer allocation factors were utilized that recognized the weighted and un-weighted number of customers by class. The un-weighted factors are simply the number of customers within each class. The weighted customer allocation factor is based on the number of customers in a particular class times a weighting factor. The weighting factors were developed based on the estimated costs associated with serving non-residential customer classes, recognizing that serving these customer classes is generally more expensive on a per-customer basis than

residential classes. The non-weighted cost allocation factors were applied to the data management and service fees, which are charged on a per customer basis, regardless of class. The weighted customer cost allocation factors were applied to the customer accounting and service and sales functions. The Energy Programs utilized a derived allocation factor, which recognized that some of the elements of CleanPowerSF Energy Programs were designed to serve residential customers only, whereas some were designed to serve all customer classes. The Bad Debt expense was allocated based on a report developed by the SFPUC that provides the total amount of bad debt by customer class.

Like the capacity and energy allocators, two sets of customer cost allocators were developed for this Study. The first set included Green and SuperGreen (although bad debt was not allocated to SuperGreen customers), and the second set was applied to SuperGreen costs to assign to each customer class. The first set included a Customer Split (number of customers), a Weighted Customer Split, Energy Programs, and Bad Debt. The second set (for SuperGreen costs only) included SuperGreen Customers and Weighted SuperGreen Customers.

Table 6-8 Allocation of Customer Service/Customer Programs (%)

					0 (,
Customer Class	Customer Split	Weighted C&O Split	Energy Programs	Bad Debt	SuperGreen Customers	Weighted SuperGreen Customers
Residential	89.8%	85.1%	71.6%	47.9%	92.4%	74.9%
Small General Service	6.9%	6.5%	3.2%	18.4%	4.0%	3.3%
Medium Gen Service – Low Demand	0.6%	2.8%	0.3%	13.6%	1.4%	5.8%
Medium Gen Service – High Demand	0.4%	4.0%	0.2%	19.7%	1.8%	14.2%
Large General Service	<0.1%	0.1%	<0.1%	0.5%	0.2%	1.6%
Outdoor Lighting	0.1%	0.1%	<0.1%	<0.1%	0.2%	0.2%
SuperGreen Customers	2.1%	2.4%	24.7%	0%	0%	0%
Total	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%

A summary of the customer allocation factors by rate class is provided in Table 6-8.

High Voltage Customers

With traditional utilities, customers that take service at high voltage are often provided a discount on their rates. This discount is due to the fact that high voltage customers do not incur as many losses as low voltage customers (due to the nature of moving electricity across various elements of the distribution system), as well as the fact that high voltage customer do not utilize the secondary portion of the distribution system (or even the primary portion if they are served at transmission level voltage). Because CleanPowerSF does not own the delivery portion of the distribution or transmission system serving these customers (it only provides generation service), no additional discount to high voltage customers is warranted. There is a very slight difference in the electricity losses incurred by high voltage customers, which is included in the derivation of the energy allocator and applied accordingly.

Cost of Service Results

Table 6-9 provides a summary of the cost of service analysis conducted for CleanPowerSF for the Green power (default rate product). The total Green costs for the Test Year are approximately \$285.1 million and the total SuperGreen costs for the Test Year are approximately \$17.4 million for a combined revenue requirement of approximately \$302.5 million.

For the Green product, the majority of those costs have been allocated to the residential customer class, presented below. The large commercial class represents the second largest class in terms of cost responsibility. The total values by class represent the revenue requirement for the Test Year for each class and are a driver of the recommended rate design (Section 7).

CleanPowerSF Co	CleanPowerSF Cost of Service Results – Green Power Revenue Requirement by Class (\$000) (1)							
Expense Line	Residential	Small General Service	Medium General Service – Low Demand	Medium General Service – High Demand	Large General Service	Outdoor Lighting	Total Green Power (TY)	
Power Supply								
Green Capacity	\$22,823	\$7,839	\$6,328	\$10,870	\$2,434	\$20	\$50,315	
Green and SuperGreen Fixed Charges	\$5,560	\$1,910	\$1,542	\$2,648	\$593	\$5	\$12,257	
Green Energy	\$86,500	\$29,116	\$23,865	\$43,538	\$9,072	\$116	\$192,207	
Green & SuperGreen Other Energy Costs	\$3,127	\$1,076	\$886	\$1,601	\$338	\$4	\$7,032	
Total Power Supply	\$118,010	\$39,941	\$32,621	\$58,658	\$12,436	\$145	\$261,811	
Customer								
Data Management & Service Fees	\$5,884	\$455	\$39	\$28	\$1	\$5	\$6,412	
Cust. Account, Service & Sales	\$10,972	\$848	\$367	\$520	\$12	\$9	\$12,728	
Energy Programs	\$1,038	\$47	\$4	\$3	\$0	\$0	\$1,093	
Bad Debt	\$1,448	\$555	\$411	\$595	\$14	\$0	\$3,025	
Total Customer	\$19,342	\$1,905	\$822	\$1,146	\$27	\$15	\$23,257	
Total Cost of Service (2)	\$137,352	\$41,846	\$33,443	\$59,803	\$12,463	\$159	\$285,068	

 Table 6-9

 CleanPowerSF Cost of Service Results – Green Power Revenue Requirement by Class (\$000) ⁽¹⁾

(1) Excludes costs allocated to SuperGreen customers (see Table 6-10).

(2) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

The cost of service results for the SuperGreen revenue requirement is provided in Table 6-10

Expense Line	Residential	Small General Service	Medium General Service – Low Demand	Medium General Service – High Demand	Large General Service	Outdoor Lighting	Total for TY
Power Supply							
Super Green Capacity	\$497	\$105	\$320	\$947	\$2,148	\$1	\$4,018
Green and SuperGreen Fixed Charges	\$120	\$25	\$77	\$229	\$519	\$0	\$972
Super Green Energy	\$1,200	\$255	\$789	\$2,460	\$5,262	\$4	\$9,970
SuperGreen Firming & Shaping	\$87	\$21	\$66	\$163	\$724	\$1	\$1,062
Green & SuperGreen Other Energy Costs	\$68	\$14	\$44	\$139	\$296	\$0	\$562
Total Power Supply	\$1,972	\$421	\$1,297	\$3,938	\$8,949	\$7	\$16,584
Customer							
Data Management & Service Fees	\$127	\$6	\$2	\$2	\$0	\$0	\$138
Cust. Account, Service & Sales	\$237	\$10	\$18	\$45	\$5	\$1	\$317
Energy Programs	\$331	\$14	\$5	\$6	\$1	\$1	\$359
Total Customer	\$696	\$30	\$26	\$54	\$6	\$2	\$813
Total Cost of Service (1)	\$2,667	\$451	\$1,322	\$3,992	\$8,955	\$9	\$17,396

 Table 6-10

 CleanPowerSF Cost of Service Results – SuperGreen Power Total Revenue Requirement (\$000)

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

The analysis for the Green and SuperGreen power was developed on an "all-in" effective rate basis, using the total revenue requirement by class divided by the total energy sales by class. The results of this analysis are presented in Table 6-11 below.

Expense Line	Residential	Small General Service	Medium General Service – Low Demand	Medium General Service – High Demand	Large General Service	Outdoor Lighting	Total for TY
Cost of Service/Revenue Requ	irement (\$000)						
Green Customer	\$137,352	\$41,846	\$33,443	\$59,803	\$12,463	\$159	\$285,068
SuperGreen	\$2,667	\$451	\$1,322	\$3,992	\$8,955	\$9	\$17,396
Total	\$140,020	\$42,297	\$34,765	\$63,795	\$21,418	\$168	\$302,464
COS \$/kWh Sales							
Green Customer COS	\$0.1152	\$0.1020	\$0.0990	\$0.0975	\$0.0962	\$0.1123	\$0.1062
SuperGreen COS	\$0.1035	\$0.0824	\$0.0780	\$0.0752	\$0.0789	\$0.0958	\$0.0809
Total COS (1)	\$0.1150	\$0.1017	\$0.0980	\$0.0957	\$0.0881	\$0.1113	\$0.1043

Table 6-11 Analysis of Green and SuperGreen COS Results for CleanPowerSF

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

The results in Table 6-11 indicate that for all customer classes, the embedded cost for the SuperGreen product is less expensive on an effective rate (\$/kWh) basis than the Green product. This is generally due to the costs associated with the renewable power portfolio assigned to the SuperGreen customers compared to the combination of renewable and non-renewable PPA and market costs for power for the Green customers. As a result, this differential represents a "snapshot in time" for these two customer groups, as SuperGreen customers are benefitting from lower-priced PPAs entered into in the past, while Green customers are currently facing higher costs due to exposure to high-priced energy markets for a portion of their open position.

To develop the rate design for CleanPowerSF (Section 7), the effective rates by class from the COS analysis (the Total COS line on Table 6-11) are utilized. Specific rate elements (energy, capacity, and customer charge) are considered in this process. A summary of the specific COS rate elements is presented by customer class in Table 6-12.

Average COS Rate, Rate Component by Rate Class ⁽¹⁾							
Class	"All-In" Effective Cost of Service (\$/kWh)	Customer Charge (\$/Customer Month)	Demand Charge (\$/kW)	Energy Charge (\$/kWh)			
Residential	\$0.1150	\$4.67	\$3.18	\$0.0747			
Small General Service	\$0.1017	\$5.89	\$6.50	\$0.0733			
Medium General Service Low Demand	\$0.0980	\$28.72	\$8.37	\$0.0723			
Medium General Service High Demand	\$0.0957	\$55.53	\$9.69	\$0.0719			
Large General Service	\$0.0881	\$49.79	\$9.59	\$0.0645			
Outdoor Lighting	\$0.1113	\$4.50	\$9.20	\$0.0825			

Table 6-12

(1) Average rates for Test Year period.

Section 7 EXISTING AND RECOMMENDED RATE DESIGN FOR CLEANPOWERSF

Retail Rate Review

Background information on the existing rates and rate structures of CleanPowerSF's major customer classes is presented below. This includes a comparison of the existing rates to the COS-based rates. Because CleanPowerSF only provides an alternative to the generation portion of the customer bill (PG&E still provides the delivery and billing services), the development of costs curves compared to the rate curves was not developed for this section of the Report. Rather, because CleanPowerSF is in a competitive market (customers can opt out of service from CleanPowerSF and return to PG&E rates), an analysis of the total customer bill for selected customer classes was developed. The analysis of the comparison to PG&E bills was considered for the individual customer class rate recommendations provided in Section 8 of this Report.

Legacy Rates & PG&E Rates

Because CleanPowerSF must offer all rates offered by PG&E to remain competitive and avoid customer confusions, it has many different rate schedules or rate codes. Many of these are "legacy" rates that are closed to new customers—in some cases the rates continue to exist because rooftop solar/net energy metering customers are enrolled on the rate and are being gradually phased to newer rates over a set time period. In other cases, the rate is simply closed to new customers, but existing ones are allowed to remain on it indefinitely (see further discussion in Section 8). In some cases, only a small handful of customers may be enrolled in a given rate offering, making it inappropriate to analyze the cost of service for that rate based on such a small sample size. Moreover, the legacy rates may have different seasonal or TOU periods and/or different rate features (e.g., demand charges) than default rates open to new enrollment.

For simplicity, each rate offering has been grouped into one of the customer classes described in Section 6. Within each customer class, a discussion of the default rate schedule for new customers is presented, as well as any additional rate schedules for which more than 10% of the customer class is enrolled. New rates are recommended for all rate offerings for CleanPowerSF, regardless of the number of customers within the class or if they are open or not to new customers. However, the focus of this analysis and discussion is on the "main" rate schedules, whereas the change to the minor rate schedules are presented in Appendix B.

CleanPowerSF - TOU Periods and Price Differentiation

A similar analysis to the TOU cost analysis conducted for Hetch Hetchy Power was developed for CleanPowerSF. As indicated above, some CleanPowerSF rates currently have a winter and summer rate differential (for energy and demand, as appropriate). For CleanPowerSF, these periods are defined by PG&E, and for current rates, summer is the period from June through September and winter is October through the end of May. Legacy rates have a different seasonal period, with summer being May through October, and winter being November through April. Generally, as with Hetch Hetchy Power, the TOU periods are defined as On-Peak, Part-Peak, and Off-Peak; however, the definition of those periods vary by rate code.



Similar to the analysis conducted for Hetch Hetchy Power, the analysis for CleanPowerSF utilized the historic hourly load profiles for each customer class for 2019 and the corresponding hourly energy prices from the CAISO.

The hourly load profiles for CleanPowerSF by class were utilized as a weighting factor to the power supply costs, which provides a better reflection of the underlying cost causation. As indicated previously, for CleanPowerSF, the majority of the power supply costs are associated with purchases in the CAISO market. Therefore, the variability in the market power prices was developed to evaluate potential changes to the pricing differential for the time and seasonally differentiated energy rates developed for this Study.

Table 7-1 provides a summary of the cost differentials determined by class load for the CleanPowerSF customers.

Table 7-1 TOU Energy Price Differential Analysis – CleanPowerSF						
	Residential	Small General Service	Medium General Service – Low Demand	Medium General Service – High Demand	Large General Service	
Summer	0.87	0.87	0.87	0.87	0.87	
Winter	1.07	1.07	1.07	1.07	1.07	
Summer						
On-Peak	1.40	1.25	1.25	1.25	1.25	
Off-Peak	0.82	0.80	0.81	0.81	0.81	
Winter						
On-Peak	1.29	1.30	1.30	1.30	1.30	
Off-Peak	0.87	0.98	0.99	0.99	0.98	
Super Off-Peak	N/A	0.38	0.39	0.39	0.38	

CleanPowerSF - Seasonal and TOU Energy Periods

The results indicate that for the system, the summer energy costs are generally lower than the winter energy costs. The values in the table represent the relationship to the average price, which is set at a value of 1.0. The average energy value for the total year was divided by the average energy value for the summer, which resulted in a factor of 0.87 (so summer costs are 0.87 times the average energy cost). Similarly, for the winter period, the average energy value was determined to be 1.07 times the system average energy costs.

During the summer period, the on-peak hours are generally higher cost hours than the off-peak hours for all CleanPowerSF classes. For the Residential customer class, the on-peak costs are 1.40 times higher than the average price, whereas the off-peak cost are 0.82 times the average price. The summer pricing differential for the General Service classes are generally the same; the on-peak costs are approximately 1.25 times the average price and the off-peak costs are approximately 0.81 times the average price.

Similarly, for the winter periods, the on-peak period is higher than the off-peak period by approximately 1.30 times the average price for all classes. The off-peak price for the residential class is approximately

0.87 times the average price, and 0.99 times the average price for the general service classes (the residential class does not have a super off-peak period). For the super off-peak winter period, the costs are approximately 0.39 times the average rates.

CleanPowerSF Rate Strategy

The overall rate strategy developed for the rate recommendations presented herein (the rate plan) is to begin to lower the current rates for each rate class and rate code over the two-year period in an incremental manner while ensuring that CleanPowerSF meets its financial metrics. For each rate class, an effective all-in COS rate was developed (as presented in Table 6-12). The intent of the rate plan is to move existing rates towards COS from the existing effective rate for the class by approximately 50% in Year 1 (FY 2022–2023) and to 100% of the COS rate in Year 2 (FY 2023–2024). The effective rate for each class was determined from the sum of the billing determinants times the existing CleanPowerSF rate across the various TOU and seasonal periods (updated March 1, 2022).

Based upon discussions with CleanPowerSF staff, it was decided that it was not in the best interests of the operation or its customers to adjust the pricing differentials between TOU or seasonal periods at this time. Therefore, the recommended rates developed herein continue the pricing differentials established by PG&E for the current and legacy rate offerings, including those by season and TOU periods.

Additionally, it is recommended that CleanPowerSF will not implement a generation-related customer charge for its customers; rather, the customer-related costs will be included in the recommended energy rate. For customers with a demand rate, a similar gradual approach to an effective demand rate was developed for each customer class based on the COS results. The effective demand rate was determined in a similar manner to the effective energy rate; the sum of the billing determinants times the current rate across the various TOU and seasonal periods divided by the billing determinants equals the effective demand rate. NewGen reviewed the current energy rate differentials between transmission, primary and secondary service and determined that they were consistent with the energy losses between these types of voltages. Therefore, the current energy rate differentials are recommended to be maintained as the rates transition towards cost of service based on the effective rate analysis. Similarly, the current demand rate differentials between transmission, primary and secondary voltage service are recommended to be maintained as the rates differentials between transmission, primary and secondary voltage service are recommended to be maintained as the maintained as well.

Residential

The residential class is the largest customer class served by CleanPowerSF. Table 7-2 provides a summary of the rate code and description, shows if the rate code is a legacy rate, and shows if the recommended rates are included within this Report or have been added in Appendix B.

	Residential Rate Codes for Clean	PowerSF	
Rate Code	Description	Open/Legacy	Report/Appendix
E-TOU-B	Time of Use	Open	Report
E-TOU-C	Time of Use	Open	Report
E-TOU-D	Time of Use	Open	Report
E-1	Flat Energy Charge	Legacy	Report
E-EV	Electric Vehicle	Legacy	Appendix B
E-EV2	Electric Vehicle	Open	Appendix B
E-6	Time of Use	Legacy	Report

Table 7-2 Residential Rate Codes for CleanPowerSF

E-TOU-B

The E-TOU-B rate is a TOU rate that offers a summer on- and off-peak rate, and winter on- and off-peak rate. The summer period is June through September (as it is for all TOU rates). For the TOU-B rate, the summer and winter peaks are 4:00 PM to 9:00 PM Monday through Friday (excluding holidays). As indicated previously, the recommended rate plan incrementally adjusts the rate to an effective rate for the class over the two-year period (50% in Year 1, 100% in Year 2). Recommended generation rates for the E-TOU-B are presented in Table 7-3.

Table 7-3 CleanPowerSF Residential Rates (E-TOU B) (Existing and Recommended) ⁽¹⁾						
Rate Component	TOU-B	FYE 2023	FYE 2024			
Energy						
Summer						
On-Peak	\$0.2505	\$0.2368	\$0.2231			
Off-Peak	\$0.1274	\$0.1205	\$0.1135			
Winter						
On-Peak	\$0.1445	\$0.1366	\$0.1287			
Off-Peak	\$0.1057	\$0.0999	\$0.0942			

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

E-TOU-C

The E-TOU-C rate is a TOU rate that offers a summer on- and off-peak rate, and a winter on- and off-peak rate. The summer is period is June through September (as it is for all TOU rates). For the TOU-C rate, the
summer and winter peaks are 4:00 PM to 9:00 PM every day including holidays. Recommended generation rates for the E-TOU-C are presented in Table 7-4.

Table 7-4 CleanPowerSF Residential Rates (E-TOU C) (Existing and Recommended) ⁽¹⁾					
Rate Component TOU-C FYE 2023 FYE 2024					
Energy					
Summer					
On-Peak	\$0.1802	\$0.1670	\$0.1538		
Off-Peak	\$0.1268	\$0.1175	\$0.1082		
Winter					
On-Peak	\$0.1315	\$0.1218	\$0.1121		
Off-Peak	\$0.1164	\$0.1079	\$0.0993		

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

E-TOU-D

The E-TOU-D rate is a TOU rate that offers a summer on- and off-peak rate, and winter on- and off-peak rate. The summer period is June through September (as it is for all TOU rates). For the TOU-D rate, the summer and winter peaks are 5:00 PM to 8:00 PM, Monday through Friday, excluding holidays. Recommended generation rates for the E-TOU-D are presented in Table 7-5.

T-1-1-7 C

CleanPowerSF Residential Rates (E-TOU D) (Existing and Recommended) ⁽¹⁾				
Rate Component TOU-D FYE 2023 FYE 2024				
Summer				
On-Peak	\$0.2097	\$0.1938	\$0.1779	
Off-Peak	\$0.1047	\$0.0968	\$0.0888	
Winter				
On-Peak	\$0.1688	\$0.1560	\$0.1432	
Off-Peak	\$0.1337	\$0.1236	\$0.1134	

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

E-1 and E-6

The E-1 rate is a tiered rate, but the CleanPowerSF generation charge for this rate is flat (not differentiated by season or time). The E-6 rate is seasonally and TOU differentiated (summer, winter). The E-6 rate includes an additional time period not included in the E-TOU rates above, which is the summer part-peak

(defined as 12:00 PM to 3:00 PM and 8:00 PM to 10:00 PM Monday through Friday, and 5:00 PM to 8:00 PM Saturday and Sunday). The summer on-peak period is 3:00 PM to 8:00 PM Monday through Friday. The winter peak period is 5:00 PM to 8:00 PM Monday through Friday. All other times, including holidays, are off-peak.

E-6 is a legacy rate, meaning that no additional customers are allowed to be placed on this rate schedule (new customers are required to be on a defined TOU rate offering with slightly different periods, such as E-TOU-B, E-TOU-C, and E-TOU-D or on the E-1 rate). The seasons and TOU periods cannot be changed for legacy customers, although they can choose to be served on a different rate. For the legacy rates, the summer period is six months (May through October), and the TOU periods are included in the table below. The existing and recommended rates for the E-1 and E-6 customer class are provided in Table 7-6.

(Existing and Recommended) ⁽¹⁾				
Rate Component	Existing	FYE 2023	FYE 2024	
E-1 (Flat)	\$0.1304	\$0.1196	\$0.1088	
E-6 (Seasonal/TOU)				
Summer				
On-Peak – 3:00 PM to 8:00 PM, M–F	\$0.2598	\$0.2448	\$0.2298	
Part-Peak – 12 PM to 3:00 PM, 8:00 PM–10:00 PM, M–F, 5:00 PM–8:00 PM, Weekends	\$0.1768	\$0.1666	\$0.1564	
Off-Peak – all other times, plus holidays	\$0.1067	\$0.1005	\$0.0943	
Winter				
Part-Peak – 5:00 PM–8:00 PM, M–F	\$0.1441	\$0.1358	\$0.1275	
Off-Peak – all other times, plus holidays	\$0.1103	\$0.1039	\$0.0976	

CleanPowerSE Residential Rates (E-1 and E-6)

Table 7-6

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Other CleanPowerSF Residential Rates

Other CleanPowerSF residential rates include EV rates (EV-A and EV-B are legacy EV rates, and EV-2A is the current EV rate). EV rates are provided in Appendix B.

Small General Service

The Small General Serve class represents the non-demand metered commercial class for customers that utilize less than 75 kW of demand in a month. Small General Service rates are all seasonally and TOU differentiated; however, the TOU periods are different between the current and legacy rate codes. Additionally, some Small General Service rates have a part-peak period and a super off-peak period in the winter. Table 7-7 provides a summary of the Small General Service rate codes and description, shows if the rate code is a legacy rate code or open (current), and shows if the recommended rates are included within this report or have been included in Appendix B.

Rate Code	Description	Open/Legacy	Report/Appendix	
B-1	Time of Use	Open	Report	
B-6	Time of Use	Open	Report	
A-6	Time of Use	Legacy	Report	
A-1-B	Time of Use	Legacy	Report	
A-1-A	Time of Use	Legacy	Report	
BEV-1	Electric Vehicle, Low Demand (<100 kW)	Open	Appendix B	
B-1-ST	Time of Use/Storage	Open	Appendix B	

 Table 7-7

 Small General Service Rate Codes for CleanPowerSF

Small General Service (B-1)

The B-1 rate code is a current rate that has a peak period from 4:00–9:00 PM every day, a part-peak period from 2:00–4:00 PM and 9:00–11:00 PM during the summer (June through September), and a super off-peak period from 9:00 AM to 2:00 PM in March, April, and May. All other times are off-peak. Table 7-8 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes to the B-1 rate.

(Existing and Recommended)			
Rate Component	B-1	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
Summer			
Peak	\$0.1881	\$0.1650	\$0.1419
Part-Peak	\$0.1389	\$0.1218	\$0.1047
Off-Peak	\$0.1181	\$0.1036	\$0.0890
Winter			
Peak	\$0.1329	\$0.1165	\$0.1002
Off-Peak	\$0.1168	\$0.1024	\$0.0880
Super Off-Peak	\$0.1003	\$0.0880	\$0.0757

Table 7-8 CleanPowerSF Small General Service (B-1) (Existing and Recommended)

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Small General Service (B-6)

The B-6 rate code is a current rate that does not have a part-peak period; the peak period is from 4:00– 9:00 PM every day, and the super off-peak period is from 9:00 AM–2:00 PM in March, April, and May. All other times are off-peak. Table 7-9 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes to the B-6 rate.

CleanPowerSF Small General Service (B-6) (Existing and Recommended) ⁽¹⁾			
Rate Component	B-6	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
Summer			
Peak	\$0.1903	\$0.1703	\$0.1503
Off-Peak	\$0.1191	\$0.1066	\$0.0941
Winter			
Peak	\$0.1268	\$0.1134	\$0.1001
Off-Peak	\$0.1097	\$0.0982	\$0.0866
Super Off-Peak	\$0.0933	\$0.0835	\$0.0737

Table 7-9

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Small General Service (A-6)

The A-6 rate code is a Small General Service legacy rate that has a summer peak period from 12:00 PM to 6:00 PM, Monday through Friday, except holidays; a part-peak period from 8:30 AM to 12:00 PM and 6:00 PM–9:30 PM, except holidays; and a winter part-peak period from 8:30 AM to 9:30 PM, Monday through Friday, except holidays. All other times are off-peak. Table 7-10 provides a summary of the existing recommended changes to the A-6 rate.

Table 7-10

CleanPowerSF Small General Service (A-6) (Existing and Recommended) ⁽¹⁾			
Rate Component	A-6	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
Summer			
Peak	\$0.2100	\$0.1861	\$0.1622
Part-Peak	\$0.1607	\$0.1424	\$0.1240
Off-Peak	\$0.1285	\$0.1139	\$0.0992
Winter			
Peak	\$0.1192	\$0.1056	\$0.0920
Off-Peak	\$0.1184	\$0.1049	\$0.0914

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Small General Service (A-1-A)

The A-1-A rate code is a Small General Service legacy rate that is seasonally differentiated but does not have TOU periods. The summer period is from May through October, and the winter period is from

CleanPowerSF Small General Service (A-1-A) (Existing and Recommended) ⁽¹⁾				
Rate Component A-1-A FYE 2023 FYE 2024				
Summer	\$0.1440	\$0.1291	\$0.1142	
Winter	\$0.1038	\$0.0931	\$0.0823	

November through April. Table 7-11 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes to the A-1-A rate.

Table 7 11

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

Small General Service (A-1-B)

The A-1-B rate code is a legacy Small General Service rate that has a summer peak period from 8:30 PM to 9:30 PM, Monday through Friday, except holidays, and a winter part-peak period from 8:30 AM to 9:30 PM, Monday through Friday, except holidays. As with the A-1-A rate code, the legacy summer period is from May through October and the winter period is from November through April. All other times are offpeak. Table 7-12 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes to the A-1-B rate.

CleanPowerSF Small General Service (A-1-B) (Existing and Recommended)				
Rate Component	A-1-B	FYE 2023	FYE 2024	
Summer				
Peak	\$0.1473	\$0.1339	\$0.1205	
Part-Peak	\$0.1473	\$0.1339	\$0.1205	
Off-Peak	\$0.1225	\$0.1114	\$0.1003	
Winter				
Part Peak	\$0.1165	\$0.1059	\$0.0953	
Off-Peak	\$0.1159	\$0.1054	\$0.0949	

Table 7-12

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023

Other CleanPowerSF Small General Service Rates

CleanPowerSF offers two other Small General Service rates, one for EV charging (BEV-1) and one for (battery) storage (B-1-ST). The BEV-1 rate offers a peak (4:00 to 9:00 PM), off-peak (9:00 PM to 9:00 AM and 2:00 to 4:00 PM), and super off-peak TOU periods (9:00 AM to 2:00 PM), as well as a summer/winter flat rate option. The storage rate includes a super off-peak rate during the winter periods that is approximately 15% less than the off-peak winter rates. The recommended change to these rates is provided in Appendix B.

Medium General Service - Low Demand Rates

CleanPowerSF offers service to Medium General Service customers for those without demand rates (Medium General Service Low Demand) and those with demand rates (Medium General Service High Demand). This section provides a summary of the rate offerings for the Medium General Service Low Demand rates, which are for customers with demand less than 500 kW in each month. The B-10 rate is the current rate offering, whereas the A-10-A and A-10-B are legacy rates, closed to new customers.

The A-10-A rates are seasonally differentiated but are not TOU. The A-10-B are seasonally, and TOU differentiated, but the TOU periods did not change with the most recent changes implemented by PG&E, which are included in the B-10 rate. The B-10 (current) and A-10-B (legacy) have rates that are differentiated by service voltage (either secondary, primary, or transmission level). For the tables provided below, the secondary service rates have been provided; the primary and transmission level rates are provided in Appendix B. The electric vehicle charging rates, BEV-2 (for high demand), is in this customer class as well.

Table 7-13 provides a summary of the Medium General Service Low Demand rate codes and description, shows if the rate code is a legacy rate code, and shows if the recommended rates are included within this report, or have been included in Appendix B.

Rate Code	Description	Open/Legacy	Report/Appendix
B-10	Time of Use, Secondary, Primary Transmission	Open	Report (Secondary), Appendix B (Primary, Transmission)
A-10-A	Seasonal (Secondary)	Legacy	Report
A-10-B	Time of Use, Secondary, Primary Transmission	Legacy	Report (Secondary), Appendix B (Primary, Transmission
A-15	Summer / Winter Energy	Legacy	Appendix B
BEV-2	Electric Vehicle, TOU, Secondary, Primary	Open	Appendix B

Table 7-13 Medium General Service Low Demand Rate Codes for CleanPowerSF

Medium General Service Low Demand (B-10)

The B-10 rate code is a current rate offering that has a peak period from 4:00–9:00 PM every day, a part peak period from 2:00–4:00 PM and 9:00–11:00 PM during the summer (June through September), and a super off-peak period from 9:00 AM–2:00 PM in March, April, and May. All other times are off-peak. Table 7-14 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes to the B-10 rate.

CleanPowerSF Medium General Service Low Demand (B-10) Secondary Service				
	(Existing and R	ecommended) (1)		
Rate Component	B-10 ⁽²⁾	FYE 2023	FYE 2024	
Summer				
Peak	\$0.2153	\$0.1808	\$0.1463	
Part-Peak	\$0.1536	\$0.1290	\$0.1044	
Off-Peak	\$0.1210	\$0.1016	\$0.0822	
Winter				
Peak	\$0.1572	\$0.1320	\$0.1069	
Off-Peak	\$0.1217	\$0.1022	\$0.0827	
Super Off-Peak	\$0.0854	\$0.0717	\$0.0580	

Table 7-14

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023

(2) Secondary service rates. See Appendix B for Primary and Transmission level service rates.

Medium General Service Low Demand (A-10-A)

The A-10-A rate code is a legacy rate that is seasonally differentiated but does not have TOU periods. The summer period is from May through October and the winter period is from November through April. Table 7-15 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes to the A-10-A rate for secondary voltage level service.

Table 7-15 CleanPowerSF Medium General Service Low Demand (A-10-A) Secondary Service (Existing and Recommended) ⁽¹⁾			
Rate Component	A-10-A ⁽²⁾	FYE 2023	FYE 2024
Summer	\$0.1454	\$0.1235	\$0.1015
Winter	\$0.1237	\$0.1050	\$0.0863

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023

(2) Secondary service rates. See Appendix B for Primary and Transmission level service rates.

Medium General Service Low Demand (A-10-B)

The A-10-B rate code is a legacy rate offering that has a peak period from 8:30 AM to 9:30 AM, Monday through Friday, except holidays for both the summer and winter periods. All other times are off-peak. Summer is from May through October and winter is from November through April. The rate is offered for secondary, primary, and transmission voltage level service. Table 7-16 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes to the A-10-B rate for secondary voltage level service.

CleanPowerSF Medium General Service Low Demand (A-10-B) Secondary Service						
	(Existing and	Recommended)	(1)			
Rate FYE 2023 FYE 2024						
Summer						
Peak	\$0.1589	\$0.1371	\$0.1152			
Part-Peak	\$0.1589	\$0.1371	\$0.1152			
Off-Peak	\$0.1321	\$0.1140	\$0.0958			
Winter						
Peak	\$0.1243	\$0.1072	\$0.0901			
Off-Peak	\$0.1236	\$0.1066	\$0.0896			

Table 7-16

Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

(2) Secondary service rates. See Appendix B for Primary and Transmission level service rates.

Other CleanPowerSF Medium General Service Low Demand Rates

Medium general service low demand rates are also offered with a discount for primary (P) or transmission level service (the default service is secondary). The primary rates are B-10-P, A-10-B-P, and A-10-A-P, and the transmission rates are B-10-T, A-10-B-T, and A-10-A-T. Additionally, the EV charging (BEV-2) rate for high demand (greater than 100 kW) is included in this rate class. The BEV-2 rate structure is identical to the BEV-1 rate structure, with peak (4:00 to 9:00 PM), off-peak (9:00 PM to 9:00 AM and 2:00 to 4:00 PM), and super off-peak TOU periods (9:00 AM to 2:00 PM), as well as a summer/winter flat rate option. The BEV-2 rate is offered for both secondary voltage (default) and primary voltage. The recommended rates for these customers are provided in Appendix B.

Medium General Service High Demand

CleanPowerSF offers service to Medium General Service High Demand for customers with demand greater than 500 kW, but less than 1,000 kW in a month. These rates include seasonally, and TOU differentiated demand and energy rates. Rates are also differentiated by service voltage; secondary voltage service rates are provided below, and the primary and transmission voltage service are provided in Appendix B.

Table 7-17 provides a summary of the Medium General Service High Demand rate codes and description, shows if the rate code is a legacy rate code, and shows if the recommended rates are included within this Report or have been included in Appendix B.

Rate Code	Description	Open/Legacy	Report/Appendix
B-19	Time of Use Energy and Demand, Primary, Secondary, Transmission	Open	Report (Secondary), Appendix B (Primary, Transmission
B-19-R	Time of Use Energy and Demand, Primary, Secondary, Transmission, with Solar or Storage	Open	Appendix B
E-19	Time of Use Energy and Demand, Primary, Secondary, Transmission	Legacy	Report (Secondary), Appendix B (Primary, Transmission
E-19-R	Time of Use Energy and Demand, Primary, Secondary, Transmission (Renewable)	Legacy	Appendix B

 Table 7-17

 Medium General Service High Demand Rate Codes for CleanPowerSF

Medium General Service High Demand (B-19)

The B-19 rate code is a current rate offering that has a peak period from 4:00–9:00 PM every day, a part peak period from 2:00–4:00 PM and 9:00–11:00 PM during the summer (June through September), and a super off-peak period from 9:00 AM–2:00 PM in March, April, and May. All other times are off-peak. This rate is offered for secondary, primary and transmission voltage level service. Rates shown below are for secondary voltage service; primary and transmission voltage service recommended rates are provided in Appendix B. Table 7-18 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes to the B-19 rate.

CleanPowerSF Medium General Service High Demand							
(B-19, Secondary Service)							
Rate Component	Rate Component B-19 ⁽²⁾ FYE 2023 FYE 2024						
Demand (\$/kW)							
Summer							
Peak	\$18.85	\$21.22	\$23.58				
Part-Peak	\$2.74	\$3.08	\$3.43				
Winter							
Peak	\$2.24	\$2.52	\$2.80				
Energy (\$/kWh)							
Summer							
Peak	\$0.1555	\$0.1285	\$0.1014				
Part-Peak	\$0.1179	\$0.0974	\$0.0769				
Off-Peak	\$0.0913	\$0.0754	\$0.0595				
Winter							
Peak	\$0.1316	\$0.1087	\$0.0858				
Off-Peak	\$0.0912	\$0.0753	\$0.0595				
Super Off-Peak	\$0.0369	\$0.0305	\$0.0241				

Table 7-18
CleanPowerSF Medium General Service High Demand
(B-19, Secondary Service)
(Existing and Recommended Rates) (1)

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023

(2) Secondary service rates. See Appendix B for Primary and Transmission level service rates

Medium General Service High Demand (E-19)

The E-19 rate code is a legacy rate that has a summer peak period from 12:00 PM to 6:00 PM, Monday through Friday; a part peak period from 8:30 PM to 12:00 PM and 6:00 PM to 9:30 PM, Monday through Friday, except holidays; and a winter part peak period from 8:30 AM to 9:30 PM, Monday through Friday, except holidays. The legacy summer period is from May through October and the winter period is from November through April. All other times are off-peak. The demand rate is not seasonally differentiated, and the summer on-peak and part-peak demand rates are the same (not TOU differentiated). There is no winter demand rate. Additionally, the summer peak and part-peak energy rates are the same.

Rates shown below are for secondary voltage service; primary and transmission voltage service recommended rates are provided in Appendix B. Table 7-19 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes to the E-19 rate.

(E-19, Secondary Service) (Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾				
Rate Component	E-19 ⁽²⁾	FYE 2023	FYE 2024	
Demand (\$/kW) (3)				
Summer				
Peak	\$12.31	\$10.87	\$9.43	
Part-Peak	\$12.31	\$10.87	\$9.43	
Energy (\$/kWh)				
Summer				
Peak	\$0.0991	\$0.0863	\$0.0736	
Part-Peak	\$0.0991	\$0.0863	\$0.0736	
Off-Peak	\$0.0931	\$0.0811	\$0.0692	
Winter				
Peak	\$0.0905	\$0.0789	\$0.0672	
Off-Peak	\$0.0898	\$0.0782	\$0.0667	

Table 7-19 **CleanPowerSF Medium General Service High Demand**

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023

(2) Secondary service rates. See Appendix B for Primary and Transmission level service rates

(3) E-19 does not offer a winter peak demand rate.

Other CleanPowerSF Medium General Service High Demand Rates

Medium general service high demand service rates are also offered with a discount for primary (P) or transmission level service (the default service is secondary). However, there are no customers on these rates at this time. Additionally, CleanPowerSF offers customers in this rate class a solar rate (designed with an "R," which is the same rate as the secondary "S" rate). The recommended rates for these customers are provided in Appendix B.

Large General Service

CleanPowerSF offers service to Large General Service customers for those with demand greater than 1,000 kW in a month. These rates include seasonally, and TOU differentiated demand and energy rates. Rates are also differentiated by service voltage; secondary voltage service rates are provided below, and the primary and transmission voltage service are provided in Appendix B.

Table 7-20 provides a summary of the Large General Service rate codes and descriptions, the number of customers within the rate code, and whether the rate code is a legacy rate code. Both Large General Service rates are presented in the report.

Rate Code	Description	Open/Legacy	Report/Appendix
B-20	Time of Use Energy and Demand, Primary, Secondary, Transmission	Open	Report (Secondary), Appendix B (Primary), Transmission
E-20	Time of Use Energy and Demand, Primary, Secondary, Transmission	Legacy	Report (Secondary), Appendix B (Primary), Transmission
B-ST	Standby TOU, Reservation Charge	Open	Appendix B
B-20-R	Time of Use Energy, Primary, Secondary, Transmission (Renewable)	Open	Appendix B
E-20-R	Time of Use Energy, Primary, Secondary, Transmission (Renewable)	Legacy	Appendix B

 Table 7-20

 Large General Service – High Demand Rate Codes for CleanPowerSF

Large General Service (B-20)

The B-20 rate code is a current rate offering that has a peak period from 4:00–9:00 PM every day, a part peak period from 2:00–4:00 PM and 9:00–11:00 PM during the summer (June through September), and a super off-peak period from 9:00 AM–2:00 PM in March, April, and May. All other times are off-peak. This rate is offered for secondary, primary, and transmission voltage level service. Rates shown below are for secondary voltage service; primary and transmission voltage service recommended rates are provided in Appendix B. Table 7-21 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes to the B-20 rate.

(B-20, Secondary Service) (Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾				
Rate Component	B-20 ⁽²⁾	FYE 2023	FYE 2024	
Demand (\$/kW)				
Summer				
Peak	\$18.32	\$20.70	\$23.08	
Part-Peak	\$2.66	\$3.01	\$3.35	
Winter				
Peak	\$2.34	\$2.64	\$2.95	
Energy (\$/kWh)				
Summer				
Peak	\$0.1476	\$0.1177	\$0.0878	
Part-Peak	\$0.1139	\$0.0908	\$0.0677	
Off-Peak	\$0.0872	\$0.0695	\$0.0519	
Winter				
Peak	\$0.1275	\$0.1016	\$0.0758	
Off-Peak	\$0.0870	\$0.0694	\$0.0517	
Super Off-Peak	\$0.0328	\$0.0261	\$0.0195	

Table 7-21		
CleanPowerSF Large General Service – High Demand		
(B-20, Secondary Service)		
(Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾		

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

(2) Secondary service rates. See Appendix B for Primary and Transmission level service rates

Large General Service (E-20)

The E-20 rate code is a legacy rate a that has summer peak period from 12:00 PM to 6:00 PM, Monday through Friday; a part peak period from 8:30 PM to 12:00 PM and 6:00 PM to 9:30 PM, Monday through Friday, except holidays; and a winter part peak period from 8:30 AM to 9:30 PM, Monday through Friday, except holidays. The legacy summer period is from May through October and the winter period is from November through April. All other times are off-peak. The demand rate is not seasonally differentiated, and the summer on-peak and part-peak demand rates are the same (not TOU differentiated). Additionally, the summer peak and part-peak energy rates are the same.

Rates shown below are for secondary voltage service; primary and transmission voltage service recommended rates are provided in Appendix B. Table 7-22 provides a summary of the existing and recommended changes to the E-20 rate.

Table 7-22 CleanPowerSF Large General Service (E-20, Secondary Service) (Existing and Recommended Rates) ⁽¹⁾					
Rate Component	E-20 (2)	FYE 2023	FYE 2024		
Demand (\$/kW)					
Summer					
Peak	\$11.80	\$10.37	\$8.94		
Part-Peak	\$11.80	\$10.37	\$8.94		
Energy (\$/kWh)					
Summer					
Peak	\$0.0943	\$0.0792	\$0.0641		
Part-Peak	\$0.0943	\$0.0792	\$0.0641		
Off-Peak	\$0.0884	\$0.0742	\$0.0601		
Winter					
Part-Peak	\$0.0858	\$0.0721	\$0.0583		
Off-Peak \$0.0851 \$0.0715 \$0.0578					
 Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023. Secondary service rates. See Appendix B for Primary and Transmission level service rates 					

Agricultural Rates

CleanPowerSF offers agricultural rates to approximately 28 customers under the similar structure as PG&E's seasonally and TOU differentiated rate offerings. For the purposes of the COS, these customers are considered in the Large Commercial class. These include the AG-A, AG-B, AG-C, AG-5-A, AG-F-A, AG-F-B, AG-F-C (non-demand, TOU), and the AG-5-B, AG-5-C, AG-1-A, AG-1-B, AG-1-B-P, AG-4-A, AG-4-B, AG-4-B-P, AG-4-C, AG-4-C-P, and AG-4-C-T (demand, TOU). The recommended rates for these customers are provided in Appendix B.

Outdoor Lighting and Traffic Control

CleanPowerSF offers outdoor lighting rates under the LS-1 tariff and traffic control rates under the TC-1 rate tariff. Both rates are energy only and are not seasonally or TOU differentiated. The recommended rates for outdoor lighting and traffic control customers are provided in Appendix B.

Other Rates

Other rates developed for CleanPowerSF include S-EM, S-B-S, S-B-P, S-B-T are provided in Appendix B.

SuperGreen Energy Premium

As indicated previously, CleanPowerSF offers SuperGreen product that is 100% renewable energy. This product is offered at a premium to the standard Green energy product and is charged as an additional per energy rate above the customer's otherwise applicable energy rate. A subtle change is recommended for the SuperGreen energy premium rate. Currently, residential customers are charged an additional \$0.01/kWh for the SuperGreen energy, whereas commercial customers are charged between \$0.005/kWh and \$0.0075/kWh. The recommended changes are to simplify the commercial rate to be \$0.005/kWh, as indicated in Table 7-23 below.

Table 7-23 CleanPowerSF SuperGreen Energy Premium (Existing and Recommended Rates)					
SuperGreen Premium (\$/kWh) Current FYE 2023 FYE 20					
Residential	\$0.0100	\$0.0100	\$0.0100		
Small General Service (2)	\$0.0075	\$0.0050	\$0.0050		
Med General Service – Low	\$0.0050	\$0.0050	\$0.0050		
Med General Service – High \$0.0050 \$0.0050 \$0.0050					
Large General Service (2)	\$0.0075	\$0.0050	\$0.0050		

(1) Rate changes are effective July 1, 2022, and July 1, 2023.

(2) Changes recommended for Small and Large General Service (see text).

Section 8 PROJECTED REVENUE/RATE IMPACTS CLEANPOWERSF

This section includes an analysis of the projected revenue for CleanPowerSF by each year of the rate study, as well as the rate impacts from the recommended changes to the CleanPowerSF rates provided in Section 7.

Projected Revenue from Recommended Rates

NewGen recommends that CleanPowerSF offer the rates described herein, set for each year of the twoyear Test Year period and applied to the PG&E TOU periods, as appropriate, and for the legacy rate codes as identified. Table 8-1 provides a summary of the projected revenue requirement by customer class for Year 1 of the Study period and the projected revenues at the recommended rates. For FY 2022–2023, the rates are projected to over collect the revenue requirement in total by approximately \$7.2 million.

For FY 2023–2024, the rates are projected to essentially meet the projected revenue requirement for that period (Table 8-2). This is because the change to the rates is designed to be phased in evenly over the two-year period. This methodology provides CleanPowerSF a small degree of conservatism to ensure that it meets its financial metrics while providing cost-based rates to its customers.

Class	Year 1 Revenue Requirement	Year 1 Projected Revenue	\$ Difference	% Difference
Residential	\$146,683	\$144,623	(\$2,060)	(1%)
Small General Service	\$44,523	\$45,662	\$1,139	3%
Medium General Service Low Demand	\$36,592	\$39,983	\$3,391	9%
Medium General Service High Demand	\$67,118	\$69,544	\$2,426	4%
Large General Service	\$22,148	\$24,424	\$2,276	10%
Outdoor Lighting	\$177	\$159	(\$18)	(10%)
Total Revenue (1)	\$317,240	\$324,395	\$7,155	2%

 Table 8-1

 Revenue Requirement and Year 1 Projected Revenue by Customer Class (\$000)

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding.



Class	Year 2 Revenue Requirement	Year 2 Projected Revenue	\$ Difference	% Difference
Residential	\$133,340	\$133,340	\$0.4	<0.1%
Small General Service	\$40,080	\$40,080	(\$0.3)	<0.1%
Medium General Service Low Demand	\$32,943	\$32,943	\$0.3	<0.1%
Medium General Service High Demand	\$60,472	\$60,472	(\$0.1)	<0.1%
Large General Service	\$20,693	\$20,693	(\$0.2)	<0.1%
Outdoor Lighting	\$160	\$160	(\$0.0)	<0.1%
Total Revenue (1)	\$287,688	\$287,688	\$0	<0.1%

Table 8-2
Revenue Requirement and Year 2 Projected Revenue by Customer Class (\$000

Bill Impact Analysis

This section provides a summary of projected bill impacts as a result of the recommended rate changes presented herein by customer class for CleanPowerSF. The average monthly usage for energy (and demand) for each customer class was developed from an analysis of the MDEF data. The generation rate is the average effective rate, which is a weighted average of the rates for TOU, seasonal periods and voltage level, as appropriate, for the total revenue for each rate code divided by the total energy (kWh) or demand (kW, for demand rate classes). Impacts to individual customers will be influenced by when they utilize power (TOU, seasonally) and the voltage level at which they are served.

The PCIA plus FFS for Year 1 is the existing PCIA (effective March 1, 2022, using the 2018 Vintage for all CleanPowerSF customers), and the delivery rate is the published rate for each rate class for PG&E (as of March 2022). The total bill is the sum of the effective generation rate, the PCIA and FFS, and the delivery rate times the energy (or demand) within a month. The change in total bill is calculated similarly using the March 2022 effective generation rate, the PCIA plus the FFS rate and delivery rate (for Year 1 impacts).

Year 2 average bill impacts are provided below the Year 1 average bill impacts. Changes to Year 2 include continued reduction in generation rates towards their COS. PG&E's PCIA is anticipated to increase January 1, 2023, by approximately 68%, which is reflected in the analysis provided below. For the purposes of this analysis, the PG&E delivery rates are anticipated to remain constant on January 1, 2023; however, the exact change to these rates is unknown at this time.

Year 1 Average Bill Impacts

Residential

For the Residential class, an analysis of the bill impacts for the two largest rate codes was developed for the Year 1 changes (E-1 and TOU C). Table 8-3 provides an analysis of customers served on the E-1 rate code. The average usage for this customer class was determined to be 284 kWh for a month. An analysis

of a representative "low-use" customer (184 kWh) and a "high-use" customer (484 kWh) is included for comparative purposes. The results indicate a reduction in the average monthly bill from approximately \$1.99/month to \$5.22/month, depending on usage level.

ltem	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage
Monthly Usage (kWh)	184	284	484
Generation Rate \$/kWh	\$0.1196	\$0.1196	\$0.1196
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0204	\$0.0204	\$0.0204
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1995	\$0.1995	\$0.1995
Total Bill (\$)	\$62.47	\$96.43	\$164.33
Change in Total Bill (\$) (1)	(\$1.99)	(\$3.06)	(\$5.22)

 Table 8-3

 Monthly Bill Impact Analysis: Residential E-1 (FYE 2023)

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

Table 8-4 provides an analysis of customers served on the TOU C rate code. The results indicate a reduction in the average monthly bill from approximately \$0.73/month to \$1.93/month, depending on usage level for the month as well as during the TOU periods.

ltem	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage	
Monthly Usage (kWh)	184	284	484	
Generation Rate \$/kWh	\$0.1182	\$0.1182	\$0.1182	
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0204	\$0.0204	\$0.0204	
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1995	\$0.1995	\$0.1995	
Total Bill (\$)	\$62.21	\$96.02	\$163.64	
Change in Total Bill (\$) (1)	(\$0.73)	(\$1.13)	(\$1.93)	

 Table 8-4

 Monthly Bill Impact Analysis: Residential TOU C (FYE 2023)

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

Small General Service

For the Small General Service class, an analysis of the bill impacts for the two largest rate codes was developed for the Year 1 changes (B-1 and A-1-B). Table 8-5 provides an analysis of customers served on the B-1 rate code. The average usage for this customer class was determined to be 1,266 kWh for a month. An analysis of a representative "low-use" customer (766 kWh) and a "high-use" customer (1,766 kWh) is included for comparative purposes. The results indicate a reduction in the average monthly bill from approximately \$11.97/month to \$27.60/month, depending on usage level, for Year 1.

ltem	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage	
Monthly Usage (kWh)	766	1,266	1,766	
Generation Rate \$/kWh	\$0.1115	\$0.1115	\$0.1115	
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0197	\$0.0197	\$0.0197	
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1822	\$0.1822	\$0.1822	
Total Bill (\$)	\$240.09	\$396.80	\$553.52	
Change in Total Bill (\$) (1)	(\$11.97)	(\$19.79)	(\$27.60)	

Table 8-5 Monthly Bill Impact Analysis: Small General Service B-1 (FYE 2023)

Table 8-6 provides an analysis of customers served on the A-1-B rate code. The results indicate a reduction in the average monthly bill from approximately \$8.15/month to \$18.79/month, depending on usage level, for Year 1.

Monthly Bill Impact Analysis: Small General Service – A-1B (FYE 2023)			
ltem	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage
Monthly Usage (kWh)	766	1,266	1,766
Generation Rate \$/kWh	\$0.1065	\$0.1065	\$0.1065
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0197	\$0.0197	\$0.0197
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1822	\$0.1822	\$0.1822
Total Bill (\$)	\$236.27	\$390.49	\$544.71
Change in Total Bill (\$) (1)	(\$8.15)	(\$13.47)	(\$18.79)

Table 0.6

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

Medium General Service Low Demand

For the Medium General Service Low Demand class, an analysis of the bill impacts for the two largest rate codes was developed for the Year 1 changes (B-10 and A-10-B). Table 8-7 provides an analysis of customers served on the B-10 rate code. The average usage for this customer class was determined to be 12,024 kWh for a month. An analysis of a representative "low-use" customer (10,024 kWh) and a "highuse" customer (14,024 kWh) is included for comparative purposes. The results indicate a reduction in the average monthly bill from approximately \$217/month to \$304/month, depending on usage level, for Year 1.

ltem	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage
Monthly Usage (kWh)	10,024	12,024	14,024
Generation Rate \$/kWh	\$0.1137	\$0.1137	\$0.1137
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0211	\$0.0211	\$0.0211
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1385	\$0.1385	\$0.1385
Total Bill (\$)	\$2,739	\$3,286	\$3,832
Change in Total Bill (\$) (1)	(\$217)	(\$261)	(\$304)

 Table 8-7

 Bill Impact Analysis: Medium General Service Low Demand (B-10) FYE 2023

Table 8-8 provides an analysis of customers served on the A-10-B rate code. The results indicate a reduction in the average monthly bill from approximately \$175/month to \$244/month, depending on usage level, for Year 1.

ltem	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage
Monthly Usage (kWh)	10,024	12,024	14,024
Generation Rate \$/kWh	\$0.1094	\$0.1094	\$0.1094
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0211	\$0.0211	\$0.0211
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1385	\$0.1385	\$0.1385
Total Bill (\$)	\$2,697	\$3,235	\$3,773
Change in Total Bill (\$)	(\$175)	(\$210)	(\$244)

 Table 8-8

 Bill Impact Analysis: Medium General Service Low Demand (A-10-B) FYE 2023

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

Medium General Service High Demand

For the Medium General Service High Demand class, an analysis of the bill impacts for the B-19 and E-19 was developed for the Year 1 rate changes. Table 8-9 provides an analysis of customers served on the B-19 rate code, which includes seasonally and TOU differentiated demand and energy rates. The energy average usage for this customer class was determined to be 30,865 kWh for a month and the average demand was determined to be 64 kW per month (for an average load factor of approximately 60%). An analysis of a representative "low-use" customer (25,865 kWh and 53 kW demand) and a "high-use" customer (35,865 kWh and 74 kW demand) is included for comparative purposes. The results indicate a reduction in the average monthly bill from approximately \$408/month to \$566/month, depending on usage level, for Year 1.

		0 (,
Item	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage
Monthly Usage (Energy, kWh)	25,865	30,865	35,865
Monthly Usage (Demand, kW)	60	71	83
Generation Rate \$/kWh (Year 1)	\$0.0852	\$0.0852	\$0.0852
Demand Rate \$/kW (Year 1)	\$8.40	\$8.40	\$8.40
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0211	\$0.0211	\$0.0211
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1050	\$0.1050	\$0.1050
Total Bill (\$)	\$5,968	\$7,122	\$8,276
Change in Total Bill (\$) (1)	(\$408)	(\$487)	(\$566)

 Table 8-9

 Bill Impact Analysis: Medium General Service High Demand (B-19) FYE 2023

Table 8-10 provides an analysis of customers served on the A-10-B rate code. The results indicate a reduction in the average monthly bill from approximately \$386/month to \$536/month, depending on usage level, for Year 1.

ltem	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage
Monthly Usage (Energy, kWh)	25,865	30,865	35,865
Monthly Usage (Demand, kW)	60	71	83
Generation Rate \$/kWh (Year 1)	\$0.0789	\$0.0789	\$0.0789
Demand Rate \$/kW (Year 1)	\$10.76	\$10.76	\$10.76
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0211	\$0.0211	\$0.0211
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1050	\$0.1050	\$0.1050
Total Bill (\$)	\$5,947	\$7,097	\$8,246
Change in Total Bill (\$) (1)	(\$386)	(\$461)	(\$536)

 Table 8-10

 Bill Impact Analysis: Medium General Service High Demand (E-19) FYE 2023

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

Large General Service

For the Large General Service class, an analysis of the bill impacts for the B-20 and E-20 was developed for the Year 1 rate changes. Table 8-11 provides an analysis of customers served on the B-20 rate code, which includes seasonally and TOU differentiated demand and energy rates. The energy average usage for this customer class was determined to be 364,747 kWh for a month and the average demand was determined to be 905 kW per month (for an average load factor of approximately 56%). An analysis of a representative "low-use" customer (314,747 kWh and 1,257 kW demand) and a "high-use" customer (414,747 kWh and 1,656 kW demand) is included for comparative purposes. The results indicate a

Bill Impact Analysis: Large General Service (B-20) FYE 2023			
Item	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage
Monthly Usage (Energy, kWh)	314,747	364,747	414,747
Monthly Usage (Demand, kW)	781	905	1,029
Generation Rate \$/kWh (Year 1)	\$0.0779	\$0.0779	\$0.0779
Demand Rate \$/kW (Year 1)	\$8.29	\$8.29	\$8.29
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0198	\$0.0198	\$0.0198
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1100	\$0.1100	\$0.1100
Total Bill (\$)	\$71,843	\$83,256	\$94,669
Change in Total Bill (\$) (1)	(\$5,489)	(\$6,361)	(\$7,232)

reduction in the average monthly bill from approximately \$5,500/month to \$7,200/month, depending on usage level, for Year 1.

Table 8-11

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

Table 8-12 provides an analysis of customers served on the E-20 rate code. The results indicate a reduction in the average monthly bill from approximately \$5,500/month to \$7,200/month, depending on usage level, for Year 1.

•	. ,	
Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage
314,747	364,747	414,747
781	905	1,029
\$0.0718	\$0.0718	\$0.0718
\$10.72	\$10.72	\$10.72
\$0.0198	\$0.0198	\$0.0198
\$0.1100	\$0.1100	\$0.1100
\$71,812	\$83,220	\$94,628
(\$5,458)	(\$6,325)	(\$7,192)
	Low Usage 314,747 781 \$0.0718 \$10.72 \$0.0198 \$0.1100 \$71,812 (\$5,458)	Low Usage Average Usage 314,747 364,747 781 905 \$0.0718 \$0.0718 \$10.72 \$10.72 \$0.0198 \$0.0198 \$0.1100 \$0.1100 \$71,812 \$83,220 (\$5,458) (\$6,325)

 Table 8-12

 Bill Impact Analysis: Large General Service (E-20) FYE 2023

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

Year 2 Average Bill Impacts

An analysis of the potential impacts to selected customers served by CleanPowerSF was developed for the Year 2 rate changes. For this scenario, it is assumed that the PCIA will increase by approximately 68% on January 1, 2023. A report issued by the California Public Utilities Commission in April 2021 ("Utility Cost and Affordability of the Grid of the Future"), included an appendix with projections of bundled rates for PG&E, which suggested a decrease in the distribution delivery rate. However, for the purposes of this Report, it is assumed that the delivery rate will remain the same for FY 2023-2024.

Residential

For the Residential class, an analysis of the bill impacts for the Year 2 changes (E-1 and TOU C). Table 8-13 provides an analysis of customers served on the E-1 rate code. The results indicate an increase in the average monthly bill from approximately \$0.45/month to \$1.19/month, depending on usage level.

Monthly Bill Impact Analysis: Residential E-1 (FYE 2024)			
Item	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage
Monthly Usage (kWh)	184	284	484
Generation Rate \$/kWh	\$0.1088	\$0.1088	\$0.1088
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0337	\$0.0337	\$0.0337
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1995	\$0.1995	\$0.1995
Total Bill (\$)	\$62.93	\$97.13	\$165.52
Change in Total Bill (\$) (1)	\$0.45	\$0.70	\$1.19

Table 8-13

Numbers may not add due to rounding.

Table 8-14 provides an analysis of customers served on the TOU C rate code. The results indicate an increase in the average monthly bill from approximately \$0.71/month to \$1.88/month, depending on usage level for the month as well as during the TOU periods.

ltem	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage
Monthly Usage (kWh)	184	284	484
Generation Rate \$/kWh	\$0.1088	\$0.1088	\$0.1088
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0337	\$0.0337	\$0.0337
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1995	\$0.1995	\$0.1995
Total Bill (\$)	\$62.93	\$97.13	\$165.52
Change in Total Bill (\$) (1)	\$0.71	\$1.10	\$1.88

Table 8-14 Monthly Bill Impact Analysis: Residential TOU C (FYE 2024)

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

Small General Service

For the Small General Service class, an analysis of the bill impacts for the Year 2 changes for B-1 and A-1-B was developed. Table 8-15 provides an analysis of customers served on the B-1 rate code. The average usage for this customer class was determined to be 1,266 kWh for a month. The results indicate a reduction in the average monthly bill from approximately \$2.20/month to \$5.07/month, depending on usage level, for Year 2.

Item	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage
Monthly Usage (kWh)	766	1,266	1,766
Generation Rate \$/kWh	\$0.0959	\$0.0959	\$0.0959
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0325	\$0.0325	\$0.0325
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1822	\$0.1822	\$0.1822
Total Bill (\$)	\$237.89	\$393.16	\$548.44
Change in Total Bill (\$) (1)	(\$2.20)	(\$3.64)	(\$5.07)

 Table 8-15

 Monthly Bill Impact Analysis: Small General Service B-1 (FYE 2024)

Table 8-16 provides an analysis of customers served on the A-1-B rate code. The results indicate an increase in the average monthly bill from approximately \$1.62/month to \$3.74/month, depending on usage level, for Year 2.

Monthly Bill Impact Analysis: Small General Service – A-1B (FYE 2024)					
Item Low Usage Average Usage High					
Monthly Usage (kWh)	766	1,266	1,766		
Generation Rate \$/kWh	\$0.0959	\$0.0959	\$0.0959		
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0325	\$0.0325	\$0.0325		
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1822	\$0.1822	\$0.1822		
Total Bill (\$)	\$237.89	\$393.16	\$548.44		
Change in Total Bill (\$) (1)	\$1.62	\$2.68	\$3.74		

 Table 8-16

 Monthly Bill Impact Analysis: Small General Service – A-1B (FYE 2024)

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

Medium General Service Low Demand

For the Medium General Service Low Demand class, an analysis of the bill impacts for the Year 2 changes for B-10 and A-10-B was developed. Table 8-17 provides an analysis of customers served on the B-10 rate code. The results indicate a reduction in the average monthly bill from approximately \$80/month to \$112/month, depending on usage level, for Year 2.

Bin impact Analysis: mediam Scheral Schröce ESW Beinana (B-16) 1 1 E 2024				
ltem	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage	
Monthly Usage (kWh)	10,024	12,024	14,024	
Generation Rate \$/kWh	\$0.0920	\$0.0920	\$0.0920	
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0348	\$0.0348	\$0.0348	
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1385	\$0.1385	\$0.1385	
Total Bill (\$)	\$2,659	\$3,190	\$3,721	
Change in Total Bill (\$) (1)	(\$80)	(\$96)	(\$112)	

 Table 8-17

 Bill Impact Analysis: Medium General Service Low Demand (B-10) FYE 2024

Table 8-18 provides an analysis of customers served on the A-10-B rate code. The results indicate a reduction in the average monthly bill from approximately \$37/month to \$52/month, depending on usage level, for Year 2.

Bill Impact Analysis: Medium General Service Low Demand (A-10-B) FYE 2024				
ltem	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage	
Monthly Usage (kWh)	10,024	12,024	14,024	
Generation Rate \$/kWh	\$0.0920	\$0.0920	\$0.0920	
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0348	\$0.0348	\$0.0348	
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1385	\$0.1385	\$0.1385	
Total Bill (\$)	\$2,659	\$3,190	\$3,721	
Change in Total Bill (\$)	(\$37)	(\$45)	(\$52)	

Table 8-18 Bill Impact Analysis: Medium General Service Low Demand (A-10-B) FYE 2024

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

Medium General Service High Demand

For the Medium General Service High Demand class, an analysis of the bill impacts for the B-19 and E-19 was developed for the Year 2 rate changes. Table 8-19 provides an analysis of customers served on the B-19 rate code, which includes seasonally and TOU differentiated demand and energy rates. The results indicate a reduction in the average monthly bill from approximately \$53/month to \$74/month, depending on usage level, for Year 2.

,		(-	,
ltem	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage
Monthly Usage (Energy, kWh)	25,865	30,865	35,865
Monthly Usage (Demand, kW)	60	71	83
Generation Rate \$/kWh (Year 2)	\$0.0673	\$0.0673	\$0.0673
Demand Rate \$/kW (Year 2)	\$9.34	\$9.34	\$9.34
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0348	\$0.0348	\$0.0348
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1050	\$0.1050	\$0.1050
Total Bill (\$)	\$5,915	\$7,059	\$8,202
Change in Total Bill (\$) (1)	(\$53)	(\$63)	(\$74)

 Table 8-19

 Bill Impact Analysis: Medium General Service High Demand (B-19) FYE 2024

Table 8-20 provides an analysis of customers served on the A-10-B rate code. The results indicate a reduction in the average monthly bill from approximately \$32/month to \$44/month, depending on usage level, for Year 1.

ltem	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage
Monthly Usage (Energy, kWh)	25,865	30,865	35,865
Monthly Usage (Demand, kW)	60	71	83
Generation Rate \$/kWh (Year 2)	\$0.0673	\$0.0673	\$0.0673
Demand Rate \$/kW (Year 2)	\$9.34	\$9.34	\$9.34
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0348	\$0.0348	\$0.0348
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1050	\$0.1050	\$0.1050
Total Bill (\$)	\$5,915	\$7,059	\$8,202
Change in Total Bill (\$) (1)	(\$32)	(\$38)	(\$44)

 Table 8-20

 Bill Impact Analysis: Medium General Service High Demand (E-19) FYE 2023

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

Large General Service

For the Large General Service class, an analysis of the bill impacts for the B-20 and E-20 was developed for the Year 2 rate changes. Table 8-21 provides an analysis of customers served on the B-20 rate code, which includes seasonally and TOU differentiated demand and energy rates. The results indicate a reduction in the average monthly bill from approximately \$1,400/month to \$1,900/month, depending on usage level, for Year 1.

Bin impact Analysis. Large General Service (B-20) FTE 2024				
ltem	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage	
Monthly Usage (Energy, kWh)	314,747	364,747	414,747	
Monthly Usage (Demand, kW)	781	905	1,029	
Generation Rate \$/kWh (Year 2)	\$0.0581	\$0.0581	\$0.0581	
Demand Rate \$/kW (Year 2)	\$9.25	\$9.25	\$9.25	
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0326	\$0.0326	\$0.0326	
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1100	\$0.1100	\$0.1100	
Total Bill (\$)	\$70,391	\$81,573	\$92,755	
Change in Total Bill (\$) (1)	(\$1,452)	(\$1,683)	(\$1,913)	

 Table 8-21

 Bill Impact Analysis: Large General Service (B-20) FYE 2024

Table 8-22 provides an analysis of customers served on the E-20 rate code. The results indicate a reduction in the average monthly bill from approximately \$1,400/month to \$1,900/month, depending on usage level, for Year 1.

	•	(<i>)</i>	
Item	Low Usage	Average Usage	High Usage
Monthly Usage (Energy, kWh)	314,747	364,747	414,747
Monthly Usage (Demand, kW)	781	905	1,029
Generation Rate \$/kWh (Year 1)	\$0.0581	\$0.0581	\$0.0581
Demand Rate \$/kW (Year 1)	\$9.2466	\$9.2466	\$9.2466
PCIA + FFS (\$/kWh)	\$0.0326	\$0.0326	\$0.0326
Delivery Rate (\$/kWh)	\$0.1100	\$0.1100	\$0.1100
Total Bill (\$)	\$70,391	\$81,573	\$92,755
Change in Total Bill (\$) (1)	(\$1,421)	(\$1,647)	(\$1,873)

Table 8-22Bill Impact Analysis: Large General Service (E-20) FYE 2023

(1) Numbers may not add due to rounding.

Section 9 CONCLUSION/FUTURE RATE CHANGES/RECOMMENDATONS

Conclusion

The process of developing this Study resulted in several findings and recommendations for rate changes for both Hetch Hetchy Power and CleanPowerSF. One conclusion is that while the SFPUC is under a mandate to conduct an independent review of its rates every five years, a shorter rate plan period is warranted. For this Study, the rate plan period is a two-year period, beginning in FY 2022–2023 and ending FY 2022–2024. Further, the recommended two-year rate plan is recommended to implement different rates for each fiscal year: July 1, 2022 (for FY 2022–2023) and July 1, 2023 (for FY 2023–2024), rather than enact one set of rates to cover both fiscal years. However, the results of the analysis, methodologies and models created for this Study can be utilized by SFPUC to inform rates for the five-year period ending FY 2026-2027.

There are several reasons for this recommendation. For Hetch Hetchy Power, the projections for customer growth, especially in the residential customer class, are significant. This growth results in increased costs for services, which is met with changes in rates for customers. If the growth does not materialize in the projected period, revenue projections will need to be adjusted (as will expenses). For CleanPowerSF, the exposure to price volatility in the CAISO market also warrants a two-year phase in to move customers to COS-based rates. By recommending two sets of rate changes over the two-year rate plan period, SFPUC management and staff have the opportunity to review projections for growth, revenue, and expenses, and potentially make adjustments as necessary to their operations to continue to ensure fiscal responsibility.

Other findings of this Study included an analysis of the underlying market power costs that vary throughout the year and within the day. The seasonal variation suggests that CAISO power supply costs for both Hetch Hetchy Power and CleanPowerSF are higher during the winter periods than summer periods. However, current and recommended rate structures are set to have higher costs during the summer than winter. Further, an analysis of power supply costs during the day (TOU) within each operation generally suggests higher costs during on- and part-peak periods than off-peak periods. For Hetch Hetchy Power, the TOU differentials analyzed for this Study have been incorporated into the recommended rates over the two-year rate period. For CleanPowerSF, the existing TOU rate differentials (based on PG&E rate structures) have been maintained in the recommended rates.

For Hetch Hetchy Power, one primary objective of this Study is to move the "legacy" rate groups (retail, GUSE, Enterprise) into traditional rate offerings (residential, commercial, industrial). This goal includes shifting customers within each "group" towards the COS-based rates developed for the industry standard rate offering. This objective will require a transition period; for some customer classes, this transition period is the two-year rate plan (depending on load growth). However, for most customer classes this objective may require additional time to fully achieve. During this transition period, the existing subsidy for GUSE customers will be maintained, but is reduced as those customers' rates approach COS. For residential customers, an effective rate cap of 10% for the class also creates a subsidy during this transition period. A final subsidy related to the low-income rate offering for residential customers is maintained for the rate study period. Over time, these subsidies (with the potential exception of the low-income discount) should be phased out as customers are moved to cost of service; the recommended rates make significant progress towards this goal, but the SFPUC should continue on this path in future years.



For CleanPowerSF, a primary objective of this Study is to provide funding of specific financial reserves for the operation and continued financial stability of the organization. As indicated herein, this includes recommendations for a policy change to increase its targeted days cash on hand to equal 180 days. This specific target is not achieved during the two-year rate plan; however, the recommended rates provide funding for reserves that allow CleanPowerSF to move towards its goal during this period, and to meet the target within three years, as required by the policy.

For both Hetch Hetchy Power and CleanPowerSF, a combined objective of this Study is to separate the rate-related actions for customers served by the SFPUC from the rate actions of PG&E. As indicated, currently CleanPowerSF rates are tied to changes in PG&E rates; rates were changed to match PG&E during the recent rate change on March 1, 2022. Due to the nature of the CCA operation, CleanPowerSF will remain "tied" to PG&E for the billing periods (TOU), as well as future changes in the PCIA. Additionally, CleanPowerSF will need to remain "competitive" with PG&E either on a cost basis or with their rate offerings (such as their SuperGreen product). However, going forward, generation rates for CleanPowerSF will be related to their projected COS and the results of this Study will allow operations to forecast revenue from projected sales based on the rate recommendations.

For Hetch Hetchy Power, the Enterprise and retail rates were historically tied to the rate levels set by PG&E. However, with the rate recommendations, the rates are based on their projected COS by traditional rate class. The recommended rate structures for the Enterprise customers (seasonal, TOU) are tied to their former structures, but are transitioning towards COS during the two-year rate plan.

Future Rate Changes

As indicated, not all of the anticipated objectives of this Study were able to be accomplished during the two-year rate plan developed herein. Specifically, analysis and updates to the Net Energy Metering (NEM) rate program for CleanPowerSF and Hetch Hetchy Power is an area that warrants review, given the changes in the industry regarding NEM reform. Additionally, future rate changes may be warranted for the existing Peak Day pricing programs as well as other demand management programs, which were not reviewed for this Study. As mentioned, time-of-use periods for Hetch Hetchy rates were not changed from their current structures. Further analysis should examine whether different time periods better capture Hetch Hetchy costs and drive customer behavior. Moreover, not all customer classes have TOU rate options and future analysis could consider creating those.

For Hetch Hetchy Power, specific rate elements were identified during this Study that warrant future review and potential changes to the rates, rate structures, and fee programs. Specifically, it was identified that, as noted above, the seasonal rates do not appear to correspond with the seasonal market costs. The winter energy costs (on average) for Hetch Hetchy Power appear to be higher than the summer energy costs (on average), whereas the current (and recommended) rate structures reflect the opposite (summer rates are higher than winter rates). This issue should be examined in future rate studies to determine if the analysis conducted herein holds true over a longer period (this was an annual analysis based on 2019 load and pricing). Any future changes to seasonal rate structures should recognize that a significant communication and outreach effort will be required. This Study did not develop transmission access charges for Hetch Hetchy Power transmission assets or other wholesale power rates, which should be considered in future rate studies. Additionally, this Study did not review costs or application of Hetch Hetchy Power premium or green tariff programs, which should be addressed in future rate offerings.

The SFPUC is considering a review of its existing policies regarding assignment of its up-country and downcountry costs (the 45/55% split, see "Glossary of Terms"). Currently, for joint operations, the Water Enterprise is responsible for 45% of operating and capital costs, while the Power Enterprise is responsible for the remaining 55%. Any changes to this methodology would results in changes to the costs allocated to Hetch Hetchy Power and would therefore need to be incorporated into future rate changes, as appropriate.

Hetch Hetchy Power should also continue to evaluate its line extension policy with its projected costs to ensure future development contributes an appropriate share of its costs to the system. Other fee programs to be reviewed for future rate evaluation include the streetlight permit review fees and the low carbon fuel standard credit trading fees.

The resulting recommended rates developed for this Study were prepared for the two-year rate plan as described herein. The period of the analyses covered by this Study extends to FY 2026-2027 (a five-year period). The methodology and models prepared for this Study should be utilized by the SFPUC within the five-year period analyzed to inform retail rates for Hetch Hetchy Power and CleanPowerSF for this period. As indicated herein, the two-year rate plan period was selected due to the anticipated volatility in the wholesale power market (CAISO), which directly impacts the operations costs for CleanPowerSF. Additionally, the two-year rate plan was developed to address the uncertainly regarding projected load growth to be served by Hetch Hetchy Power, which is primarily focused on the residential customer class. However, this Study provides SFPUC with the tools and analyses to evaluate and proposed rate changes for the period from FY 2022-2023 to FY 2026-2027.

Recommendations

Based on the conclusions and supporting analyses presented herein, the following recommendations are a result of this Study:

- The Commission should adopt rates as described and recommended in two-year rate plan and this Report.
- The SFPUC should continue to invest in infrastructure, equipment, and personnel to ensure its ability to meet customer demand for innovation and reliable power supply.
- The SFPUC should continue to monitor and evaluate evolving technologies, systems, and operations to maximize its investments.
- SFPUC should utilize the results of this Study to develop future year rate proposals as necessary.





APPENDIX A: RECOMMENDED HETCH HETCHY POWER RATES

MAY 11, 2022 2022 POWER RATES STUDY FINAL REPORT

Appendix A Proposed Hetch Hetchy Power Rates Tariff Summary Recommended Rates

			Proposed Phase 1	Proposed Phase 2
Decidential	Rate Component	Current Rates	Rates	Rates
Residential				
R-1 Gas and Electric	Customor Chargo	¢Λ ΕQ	¢E 01	¢7 22
	Summer Energy	Ş4.56	ŞJ.51	\$7.25
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 227 kWh)	\$0.1778	\$0,2088	\$0.2277
	Tier 2 (227 kWh - 524 kWh	\$0.2021	\$0.2506	\$0.2732
	Tier 3 (Over 524 kWh)	\$0.4137	\$0.3758	\$0.4099
	Winter Energy		,	
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 252 kWh)	\$0.1778	\$0.2088	\$0.2277
	Tier 2 (252 kWh - 579 kWh	\$0.2021	\$0.2506	\$0.2732
	Tier 3 (Over 579 kWh)	\$0.4137	\$0.3758	\$0.4099
ER-1 Electric Heating				
	Customer Charge	\$4.58	\$5.91	\$7.23
	Summer Energy	+ ·····	,	7
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 250 kWh)	\$0.1778	\$0.2088	\$0.2277
	, Tier 2 (250 kWh - 578 kWh	\$0.2021	\$0.2506	\$0.2732
	Tier 3 (Over 578 kWh)	\$0.4137	\$0.3758	\$0.4099
	Winter Energy			
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 418 kWh)	\$0.1778	\$0.2088	\$0.2277
	Tier 2 (418 kWh - 960 kWh	\$0.2021	\$0.2506	\$0.2732
	Tier 3 (Over 960 kWh)	\$0.4137	\$0.3758	\$0.4099
R-2 Low Income Gas and Ele	ctric			
	Customer Charge	\$3.21	\$4.14	\$5.06
	Summer Energy			
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 227 kWh)	\$0.1245	\$0.1462	\$0.1594
	Tier 2 (227 kWh - 524 kWh	\$0.1415	\$0.1754	\$0.1913
	Tier 3 (Over 524 kWh)	\$0.2896	\$0.2631	\$0.2869
	Winter Energy			
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 252 kWh)	\$0.1245	\$0.1462	\$0.1594
	Tier 2 (252 kWh - 579 kWh	\$0.1415	\$0.1754	\$0.1913
	Tier 3 (Over 579 kWh)	\$0.2896	\$0.2631	Ş0.2869
ER-2 Low Income Electric He	ating			
	Customer Charge	\$3.21	\$4.14	\$5.06
	Summer Energy			
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 250 kWh)	\$0.1245	\$0.1462	\$0.1594
	Tier 2 (250 kWh - 578 kWh	\$0.1415	\$0.1754	\$0.1913
	Tier 3 (Over 578 kWh)	\$0.2896	\$0.2631	\$0.2869
	Winter Energy			
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 418 kWh)	\$0.1245	\$0.1462	\$0.1594
	Tier 2 (418 kWh - 960 kWh	\$0.1415	\$0.1754	\$0.1913
	Tier 3 (Over 960 kWh)	\$0.2896	\$0.2631	\$0.2869
REV-1 Experieimetal Electric	Vehicle			
	Customer Charge	\$4.58	\$5.91	\$7.23
	Summer Energy			
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 400 kWh)	\$0.1778	\$0.2028	\$0.2277
	Tier 2 (400 kWh - 728 kWh	\$0.2021	\$0.2433	\$0.2732
	Tier 3 (Over 728 kWh)	\$0.3103	\$0.3650	\$0.4099
	Winter Energy	1 0 /	40 0	10 or
	Lier 1 (0 kWh - 568 kWh)	\$0.1778	\$0.2028	\$0.2277
	Tier 2 (568 kWh - 1110 kW	\$0.2021	\$0.2433	\$0.2732
	Her 3 (Over 1110 KWh)	\$0.3103	\$0.3650	ŞU.4099

Appendix A Proposed Hetch Hetchy Power Rates Tariff Summary Recommended Rates

R-M Medical Necessity	/ Assistance			
	Customer Charge	\$4.58	\$5.91	\$7.23
	Summer Energy			
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 727 kWh)	\$0.1778	\$0.2028	\$0.2277
	Tier 2 (727 kWh - 1024 kW	\$0.2021	\$0.2433	\$0.2732
	Tier 3 (Over 1024 kWh)	\$0.4137	\$0.3650	\$0.4099
	Winter Energy			
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 752 kWh)	\$0.1778	\$0.2028	\$0.2277
	Tier 2 (752 kWh - 1079 kW	\$0.2021	\$0.2433	\$0.2732
	Tier 3 (Over 1079 kWh)	\$0.4137	\$0.3650	\$0.4099
ER-M Medical Necessi	tv Assistance Electric Heat			
	Customer Charge	\$4.58	\$5.91	\$7.23
	Summer Energy			
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 750 kWh)	\$0.1778	\$0.2088	\$0.2277
	Tier 2 (750 kWh - 1078 kW	\$0.2021	\$0.2506	\$0.2732
	Tier 3 (Over 1078 kWh)	\$0.4137	\$0.3758	\$0.4099
	Winter Energy			-
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 918 kWh)	\$0.1778	\$0.2088	\$0.2277
	Tier 2 (918 kWh - 1460 kW	\$0.2021	\$0.2506	\$0.2732
	Tier 3 (Over 1460 kWh)	\$0.4137	\$0.3758	\$0.4099
F1TB Individually Mete	ared Gas and Electric			
LITD main addany wea	Customer Charge	\$0.00	\$3.62	\$7.23
	Summer Energy			* *****
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 227 kWh)	\$0.3147	\$0.2712	\$0.2277
	Tier 2 (227 kWh - 524 kWh	\$0.3945	\$0.3254	\$0.2732
	Tier 3 (Over 524 kWh)	\$0.4932	\$0.4881	\$0.4099
	Winter Energy	,	,	
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 252 kWh)	\$0.3147	\$0.2712	\$0.2277
	Tier 2 (252 kWh - 579 kWh	\$0.3945	\$0.3254	\$0.2732
	Tier 3 (Over 579 kWh)	\$0.4932	\$0.4881	\$0.4099
FL1TB Low Income Ind	ividually Metered Gas and Electric			
LETTE LOW Income ind	Customer Charge	\$0.00	\$2.36	\$4.70
	Summer Energy	<i>Q</i> 0.00	<i>\$2.30</i>	<i>Q</i> 4.70
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 227 kWh)	\$0,2047	\$0,1764	\$0,1481
	Tier 2 (227 kWh - 524 kWh	\$0.2567	\$0.2117	\$0.1778
	Tier 3 (Over 524 kWh)	\$0.3208	\$0.3176	\$0.2666
	Winter Energy	,		,
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 252 kWh)	\$0.2047	\$0.1764	\$0.1481
	Tier 2 (252 kWh - 579 kWh	\$0.2567	\$0.2117	\$0.1778
	Tier 3 (Over 579 kWh)	\$0.3208	\$0.3176	\$0.2666
ENATE Mastered Met	ared Cas and Electric Heating			
		\$0.00	\$3.62	\$7.22
	Summer Energy	<i>Q</i> 0.00	<i>\$</i> 3.02	<i>γ</i> 7.25
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 227 kWh)	\$0,3147	\$0.2712	\$0.2277
	Tier 2 (227 kWh - 524 kWh	\$0.3945	\$0.3254	\$0,2732
	Tier 3 (Over 524 kWh)	\$0,4932	\$0.4881	\$0.4099
	Winter Energy	+	+	201.000
	Tier 1 (0 kWh - 252 kWh)	\$0.3147	\$0.2712	\$0.2277
	Tier 2 (252 kWh - 579 kWh	\$0.3945	\$0.3254	\$0.2732
	Tier 3 (Over 579 kWh)	\$0.4932	\$0.4881	\$0.4099
EMLTB Low Income Mastered Metered Gas and Electric	Heating			
---	-------------	----------	----------	
Customer Charge	\$0.00	\$2.36	\$4.70	
Summer Energy				
Tier 1 (0 kWh - 227 kWł	n) \$0.2047	\$0.1764	\$0.1481	
Tier 2 (227 kWh - 524 k ⁱ	Wh \$0.2567	\$0.2117	\$0.1778	
Tier 3 (Over 524 kWh)	\$0.3208	\$0.3176	\$0.2666	
Winter Energy				
Tier 1 (0 kWh - 252 kWł	n) \$0.2047	\$0.1764	\$0.1481	
Tier 2 (252 kWh - 579 k	Wh \$0.2567	\$0.2117	\$0.1778	
Tier 3 (Over 579 kWh)	\$0.3208	\$0.3176	\$0.2666	
EMLTH Low Income Mastered Metered Electric Heating	5			
Customer Charge	\$0.00	\$2.35	\$4.70	
Summer Energy				
Tier 1 (0 kWh - 250 kWł	n) \$0.2047	\$0.1764	\$0.1481	
Tier 2 (250 kWh - 578 k	Wh \$0.2567	\$0.2117	\$0.1778	
Tier 3 (Over 578 kWh)	\$0.3208	\$0.3176	\$0.2666	
Winter Energy				
Tier 1 (0 kWh - 418 kWh	n) \$0.2047	\$0.1764	\$0.1481	
Tier 2 (418 kWh - 960 k ⁱ	Wh \$0.2567	\$0.2117	\$0.1778	
Tier 3 (Over 960 kWh)	\$0.3208	\$0.3176	\$0.2666	

Small Commercial				
C-1				
	Customer Charge Single Phase	\$8.99	\$11.65	\$14.31
	Customer Charge Poly Phase	\$22.49	\$29.14	\$35.80
	Summer Energy Charge	\$0.2562	\$0.2743	\$0.2973
	Winter Energy Charge	\$0.2049	\$0.2194	\$0.2378
			1.250319052	1.250304942
GUSE G-1				
	Customer Charge Single Phase	\$0.00	\$6.00	\$8.52
	Customer Charge Poly Phase	\$0.00	\$15.02	\$21.32
	Summer Energy Charge	\$0.0988	\$0.1410	\$0.1733
	Winter Energy Charge	\$0.0988	\$0.1128	\$0.1386
A1S and A1P				
	Customer Charge Single Phase	\$10.00	\$12.15	\$14.31
	Customer Charge Poly Phase	\$25.00	\$30.38	\$35.78
	Summer Energy Charge	\$0.3364	\$0.3271	\$0.2972
	Winter Energy Charge	\$0.2794	\$0.2616	\$0.2377
			1.250334467	1.250326
A1-US and A1-UP				
	Customer Charge Single Phase	\$10.00	\$12.15	\$14.31
	Customer Charge Poly Phase	\$25.00	\$30.38	\$35.78
	Summer Energy Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.3397	\$0.3290	\$0.2978
	Part Peak	\$0.3397	\$0.3290	\$0.2978
	Off Peak	\$0.3149	\$0.2832	\$0.2332
	Winter Energy Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.0000	\$0.000000	\$0.00000
	Part Peak	\$0.2921	\$0.2947	\$0.2790
	Off Peak	\$0.2915	\$0.2803	\$0.2515

Medium Commercial				
C-2S				
	Customer Charge	\$149.92	\$202.52	\$255.11
	Summer Energy Charge	\$0.1387	\$0.1139	\$0.0932
	Winter Energy Charge	\$0.1726	\$0.1416	\$0.1160
	Summer Demand Charge	\$14.11	\$27.76	\$41.41
	Winter Demand Charge	\$14.11	\$27.76	\$41.41
		0.803894298	0.803855115	0.803897896
C-2P				
	Customer Charge	\$149.92	\$194.22	\$238.51
	Summer Energy Charge	\$0.1302	\$0.1075	\$0.0891
	Winter Energy Charge	\$0.1619	\$0.1338	\$0.1108
	Summer Demand Charge	\$15.89	\$25.07	\$34.25
	Winter Demand Charge	\$13.90	\$24.07	\$34.25
		0.804398863	0.80388785	0.803898565
GUSE G-2S			4	
	Customer Charge	\$0.00	\$132.19	\$205.54
	Summer Energy Charge	\$0.0988	\$0.0683	\$0.0569
	Winter Energy Charge	\$0.0988	\$0.0850	\$0.0707
	Summer Demand Charge	\$0.00	\$18.12	\$33.36
	Winter Demand Charge	\$0.00	\$18.12	\$33.36
GUSE G-2P				
0052 0 21	Customer Charge	\$0.00	\$138.05	\$219.56
	Summer Energy Charge	8890 D2	\$100.05	\$0.0611
	Winter Energy Charge	\$0.0988	\$0.0869	\$0.0761
	Summer Demand Charge	\$0.00	\$17.82	\$31.52
	Winter Demand Charge	\$0.00	\$17.11	\$31.52
		,		,
A10-S				
	Customer Charge	\$179.90	\$217.51	\$255.11
	Summer Energy Charge	\$0.2337	\$0.1611	\$0.0925
	Winter Energy Charge	\$0.1961	\$0.2004	\$0.1151
	Summer Demand Charge	\$18.45	\$29.93	\$41.41
	Winter Demand Charge	\$18.45	\$29.93	\$41.41
		1.191819248	0.803893187	0.803856845
A10-P		·		·
	Customer Charge	\$179.90	\$209.20	\$238.51
	Summer Energy Charge	\$0.2170	\$0.1505	\$0.0881
	Winter Energy Charge	\$0.1818	\$0.1872	\$0.1096
	Summer Demand Charge	\$18.14	\$26.19	\$34.25
	Winter Demand Charge	\$18.14	\$26.19	\$34.25
A10 U.C			0.803877584	0.803943045
A10-03	Customer Charge	\$170.00	\$217 51	\$255.11
	Summer Energy Charge	\$179.90	\$217.51	\$255.11
	On-Peak	\$0.2 <i>1</i> 72	\$0 18 <i>1</i> 1	\$0 1255
	Part-Peak	\$0.2472	\$0.1841	\$0.1255
	Off-Peak	\$0.2472 \$0.2201	\$0.1041 \$0.1502	¢0.1233 ¢0.1002
	Winter Energy Charge	90.220 4	J 0.1333	Ş0.1005
	On-Peak	\$0,0000	\$0,0000	\$0,0000
	Part-Peak	\$0.1967	\$0,1541	\$0.1182
	Off-Peak	\$0.1960	\$0.1493	\$0,1077
	Summer Demand Charge	\$18.45	\$79.93	\$41.41
	Winter Demand Charge	\$18.45	\$29.93	\$41.41
		<i>\</i> 20.15	<i>4</i> 20.00	÷11

A10-UP

Customer Charge	\$179.90	\$209.21	\$238.51
Summer Energy Charge			
On-Peak	\$0.2309	\$0.1730	\$0.1198
Part-Peak	\$0.2309	\$0.1730	\$0.1198
Off-Peak	\$0.2056	\$0.1495	\$0.0957
Winter Energy Charge			
On-Peak	\$0.0000	\$0.0000	\$0.0000
Part-Peak	\$0.1818	\$0.1438	\$0.1128
Off-Peak	\$0.1811	\$0.1394	\$0.1028
Summer Demand Charge	\$18.14	\$26.19	\$34.25
Winter Demand Charge	\$18.14	\$26.19	\$34.25

2022 Power Rates Study Appendix A Page 6 of 12

Large Commercial				
C-3S				
	Customer Charge	\$754.93	\$1,207.12	\$1,659.31
	Summer Energy Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.1019	\$0.0897	\$0.0783
	Part-Peak	\$0.1019	\$0.0897	\$0.0783
	Off-Peak	\$0.0965	\$0.0792	\$0.0624
	Winter Energy Charge	<i></i>	+	,
	On-Peak	\$0,0000	\$0,000	\$0,000
	Part-Peak	\$0.0942	\$0.0835	\$0.0000
	Off-Peak	\$0.0936	\$0.0802	\$0.0733
	Summer Demand Charge	J0.0350	J0.000Z	Ş0.0074
	On Pook	¢12.27	\$16 6F	¢21.02
	Dart Baak	\$12.27	\$10.05	\$21.03 ¢17.15
	Part-Peak Off Deals	\$10.01	\$13.58	\$17.15
	Оп-Реак	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
	Max	\$22.44	\$30.45	\$38.46
	Winter Demand Charge	4.5.5.5	4	
	On-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
	Part-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
	Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
	Max	\$22.44	\$30.45	\$38.46
C-3P				
	Customer Charge	\$1,151.50	\$1,352.55	\$1,553.60
	Summer Energy Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.0934	\$0.0852	\$0.0779
	Part-Peak	\$0.0934	\$0.0852	\$0.0779
	Off-Peak	\$0.0883	\$0.0749	\$0.0620
	Winter Energy Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.0000	\$0.0000	\$0.0000
	Part-Peak	\$0.0860	\$0.0792	\$0.0732
	Off-Peak	\$0.0854	\$0.0759	\$0.0671
	Summer Demand Charge		+	+
	On-Peak	\$10.44	\$11.80	\$13.15
	Part-Peak	\$8.73	\$9.86	\$11.00
	Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	00 02
	Max	\$0.00 \$10 E0	\$20.00	\$0.00 \$22.40
	Winter Demand Charge	\$10.50	\$20.99	ŞZ3.40
	On Poak	¢0.00	¢0.00	¢0.00
	On-Peak Dort Dook	\$0.00 ¢0.00	\$0.00 ¢0.00	\$0.00
	Part-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
	Оff-Реак	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
	Max	\$18.58	\$20.99	\$23.40
GUSE G-35		ćo. oo	6774.00	64 225 70
	Customer Charge	\$0.00	\$774.98	\$1,235.78
	Summer Energy Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.0988	\$0.0572	\$0.0567
	Part-Peak	\$0.0988	\$0.0572	\$0.0567
	Off-Peak	\$0.0988	\$0.0505	\$0.0451
	Winter Energy Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.0988	\$0.0000	\$0.0000
	Part-Peak	\$0.0988	\$0.0532	\$0.0459
	Off-Peak	\$0.0988	\$0.0511	\$0.0421
	Summer Demand Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.00	\$10.69	\$15.66
	Part-Peak	\$0.00	\$8.72	\$12.78
	Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
	Max	\$0.00	\$19.55	\$28.64
	Winter Demand Charge	20.00	<i>q</i> ±0.00	<i>720.04</i>
	On-Peak	<u> </u>	\$0 00	¢0 00
	Dart-Daak	ο.υς ¢0 00	\$0.00 ¢0.00	ο.00 \$0.00
		ο.υυ έρ.ορ	ο.υυ έρ.ορ	ş0.00
	UII-FEdK May	ŞU.UU 60.00	ېU.UU د ۱۵ ۲۲	ې0.00 د مورد
	Ινίαλ	ŞU.UU	22.51¢	şzo.64

GUSE G-3P				
	Customer Charge	\$0.00	\$1.065.72	\$1.514.89
	Summer Energy Charge		+-,	+ _ / =
	On-Peak	\$0 በዓጸጸ	\$0.0666	\$0.0738
	Part-Peak	\$0.0988	\$0.0666	\$0.0738
	Off-Peak	\$0.0988	\$0.0585	\$0.0585
	Winter Energy Charge	J0.0388	Ĵ0.0J8J	J0.0307
	On Book	¢0.0088	¢0,0000	¢0.000
	On-Peak Doub Doub	\$0.0988	\$0.0000	\$0.0000
	Part-Peak	\$0.0988	\$0.0619	\$0.0693
	Отт-Реак	\$0.0988	\$0.0593	\$0.0635
	Summer Demand Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.00	\$9.29	\$12.82
	Part-Peak	\$0.00	\$7.77	\$10.72
	Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
	Max	\$0.00	\$16.54	\$22.8
	Winter Demand Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
	Part-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
	Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
	Max	\$0.00	\$16.54	\$72.8
	Wax	<i>\$0.00</i>	\$10.5 4	<i>VL</i> L .01
E19-S				
	Customer Charge	\$903.76	\$1,281.54	\$1,659.31
	Summer Energy Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.1410	\$0.1222	\$0.078
	Part-Peak	\$0.1410	\$0.1222	\$0.0784
	Off-Peak	\$0.1350	\$0.1101	\$0.062
	Winter Energy Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.0000	\$0.0000	\$0.000
	Part-Peak	\$0 1325	\$0 1148	\$0.073
	Off-Peak	\$0.1325	\$0.1140	\$0.067
	Summer Demand Charge	<i>J</i> 0.1317	J 0.1110	Ş0.007-
	On Pook	¢16.00	¢10.01	¢21.01
	Dort Dook	\$10.99	\$15.01 ¢15.72	\$21.03
	Part-Peak	\$14.28	\$15.72	\$17.1
	Оп-реак	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
	Max	\$28.39	\$33.42	\$38.4
	Winter Demand Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.0
	Part-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.0
	Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.0
	Max	\$28.39	\$33.42	\$38.4
E10 D				
E19-P	Customer Charge	\$1,375,29	\$1,464,45	\$1,553,60
	Summer Energy Charge	<i><i><i>v</i>₂<i>joioi</i>₂<i>oi</i></i></i>	<i>\(_\)</i>	<i>ų 1,000.00</i>
	On-Peak	<u> </u>	\$0.1156	\$0.077
	Part-Deak	\$0.1281	\$0.1156	\$0.077
		\$0.1201 \$0.1224	\$0.1130	\$0.077. \$0.062
	Oll-Peak	\$0.1224	\$0.1050	ŞU.U62
	winter Energy Charge	40.0000	40.0000	40.000
	On-Peak	\$0.0000	\$0.0000	\$0.000
	Part-Peak	\$0.1199	Ş0.1083	Ş0.073
	Off-Peak	\$0.1192	\$0.1045	\$0.067
	Summer Demand Charge			
	On-Peak	\$14.46	\$13.81	\$13.1
	Part-Peak	\$12.42	\$11.71	\$11.0
	Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.0
	Max	\$23.73	\$23.56	\$23.4
	Winter Demand Charge	+_00	+0	¥=0.1
	On-Peak	\$0 00	\$0 00	\$0.00
	Part-Dook	\$0.00 \$0.00	¢0.00 ¢0.00	¢0.0
	T OLI TE E ON	ŞU.UU	γ υ.υυ	Ξ υ.υι
	Off Book	¢0.00	¢0.00	ćn 0/
	Off-Peak Mair	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00

F3 Cutomer Charge \$1,370.12 \$1,515.27 \$1,660.42 Summer Energy Charge 0.0.474 \$0.0991 \$0.0998 \$0.1110 Orf-Peak \$0.0971 \$0.0998 \$0.1110 Orf-Peak \$0.0995 \$0.0868 \$0.0808 Winter Energy Charge \$0.0808 \$0.0808 \$0.0913 Orf-Peak \$0.0895 \$0.0924 \$0.1034 Orf-Peak \$0.0808 \$0.0808 \$0.0938 Summer Denrand Charge \$0.7448 \$0.000 \$0.000 Orf-Peak \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 Max \$22.14 \$25.66 \$29.18 Orf-Peak \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 Max \$22.14 \$25.66 \$29.18 Har \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 Max \$22.14 \$25.66 \$29.18 Har \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Max \$20.0007 \$0.1078 \$0.1078 Orf-Peak \$0.0000 \$0.0000	Industrial				
Lustomer Charge 51,3/0.12 51,51.5.27 51,60.42 Summer Energy Charge On-Peak 50.0971 50.0998 50.1110 Part-Peak 50.0971 50.0998 50.0110 Off-Peak 50.0971 50.0998 50.0120 On-Peak 50.0981 50.0262 50.0104 Off-Peak 50.0898 50.0262 50.0104 Off-Peak 50.00 50.00 50.00 Part-Peak 50.00 50.00 50.00 Part-Peak 50.00 50.00 50.00 Off-Peak 50.00 50.00 50.00 Off-Peak 50.00 50.00 50.00 Off-Peak 50.00 50.00 50.00 Part-Peak 50.00 50.00 50.00 Off-Peak 50.000 50.00 50.00 Off-Peak 50.0081 50.0553 50.1078 On-Peak 50.0861 50.0553 50.1074 Off-Peak 50.0861 50.0553 50.1074 Off-Peak 50.0861 50.0553 50.000 Off-Peak 50.0861 50.0553 50.000 Off-Peak 50.0861 50.0553 50.000 Off-Peak 50.008 50.000 50.00 Off-Peak 50.008 50.000 50.00 Max 52.011 523.55 527.00 Winter Demand Charge On-Peak 50.008 50.000 50.00 Off-Peak 50.0088 50.0057 50.0733 Off-Peak 50.000 50.00 50.00 Max 50.01 50.00 50.00 50.00 On-Peak 50.000 50.00 50.00 On-Peak 50.000 50.00 50.00 Off-Peak 50.000 50.00 50.00 Off-Peak 50.	I-3S		41.000.10	** = * = * =	.
Summer brengy Charge S0.0998 S0.0998 S0.0998 S0.1110 Orl-Peak S0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0085 \$0.0924 \$0.1034 Ofl-Peak \$0.0085 \$0.0924 \$0.1034 Ofl-Peak \$0.0895 \$0.0924 \$0.1034 Ofl-Peak \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 Mark \$22.14 \$14.42 \$15.32 Orl-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Mark \$22.14 \$25.66 \$22.38 Winter Demand Charge \$1,367.57 \$1,481.03 \$1,594.48 Summer Energy Charge \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 Mark \$21.28 \$1,504.48 \$0.0861 \$0.0087 \$0.1078 Part-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 \$0.078 \$0.00861 \$0.0080 \$0.0000 Mark \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 \$0.00861 \$0.0085 \$0.0078		Customer Charge	\$1,370.12	\$1,515.27	\$1,660.42
John Heak S0.0012 S0.0038 S0.1110 Off-Peak S0.0018 S0.0868 S0.0000 On-Peak S0.0000 S0.0000 S0.0000 Part-Peak S0.0885 S0.0001 S0.0000 On-Peak S12.44 S14.42 S14.35 S12.31 Off-Peak S12.44 S14.42 S13.35 S12.31 Off-Peak S12.44 S14.42 S13.35 S12.31 Off-Peak S12.44 S0.00 S0.00 S0.00 Max S22.14 S25.66 S23.18 Winter Demand Charge On-Peak S0.00 S0.00 S0.00 Max S22.14 S25.66 S23.18 S1.594.48 Winter Demand Charge S1.457.57 S1.481.03 S1.594.48 Summer Drenge Charge S0.0967 S0.1076 On-Peak S0.092 S0.0867 S0.1076 On-Peak S0.092 S0.0863 S0.091 On-Peak S0.092 S0.0967 S0.1076			\$0.0971	\$0.0008	\$0.1110
Off-Peak 50.0918 50.0868 50.0868 Winter Energy Charge 0.04Peak 50.0000 50.0000 50.0000 Part-Peak 50.0895 50.0224 50.1134 Off-Peak 50.0895 50.02924 51.135 Off-Peak 55.79 51.135 512.91 Off-Peak 50.00 50.00 50.00 Miret Demand Charge 0.000 50.00 50.00 On-Peak 50.00 50.00 50.00 Miret Demand Charge 0.00 50.00 50.00 On-Peak 50.0942 50.0967 50.1078 On-Peak 50.0942 50.0967 50.1078 On-Peak 50.0942 50.0967 50.1078 On-Peak 50.0961 50.000 50.000 Off-Peak 50.0961 50.0085 50.001 Off-Peak 50.0961 50.0083 50.001 Off-Peak 50.0068 50.000 50.000 Off-Peak 50.006 50.000 50.000 </td <td></td> <td>Part-Peak</td> <td>\$0.0971</td> <td>\$0.0998</td> <td>\$0.1110</td>		Part-Peak	\$0.0971	\$0.0998	\$0.1110
Winter Energy Charge Doctod Doctod Doctod Doctod On-Peak \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0880 \$0.0880 \$0.0880 \$0.0938 Off-Peak \$12.44 \$14.42 \$15.35 \$12.31 Off-Peak \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 Max \$22.14 \$25.66 \$29.18 Winter Demand Charge \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 On-Peak \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 Part-Peak \$1.367.57 \$1.481.03 \$1.594.48 Max \$22.14 \$25.66 \$29.18 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 Max \$20.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0902 \$0.0842 \$0.0967 On-Peak \$0.0903 \$0.000 \$0.000 On-Peak \$0.0861 \$0.0833 \$0.0911 Summer Energy Charge \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000		Off-Peak	\$0.0971	\$0.0550	\$0.1110
On-Peak \$0,0000 \$0,0000 \$0,0000 Part-Peak \$0,0895 \$0,0024 \$0,0034 Summer Demand Charge On-Peak \$12,244 \$14,42 \$16,33 Part-Peak \$5,79 \$11,35 \$12,91 Oft-Peak \$0,000 \$0,000 \$0,000 Max \$22,14 \$25,66 \$29,18 Winter Demand Charge On-Peak \$0,000 \$0,000 \$0,000 On-Peak \$0,000 \$0,000 \$0,000 \$0,000 Max \$22,14 \$25,56 \$29,18 Winter Demand Charge \$0,0942 \$0,0967 \$0,1078 On-Peak \$0,0942 \$0,0967 \$0,1078 On-Peak \$0,0890 \$0,0802 \$0,0000 Part-Peak \$0,0891 \$0,0803 \$0,0000 On-Peak \$0,0861 \$0,0895 \$0,1004 On-Peak \$0,0061 \$0,0000 \$0,000 On-Peak \$0,0861 \$0,0895 \$0,0004 On-Peak \$0,0		Winter Energy Charge	ţ0.0510	çolococ	çolocoo
Part-Peak \$0.0895 \$0.0924 \$0.0194 Off-Peak \$12.44 \$14.42 \$16.39 On-Peak \$21.24 \$14.42 \$16.39 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$22.14 \$25.66 \$27.18 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$22.14 \$25.66 \$27.18 Winter Demand Charge \$1.467.57 \$1.481.03 \$1.594.48 Summer Energy Charge \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1076 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1076 Part-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1076 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1076 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1076 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1076 On-Peak \$0.0981 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0981 \$0.0983 \$0.0000 On-Peak \$0.0981 \$0.0983 \$0.0983		On-Peak	\$0.0000	\$0.0000	\$0.0000
Off-Pack \$0.0880 \$0.0880 \$0.0880 \$0.0880 Summer Demad Charge \$12.44 \$14.42 \$16.39 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.000 Max \$22.14 \$25.66 \$29.18 Winter Demad Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$50.00 \$50.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$50.00 \$50.00 \$50.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$50.00 \$50.00 Max \$22.14 \$25.66 \$23.18 Jummer Demad Charge \$1.367.57 \$1.481.03 \$1.594.48 Summer Energy Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 \$0.0081 \$0.0081 \$0.0081 \$0.0081 Jummer Demad Charge \$0.0080 \$0.0080 \$0.0081 \$0.0081 \$0.0081 \$0.0081 \$0.0081 \$0.0081 \$0.0081 \$0.0081 \$0.0081 \$0.0081 \$0.008		Part-Peak	\$0.0895	\$0.0924	\$0.1034
Summer Demand Charge 512.44 \$14.42 \$16.33 On-Peak \$9.79 \$11.35 \$512.91 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$20.00 \$0.00 Max \$22.14 \$22.566 \$27.18 Winter Demand Charge \$0.00 \$50.00 \$50.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$50.00 \$50.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$50.00 \$50.00 Off-Peak \$0.042 \$50.067 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0667 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0802 \$0.0842 \$50.0807 On-Peak \$0.0868 \$0.0863 \$50.0901 On-Peak \$0.0861 \$50.0801 \$50.0001 On-Peak \$0.0861 \$50.0853 \$50.0917 On-Peak \$0.0868 \$0.0853 \$50.0917 On-Peak \$0.0861 \$50.0853 \$50.0917 Summer Demand Charge \$0.0861 \$50.0853 \$50.0917 Summer Demand Charge \$0.00 \$50.00 \$50.00 <td></td> <td>Off-Peak</td> <td>\$0.0888</td> <td>\$0.0880</td> <td>\$0.0938</td>		Off-Peak	\$0.0888	\$0.0880	\$0.0938
On-Peak \$12.44 \$14.42 \$16.33 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$22.14 \$25.66 \$29.18 Winter Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$22.14 \$25.66 \$23.13 F3P Customer Charge \$1.367.57 \$1.481.03 \$51.594.48 Summer Energy Charge \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 Off-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 Off-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 Off-Peak \$0.0800 \$0.0000 \$0.0001 Winter Energy Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0085 \$0.0081 Summer Demad Charge \$0.00868 \$0.0085 \$0.0091 On-Peak \$12.38 \$14.51 \$16.63 Summer Demad Charge \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 On-Peak \$0.000 <td></td> <td>Summer Demand Charge</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>		Summer Demand Charge			
Part-Peak 59.79 \$11.33 \$12.21 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$22.14 \$25.66 \$23.18 Winter Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$22.14 \$25.66 \$23.18 F3P Customer Charge \$1,367.57 \$1,481.03 \$1,594.48 Summer Energy Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0868 \$0.0893 \$0.001 On-Peak \$0.0861 \$0.0863 \$0.0863 On-Peak \$0.0061 \$0.000 \$0.000 On-Peak \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 Minter Demand Charge \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 On-Peak \$0.000		On-Peak	\$12.44	\$14.42	\$16.39
Off-Peak 50.00 50.00 50.00 Max \$22.14 \$25.66 \$29.18 Winter Demand Charge \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$22.14 \$25.66 \$29.18 JP Customer Charge \$1.367.57 \$1.481.03 \$1.594.48 Summer Energy Charge \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0900 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Vinter Energy Charge \$0.0964 \$0.0863 \$0.0911 Uriter Demand Charge \$0.0861 \$0.0853 \$0.0911 Summer Demand Charge \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 Max \$20.111 \$23.35 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 Max \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 Max \$0.000 \$0.000		Part-Peak	\$9.79	\$11.35	\$12.91
Max 522.14 525.66 529.18 Winter Demand Charge 0.0-Peak 50.00 50.00 50.00 Part-Peak 50.00 50.00 50.00 Max 522.14 525.66 529.18 IBP 50.00 50.00 50.00 Customer Charge \$1,367.57 \$1,481.03 \$1,594.48 Summer Energy Charge 0.0-Peak \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0902 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0902 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0902 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0902 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0861 \$0.0800 \$0.0000 On-Peak \$0.0861 \$0.0853 \$0.0910 Summer Demand Charge \$0.000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 On-Peak \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge \$0.000 \$0.000 <t< td=""><td></td><td>Off-Peak</td><td>\$0.00</td><td>\$0.00</td><td>\$0.00</td></t<>		Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Winter Demand Charge S0.00 \$0.00 </td <td></td> <td>Max</td> <td>\$22.14</td> <td>\$25.66</td> <td>\$29.18</td>		Max	\$22.14	\$25.66	\$29.18
On-Peak 50.00 50.00 50.00 Part-Peak 50.00 50.00 50.00 Max \$22.14 \$25.66 \$29.18 F3P Customer Charge \$1,367.57 \$1,481.03 \$1,594.48 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 Part-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 Off-Peak \$0.0890 \$0.0842 \$0.0803 Winter Energy Charge On-Peak \$0.0868 \$0.0895 \$0.1004 Off-Peak \$0.0868 \$0.0895 \$0.1004 \$17.38 \$14.51 \$16.63 Summer Demand Charge On-Peak \$10.23 \$11.99 \$13.74 \$17.49 \$17.49 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.70 \$17.49 \$17.49 \$17.49 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00		Winter Demand Charge	<u>éo oo</u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>
Pail-Peak 50.00 50.00 50.00 Max \$22.14 \$25.66 \$29.18 F3P Customer Charge \$1,367.57 \$1,481.03 \$1,594.48 Summer Energy Charge On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 Part-Peak \$0.0900 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Of-Peak \$0.0900 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 On-Peak \$0.0868 \$0.0895 \$0.1018 Of-Peak \$0.0868 \$0.0895 \$0.1004 Of-Peak \$0.0861 \$0.0853 \$0.0911 Summer Demand Charge On-Peak \$10.23 \$11.99 \$13.74 Of-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.000 \$0.000		On-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00 \$0.00	\$0.00
On-Peak 50:00 30:00 30:00 Max \$22:14 \$25:66 \$29:18 I-3P Customer Charge \$1,367.57 \$1,481.03 \$1,594.48 Summer Energy Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0890 \$0.0842 \$0.0801 \$0.0000 Off-Peak \$0.0800 \$0.0802 \$0.0803 \$0.0000 On-Peak \$0.0861 \$0.0853 \$0.0911 Summer Demand Charge On-Peak \$10.23 \$11.99 \$13.74 Off-Peak \$10.23 \$11.99 \$13.74 Off-Peak \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge On-Peak \$0.000 \$0.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>\$0.00 \$0.00</td><td>\$0.00 \$0.00</td><td>\$0.00 \$0.00</td></t<>			\$0.00 \$0.00	\$0.00 \$0.00	\$0.00 \$0.00
Hist JLLA JLLOS JLLAS F3P Customer Charge \$1,367.57 \$1,481.03 \$1,594.48 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 Part-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 Off-Peak \$0.0900 \$0.0842 \$0.0843 Winter Energy Charge On-Peak \$0.0000 \$0.0000 On-Peak \$0.0868 \$0.0853 \$0.0911 Summer Demand Charge On-Peak \$10.23 \$11.99 \$13.74 Off-Peak \$10.23 \$11.99 \$13.74 Off-Peak \$0.000 \$0.000 Summer Demand Charge On-Peak \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 \$1,141.32 \$1,522.94 Summer Energy Charge On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 <td></td> <td>Max</td> <td>\$0.00 \$22.14</td> <td>\$0.00</td> <td>\$0.00 \$20.18</td>		Max	\$0.00 \$22.14	\$0.00	\$0.00 \$20.18
F3P Customer Charge \$1,367.57 \$1,481.03 \$1,594.48 Summer Energy Charge On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 Part-Peak \$0.0992 \$0.0867 \$0.0178 Off-Peak \$0.0990 \$0.0842 \$0.0867 Winter Energy Charge On-Peak \$0.0000 \$0.0000 On-Peak \$0.0861 \$0.0853 \$0.0911 Summer Demand Charge On-Peak \$12.38 \$14.51 \$16.63 On-Peak \$12.33 \$14.51 \$16.63 \$0.000 \$0.000 On-Peak \$12.33 \$14.51 \$16.63 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 On-Peak \$12.33 \$14.51 \$16.63 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.01 \$23.55 \$27.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00		Widx	<i>722.1</i> 4	\$23.00	Ş25.18
Customer Charge \$1,367.57 \$1,481.03 \$1,594.48 Summer Energy Charge 0.0-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 Part-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.00842 \$0.0842 Off-Peak \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 On-Peak \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0861 \$0.0853 \$0.0911 Summer Demand Charge 0.0-Peak \$10.33 \$11.99 \$13.74 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Mark \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Mark \$20.01 \$23.55 \$20.073 Mark \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0733 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0733 On-Peak	I-3P				
Summer Energy Charge \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 Off-Peak \$0.0890 \$0.0842 \$0.0843 Winter Energy Charge 0 0 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0861 \$0.0853 \$0.0911 On-Peak \$0.0861 \$0.0853 \$0.0911 Summer Demand Charge 0 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 On-Peak \$12.38 \$14.51 \$16.53 Part-Peak \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Minter Demand Charge 0 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.008 \$0.0057 \$0.0753 Max \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.05075 \$0.0753 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0556 \$0.056		Customer Charge	\$1,367.57	\$1,481.03	\$1,594.48
On-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.1078 Part-Peak \$0.0980 \$0.0842 \$0.0900 Off-Peak \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0868 \$0.0895 \$0.1078 On-Peak \$0.0861 \$0.0853 \$0.0910 Orf-Peak \$12.38 \$14.51 \$16.63 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.000 \$0.00 Orf-Peak \$12.38 \$14.51 \$16.63 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge 0 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 \$1.141.32 \$1,522.94 Summer Demand Charge \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753		Summer Energy Charge			
Part-Peak \$0.0942 \$0.0967 \$0.000 Off-Peak \$0.0890 \$0.0842 \$0.0800 Winter Energy Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0805 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0868 \$0.0895 \$0.0001 Off-Peak \$0.0861 \$0.0853 \$0.0911 Summer Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$12.38 \$14.51 \$16.63 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Vinter Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.008 \$0.0075 \$0.0753 GUSE CG-4S Customer Charge \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0087 \$0.0580 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.00675		On-Peak	\$0.0942	\$0.0967	\$0.1078
Off-Peak \$0.0890 \$0.0892 \$0.0842 \$0.0843 Winter Energy Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0868 \$0.0853 \$0.0010 Off-Peak \$0.0861 \$0.0853 \$0.0911 Summer Demand Charge 0 \$14.51 \$16.63 Part-Peak \$10.23 \$11.99 \$13.74 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Minter Demand Charge \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Minter Demand Charge \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.000 \$0.000 Max \$0.00 \$1.141.32 \$1.52.94 Summer Energy Charge \$0.0088 \$0.0		Part-Peak	\$0.0942	\$0.0967	\$0.1078
Current Derage S0.000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0861 \$0.0853 \$0.0911 Summer Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$12.38 \$14.51 \$16.63 On-Peak \$10.23 \$11.99 \$13.74 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge 0 0 \$0.00 \$0.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge 0 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Max \$20.01 \$23.55 \$27.00 Max \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0587 \$0.0		Uff-Peak	\$0.0890	Ş0.0842	\$0.0843
On-Peak 50.0000 50.0000 50.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0868 \$0.0895 \$0.1004 Off-Peak \$12.38 \$14.51 \$16.63 Part-Peak \$10.23 \$11.99 \$13.74 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge 0 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Winter Demand Charge 0 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 GUSE CG-4S Customer Charge \$0.0988 \$0.0675<		On Poak	\$0,000	\$0,0000	¢0,000
Interfact 50.0001 50.0005 50.0005 Off-Peak \$12.38 \$14.51 \$16.63 Part-Peak \$10.33 \$11.99 \$13.74 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$10.33 \$11.99 \$13.74 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge 0 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Generation of the set o		Part-Peak	\$0.0000 \$0.0868	\$0.0000	\$0.0000 \$0.1004
Summer Demand Charge Frontie Frontie On-Peak \$12.38 \$14.51 \$16.53 Part-Peak \$10.23 \$11.99 \$13.74 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge 0 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge 0 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Guse CG-4s Customer Charge \$0.00 \$1,141.32 \$1,522.94 Summer Energy Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 \$0.0587 Winter Energy Charge 0 0 \$0.0586 \$0.0587 \$0.0589 Winter Demand Charge 0 0 \$0.0088 \$0.0055 \$0.0753		Off-Peak	\$0.0861	\$0.0853	\$0.0911
On-Peak \$12.38 \$14.51 \$16.63 Part-Peak \$10.23 \$11.99 \$13.74 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Max \$20.01 \$1.141.32 \$1.522.94 Summer Energy Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 On-Peak \$0.0988 <t< td=""><td></td><td>Summer Demand Charge</td><td>çolocol</td><td>çolocoo</td><td><i><i>voioszz</i></i></td></t<>		Summer Demand Charge	çolocol	çolocoo	<i><i>voioszz</i></i>
Part-Peak \$10.23 \$11.99 \$13.74 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Guse CG-4s Customer Charge \$0.00 \$1,141.32 \$1,522.94 Summer Energy Charge \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0625 \$0.0701 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0625 \$0.0701 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.94 On-Peak		On-Peak	\$12.38	\$14.51	\$16.63
Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge 0 0.00 \$0.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 GUSE CG-4S Customer Charge \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.0753 Summer Energy Charge \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0625 \$0.0713 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0625 \$0.0701 On-Peak \$0.000 \$10.86		Part-Peak	\$10.23	\$11.99	\$13.74
Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 Winter Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 GUSE CG-4S Customer Charge \$0.00 \$1,141.32 \$1,522.94 Summer Energy Charge On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0587 \$0.0088 Winter Energy Charge On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0625 \$0.0701 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0625 \$0.0701 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.		Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Winter Demand Charge On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 GUSE CG-4S Customer Charge \$0.00 \$1,141.32 \$1,522.94 Summer Energy Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0587 \$0.0589 Winter Energy Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0587 \$0.0589 Winter Energy Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0596 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.00596 \$0.00636 Winter Energy Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0625 \$0.0701 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0625 \$0.0701 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00		Max	\$20.11	\$23.55	\$27.00
On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 GUSE CG-4S Customer Charge \$0.00 \$1,141.32 \$1,522.94 Summer Energy Charge \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0587 \$0.0589 Winter Energy Charge \$0 \$0.0988 \$0.00025 \$0.0701 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0025 \$0.0701 \$0.0701 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0025 \$0.0701 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0025 \$0.0701 On-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00		Winter Demand Charge			
Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 GUSE CG-4S Customer Charge \$0.00 \$1,141.32 \$1,522.94 Summer Energy Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0587 \$0.0753 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0587 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0088 \$0.0088 Winter Energy Charge U U On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.0		On-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 GUSE CG-4S Customer Charge \$0.00 \$1,141.32 \$1,522.94 Summer Energy Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0587 \$0.0753 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0587 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0087 \$0.0589 Winter Energy Charge 0 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0025 \$0.0701 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0596 \$0.0636 Winter Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0596 \$0.0636 Summer Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max		Part-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Max \$20.11 \$23.55 \$27.00 GUSE CG-4S Customer Charge Summer Energy Charge \$0.00 \$1,141.32 \$1,522.94 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0587 \$0.0589 Winter Energy Charge 0 0 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.00525 \$0.0701 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0596 \$0.0636 Summer Demand Charge 0 \$10.86 \$15.04 On-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00		Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
GUSE CG-4S Customer Charge \$0.00 \$1,141.32 \$1,522.94 Summer Energy Charge On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0587 \$0.0589 Winter Energy Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0025 \$0.0701 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0596 \$0.0636 Summer Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$10.33 \$26.77 Winter Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00		Max	\$20.11	\$23.55	\$27.00
Customer Charge \$0.00 \$1,141.32 \$1,522.94 Summer Energy Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0587 \$0.0589 Winter Energy Charge 0 \$0.0988 \$0.0000 Winter Energy Charge 0 \$0.0988 \$0.0000 On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.00596 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0596 \$0.0636 Summer Demand Charge 0 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$8.55 \$11.84 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 </td <td>GUSE CG-4S</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	GUSE CG-4S				
Summer Energy Charge \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0587 \$0.0589 Winter Energy Charge \$0.0988 \$0.0000 Winter Energy Charge \$0.0988 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0625 \$0.0701 \$0.0625 \$0.0701 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0596 \$0.0636 \$0.0636 Summer Demand Charge \$0.000 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00		Customer Charge	\$0.00	\$1,141.32	\$1,522.94
On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0587 \$0.0589 Winter Energy Charge \$0.0988 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0625 \$0.0701 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0596 \$0.0636 Summer Demand Charge \$0.000 \$10.86 \$15.04 On-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00		Summer Energy Charge			
Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0675 \$0.0753 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0587 \$0.0589 Winter Energy Charge \$0.0988 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0625 \$0.0701 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0596 \$0.0636 Summer Demand Charge \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$11.84 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00		On-Peak	\$0.0988	\$0.0675	\$0.0753
Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0587 \$0.0587 Winter Energy Charge 0n-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0625 \$0.0701 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0596 \$0.0636 Summer Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 On-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$8.55 \$11.84 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$19.33 \$26.77 Winter Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00		Part-Peak	\$0.0988	\$0.0675	\$0.0753
On-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0000 \$0.0000 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0625 \$0.0701 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0596 \$0.0636 Summer Demand Charge 0 \$10.86 \$15.04 On-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$11.84 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$8.55 \$11.84 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00		UTT-Peak Winter Energy Charge	\$0.0988	\$0.0587	\$0.0589
On-Peak \$0.000 \$0.000 \$0.000 Part-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0625 \$0.0701 Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0596 \$0.0636 Summer Demand Charge On-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$8.55 \$11.84 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00			\$0.0088	\$0,0000	\$0,000
Off-Peak \$0.0988 \$0.0596 \$0.0636 Summer Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 On-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$8.55 \$11.84 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$19.33 \$26.77		Part-Peak	\$0.0988 \$0.0988	\$0.0000	\$0.0000 \$0.0701
Summer Demand Charge \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 On-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$8.55 \$11.84 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$19.33 \$26.77		Off-Peak	\$0.0988	\$0.0596	\$0.0636
On-Peak \$0.00 \$10.86 \$15.04 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$8.55 \$11.84 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$19.33 \$26.77 Winter Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00		Summer Demand Charge		+	
Part-Peak \$0.00 \$8.55 \$11.84 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$19.33 \$26.77 Winter Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$19.33 \$26.77		On-Peak	\$0.00	\$10.86	\$15.04
Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$19.33 \$26.77 Winter Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00		Part-Peak	\$0.00	\$8.55	\$11.84
Max \$0.00 \$19.33 \$26.77 Winter Demand Charge 0n-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$19.33 \$26.77		Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Winter Demand Charge \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$19.33 \$26.77		Max	\$0.00	\$19.33	\$26.77
On-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$19.33 \$26.77		Winter Demand Charge			
Part-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Off-Peak \$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00 Max \$0.00 \$19.33 \$26.77		On-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Off-Peak\$0.00\$0.00\$0.00Max\$0.00\$19.33\$26.77		Part-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
max \$0.00 \$19.33 \$26.77		Ott-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
		IVIAX	ŞU.UU	\$19.33	\$26.77

GUSE CG-4P				
	Customer Charge	\$0.00	\$1,161.19	\$1,518.50
	Summer Energy Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.0988	\$0.0678	\$0.075
	Part-Peak	\$0.0988	\$0.0678	\$0.075
	Off-Peak	\$0.0988	\$0.0591	\$0.058
	Winter Energy Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0,0000	\$0,0000	\$0,000
	Part-Peak	\$0.0088	\$0.0628	\$0.069
		\$0.0388 \$0.0089	\$0.0028	\$0.003. \$0.062
	Current Demand Charge	30.0366	Ş0.0399	Ş0.003
	Summer Demand Charge	60.00	644.20	64F 0
	Un-Peak	\$0.00	\$11.38	\$15.8
	Part-Peak	\$0.00	\$9.40	\$13.0
	Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.0
	Max	\$0.00	\$18.47	\$25.7
	Winter Demand Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.0
	Part-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.0
	Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.0
	Max	\$0.00	\$18.47	\$25.7
	ex	çoloo	<i>q</i> 2017	<i>\</i> 2017
E-20S				
	Customer Charge	\$1,632.16	\$1,646.29	\$1,660.42
	Summer Energy Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.1340	\$0.1080	\$0.110
	Part-Peak	\$0,1340	\$0,1080	\$0.110
	Off-Peak	\$0.1281	\$0.0961	\$0.086
	Winter Energy Charge	J 0.1201	J0.0301	Ç0.000
	On Dook	ć0.0000	¢0,0000	¢0.000
	Un-Peak	\$0.0000	\$0.0000	\$0.000
	Part-Peak	\$0.1255	\$0.1010	\$0.103
	Off-Peak	Ş0.1248	Ş0.0971	\$0.093
	Summer Demand Charge			
	On-Peak	\$17.06	\$16.73	\$16.3
	Part-Peak	\$13.90	\$13.40	\$12.9
	Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.0
	Max	\$28.61	\$28.90	\$29.1
	Winter Demand Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.0
	Part-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.0
	Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.0 \$0.0
	Max	\$28.61	\$28.90	\$29.1
	Mux	720.01	<i>\$</i> 20.50	<i>723</i> .1
E-20P				
	Customer Charge	\$1,624.03	\$1,609.25	\$1,594.48
	Summer Energy Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.1293	\$0.1083	\$0.107
	Part-Peak	\$0.1293	\$0.1083	\$0.107
	Off-Peak	\$0.1236	\$0.0964	\$0.084
	Winter Energy Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0,000	\$0,000	\$0.000
	Part Poak	\$0.0000 \$0.1211	\$0.0000 \$0.1012	\$0.000 \$0.100
		\$0.1211 \$0.1204	\$0.1012 \$0.0072	\$0.100 \$0.001
	OII-Peak	\$0.1204	\$0.0973	\$0.09
	Summer Demand Charge		* • • • • •	
	Un-Peak	\$17.11	\$16.87	\$16.6
	Part-Peak	\$14.56	\$14.15	\$13.7
	Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.0
	Max	\$26.15	\$26.58	\$27.0
	Winter Demand Charge			
	On-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.0
	Part-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.0
	Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.0
	Max	\$26.15	\$26 58	¢.0 ¢77 r
	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	<i>γ</i> 20.13	<i>420.00</i>	<i>φ</i> 27.0

E-20T

Customer Charge	\$1 111 18	\$1 332 39	\$1 553 60
Summer Energy Charge	<i>Ş</i> 1,111.10	91,332.35	<i>Ş</i> 1,555.00
On Poak	¢0 1140	¢0 1070	¢0 1076
Dart Daak	\$0.1140	\$0.1070 ¢0.1070	\$0.1070
Part-Peak	\$0.1140	\$0.1070	\$0.1076
Off-Peak	\$0.1083	Ş0.0944	\$0.0841
Winter Energy Charge			
On-Peak	\$0.0000	\$0.0000	\$0.0000
Part-Peak	\$0.1059	\$0.0995	\$0.1002
Off-Peak	\$0.1053	\$0.0954	\$0.0909
Summer Demand Charge			
On-Peak	\$15.02	\$17.75	\$20.48
Part-Peak	\$15.02	\$17.75	\$20.48
Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Max	\$13.55	\$16.01	\$18.48
Winter Demand Charge			
On-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Part-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Off-Peak	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Max	\$13.55	\$16.01	\$18.48

2022 Power Rates Study Appendix A Page 11 of 12

Miscellaneous Rates					
Traffic Lighting TC-1					
	Customer Charge		\$14.78	\$0.00	\$0.00
	Energy Charge		0.25282	0.259225	0.26563
Street Lighting TC-1					
	Customer Charge		\$7.39	\$0.00	\$0.00
	Energy Charge		\$0.2255	\$0.2456	\$0.2656
GUSE Street Lighting TC-1					
	Customer Charge		\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
	Energy Charge		0.09877	0.12877	0.15877
Commercial EV Charging Rat	e				
	Customer Charge	N/A		\$14.31	\$14.31
	Summer Energy Charge				
	On-Peak	N/A		\$0.3237	\$0.3237
	Off-Peak	N/A		\$0.2072	\$0.2072
	Winter Energy Charge				
	On-Peak	N/A		\$0.3367	\$0.3367
	Off-Peak	N/A		\$0.2538	\$0.2538





APPENDIX B: RECOMMENDED CLEANPOWERSF RATES

MAY 11, 2022 2022 POWER RATES STUDY FINAL REPORT

Residential						
Rate Code	Curr	ent Rate	FY2	3 Rate	FY24 Rate	
E-1						
All	\$	0.1304	\$	0.1196	\$	0.1088
E-6						
Summer						
Peak	\$	0.2598	\$	0.2448	\$	0.2298
Part-Peak	\$	0.1768	\$	0.1666	\$	0.1564
Off-Peak	Ş	0.1067	Ş	0.1005	Ş	0.0943
Winter						
Part-Peak	Ş	0.1441	Ş	0.1358	Ş	0.1275
Отт-Реак	Ş	0.1103	Ş	0.1039	Ş	0.0976
F-TOU-B						
Summer						
Peak	\$	0.2505	\$	0.2368	\$	0.2231
Off-Peak	\$	0.1274	\$	0.1205	\$	0.1135
Winter	·					
Peak	\$	0.1445	\$	0.1366	\$	0.1287
Off-Peak	\$	0.1057	\$	0.0999	\$	0.0942
E-TOU-C						
Summer	Ι.					
Peak	\$	0.1802	\$	0.1670	\$	0.1538
Off-Peak	Ş	0.1268	Ş	0.1175	Ş	0.1082
Winter						
Peak	Ş	0.1315	Ş	0.1218	Ş	0.1121
Отт-Реак	Ş	0.1164	Ş	0.1079	Ş	0.0993
F-TOU-D						
Summer						
Peak	\$	0.2097	\$	0.1938	\$	0.1779
Off-Peak	\$	0.1047	\$	0.0968	\$	0.0888
Winter						
Peak	\$	0.1688	\$	0.1560	\$	0.1432
Off-Peak	\$	0.1337	\$	0.1236	\$	0.1134
E-EV						
Summer						
Peak	Ş	0.2917	Ş	0.3275	Ş	0.3634
Part-Peak	Ş	0.1482	Ş	0.1664	Ş	0.1846
Off-Peak	Ş	0.1018	Ş	0.1143	Ş	0.1269
winter	4	0.0079	ć	0 1000	ć	0 1210
Peak Dort Dook	Ş	0.0978	ې د	0.1098	ې د	0.1218
	ې د	0.0729	ې د	0.0819	ې د	0.0908
Ull-Peak		0.0729	Ş	0.0619	Ş	0.0908
E-EV-2						
Summer						
Peak	\$	0.1977	\$	0.1871	\$	0.1764
Part-Peak	\$	0.1530	\$	0.1448	\$	0.1365
Off-Peak	\$	0.1119	\$	0.1059	\$	0.0998
Winter						
Peak	\$	0.1409	\$	0.1333	\$	0.1257
Part-Peak	\$	0.1284	\$	0.1215	\$	0.1146
Off-Peak	\$	0.1049	\$	0.0993	\$	0.0936

Small General Service						
Rate Code	Cur	rent Rate	FY2	3 Rate	FY2	4 Rate
B1						
Summer						
Peak	\$	0.1881	\$	0.1650	\$	0.1419
Part-Peak	Ś	0.1389	Ś	0.1218	Ś	0.1047
Off-Peak	Ś	0.1181	Ś	0.1036	Ś	0.0890
Winter	[·]					
Peak	Ś	0.1329	Ś	0.1165	Ś	0.1002
Off-Peak	Ś	0 1168	Ś	0 1024	Ś	0.0880
Super Off-Peak	Ś	0 1003	Ś	0.0880	Ś	0.0757
	ľ	0.2000	Ŷ	0.0000	Ŷ	0.0707
B-6						
Summer						
Peak	Ś	0.1903	Ś	0.1703	Ś	0.1503
Off-Peak	Ś	0.1191	Ś	0.1066	Ś	0.0941
Winter	[*]		+		+	
Peak	Ś	0.1268	Ś	0.1134	Ś	0.1001
Off-Peak	Ś	0 1097	Ś	0.0982	Ś	0.0866
Super Off-Peak	Ś	0.1037	Ś	0.0835	Ś	0.0000
Super off reak	ľ	0.0555	Ŷ	0.0000	Ŷ	0.0757
A-1-A						
Summer	Ś	0.1440	Ś	0.1291	Ś	0.1142
Winter	Ś	0 1038	Ś	0.0931	Ś	0.0823
whiter	ľ	0.1050	Ŷ	0.0551	Ŷ	0.0025
A-1-B						
Summer						
Peak	Ś	0 1473	Ś	0 1339	Ś	0 1205
Part-Peak	Ś	0.1473	Ś	0 1339	Ś	0.1205
Off-Peak	Ś	0.1225	ć	0.1114	ć	0.1203
Winter		0.1225	Ļ	0.1114	Ŷ	0.1005
Part Poak	4	0 1165	ć	0 1050	ć	0.0052
Off Deak	ې د	0.1105	Ş	0.1059	Ş	0.0953
OII-Feak		0.1159	Ş	0.1034	Ş	0.0949
A-6						
Summer						
Poak	l é	0 2100	ć	0 1961	ć	0 1622
Peak Part Poak	ې د	0.2100	ڊ خ	0.1801	ې خ	0.1022
Off Deak	چ د	0.1007	ڊ خ	0.1424	ې د	0.1240
UII-Peak	٦ ٦	0.1285	Ş	0.1139	Ş	0.0992
winter		0 1102	÷	0.105.0	÷	0.0020
Part-Peak	Ş	0.1192	Ş	0.1056	Ş	0.0920
Оп-Реак	Ş	0.1184	Ş	0.1049	Ş	0.0914
BEV-1	ć	0 2761	ć	0 2205	ć	0 1820
Off Deals	ې د	0.2701	ې د	0.2295	ې د	0.1830
OII-Peak Super Off Deek	ې د	0.0935	Ş	0.0777	Ş	0.0620
Super OII-Peak	Ş	0.0681	Ş	0.0500	Ş	0.0451
D 1 CT						
Summer						
Poak	4	0 1020	ć	0 1701	ć	0 1/17/
Off-Book	ب ج	0.1920	ر خ	0.1791	ې خ	0.14/4
Super Off Book	د د	0.1504	ې د	0.1397	ې د	0.1149
Super Off-Peak	>	0.1146	Ş	0.1065	Ş	0.0876
winter		0 1 4 2 2	~	0 4 2 2 4	ć	0 1007
Реак	Ş	0.1423	Ş	0.1321	Ş	0.108/
Part Peak	\$	0.1299	Ş	0.1207	Ş	0.0993
Off-Peak	\$	0.1079	Ş	0.1002	Ş	0.0825
Super Off-Peak	Ş	0.0915	Ş	0.0850	Ş	0.0699

Medium General Service - Lo	w Dei	mand				
Rate Code	Curr	ent Rate	FY2	3 Rate	FY2	4 Rate
B-10						
Summer						
Peak						
Secondary	\$	0.2153	\$	0.1808	\$	0.1463
Primary	\$	0.1979	\$	0.1662	\$	0.1345
Transmission	\$	0.1736	\$	0.1458	\$	0.1180
Part-Peak						
Secondary	Ş	0.1536	Ş	0.1290	Ş	0.1044
Primary	Ş	0.1396	Ş	0.1172	Ş	0.0948
Transmission	Ş	0.1169	Ş	0.0982	Ş	0.0795
Off-Peak		0 4 2 4 0	<u>,</u>	0.4046	~	0 0000
Secondary	Ş	0.1210	Ş	0.1016	Ş	0.0822
Primary	Ş	0.1087	Ş	0.0913	Ş	0.0739
Iransmission	Ş	0.0868	Ş	0.0729	Ş	0.0590
winter						
Feak	4	0 1572	ć	0 1 2 2 0	÷	0 1000
Brimany	ې د	0.1572	ې د	0.1320	ې د	0.1069
Transmission	ې د	0.1452	ې د	0.1205	ې د	0.0973
Off-Book	Ş	0.1200	Ş	0.1015	Ş	0.0820
Secondary	ć	0 1217	ć	0 1022	ć	0.0827
Brimany	ې د	0.1217	ې د	0.1022	ې د	0.0827
Transmission	ې د	0.1090	ې د	0.0920	ې د	0.0745
Super Off-Book	Ş	0.0678	Ş	0.0757	Ş	0.0590
Secondary	ć	0.0854	ć	0 0717	ć	0.0580
Primary	ې د	0.0834	ې د	0.0717	ç	0.0380
Transmission	ې د	0.0732	ې د	0.0013	ç	0.0498
mananinaalon	1	0.0314	Ļ	0.0432	Ļ	0.0345
A-10-A						
Summer						
Secondary	\$	0.1454	\$	0.1235	\$	0.1015
Primary	\$	0.1290	\$	0.1096	\$	0.0901
Transmission	\$	0.1089	\$	0.0925	\$	0.0761
Winter						
Secondary	\$	0.1237	\$	0.1050	\$	0.0863
Primary	\$	0.1102	\$	0.0936	\$	0.0769
Transmission	\$	0.0918	\$	0.0780	\$	0.0641
A-10-B Summer						
Poak						
Secondary	ć	0 1590	ć	0 1 2 7 1	ć	0 1152
Primary	¢	0.1303	¢	0.1371	Ś	0.1132
Transmission	Ś	0.1423	Ś	0.1233	ç ç	0.1037
Part-Peak	1	0.1241	Ļ	0.1070	Ļ	0.0500
Secondary	Ś	0 1589	Ś	0 1371	Ś	0 1152
Primary	Ś	0 1429	Ś	0 1233	Ś	0 1037
Transmission	Ś	0.1423	ś	0.1233	Ś	0.0900
Off-Peak	Ť.	0.12.11	Ŷ	0.1070	Ŷ	010500
Secondary	Ś	0.1321	Ś	0.1140	Ś	0.0958
Primary	Ś	0.1176	Ś	0.1015	Ś	0.0853
Transmission	Ś	0.0994	Ś	0.0858	Ś	0.0721
Winter	·				·	
Part-Peak						
Secondary	\$	0.1243	\$	0.1072	\$	0.0901
Primary	\$	0.1102	\$	0.0951	\$	0.0799
Transmission	\$	0.0922	\$	0.0795	\$	0.0669
Off-Peak						
Secondary	\$	0.1236	\$	0.1066	\$	0.0896
Primary	\$	0.1095	\$	0.0945	\$	0.0794
Transmission	\$	0.0916	\$	0.0790	\$	0.0664

2022 Power Rates Study Appendix B Page 3 of 15

A 1F			
A-15			
Summer	\$ 0.1392	\$ 0.1190	\$ 0.0988
Winter	\$ 0.1188	\$ 0.1016	\$ 0.0843
BEV-2 Secondary			
Peak	\$ 0.2931	\$ 0.2434	\$ 0.1937
Off-Peak	\$ 0.0898	\$ 0.0745	\$ 0.0593
Super Off-Peak	\$ 0.0644	\$ 0.0535	\$ 0.0425
BEV-2 Primary			
Peak	\$ 0.2828	\$ 0.2348	\$ 0.1868
Off-Peak	\$ 0.0868	\$ 0.0721	\$ 0.0573
Super Off-Peak	\$ 0.0626	\$ 0.0520	\$ 0.0413

Medium General Service - Hig	gh De	emand				
Rate Code	Curi	rent Rate	FY2	3 Rate	FY2	4 Rate
B-19						
Summer						
Peak - Demand						
Secondary	Ş	18.85	Ş	21.22	Ş	23.58
Primary	Ş	16.15	Ş	18.18	Ş	20.20
Iransmission	Ş	12.72	Ş	14.32	Ş	15.91
Part-Peak Demand	ė	2 74	ć	2 00	ć	2 42
Brimany	¢ ¢	2.74	ې د	3.08	ې د	3.43 2.05
Transmission	ې د	2.30	ې د	2.00	ې د	2.95
Peak - Energy		5.10	Ŷ	5.50	Ļ	5.50
Secondary	Ś	0.1555	Ś	0.1285	Ś	0.1014
Primary	\$	0.1359	\$	0.1123	\$	0.0887
Transmission	\$	0.1234	\$	0.1020	\$	0.0805
Part-Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.1179	\$	0.0974	\$	0.0769
Primary	\$	0.1073	\$	0.0886	\$	0.0700
Transmission	\$	0.1114	\$	0.0920	\$	0.0727
Off-Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.0913	\$	0.0754	\$	0.0595
Primary	\$	0.0824	\$	0.0680	\$	0.0537
Transmission	\$	0.0857	\$	0.0708	\$	0.0559
Winter						
Peak - Demand						
Secondary	Ş	2.24	Ş	2.52	Ş	2.80
Primary	Ş	1.65	Ş	1.86	Ş	2.06
Book Eporgy	Ş	1.22	Ş	1.57	Ş	1.55
Secondary	Ŀ	0 1216	ć	0 1097	ć	0.0858
Primary	ې د	0.1310	ې د	0.1087	ې خ	0.0858
Transmission	Ś	0.1250	Ś	0.0000	ś	0.0816
Off-Peak - Energy	Ť	0.1250	Ŷ	0.2000	Ŷ	010010
Secondary	\$	0.0912	\$	0.0753	\$	0.0595
Primary	\$	0.0825	\$	0.0682	\$	0.0538
Transmission	\$	0.0861	\$	0.0711	\$	0.0561
Super Off-Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.0369	\$	0.0305	\$	0.0241
Primary	\$	0.0287	\$	0.0237	\$	0.0187
Transmission	\$	0.0288	\$	0.0238	\$	0.0188
B-19-R						
Summer						
Secondary	ė	0.2806	ć	0 2450	ć	0 2005
Primary	э ¢	0.2600	ې د	0.2430	ې د	0.2093
Transmission	ŝ	0.2305	Ś	0.2244	ŝ	0.1510
Part-Peak - Energy	Ť	0.2200	Ŷ	0.2555	Ŷ	012070
Secondary	Ś	0.1450	Ś	0.1266	Ś	0.1083
Primary	\$	0.1334	\$	0.1165	\$	0.0996
Transmission	\$	0.1421	\$	0.1241	\$	0.1061
Off-Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.1065	\$	0.0930	\$	0.0795
Primary	\$	0.0980	\$	0.0856	\$	0.0732
Transmission	\$	0.1000	\$	0.0873	\$	0.0746
Winter						
Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.1488	\$	0.1299	\$	0.1111
Primary	Ş	0.1358	Ş	0.1186	Ş	0.1014
Iransmission	Ş	0.1339	Ş	0.1169	Ş	0.0999
Off-Peak - Energy		0.4064		0 0000		0.0705
Briman	Ş	0.1064	¢ ¢	0.0930	ې د	0.0795
Transmission	¢ ¢	0.0981	ې د	0.005/	ې د	0.0733
Super Off-Book - Energy		0.1002	Ş	0.0875	Ş	0.0748
Secondary	\$	0 0706	¢	0.0617	¢	0 0527
Primary	Ś	0.0623	Ś	0 0544	Ś	0.0465
Transmission	Ś	0.0644	ŝ	0.0562	Ś	0.0481
		2.30.14	+	2.0002	٣	5.0.01

2022 Power Rates Study Appendix B Page 5 of 15

E-19			
Summer			
Peak - Demand			
Secondary	\$ 12.31	\$ 10.87	\$ 9.43
Primary	\$ 10.68	\$ 9.43	\$ 8.18
Transmission	\$ 11.80	\$ 10.42	\$ 9.04
Part-Park - Demand			
Secondary	\$ 12.31	\$ 10.87	\$ 9.43
Primary	\$ 10.68	\$ 9.43	\$ 8.18
Transmission	\$ 11.80	\$ 10.42	\$ 9.04
Peak - Energy			
Secondary	\$ 0.0991	\$ 0.0863	\$ 0.0736
Primary	\$ 0.0871	\$ 0.0759	\$ 0.0647
Transmission	\$ 0.0777	\$ 0.0677	\$ 0.0577
Part-Peak - Energy			
Secondary	\$ 0.0991	\$ 0.0863	\$ 0.0736
Primary	\$ 0.0871	\$ 0.0759	\$ 0.0647
Transmission	\$ 0.0777	\$ 0.0677	\$ 0.0577
Off-Peak - Energy			
Secondary	\$ 0.0931	\$ 0.0811	\$ 0.0692
Primary	\$ 0.0813	\$ 0.0709	\$ 0.0604
Transmission	\$ 0.0720	\$ 0.0628	\$ 0.0535
Winter			
Part-Peak - Energy			
Secondary	\$ 0.0905	\$ 0.0789	\$ 0.0672
Primary	\$ 0.0789	\$ 0.0687	\$ 0.0586
Transmission	\$ 0.0696	\$ 0.0607	\$ 0.0517
Off-Peak - Energy			
Secondary	\$ 0.0898	\$ 0.0782	\$ 0.0667
Primary	\$ 0.0782	\$ 0.0682	\$ 0.0581
Transmission	\$ 0.0689	\$ 0.0601	\$ 0.0512

Large General Service						
Rate Code	Cur	rent Rate	FY2	3 Rate	FY2	4 Rate
B-20						
Summer						
Peak - Demand						
Secondary	\$	18.32	\$	20.70	\$	23.08
Primary	\$	20.19	\$	22.81	\$	25.44
Transmission	\$	22.85	\$	25.82	\$	28.79
Part-Peak Demand						
Secondary	\$	2.66	\$	3.01	\$	3.35
Primary	\$	2.77	\$	3.13	\$	3.49
Transmission	\$	5.44	\$	6.15	\$	6.85
Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.1476	\$	0.1177	\$	0.0878
Primary	\$	0.1439	\$	0.1148	\$	0.0856
Transmission	\$	0.1211	\$	0.0965	\$	0.0720
Part-Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.1139	\$	0.0908	\$	0.0677
Primary	\$	0.1081	\$	0.0862	\$	0.0643
Transmission	\$	0.0989	\$	0.0789	\$	0.0588
Off-Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.0872	\$	0.0695	\$	0.0519
Primary	\$	0.0831	\$	0.0662	\$	0.0494
Transmission	\$	0.0743	\$	0.0592	\$	0.0442
Winter						
Peak - Demand						
Secondary	\$	2.34	\$	2.64	\$	2.95
Primary	\$	2.32	\$	2.62	\$	2.92
Transmission	\$	3.05	\$	3.45	\$	3.84
Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.1275	\$	0.1016	\$	0.0758
Primary	\$	0.1211	\$	0.0966	\$	0.0720
Transmission	\$	0.1200	\$	0.0957	\$	0.0713
Off-Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.0870	\$	0.0694	\$	0.0517
Primary	\$	0.0831	\$	0.0663	\$	0.0494
Transmission	\$	0.0698	\$	0.0556	\$	0.0415
Super Off-Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.0328	\$	0.0261	\$	0.0195
Primary	\$	0.0292	\$	0.0233	\$	0.0174
Transmission	\$	0.0196	\$	0.0157	\$	0.0117

520						
E20						
Summer						
Peak - Demand						
Secondary	Ş	11.80	Ş	10.37	Ş	8.94
Primary	Ş	12.61	Ş	11.08	Ş	9.56
Transmission	\$	15.02	\$	13.20	\$	11.38
Part-Park - Demand						
Secondary	\$	11.80	\$	10.37	\$	8.94
Primary	\$	12.61	\$	11.08	\$	9.56
Transmission	\$	15.02	\$	13.20	\$	11.38
Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.0943	\$	0.0792	\$	0.0641
Primary	\$	0.0910	\$	0.0765	\$	0.0619
Transmission	\$	0.0782	\$	0.0657	\$	0.0532
Part-Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.0943	\$	0.0792	\$	0.0641
Primary	\$	0.0910	\$	0.0765	\$	0.0619
Transmission	\$	0.0782	\$	0.0657	\$	0.0532
Off-Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.0884	\$	0.0742	\$	0.0601
Primary	\$	0.0853	\$	0.0716	\$	0.0580
Transmission	\$	0.0725	\$	0.0609	\$	0.0493
Winter						
Part-Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.0858	\$	0.0721	\$	0.0583
Primary	\$	0.0828	\$	0.0695	\$	0.0563
Transmission	\$	0.0701	\$	0.0589	\$	0.0477
Off-Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.0851	\$	0.0715	\$	0.0578
Primary	\$	0.0821	\$	0.0690	\$	0.0558
Transmission	\$	0.0694	\$	0.0583	\$	0.0472

Rate Code	Cur	rent Rate	FY2	3 Rate	FY2	4 Rate
B-ST			-		· · · ·	
Summer						
Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.1354	\$	0.1137	\$	0.0920
Primary	\$	0.1354	\$	0.1137	\$	0.0920
Transmission	\$	0.1175	\$	0.0987	\$	0.0799
Part-Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.1196	\$	0.1005	\$	0.0813
Primary	\$	0.1196	\$	0.1005	\$	0.0813
Transmission	\$	0.1024	\$	0.0860	\$	0.0696
Off-Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.1021	\$	0.0858	\$	0.0694
Primary	\$	0.1021	\$	0.0858	\$	0.0694
Transmission	\$	0.0855	\$	0.0718	\$	0.0581
Winter						
Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.1291	\$	0.1084	\$	0.0878
Primary	\$	0.1291	\$	0.1084	\$	0.0878
Transmission	\$	0.1116	\$	0.0937	\$	0.0759
Off-Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.1036	\$	0.0870	\$	0.0704
Primary	\$	0.1036	\$	0.0870	\$	0.0704
Transmission	\$	0.0871	\$	0.0732	\$	0.0592
Super Off-Peak - Energy						
Secondary	\$	0.0471	\$	0.0395	\$	0.0320
Primary	\$	0.0471	\$	0.0395	\$	0.0320
Transmission	\$	0.0311	\$	0.0261	\$	0.0212
Reservation Charge						
Secondary	\$	0.4000	\$	0.4000	\$	0.4000
Primary	\$	0.4000	\$	0.4000	\$	0.4000
Transmission	\$	0.2300	\$	0.2300	\$	0.2300

Agriculture Tariff						
Rate Code	Cur	rent Rate	FY2	23 Rate	FY2	24 Rate
AG-A						
Summer						
Peak	Ş	0.2369	Ş	0.2179	Ş	0.1989
Off-Peak	Ş	0.11/2	Ş	0.1078	Ş	0.0984
winter		0 1120	ć	0 10 40	ć	0.005.0
Peak Off Deak	Ş	0.1139	ې د	0.1048	ې د	0.0956
UII-Peak	Ş	0.0874	Ş	0.0804	Ş	0.0734
AG-B						
Summer						
Peak	\$	0.2546	\$	0.2194	\$	0.1842
Off-Peak	\$	0.1315	\$	0.1133	\$	0.0951
Winter						
Peak	\$	0.1262	\$	0.1087	\$	0.0913
Off-Peak	\$	0.1000	\$	0.0861	\$	0.0723
AG-C						
Summer						
Peak - Demand	\$	15 38	Ś	12 31	Ś	9 25
Peak - Energy	Ś	0.1173	Ś	0.1000	Ś	0.0827
Off-Peak	\$	0.0878	\$	0.0748	\$	0.0619
Winter	[']		•			
Peak	\$	0.1026	\$	0.0875	\$	0.0724
Off-Peak	\$	0.0771	\$	0.0657	\$	0.0544
AG-5-A						
Max Demand	\$	5.51	\$	7.97	\$	10.43
Summer	Ι.					
Peak	Ş	0.1211	Ş	0.1154	Ş	0.1097
Off-Peak	Ş	0.1023	Ş	0.0975	Ş	0.0927
Winter Dert Deek	4	0 0022	ć	0.0000	ć	0.0846
Off Dook	> c	0.0933	ې د	0.0889	ې د	0.0846
UII-Peak		0.0920	Ş	0.0005	Ş	0.0659
AG-5-B-S						
Max Demand	\$	6.99	\$	10.11	\$	13.23
Summer						
Peak - Demand	\$	2.1800	\$	3.1533	\$	4.1266
Peak - Energy	\$	0.1149	\$	0.0945	\$	0.0742
Off-Peak	\$	0.0907	\$	0.0747	\$	0.0586
Winter	Ι.					
Part-Peak	Ş	0.0868	Ş	0.0715	Ş	0.0561
Off-Peak	Ş	0.0861	Ş	0.0709	Ş	0.0556
AG-5-B-P						
Max Demand	\$	4.79	\$	6.93	\$	9.07
Summer	·					
Peak - Demand	\$	2.1800	\$	3.1533	\$	4.1266
Peak - Energy	\$	0.1149	\$	0.0945	\$	0.0742
Off-Peak	\$	0.0907	\$	0.0747	\$	0.0586
Winter						
Part-Peak	\$	0.0868	\$	0.0715	\$	0.0561
Off-Peak	\$	0.0861	\$	0.0709	\$	0.0556
AG-5-B-1 Max Demand	ć	2.19	ć	4.60	ć	6.02
Summer		5.10	ڔ	4.00	ڔ	0.02
Peak - Demand	Ś	2,1800	Ś	3 1533	Ś	4 1266
Peak - Energy	Ś	0.1149	Ś	0.0945	Ś	0.0742
Off-Peak	Ś	0.0907	Ś	0.0747	Ś	0.0586
Winter	ľ	2.0007	Ŷ	5.67 17	+	5.0550
Part-Peak	\$	0.0868	\$	0.0715	\$	0.0561
Off-Peak	\$	0.0861	\$	0.0709	\$	0.0556

2022 Power Rates Study Appendix B Page 10 of 15

AG-5-C-S			
Summer			
Peak - Demand	\$ 9.79	\$ 10.12	\$ 10.46
Part-Peak - Demand	\$ 7.82	\$ 8.09	\$ 8.35
Peak - Energy	\$ 0.0894	\$ 0.0798	\$ 0.0701
Part-Peak - Energy	\$ 0.0768	\$ 0.0685	\$ 0.0602
Off-Peak	\$ 0.0721	\$ 0.0643	\$ 0.0565
Winter			
Part-Peak	\$ 0.0741	\$ 0.0661	\$ 0.0581
Off-Peak	\$ 0.0734	\$ 0.0654	\$ 0.0575
AG-5-C-P			
Summer			
Peak - Demand	\$ 8.98	\$ 9.29	\$ 9.59
Part-Peak - Demand	\$ 7.82	\$ 8.09	\$ 8.35
Peak - Energy	\$ 0.0894	\$ 0.0798	\$ 0.0701
Part-Peak - Energy	\$ 0.0768	\$ 0.0685	\$ 0.0602
Off-Peak	\$ 0.0721	\$ 0.0643	\$ 0.0565
Winter			
Part-Peak	\$ 0.0741	\$ 0.0661	\$ 0.0581
Off-Peak	\$ 0.0734	\$ 0.0654	\$ 0.0575
AG-5-C-T			
Summer			
Peak - Demand	\$ 8.28	\$ 8.56	\$ 8.84
Part-Peak - Demand	\$ 7.82	\$ 8.09	\$ 8.35
Peak - Energy	\$ 0.0894	\$ 0.0798	\$ 0.0701
Part-Peak - Energy	\$ 0.0768	\$ 0.0685	\$ 0.0602
Off-Peak	\$ 0.0721	\$ 0.0643	\$ 0.0565
Winter			
Part-Peak	\$ 0.0741	\$ 0.0661	\$ 0.0581
Off-Peak	\$ 0.0734	\$ 0.0654	\$ 0.0575

Lighting						
Rate Code	Cur	rent Rate	FY	23 Rate	FY2	4 Rate
LS-1						
Energy Charge	\$	0.1038	\$	0.1042	\$	0.1045
TC-1						
Energy Charge	\$	0.1143	\$	0.1098	\$	0.1053
Other Rates						
Rate Code	Cur	rent Rate	FY	23 Rate	FY2	4 Rate
S-EM						
Reservation Charge		0.61	\$	0.61	\$	0.61
All-Hours		0.13	\$	0.12	\$	0.11
S-B-S						
Summer						
Peak	\$	0.14310	\$	0.15205	\$	0.16099
Part-Peak	Ś	0.11807	Ś	0.12545	Ś	0.13283
Off-Peak	Ś	0.08530	Ś	0.09063	Ś	0.09597
Reservation	Ś	0.61	Ś	0.61	Ś	0.61
Winter						
Peak	Ś	-	Ś	-	Ś	-
Off-Peak	Ś	0 12206	Ś	0 12969	Ś	0 13732
Super Off-Peak	Ś	0.09667	ć	0 10271	ć	0 10876
Beservation	Ś	0.05007	Ś	0.10271	ç	0.10070
Reservation	Ļ	0.01	Ŷ	0.01	Ŷ	0.01
S-B-P						
Summer						
Peak	Ś	0 14310	Ś	0 15205	Ś	0 16099
Part-Peak	Ś	0 11807	Ś	0.12545	Ś	0 13283
Off-Peak	ć	0.02520	ć	0.12545	ć	0.15205
Percentation	ې د	0.08550	ر خ	0.03003	ې د	0.09597
Winter	ç	0.01	Ļ	0.01	ç	0.01
Book	ć		ć		ć	
	ې خ	0 1 2 2 0 6	د خ	0 12060	ې خ	0 12722
OII-Peak Super Off Deak	Ş	0.12206	ڊ خ	0.12969	Ş	0.13732
Super OII-Peak	Ş	0.09667	Ş	0.10271	Ş	0.10876
Reservation	Ş	0.61	Ş	0.61	Ş	0.61
S-B-T						
Summer						
Peak	Ś	0.11380	Ś	0.13794	Ś	0.16208
Part-Peak	Ś	0.09364	Ś	0 11350	Ś	0 13337
Off-Peak	Ś	0.06696	Ś	0.08116	Ś	0.09537
Reservation	Ś	0.00000	Ś	0.49	Ś	0.49
Winter	Ŷ	0.45	Ŷ	0.45	Ŷ	0.45
Peak	¢	_	¢	_	¢	-
Off-Peak	Ś	0.09681	Ś	0 11735	ç	0 13788
Super Off-Peak	Ś	0.03001	Ś	0.09251	ç	0.10870
Beservation	ć	0.07032	ć	0.05251	ć	0.10070
Reservation	ç	0.49	Ļ	0.45	ç	0.49
F-19-R-S						
Summer						
Peak	Ś	0.16769	Ś	0.14665	Ś	0.12561
Part-Peak	Ś	0 15032	Ś	0 13146	Ś	0 11260
Off-Peak	Ś	0.12101	Ś	0.10583	Ś	0.09065
Winter	+		+		+	
Part-Peak	Ś	0 11842	Ś	0 10356	Ś	0 08871
Off-Peak	Ś	0.11771	\$	0 1029/	Ś	0 08817
	Ŷ	0.21//1	Ŷ	0.10234	Ŷ	0.00017
E-19-R-P						
Summer						
Peak	\$	0.15117	\$	0.13810	\$	0.12503
Part-Peak	\$	0.13573	\$	0.12400	\$	0.11226
Off-Peak	\$	0.10977	\$	0.10028	\$	0.09079
Winter	ŕ		Ŧ		,	
Part-Peak	\$	0.10730	Ś	0.09802	\$	0.08875
Off-Peak	\$	0.10663	Ś	0.09741	Ś	0.08819
	ŕ		Ŧ		,	

2022 Power Rates Study Appendix B Page 12 of 15

ISummer						
Peak	Ś	0 14637	Ś	0 13373	Ś	0 12109
Part-Peak	ć	0 13277	ć	0 12131	ć	0 10984
Off-Reak	ب خ	0.13277	ć	0.12151	ç	0.00106
Ulinter .	ç	0.11007	Ļ	0.10057	ç	0.09100
winter	<u>,</u>	0 4 0 7 6 4	~	0 00005		0 00005
Part-Peak	Ş	0.10764	Ş	0.09835	Ş	0.08905
Off-Peak	Ş	0.10698	Ş	0.09774	Ş	0.08850
B-20-R-S						
Summer	ć	0.26706	÷	0 22404	÷	0 20021
Реак	Ş	0.26786	Ş	0.23404	Ş	0.20021
Part-Peak	Ş	0.13511	Ş	0.11805	Ş	0.10099
Off-Peak	Ş	0.09765	Ş	0.08532	Ş	0.07299
Winter						
Peak	\$	0.09751	\$	0.08520	\$	0.07288
Off-Peak	\$	0.06176	\$	0.05396	\$	0.04616
Super Off-Peak	\$	0.11341	\$	0.09909	\$	0.08477
B-20-R-P						
Summer	~	0.05000	÷	0 2204 -	ć	0 40000
Peak	Ş	0.25889	Ş	0.22911	Ş	0.19933
Part-Peak	Ş	0.13000	Ş	0.11505	Ş	0.10009
Off-Peak	\$	0.09529	\$	0.08433	\$	0.07337
Winter						
Peak	\$	0.13541	\$	0.11983	\$	0.10426
Off-Peak	\$	0.09534	\$	0.08437	\$	0.07341
Super Off-Peak	\$	0.05959	\$	0.05274	\$	0.04588
B-20-R-T						
Summer						
Peak	\$	0.25785	\$	0.23245	\$	0.20706
Part-Peak	\$	0.13922	\$	0.12551	\$	0.11180
Off-Peak	\$	0.08897	\$	0.08021	\$	0.07144
Winter						
Peak	\$	0.13907	\$	0.12537	\$	0.11168
Off-Peak	Ś	0.08605	Ś	0.07757	Ś	0.06910
Super Off-Peak	Ś	0.05325	Ś	0.04801	Ś	0.04276
Super on reak	Ŷ	0.00020	Ŷ	0101001	Ŷ	0101270
EDORS						
E-20-R-3						
Summer						
Summer Peak	\$	0.15215	\$	0.13500	\$	0.11786
Summer Peak Part-Peak	\$ \$	0.15215 0.13718	\$ \$	0.13500 0.12172	\$ \$	0.11786 0.10626
Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak	\$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014	\$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773	\$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532
Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter	\$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014	\$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773	\$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532
Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak	\$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755	\$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543	\$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331
Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480	\$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276
Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480	\$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276
Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684	\$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480	\$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276
Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-P Summer	\$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684	\$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480	\$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276
Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-P Summer Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684 0.15303	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480	\$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276 0.12085
Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-P Summer Peak Part-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684 0.15303 0.13556	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480 0.13694 0.12131	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276 0.12085 0.10706
Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-P Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684 0.15303 0.13556 0.10782	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480 0.13694 0.12131 0.09648	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276 0.12085 0.10706 0.08515
E-20-R-3 Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684 0.15303 0.13556 0.10782	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480 0.13694 0.12131 0.09648	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276 0.12085 0.10706 0.08515
E-20-R-3 Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684 0.15303 0.13556 0.10782 0.10535	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480 0.13694 0.12131 0.09648 0.09427	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276 0.12085 0.10706 0.08515 0.08320
Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-P Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684 0.15303 0.13556 0.10782 0.10535 0.106535	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480 0.13694 0.12131 0.09648 0.09427 0.09267	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276 0.12085 0.10706 0.08515 0.08320
E-20-R-3 Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak Off-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684 0.15303 0.13556 0.10782 0.10535 0.10468	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480 0.13694 0.12131 0.09648 0.09427 0.09367	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276 0.12085 0.10706 0.08515 0.08320 0.08267
E-20-R-3 Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-T	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684 0.15303 0.13556 0.10782 0.10535 0.10468	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480 0.13694 0.12131 0.09648 0.09427 0.09367	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276 0.12085 0.10706 0.08515 0.08320 0.08267
Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-P Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-T Summer	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684 0.15303 0.13556 0.10782 0.10535 0.10468	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480 0.13694 0.12131 0.09648 0.09427 0.09367	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276 0.12085 0.10706 0.08515 0.08320 0.08267
Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-P Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-T Summer Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684 0.15303 0.13556 0.10782 0.10535 0.10468	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480 0.13694 0.12131 0.09648 0.09427 0.09367 0.13493	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276 0.12085 0.10706 0.08515 0.08320 0.08320 0.08267
Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-P Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-T Summer Peak Part-Peak Part-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684 0.15303 0.13556 0.10782 0.10535 0.10468 0.14750 0.13006	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480 0.13694 0.12131 0.09648 0.09427 0.09367 0.13493 0.11898	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276 0.12085 0.10706 0.08515 0.08320 0.08267 0.12236 0.12236 0.12789
Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-P Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-T Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684 0.15303 0.13556 0.10782 0.10535 0.10468 0.104750 0.13006 0.12764	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480 0.13694 0.12131 0.09648 0.09427 0.09367 0.13493 0.11898 0.09389	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276 0.08276 0.12085 0.10706 0.08515 0.08320 0.08267 0.12236 0.10789 0.08514
Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-P Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-T Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Off-Peak Winter	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684 0.15303 0.13556 0.10782 0.10535 0.10468 0.14750 0.13006 0.10264	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480 0.13694 0.12131 0.09648 0.09427 0.09367 0.13493 0.13493 0.11898 0.09389	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276 0.12085 0.10706 0.08515 0.08320 0.08267 0.12236 0.10789 0.08514
E-20-R-3 Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-T Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Off-Peak Winter Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684 0.15303 0.13556 0.10782 0.10535 0.10468 0.14750 0.13006 0.10264 0.10221	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480 0.13694 0.12131 0.09648 0.09427 0.09367 0.13493 0.11898 0.09389 0.09167	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276 0.12085 0.10706 0.08515 0.08320 0.08267 0.12236 0.12236 0.10789 0.08514 0.08313
Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-P Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak E-20-R-T Summer Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak Off-Peak Winter Peak Part-Peak Off-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.15215 0.13718 0.11014 0.10755 0.10684 0.15303 0.13556 0.10782 0.10535 0.10782 0.10535 0.10468 0.14750 0.13006 0.10214 0.10021	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.13500 0.12172 0.09773 0.09543 0.09480 0.13694 0.12131 0.09648 0.09427 0.09367 0.13493 0.13493 0.11898 0.09389 0.09167 0.09107	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.11786 0.10626 0.08532 0.08331 0.08276 0.12085 0.10706 0.08515 0.08320 0.08267 0.12236 0.12236 0.10789 0.08514 0.08313 0.09359

2022 Power Rates Study Appendix B Page 13 of 15

Summer						
Poak	ć	0 20244	ć	0 19500	ć	0 16000
	ڊ خ	0.20244	ې خ	0.10323	ې د	0.10802
Winter	Ş	0.12330	ډ	0.11405	ç	0.10400
Poak	ć	0 11510	ć	0 10522	ć	
Off Deals	Ş	0.11510	ې د	0.10532	ې د	0.09553
UII-Peak	Ş	0.08805	Ş	0.08111	Ş	0.07358
AG-E-R						
Summer						
Peak	ć	0 22189	¢	0 19008	ć	0 15826
Off-Poak	ć	0.22105	ć	0.12003	ć	0.10020
Winter	ç	0.14038	ڔ	0.12042	Ļ	0.10027
Poak	ć	0 1 2 8 5 2	ć	0 11009	ć	0.00167
Off-Peak	¢	0.12052	ç	0.11005	ç	0.05107
Ull-Feak	Ļ	0.10207	ڔ	0.08744	Ļ	0.07280
AG-F-C						
Summer						
Max Demand	Ś	15 38	Ś	12 31	Ś	9 25
Peak	Ś	0.13802	Ś	0.11086	Ś	0.08370
Off-Peak	Ś	0.10801	Ś	0.08675	Ś	0.06550
Winter	Ŧ		7	2.30075	٣	2.00000
Peak	Ś	0.12360	\$	0.09928	Ś	0.07495
Off-Peak	Ś	0.09715	Ś	0.07803	Ś	0.05891
	+		Ŧ		+	
AG-1-A					_	
Summer						
Connected Load	\$	2.54	\$	2.54	\$	2.54
All Hours	\$	0.10106	\$	0.09748	\$	0.09390
Winter						
All Hours	\$	0.08775	\$	0.08464	\$	0.08154
AG-1-B						
Summer						
May Domand				<i>C C</i> 1	c	9 2 5
	Ş	3.97	Ş	0.01	د ا	
All Hours	\$ \$	3.97 0.11301	\$ \$	0.09562	\$	0.07822
All Hours	\$	3.97 0.11301	\$ \$	0.09562	\$	0.07822
All Hours Winter All Hours	\$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052	\$ \$	0.09562	\$ \$	0.07822
All Hours Winter All Hours	\$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052	\$ \$	0.09562	\$ \$	0.07822
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P	\$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052	\$ \$ \$	0.09562	\$ \$	0.07822
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer	\$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052	\$ \$ \$	0.09562	\$	0.07822
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand	\$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97	\$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 6.61	\$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter	\$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301	\$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 6.61 0.09562	\$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours	\$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 6.61 0.09562	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours	\$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 6.61 0.09562 0.06813	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours AG-4-A	\$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 6.61 0.09562 0.06813	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours AG-4-A Summer	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 6.61 0.09562 0.06813	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours AG-4-A Summer Connected Load	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052 2.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 6.61 0.09562 0.06813	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours AG-4-A Summer Connected Load Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052 2.00 0.11905	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 6.61 0.09562 0.06813 2.00 0.11892	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573 2.00 0.11879
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours AG-4-A Summer Connected Load Peak Off-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052 2.00 0.11905 0.09647	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 6.61 0.09562 0.06813 2.00 0.11892 0.09637	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573 2.00 0.11879 0.09626
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours AG-4-A Summer Connected Load Peak Off-Peak Winter	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052 0.08052 2.00 0.11905 0.09647	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 6.61 0.09562 0.06813 2.00 0.11892 0.09637	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573 2.00 0.11879 0.09626
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours Winter All Hours AG-4-A Summer Connected Load Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052 0.08052 2.00 0.11905 0.09647 0.08541	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 6.61 0.09562 0.06813 2.00 0.11892 0.09637 0.08532	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573 2.00 0.11879 0.09626 0.08523
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours Winter All Hours AG-4-A Summer Connected Load Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052 2.00 0.11905 0.09647 0.08541 0.08470	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 6.61 0.09562 0.06813 2.00 0.11892 0.09637 0.08532 0.08461	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573 2.00 0.11879 0.09626 0.08523 0.08452
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours Winter All Hours AG-4-A Summer Connected Load Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052 2.00 0.11905 0.09647 0.08541 0.08470	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 6.61 0.09562 0.06813 2.00 0.11892 0.09637 0.08532 0.08461	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573 0.05573 2.00 0.11879 0.09626 0.08523 0.08452
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours AG-4-A Summer Connected Load Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak AG-4-B	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052 2.00 0.11905 0.09647 0.08541 0.08470	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 6.61 0.09562 0.06813 2.00 0.11892 0.09637 0.08532 0.08461	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573 0.05573 2.00 0.11879 0.09626 0.08523 0.08452
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours AG-4-A Summer Connected Load Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak AG-4-B Summer	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052 2.00 0.11905 0.09647 0.08541 0.08470	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 6.61 0.09562 0.06813 2.00 0.11892 0.09637 0.08532 0.08461	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573 2.00 0.11879 0.09626 0.08523 0.08452
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours AG-4-A Summer Connected Load Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak AG-4-B Summer Peak - Demand	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052 2.00 0.11905 0.09647 0.08541 0.08470	> \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 0.09562 0.06813 0.06813 0.06813 0.06813 0.08532 0.09637 0.08532 0.08461	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573 2.00 0.11879 0.09626 0.08523 0.08452
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours AG-4-A Summer Connected Load Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak Summer Peak - Demand All Hours - Demand	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052 2.00 0.11905 0.09647 0.08541 0.08470 0.08470	> \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 0.09562 0.06813 0.06813 0.06813 0.06813 0.08532 0.09637 0.08532 0.08461	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573 2.00 0.11879 0.09626 0.08523 0.08452
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours AG-4-A Summer Connected Load Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak AG-4-B Summer Peak - Demand All Hours - Demand Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052 2.00 0.11905 0.09647 0.08541 0.08470 0.08470 0.0841 0.08470	> \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 0.09562 0.06813 0.06813 0.06813 0.06813 0.08532 0.08451 0.08532 0.08451 0.08451	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573 0.05573 2.00 0.11879 0.09626 0.08523 0.08452 0.08452 2.06 7.64 0.07428
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours AG-4-A Summer Connected Load Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak AG-4-B Summer Peak - Demand All Hours - Demand Peak Off-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052 2.00 0.11905 0.09647 0.08541 0.08470 0.08470 0.0841 0.08470	> \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 6.61 0.09562 0.06813 2.00 0.11892 0.09637 0.08532 0.08461 1.52 5.64 0.09635 0.08597	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573 2.00 0.11879 0.09626 0.08523 0.08452 0.08452 2.06 7.64 0.07428 0.06628
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours Winter All Hours AG-4-A Summer Connected Load Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak AG-4-B Summer Peak - Demand All Hours - Demand Peak Off-Peak Winter	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052 2.00 0.11905 0.09647 0.08541 0.08470 0.08470 0.08470	> \$ \$ > \$	0.09562 0.06813 6.61 0.09562 0.06813 2.00 0.11892 0.09637 0.08532 0.08461 1.52 5.64 0.09635 0.08597	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573 2.00 0.11879 0.09626 0.08523 0.08452 0.08452 0.08452 0.08452
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours Winter All Hours AG-4-A Summer Connected Load Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak AG-4-B Summer Peak - Demand All Hours - Demand Peak Off-Peak Winter Peak Off-Peak Winter Peak-Demand Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052 2.00 0.11905 0.09647 0.08541 0.08470 0.08541 0.08470 0.08470	> \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 0.09562 0.06813 0.09562 0.06813 2.00 0.11892 0.09637 0.08532 0.08542 0.08461 1.52 5.64 0.09635 0.08597 0.07865	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573 0.05573 2.00 0.11879 0.09626 0.08523 0.08452 0.08452 0.08452
All Hours Winter All Hours AG-1-B-P Summer Max Demand All Hours Winter All Hours Winter All Hours Connected Load Peak Off-Peak Winter Part-Peak Off-Peak AG-4-B Summer Peak - Demand All Hours - Demand Peak Off-Peak Winter Peak - Demand All Hours - Demand Peak Off-Peak	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3.97 0.11301 0.08052 3.97 0.11301 0.08052 2.00 0.11905 0.09647 0.08541 0.08470 0.08470 0.08470 0.08470	> \$ \$ \$ \$ > \$ \$ \$ \$ > \$ \$ \$ \$ > \$ \$ \$ \$ > \$ \$ \$ \$ > \$ \$ \$ \$ > \$ \$ \$ \$ > \$ \$ \$ \$ > \$ \$ \$ \$	0.09562 0.06813 0.09562 0.06813 0.09562 0.06813 2.00 0.11892 0.09637 0.08532 0.08461 1.52 5.64 0.09635 0.08597 0.07865 0.07809	\$ \$ \$ \$	0.07822 0.05573 9.25 0.07822 0.05573 0.05573 2.00 0.11879 0.09626 0.08523 0.08452 2.06 7.64 0.07428 0.06628 0.06664 0.06064

AG-4-B-P						
Summer						
Peak - Demand	Ş	0.98	Ş	1.78	Ş	2.59
All Hours - Demand	Ş	2.74	Ş	4.99	Ş	7.23
Peak	Ş	0.11842	Ş	0.09635	Ş	0.07428
Off-Peak	\$	0.10566	\$	0.08597	\$	0.06628
Winter						
Part-Peak	\$	0.09667	\$	0.07865	\$	0.06064
Off-Peak	\$	0.09598	\$	0.07809	\$	0.06021
AG-4-C						
Summer						
Peak - Demand	\$	4.83	\$	7.82	\$	10.80
Part-Peak - Demand	\$	3.62	\$	5.86	\$	8.10
Peak	\$	0.09529	\$	0.08766	\$	0.08002
Part-Peak	\$	0.08018	\$	0.07376	\$	0.06733
Off-Peak	\$	0.07468	\$	0.06870	\$	0.06272
Winter						
Part-Peak	\$	0.07480	\$	0.06881	\$	0.06282
Off-Peak	\$	0.07409	\$	0.06815	\$	0.06222
AG-4-C-P						
Summer						
Peak - Demand	\$	4.45	\$	7.40	\$	10.36
Part-Peak - Demand	\$	3.62	\$	6.02	\$	8.43
Peak	\$	0.09529	\$	0.08766	\$	0.08002
Part-Peak	\$	0.08018	\$	0.07376	\$	0.06733
Off-Peak	\$	0.07468	\$	0.06870	\$	0.06272
Winter						
Part-Peak	\$	0.07480	\$	0.06881	\$	0.06282
Off-Peak	\$	0.07409	\$	0.06815	\$	0.06222
AG-4-C-T						
Summer						
Peak - Demand	\$	4.15	\$	7.06	\$	9.98
Part-Peak - Demand	\$	3.62	\$	6.16	\$	8.71
Peak	\$	0.09529	\$	0.08766	\$	0.08002
Part-Peak	\$	0.08018	\$	0.07376	\$	0.06733
Off-Peak	\$	0.07468	\$	0.06870	\$	0.06272
Winter						
Part-Peak	\$	0.07480	\$	0.06881	\$	0.06282
0((D)	ć	0 07/00	ć	0.06815	ć	0 06222





APPENDIX C: TECHNICAL APPENDIX

MAY 11, 2022 2022 POWER RATES STUDY FINAL REPORT Technical Appendix: https://www.sfpuc.org/sites/default/files/accounts-and-services/PowerRatesStudyAppC_2022.pdf

NewGen Strategies <mark>& Solutions</mark>





225 Union Boulevard, Suite 450, Lakewood, Colorado 80228 Phone: 720-633-9514 E-mail: info@newgenstrategies.net www.newgenstrategies.net